Coventry University



DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Investigating the effects of bronchodilator induced cardiotoxicity

Cassambai, Shabana

Award date: 2018

Awarding institution: Coventry University

Link to publication

General rights Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

· Users may download and print one copy of this thesis for personal non-commercial research or study

• This thesis cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission from the copyright holder(s)

· You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain

· You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.



Investigating the effects of Bronchodilator induced Cardiotoxicity

Shabana Cassambai BSc (Hons), MSc

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfilment of the University's Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Supervisory team: Dr Afthab Hussain (Director of Studies), Dr Christopher J Mee, Dr Sadie Dean

> Coventry University 2018

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements9
Abstract10
Publications12
List of Abbreviations
List of Figures
Chapter 1: Introduction26
1.1 Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease28
1.1.1 Pathophysiology of COPD28
1.2 Muscarinic receptors31
1.2.1 Acetylcholine and Muscarinic receptors
1.2.2 Muscarinic receptors in COPD and pharmacological intervention using muscarinic receptor antagonists
1.2.3 Muscarinic receptors in the heart
1.3 Cardiotoxicity and Bronchodilators
1.3.1 Bronchodilator induced cardiotoxicity
1.3.2 Safety of Muscarinic antagonists40
1.3.3 Clinical studies47
1.3.4 Patients with underlying morbid heart conditions
1.4 Ischaemic Heart Disease49
1.4.1 Atherosclerosis49
1.4.2. Ischaemia and Reperfusion52
1.4.3 Mitochondrial Permeability Transition Pore (mPTP)55
1.4.4 RISK pathway57
1.5 Cell death pathways59
1.5.1 Apoptosis60
1.5.2 Necrosis
1.6 Role of Calcium in cell death signalling64
1.6.1 Changes in calcium handling and involvement in cardiomyocyte death65
1.6.2 Calcium in Ischaemia/Reperfusion injury67
1.7 Role of Reactive Oxygen Species in cardiomyocyte cell death

1.7.1 Types of Reactive Oxygen Species69
1.7.2 Role of ROS in Physiological and Pathological conditions70
1.7.3 ROS Scavengers and Antioxidants72
1.8 Aims and Objectives75
Chapter 2: Methods and Materials76
2.1 Drugs and Materials76
2.1.1 Antibodies used for Flow cytometry76
2.1.2 Antibodies and reagents used for Western blotting76
2.1.3 Reagents used for quantitative PCR (qPCR)76
2.2. Animals77
2.3 Langendorff Perfused Heart Model77
2.3.1 Krebs-Henseleit solution and mounted Langendorff77
2.3.2 Haemodynamics Data Collection78
2.3.3 Experimental Design – Concentration Response and Adjunctive therapies78
2.3.4 Tissue Collection for Western Blot Analysis81
2.3.5 Tissue Collection for RNA Analysis and Isolation82
2.4 Adult Rat Ventricular Cardiomyocyte Isolation82
2.4.1 Isolation Protocol82
2.4.2 Experimental Protocol83
2.4.3 Cleaved caspase-3 analysis of cardiomyocytes via flow cytometry
2.4.4 Apoptosis and necrosis detection assay – Annexin V FITC
2.4.5 Reactive oxygen species detection – CellRox [®] assay85
2.4.6 Intracellular Calcium measurement using Fluo 3-AM85
2.5 Western Blot Analysis
2.5.1 Protein Quantification using Bicinchoninic acid assay (BCA)
2.5.2 Gel Electrophoresis
2.5.3 Protein Transfer
2.5.4 Antibody Probing
2.5.5 Visualisation, Densitometry and Quantification
2.6 Real Time Polymerase Chain Reaction (qPCR) using PrimePCR Pathway plates87

2.6.1 cDNA synthesis from isolated RNA and assessment of optimal cDNA concentration using GAPDH87
2.6.2 Gene expression associated with Myocardial Infarction and Oxidative Stress .88
2.7 Data and Statistical Analysis88
Chapter 3: Pharmacological Profiling of Long Acting Muscarinic Receptor Antagonists (LAMAs)
3.1 Profiling of Glycopyrronium Bromide – in an in vitro model of Myocardial
Ischaemia/Reperfusion injury89
3.1.1 Haemodynamic Data Analysis for Glycopyrronium bromide (10 μ M – 1 nM)89
3.1.2 Infarct to Risk Analysis of Glycopyrronium Bromide Administration in an <i>in vitro</i> model of Ischaemia/Reperfusion Injury93
3.2 Profiling of Aclidinium Bromide – in an <i>in vitro</i> model of Myocardial
Ischaemia/Reperfusion injury95
3.2.1 Haemodynamic Data Analysis for Aclidinium bromide (10 μ M – 1 nM)95
3.2.2 Infarct to Risk Analysis of Aclidinium Bromide Administration in an <i>in vitro</i> model of Ischaemia/Reperfusion Injury98
3.3 Profiling of Umeclidinium Bromide – in an in vitro model of Myocardial
Ischaemia/Reperfusion injury100
3.3.1 Haemodynamic Data Analysis for Umeclidinium bromide (1 μ M – 1 nM)100
3.3.2. Infarct to Risk Analysis of Umeclidinium Bromide Administration in an <i>in vitro</i> model of Ischaemia/Reperfusion Injury103
3.4 Profiling of Tiotropium Bromide – in an <i>in vitro</i> model of Myocardial
Ischaemia/Reperfusion injury105
3.4.1 Haemodynamic Data Analysis for Tiotropium bromide (10 μ M – 0.1 nM)105
3.4.2 Infarct to Risk Analysis of Tiotropium Bromide Administration in an <i>in vitro</i> model of Ischaemia/Reperfusion Injury108
3.5 Tiotropium bromide in Normoxic Conditions in a Whole heart model110
3.5.1 Haemodynamic Data Analysis for Tiotropium bromide (10 nM – 0.1 nM)110
3.5.2. Infarct to Risk analysis of Tiotropium bromide administration following stabilisation in Normoxic conditions113
3.6 Tiotropium bromide mediated signalling in Adult rat ventricular cardiomyocytes 115

Chapter 5: Role of reactive oxygen species in Tiotropium mediated signalling in <i>ex vivo</i> and <i>in vitro</i> Cardiac models
5.1 Effect of the antioxidant, Resveratrol on Tiotropium bromide mediated cardiotoxicity
in Normoxic conditions and Ischaemia/Reperfusion whole heart models165
5.1.1 Haemodynamic Data Analysis165
5.1.2 Infarct to Risk analysis of Tiotropium Bromide following Resveratrol administration in normoxia and ischaemia/reperfusion171
5.2 Effect of Tiotropium Bromide on Akt expression in the presence or absence of
Resveratrol in Normoxic conditions174
5.2.1 Effect of Tiotropium bromide administration on Phospho-Akt (Ser473) expression in the presence or absence of Resveratrol
5.3 Effect of Tiotropium bromide in the presence or absence of Resveratrol on Reactive
Oxygen Species as a marker of oxidative stress176
5.4 Role of Tiotropium bromide in presence or absence of Resveratrol on cardiomyocyte
death
5.5 Expression profile of genes involved in Oxidative Stress following Tiotropium
Bromide administration
Chapter 6: The role of Calcium signalling in Tiotropium mediated cardiotoxicity in <i>ex vivo</i> and <i>in vitro</i> Cardiac models
6.1 Effect of the Ca ²⁺ channel blocker, Nifedipine on Tiotropium mediated cardiotoxicity
in Normoxic cardiac conditions182
6.1.1 Haemodynamic Data Analysis in Normoxic conditions
6.1.2 Infarct size analysis following Nifedipine administration in the presence or absence of Tiotropium bromide
6.2 Effect of the specific Ca ²⁺ /Calmodulin Kinase II inhibitor, KN-93 on Tiotropium
bromide induced cardiotoxicity in Normoxia and Ischaemia/Reperfusion whole heart
models
6.2.1 Haemodynamic Data Analysis187
6.2.2 Infarct to Risk analysis of Tiotropium bromide in the presence or absence of KN- 93

6.3 Effect of Tiotropium Bromide on p-Akt (Ser473) expression in the presence or absence
of KN-93 in Normoxic conditions197
6.3.1 Effect of Tiotropium bromide administration on Phospho-Akt (Ser473) expression in the presence or absence of KN-93197
6.4 Effect of Tiotropium Bromide on the expression of phosphorylated Ca ²⁺ /Calmodulin
Kinase II (CaMKII) (Thr286) in the presence or absence of KN-93198
6.5 Release of intracellular Ca ²⁺ in cardiomyocytes following Tiotropium bromide
administration in the presence or absence of KN-93200
6.6 Role of Tiotropium bromide in presence or absence of KN-93 on cardiomyocyte death
Chapter 7: General Discussion204
Chapter 3 Summary - Pharmacological Profiling of Long Acting Muscarinic Receptor
Antagonists (LAMAs)204
Chapter 4 Summary - Role of Adjunctive Therapies in Reversing Tiotropium Mediated
Cardiotoxicity
Chapter 5 Summary – Role of reactive oxygen species in Tiotropium mediated signalling
in <i>ex vivo</i> and <i>in vitro</i> Cardiac models205
Chapter 6 Summary – The role of Calcium signalling in Tiotropium mediated
cardiotoxicity in <i>ex vivo</i> and <i>in vitro</i> Cardiac models206
General Summary
7.1 Effect of long acting muscarinic receptor antagonist (LAMA) administration in an in
vitro model of myocardial Ischaemia/Reperfusion injury207
7.2 Effect of Tiotropium bromide administration in normoxic cardiac conditions on
haemodynamics and infarct size211
7.3 Oxidative stress and Calcium signalling in Tiotropium bromide mediated
cardiotoxicity217
7.4 Cardioprotective strategies on Tiotropium bromide mediated cardiotoxicity231
Chapter 8: General Conclusion

 8.1.2 Assessment of Tiotropium bromide in Normoxic conditions	8.1.1 Findings from Ischaemia Reperfusion models24	40
 8.1.3 Oxidative stress and Calcium in Tiotropium bromide induced cardiotoxicity .241 8.1.4 Effect of cardioprotective strategies on Tiotropium induced cardiotoxicity242 8.1.5 Implications of this study	8.1.2 Assessment of Tiotropium bromide in Normoxic conditions	41
8.1.4 Effect of cardioprotective strategies on Tiotropium induced cardiotoxicity242 8.1.5 Implications of this study	8.1.3 Oxidative stress and Calcium in Tiotropium bromide induced cardiotoxicity .24	.41
8.1.5 Implications of this study	8.1.4 Effect of cardioprotective strategies on Tiotropium induced cardiotoxicity24	.42
8.2 Further Investigations	8.1.5 Implications of this study24	.42
References	8.2 Further Investigations	43
Appendix	References	.47
	Appendix	03

Acknowledgements

"Whenever you feel the journey's too hard, remember He makes things happen for a reason. Every trial has a purpose..." Mufti Ismail ibn Musa Menk

Firstly, I'd like to thank my supervisory team and DoS for catalysing my development as an independent researcher.

I could not have done this without the technical and moral support of Mark and Bethan, you have both helped me to develop myself, and have been an invaluable source of advice and motivation. You have made me an adaptable and critical thinker, which is priceless. I am very appreciative for all your support and advice throughout my studies.

Every single person that I have worked alongside in the labs has been a source of strength for us as a collective bunch of PhD students. You have all travelled this journey and know my struggles better than anyone else! We are all in this together and we will all come out shining! But I can't say thanks without mentioning Sam and Oana, you were both there when I first started, and you helped me to find my feet and my confidence. I thank you all for the advice, the troubleshooting and laughs, without which this experience would certainly not have been the same.

Without the patient ear of my friends, I would have been 'completely' insane! Thank you for the distractions and for always being there for me and listening, even though I ramble and speak a million words per second. You know me better than I could ever describe.

And finally, my acknowledgements are incomplete without thanking my parents, my Nani and my siblings who have been immensely patient with me and have been through every high and every low. You have always listened to me and sat there with me whilst I worked through every obstacle. You are the best that there is and your encouragement has made me who I am today.

Abstract

Long acting muscarinic receptor antagonists (LAMAs) are utilised for the management of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), to alleviate parasympathetic mediated bronchoconstriction. Amongst COPD patients, cardiovascular comorbidities are increasingly common, such as ischaemic heart disease, and account for the greatest proportion of deaths. Clinical studies have highlighted a possible link between the use of LAMAs such as Tiotropium bromide and adverse cardiovascular effects. Muscarinic receptors are present in the heart, and therefore all LAMAs possess potential cardiovascular risk. The current study investigated the effect of LAMA administration in conditions whole heart Langendorff models of normoxic and myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion injury using 3 month old Sprague Dawley rats. The Langendorff model was used to assess the effect of LAMAs on haemodynamic function; tissue from the models were assessed for infarct size analysis using triphenyl tetrazolium chloride (TTC) staining or were prepared for western blot analysis of Akt and CaMKII. Tissue from the models was also used for qPCR quantification of genes associated with myocardial infarction and oxidative stress. Cardiomyocytes were isolated from 3 month old rats using a modified Langendorff set up, with flow cytometric analysis of caspase-3, apoptotic cell death, oxidative stress and calcium release.

Aclidinium, Tiotropium and Umeclidinium bromide but not Glycopyyronium bromide exacerbated myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion injury, assessed by infarct size to risk ratio when administered at the onset of reperfusion without significantly affecting haemodynamic function. Tiotropium bromide has been on the market the longest and is the most widely prescribed long acting muscarinic receptor antagonist. This was further tested in normoxic cardiac models, and was also found to induce damage, assessed by infarct size analysis. The use of the natural muscarinic agonist, acetylcholine inhibited Tiotropium bromide induced infarct size in normoxic and ischaemia/reperfusion models, suggesting that direct muscarinic signalling was involved in Tiotropium bromide mediated cardiac damage. Inhibitors and adjunctive agents including cyclosporin A (CsA), wortmannin, KN-93, Z-DEVD-FMK, nifedipine and resveratrol were used to determine the mechanisms of cardiotoxicity following administration of Tiotropium bromide; as well as determining the effect of Tiotropium bromide on Akt and CaMKII phosphorylation, reactive oxygen species generation and intracellular Ca²⁺ release and caspase-3 activation.

The study found that Tiotropium bromide mediated infarct size is attenuated following inhibition of pathways known to be involved in cardiotoxicity, such as mPTP opening, reactive oxygen species (ROS) generation, Ca²⁺ overload and caspase-3 activation. The study determined that Tiotropium bromide in cardiomyocytes exerts a greater effect on Ca²⁺ mediated signalling than on the generation of ROS. Additionally, caspase-3 is significantly activated, indicating a mechanism of cell death, however with no significant effect on apoptosis or necrosis as a whole. The study also showed that Tiotropium bromide affects the regulation of some genes such as caspase-3 involved in myocardial infarction through upregulation, and downregulates certain genes such as Akt1, peroxiredoxin 4 and superoxide dismutase 2 involved in cellular protection against oxidative stress.

In conclusion, the effect of LAMAs on myocardial is chaemia/reperfusion injury reflects the observation of increased cardiovascular complications amongst COPD patients, independently of other risk factors such as smoking. The effect of Tiotropium bromide in normoxic conditions suggests that muscarinic receptor antagonism in otherwise healthy heart exerts a Ca²⁺ driven mechanism of cardiotoxicity, involving abhorrent activation of Akt and CaMKII. These detrimental effects can be attenuated with the use of CsA, L-type Ca²⁺ channel blockers and antioxidants as well as acetylcholine. This study identifies the potential risks of LAMA use on the heart and urges for the development of robust preclinical tests which can identify compounds that may cause adverse cardiovascular complications. The observation that haemodynamic function was not adversely affected despite an increase in myocardial infarction, show that the dependence on functional parameters alone can not sufficiently identify cardiovascular risk.

Publications

- Cassambai, S., Dean, S., Mee, C., and Hussain, A. (2018). P17 Cyclosporin a Mediated Inhibition of the Mitochondrial Permeability Transition Pore (MPTP) Attenuates Tiotropium Bromide Mediated Cardiotoxicity Abstract
- Cassambai, S., Dean, S., Karvey, K., Mee, C., and Hussain, A. (2017) 'Long Acting Muscarinic Receptor Antagonists Exacerbate Myocardial Ischaemia Reperfusion Injury'. *Journal of Pharmacological and Toxicological Methods* 88, 217 Abstract
- Cassambai, S., Dean, S., Mee, C., and Hussain, A. (2017) 'Role of Ca²⁺/Calmodulin Kinase II in Tiotropium Induced Cardiotoxicity'. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology* 109, 1-62 **Abstract and Oral presentation**
- Cassambai, S., Dean, S., Mee, C., Harvey, K., and Hussain, A. (eds.) (2016) *Cardiovascular Research*. 'Cardiotoxicity of Long Acting Muscarinic Receptor Antagonists used for Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease': Oxford Univ Press Great Clarendon St, Oxford OX2 6DP, England **Abstract**
- Cassambai, S., Dean, S., Mee, C., Harvey, K., and Hussain, A. (2016) 'A Role for Antioxidants in Reversing Tiotropium Induced Cardiotoxicity'. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology* 98, 1-85 **Abstract and Oral presentation**
- Cassambai, S., Dean, S., Mee, C., Harvey, K., and Hussain, A. (2016) 'The Role of Ca2+/Calmodulin Kinase II in Tiotropium Bromide Mediated Cardiotoxicity'. *Proceedings of the British Pharmacological Society* 16 Abstract and Oral Presentation
- Cassambai, S., Dean, S., Mee, C. J., and Hussain, A. (eds.) *Transforming Future*. 'Cardiac Safety Profiles of Long Acting Muscarinic Receptor Antagonists used in the Treatment of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease'. Held June 2015 at Coventry University **Abstract and Oral presentation**

List of Abbreviations

8-OHdG	8-hydroxydeoxyguanosine
AB	Aclidinium Bromide
ACCLAIM	Aclidinium bromide clinical trial assessing efficacy and safety in moderate to
	severe COPD patients
ACCORD	Aclidinium bromide in chronic obstructive respiratory disease
ACh	Acetylcholine
ADRs	Adverse drug reactions
AIF	Apoptosis inducing factor
Akt	Protein kinase B
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
ANT1	Adenine nucleotide translocase 1
Apaf-1	Apoptotic protease activating factor 1
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
ATTAIN	Aclidinium bromide to treat airway obstruction in COPD patients
Bad	Bcl-2 family, BH-3 only domain, pro-apoptotic protein
Bax	Bcl-2 family, BH-1, BH-2 & BH-3 domain, pro-apoptotic protein
Bcl-2	B-cell lymphoma 2
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CAD	Coronary artery disease
CaMKII	Ca ²⁺ /Calmodulin kinase II
cA/GMP	Cyclic adenosine/guanosine monophosphate
САР	Community acquired pneumonia
Caspase	Cysteine aspartate specific protease
CF	Coronary flow
CHD	Coronary heart disease
CICR	Ca ²⁺ induced Ca ²⁺ release
COPD	Chronic obstructive pulmonary disorder
CRP	C-reactive protein
CsA	Cyclosporin A
DAG	Diacylglycerol
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum
ERK1/2	p42/44 extracellular signal-related kinase 1/2
FAB4	Fatty acid binding protein 4
FADD	Fas associated death domain
FDA	Food and drug administration
FEV_1	Forced expiratory volume in one second
GB	Glycopyrronium Bromide
GLOW1	Glycopyrronium bromide in COPD airways clinical study 1
GTP	Guanosine triphosphate
HCN	Hyperpolarisation-activated cation current

hERG	Human ether-a-go-go
HIF1	Hypoxia inducible factor
HMGB1	High mobility group box 1
HR	Heart rate
ICS	Inhaled corticosteroids
IHD	Ischaemic heart disease
I _h /I _f	Pacemaker depolarisation rate
IGF-1	Insuline like growth factor 1
IP ₃	Inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate
IPC	Ischaemic preconditioning
IR - I/R	Ischaemia/Reperfusion
JAK-STAT	Janus kinase-Signal transducer and activator of transcription
JNK	c-jun N-terminal kinase
КНВ	Krebs-Heinsleit buffer
KN-93	Methoxybenzene-sulfonamide
L/SABA	Long/Short acting β₂ agonist
l/SAMA	Long/Short acting muscarinic receptor antagonist
LKB4	Leukotriene b4
LVDP/EF	Left ventricular developed pressure/ejection fraction
MAO	Monoamine oxidase
MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
MCID	Minimal clinically important difference
MCP1	Monocyte chemoattractant protein 1
MI	Myocardial infarction
MiRs	Micro RNAs (ribonucleic acid)
MMP	Matrix metalloprotease/proteinase
mPTP	Mitochondrial permeability transition pore
MOMP	Mitochondrial Outer Membrane Permeabilisation
MUC5AC	Mucin 5AC
NADPH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (reduced)
NCX	Na ⁺ /Ca ²⁺ exchanger
NFAT	Nuclear factor of activated T cells
NF-κβ	Nuclear factor kappa light chain enchancer of activated B cells
NHE	Na ⁺ /H ⁺ exchanger
NO	Nitric oxide
P/NPCD	Programmed/Non-programmed cell death
PCI	Percutaneous coronary intervention
PDGF	Platelet derived growth factor
РКА/С	Protein Kinase A/C
РІЗК	Phosphotidyl inositol 3 kinase
PLC	Phospholipase C
PPAR	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor
РТСА	Percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty

PTEN	Phosphatase and tensin homology protein
RISK	Reperfusion injury salvage kinase
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SEM	Standard error of the mean
SERCA	Sarcoplasmic/endoplasmic reticulum Ca ²⁺ /ATPase
SOD	Superoxide dismutase
STEMI	ST elevated myocardial infarction
ТВ	Tiotropium bromide
TGF-β1	Transforming growth factor β1
TIOSPR®	Tiotropium bromide safety and performance in Respimat [®]
TNF-α/R	Tumour necrosis factor α /receptor
TORCH	Towards a revolution in COPD health
ттс	2,3,5-triphenyl-2H-tetrazolium-chloride
UB	Umeclidinium Bromide
UPLIFT	Understanding potemtial long-term impacts on function with Tiotropium
VCAM	Vascular adhesion molecule
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
Wort	Wortmannin
Z-DEVD-FMK	Benzyloxycarbonyl-Asp(OMe)-Glu(OMe)-ValAsp(OMe)-fluoromethylketone

List of Figures

Figure 1.1.1.1: The complex cellular interactions involved in mediating the chronic inflammation associated with COPD pathology.

Figure 1.2.2.1: Effects of acetylcholine and muscarinic signalling on airway inflammation and remodelling.

Figure 1.2.3.1: Acetylcholine binds to M_2 receptors and triggers the dissociation of the GPCR.

Figure 1.2.3.2: Signalling of muscarinic receptors.

Figure 1.4.1.1: The formation of atherosclerotic plaque, from the fatty streak to the problematic ruptured plaque.

Figure 1.4.2.1: Cardiomyocyte damage occurs during both ischaemia and reperfusion.

Figure 1.4.3.1: The steps occurring to decide cellular fate, in response to stress factors.

Figure 1.4.4.1: The components of the RISK pathway.

Figure 1.5.1.1: The key components in the apoptotic pathway in a cardiomyocyte.

Figure 1.6.1.1: The compartmental regulation of calcium.

Figure 1.6.2.1: Alterations in calcium handling during reperfusion in cardiomyocytes leads to calcium mediated cardiomyocyte death.

Figure 1.6.2.2: The roles of sodium and calcium ions in ischaemia/reperfusion induced hypercontracture in cardiomyocytes.

Figure 1.7.2.1: The involvement of reactive oxygen species in pathological conditions.

Figure 1.7.3.1: The signalling cascades occurring within a cell in response to mitochondrial and non-mitochondrial ROS.

Figure 1.7.3.2: Resveratrol interacts with a wide range of different proteins and pathways.

Figure 2.3.1.1: Hearts mounted on a Langendorff.

Figure 2.3.2.1: Haemodynamic trace for LVDP and heart rate.

Figure 2.3.3.1.1: Normoxic Langendorff experimental model.

Figure 2.3.3.2.1: The standard experimental protocols for ischaemia/reperfusion (I/R) and normoxic conditions.

Figure 2.3.3.3.1: Transverse heart slice obtained following Evans blue dye and TTC staining.

Figure 2.4.1.1: Isolated cardiomyocytes under an inverted microscope following enzymatic digestion.

Figure 3.1.1.1: Percentage coronary flow of the mean stabilisation period following Glycopyrronium bromide $(10 \mu M - 1 nM)$ in ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 3.1.1.2: Percentage left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) of the mean stabilisation period following Glycopyrronium bromide (10 μ M – 1 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 3.1.1.3: Percentage heart rate of the mean stabilisation period following Glycopyrronium bromide $(10 \mu M - 1 nM)$ in ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 3.1.2.1: Percentage infarct to risk ratios (%) following Glycopyrronium bromide (10 μ M – 1 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 3.2.1.1: Percentage coronary flow of the mean stabilisation period following Aclidinium bromide ($10 \mu M - 1 nM$) in ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 3.2.1.2: Percentage left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) of the mean stabilisation period following Aclidinium bromide (10 μ M – 1 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 3.2.1.3: Percentage heart rate of the mean stabilisation period following Aclidinium bromide ($10 \mu M - 1 nM$) in ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 3.2.2.1: Percentage infarct to risk ratios (%) following Aclidinium bromide (10 μM – 1 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 3.3.1.1: Percentage coronary flow of the mean stabilisation period following Umeclidinium bromide $(1 \mu M - 1 nM)$ in ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 3.3.1.2: Percentage left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) of the mean stabilisation period following Umeclidinium bromide (1 μ M – 1 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 3.3.1.3: Percentage heart rate of the mean stabilisation period following Umeclidinium bromide $(1 \mu M - 1 nM)$ in ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 3.3.2.1: Percentage infarct to risk ratios (%) following Umeclidinium bromide (1 μM – 1 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 3.4.1.1: Percentage coronary flow of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide ($10 \mu M - 0.1 nM$) in ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 3.4.1.2: Percentage left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide (10 μ M – 0.1 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 3.4.1.3: Percentage heart rate of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide ($10 \mu M - 0.1 nM$) in ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 3.4.2.1: Percentage infarct to risk ratios (%) following Tiotropium bromide (10 μ M – 0.1 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 3.5.1.1: Percentage coronary flow of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide (10 nM - 0.1 nM).

Figure 3.5.1.2: Percentage left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide (10 nM – 0.1 nM).

Figure 3.5.1.3: Percentage heart rate of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide (10 nM - 0.1 nM).

Figure 3.5.2.1: Percentage infarct size (%) following Tiotropium bromide (10 nM – 1 nM) in normoxic conditions.

Figure 3.6.1.1: Relative normalised gene expression levels of Ppargc1 α, Bax, Stat-3, Casp-3 and VEGF-A following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) in a whole heart Langendorff model of normoxic conditions. **Figure 3.6.2.1**: Percentage of total apoptotic cardiomyocytes (%) following treatment with Tiotropium bromide (TB 10 μ M – 0.1 nM) in normoxic conditions, expressed as a percentage of the normoxia control.

Figure 4.1.1.1.1: Percentage coronary flow of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide (1nM) ± acetylcholine (100nM).

Figure 4.1.1.1.2: Percentage left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm acetylcholine (100nM).

Figure 4.1.1.1.3: Percentage heart rate of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide (1nM) ± acetylcholine (100nM).

Figure 4.1.1.2.1: Percentage coronary flow of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± acetylcholine (100 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 4.1.1.2.2: Percentage left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± acetylcholine (100 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 4.1.1.2.3: Percentage heart rate of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± acetylcholine (100 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 4.1.2.1.1: Percentage infarct size (%) following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± acetylcholine (100 nM) in normoxic conditions.

Figure 4.1.2.2.1: Percentage infarct to risk ratios (%) following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± acetylcholine (100 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 4.1.3.1: Percentage expression (%) of phosphorylated Akt (Ser473) as a percentage of total Akt following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm acetylcholine (100 nM) in normoxic conditions.

Figure 4.1.4.1: Percentage of total apoptotic cardiomyocytes (%) following treatment with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± acetylcholine (100 nM) in normoxic conditions, expressed as a percentage of the normoxia control. **Figure 4.2.1.1.1**: Percentage coronary flow of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide (1nM) ± wortmannin (100nM).

Figure 4.2.1.1.2: Percentage left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide (1nM) ± wortmannin (100nM).

Figure 4.2.1.1.3: Percentage heart rate of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide (1nM) ± wortmannin (100nM).

Figure 4.2.1.2.1: Percentage coronary flow of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide (TB 1 nM) ± wortmannin (100 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 4.2.1.2.2: Percentage left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide (TB 1 nM) ± wortmannin (100 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 4.2.1.2.3: Percentage heart rate of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide (TB 1 nM) ± wortmannin (100 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 4.2.2.1.1: Percentage infarct to risk ratios (%) following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± wortmannin (100 nM) in normoxic conditions.

Figure 4.2.2.2.1: Percentage infarct to risk ratios (%) following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± wortmannin (100 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 4.2.3.1: Percentage expression (%) of phosphorylated Akt (Ser473) as a percentage of total Akt following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm wortmannin (100 nM) in normoxic conditions.

Figure 4.2.4.1: Percentage of total apoptotic cardiomyocytes (%) following treatment with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± wortmannin (100 nM) in normoxic conditions, expressed as a percentage of the normoxia control.

Figure 4.3.1.1.1: Percentage coronary flow of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide $(1nM) \pm Z$ -DEVD-FMK (140nM).

Figure 4.3.1.1.2: Percentage left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide (1nM) ± Z-DEVD-FMK (140nM).

Figure 4.3.1.1.3: Percentage heart rate of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide (1nM) ± Z-DEVD-FMK (140nM).

Figure 4.3.1.2.1: Percentage coronary flow of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide (TB 1 nM) \pm Z-DEVD-FMK (70 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 4.3.1.2.2: Percentage left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide (TB 1 nM) ± Z-DEVD-FMK (70 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 4.3.1.2.3: Percentage heart rate of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide (TB 1 nM) ± Z-DEVD-FMK (70 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 4.3.2.1.1: Percentage infarct to risk ratios (%) following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± Z-DEVD-FMK (140 nM) in normoxic conditions.

Figure 4.3.2.2.1: Percentage infarct to risk ratios (%) following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± Z-DEVD-FMK (70 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 4.3.3.1: Percentage of total apoptotic cardiomyocytes (%) following treatment with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± Z-DEVD-FMK (70 nM) in normoxic conditions, expressed as a percentage of the normoxia control.

Figure 4.3.4.1: Percentage of cleaved caspase-3 $_{(Asp175)}$ in cardiomyocytes (%) following treatment with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm Z-DEVD-FMK (70 nM) or acetylcholine (ACh 100 nM) expressed as a percentage of the normoxia control.

Figure 4.4.1.1.1: Percentage coronary flow of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide $(1nM) \pm cyclosporin A$ (200nM).

Figure 4.4.1.1.2: Percentage left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide (1nM) ± cyclosporin A (200nM).

Figure 4.4.1.1.3: Percentage heart rate of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide (1nM) ± cyclosporin A (200nM).

Figure 4.4.1.2.1: Percentage coronary flow of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide (TB 1 nM) ± cyclosporin A (CsA 200 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 4.4.1.2.2: Percentage left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide (TB 1 nM) ± cyclosporin A (CsA 200 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 4.4.1.2.3: Percentage heart rate of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide (TB 1 nM) ± cyclosporin A (CsA 200 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 4.2.2.1.1: Percentage infarct to risk ratios (%) following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± cyclosporin A (200 nM) in normoxic conditions.

Figure 4.4.2.2.1: Percentage infarct to risk ratios (%) following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± cyclosporin A (200 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 5.1.1.1.1: Percentage coronary flow of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide $(1nM) \pm resveratrol (10 \mu M)$.

Figure 5.1.1.1.2: Percentage left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M).

Figure 5.1.1.1.3: Percentage heart rate of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide $(1nM) \pm resveratrol (10 \mu M)$.

Figure 5.1.1.2.1: Percentage coronary flow of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{resveratrol}$ $(10 \mu \text{M})$ in ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 5.1.1.2.2: Percentage left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M) in ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 5.1.1.2.3: Percentage heart rate of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{resveratrol}$ $(10 \mu \text{M})$ in ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 5.1.2.1.1: Percentage infarct to risk ratios (%) following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M) in normoxic conditions.

Figure 5.1.2.2.1: Percentage infarct to risk ratios (%) following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M) in ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 5.2.1.1: Percentage expression (%) of phosphorylated Akt (Ser473) as a percentage of total Akt following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M) in normoxic conditions.

Figure 5.3.1: Percentage of CellROX production in cardiomyocytes (%) following treatment with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M) in normoxic conditions, expressed as a percentage of the normoxia control.

Figure 5.4.1: Percentage of total apoptotic cardiomyocytes (%) following treatment with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M) in normoxic conditions, expressed as a percentage of the normoxia control.

Figure 5.5.1: Relative normalised gene expression levels of various genes involved in oxidative stress following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) in a whole heart Langendorff model of normoxic conditions.

Figure 6.1.1.1: Percentage coronary flow of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide $(1nM) \pm nifedipine (1 nM)$.

Figure 6.1.1.2: Percentage left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide (1nM) ± nifedipine (1 nM).

Figure 6.1.1.3: Percentage heart rate of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide $(1nM) \pm nifedipine (1 nM)$.

Figure 6.1.2.1: Percentage infarct size (%) following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± nifedipine (1 nM) in normoxic conditions.

Figure 6.2.1.1.1: Percentage coronary flow of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide (1nM) ± KN-93 (400 nM).

Figure 6.2.1.1.2: Percentage left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide $(1nM) \pm KN-93$ (400 nM).

Figure 6.2.1.1.3: Percentage heart rate of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide (1nM) ± KN-93 (400 nM).

Figure 6.2.1.2.1: Percentage coronary flow of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{KN-93}$ (400 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 6.2.1.2.2: Percentage left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± KN-93 (400 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 6.2.1.2.3: Percentage heart rate of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± KN-93 (400 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 6.2.2.1.1: Percentage infarct to risk ratios (%) following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± KN-93 (400 nM) in normoxic conditions.

Figure 6.2.2.2.1: Percentage infarct to risk ratios (%) following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M) in ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 6.3.1.1: Percentage expression (%) of phosphorylated Akt (Ser473) as a percentage of total Akt following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± KN-93 (400 nM) in normoxic conditions.

Figure 6.4.1: Percentage expression (%) of phosphorylated CaMKII ($_{Thr286}$) as a percentage of total CaMKII following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± KN-93 (400 nM) in normoxic conditions.

Figure 6.5.1: Percentage fluorescence of Fluo-3AM in cardiomyocytes (%) following treatment with Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{KN-93}$ (400 nM) in normoxic conditions, expressed as a percentage of the normoxia control.

Figure 6.6.1: Percentage of total apoptotic cardiomyocytes (%) following treatment with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm KN-93 (400 nM) in normoxic conditions, expressed as a percentage of the normoxia control.

Figure 7.1.1: The role of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in mitochondria following ischaemia/reperfusion injury.

Figure 7.1.2: Structures of the long acting muscarinic receptor antagonists (LAMAs) Glycopyrronium, Tiotropium bromide, Aclidinium bromide and Umeclidinium bromide, as well as the short acting, Ipratropium bromide.

Figure 7.2.1: Agonist binding to β adrenergic receptors increases contraction and results in a decrease in intracellular Ca²⁺ concentrations through cAMP

Figure 7.2.2: Carbachol binding to muscarinic receptors may result in the activation of two different signalling pathways, via arrestin mediated signalling.

Figure 7.2.3: The model representing levels of agonist and antagonist activity following receptor binding.

Figure 7.3.1: The various interactions of resveratrol involved in conferring protection.

Figure 7.3.2: The multiple effects that reactive oxygen species (ROS) have on cellular processes.

Figure 7.3.3: Muscarinic receptors have an important role in contractility in vascular tissue.

Figure 7.3.4: The role of Akt phosphorylation in promoting cell survival and leading to cell death.

Figure 7.4.1: M₃ receptors are thought to increase atrial fibrillation, decrease dysrhythmias and ischaemic injury as well as decreasing apoptotic cell death.

Figure 7.4.2: PI3K activation following tyrosine kinase receptor stimulation.

Figure 7.4.3: Insulin receptor signalling activates PI3K/Akt activation.

Figure 7.4.4: The two pathways involved in initiation of apoptosis.

Chapter 1: Introduction

Muscarinic receptor antagonists are prescribed to patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD); these block vagally mediated bronchoconstriction (Barnes 2013). Studies have observed a correlation with adverse cardiac effects in patients administered bronchodilators (Hilleman et al. 2009, Singh, Loke and Furberg 2008), particularly when long acting muscarinic antagonists (LAMAs) are newly administered (Wang et al. 2018, Liou et al. 2018). Ischaemic heart disease (IHD) is often clinically silent and a common comorbidity in COPD patients (Cazzola, Rogliani and Matera 2015). IHD is the leading cause of global mortality and presents a problem due to the paradoxical phenomenon of ischaemia/reperfusion injury. The restoration of blood flow to ischaemic

tissues can itself cause further damage through calcium overload and the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Davidson et al. 2006, Hausenloy and Yellon 2015).

Previous studies have elucidated the cardiovascular risks associated with the use of β agonists such as salmetarol (Prevost et al. 1997, Salpeter, Ormiston and Salpeter 2004), but few have explored the effect of LAMAs in cardiovascular risk. Most studies where concerned, have focused on clinical data to consider the safety of LAMAs; however even fewer have considered the signalling pathways which may be associated. Singh et al. (2008) conducted a meta-analysis which found that anti-muscarinics such as Tiotropium bromide and Ipratropium bromide increase the risk of cardiovascular events in patients with COPD. This study was the first of several debated meta-analyses which began to challenge the safety of anti-muscarinics, which have classically been associated with fewer side effects and better safety profiles (Jara, Wentworth and Lanes 2012). Shaik et al. (2012) conducted a study in erythrocytes where Ipratropium bromide was found to result in suicidal cell death in a Ca²⁺ mechanism. This study was the first to suggest that a muscarinic antagonist could elicit a signalling cascade. Harvey et al. (2014) later showed that in an *ex* vivo model of ischaemia/reperfusion injury, Ipratropium bromide exacerbates myocardial damage. These studies perpetuated attention towards the cardiovascular safety of antimuscarinics, however there are no studies which have observed the cellular mechanism of cardiotoxicity with LAMAs.

This study hypothesises that Tiotropium bromide and other LAMAs may exacerbate cardiovascular damage in the context of ischaemia/reperfusion injury. Additionally, it is hypothesised that Tiotropium bromide may orchestrate cell death in cardiomyocytes via Ca²⁺ overload or the production of reactive oxygen species. The aim of this study is to firstly understand and observe the effects of LAMAs on the heart in an ischaemia/reperfusion model, to mimic underlying ischaemia heart disease which is often a comorbidity associated with COPD. Secondly the study aims to elucidate the molecular mechanisms associated with cardiac damage, specifically with Tiotropium bromide in otherwise normal conditions. COPD patients are at greater risk of cardiovascular related mortality than respiratory consequences (Sin et al. 2006), therefore exacerbating pre-existing cardiac comorbidities may be fatal; this provides urgency in assessing the cardiac safety of drugs. Identifying signalling pathways involved in drug-induced cardiotoxicity may enable the

development of cardioprotective strategies, as well as enable the identification of novel biomarkers. Furthermore, evaluating the effect of LAMAs in cardiomyocyte signalling in addition to haemodynamic parameters can assess whether existing clinical assessments are sufficient to determine the cardiovascular safety of drugs.

1.1 Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is a progressive inflammatory condition with debilitating airflow limitations (Mannino et al. 2002). It is characterised by symptoms of breathlessness as a result of chronic irreversible obstruction and frequent chest infections (Barbu, lordache and Man 2011, Cornwell et al. 2010, Daheshia 2005). COPD can not be cured; however, it can be managed pharmacologically; despite this, it is the third leading cause of mortality in the USA and the most common cause of hospitalisation in the UK, presenting a social and economic burden (Bhatt and Dransfield 2013, Qureshi, Sharafkhaneh and Hanania 2014). Deaths in COPD patients are often due to cardiovascular complications such as heart failure (Boudestein et al. 2009). Patients have increased risk of cardiovascular disease, and are accompanied by comorbidities, such as ischaemic heart disease (IHD). These disorders are often aggravated in patients with frequent COPD exacerbations (Patel et al. 2013). Co-existing cardiovascular disease and COPD exacerbations has significant clinical implications in terms of treatment regime (Qureshi, Sharafkhaneh and Hanania 2014), therefore identifying populations 'at risk' is essential.

1.1.1 Pathophysiology of COPD

COPD is characterised by a group of diseases, such as chronic bronchitis, emphysema and small airway disease. The disease is identified from spirometric tests measuring the volume of air expelled in a period of time, forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV₁) (MacNee 2005). The most common clinical manifestation is inflammation of the airways, resulting in obstructed airflow, lung remodelling and a loss of alveolar surface area (Tuder and Petrache 2012).

The inflammatory response underlying COPD pathophysiology is driven by various inflammatory mediators such as cytokines and chemokines triggered by inhalants and allergens commonly cigarette smoke, which triggers an adaptive immune response (Barnes

2008, MacNee 2005). COPD pathophysiology also involves pathological lesions such as fibrosis and alveolar wall destruction through proteinases and oxidative stress (Barnes 2008). Macrophages, neutrophils and TH₁ cells produce damaging cytotoxic effects; TH₁ cells mediate inflammation through the release of interferon γ (IFN γ); macrophages are activated by inhaled irritants such as cigarette smoke, causing the release of different chemical mediators such as TNF α and IL-6, and the release reactive oxygen species (ROS) by neutrophils. These mediators may also cause genotoxicity leading to the development of lung cancer (Houghton 2013).

Inflammatory cells initiate cytokine signalling following inhalant exposure, cigarette smoke is most commonly associated with COPD. However, only 15-20% of smokers develop clinically significant COPD, (Daheshia 2005, MacNee 2005). Genetic predisposition also underlies COPD, such as a deficiency of α1 anti-trypsin leads to emphysema often observed in younger patients (Daheshia 2005). Imbalance of proteinases/anti-proteinases is also associated with COPD; Min et al. (2011) found correlation between increased expression of proteostasis mediators and severity of emphysema, suggesting that proteostasis imbalance affects COPD severity via apoptosis, oxidative stress and chronic inflammation (Min et al. 2011). Tissue remodelling is also a key mediator of COPD pathology; apoptotic factors and metalloproteases underlie emphysema, whereas small airway fibrosis underlies chronic bronchitis (Chung and Adcock 2008).

COPD is a manageable condition; however, exacerbations present a major complication in treatment and on the healthcare system, imposing a substantial financial burden (Qureshi, Sharafkhaneh and Hanania 2014). Exacerbations can significantly deteriorate the existing condition; pulmonary infections are known to be the leading cause of COPD exacerbations (Sethi and Murphy 2008). Exacerbations can be complicated by the presence of other comorbid conditions such as congestive heart failure (Qureshi, Sharafkhaneh and Hanania 2014). In some cases, the treatment of these underlying conditions is essential in managing exacerbations (Qureshi, Sharafkhaneh and Hanania 2014).

Figure 1.1.1.1 highlights the relation of inhalants such as cigarette smoke, and bacterial or viral colonisation in COPD. Cellular signalling cascades amplify the response to the chronic exposure of inhalants such as cigarette smoke in COPD (Chung and Adcock 2008). Exposure

to cigarette smoke prompts the release of inflammatory mediators from the lung epithelium (Chung and Adcock 2008, Daheshia 2005). IL-8, TNF α and IL-1 β are widely associated with exposure to cigarette smoke (Barbu, Iordache and Man 2011, Chung and Adcock 2008, Daheshia 2005). The release of these mediators is succeeded by neutrophil recruitment and macrophage activation in the alveoli and bronchioles (Barbu, Iordache and Man 2011) releasing matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and pro-inflammatory mediators such as IL-6 (Daheshia 2005). Inflammatory signalling pathways lead to progressive obstruction and destruction of bronchiolar and alveolar spaces, underlying the symptoms associated with COPD (Barnes, Shapiro and Pauwels 2003). Muscarinic signalling also plays an important role in the pathological consequences of COPD.

Some materials have been removed from this thesis due to Third Party Copyright or confidentiality issues. Pages where material has been removed are clearly marked in the electronic version. The unabridged version of the thesis can be viewed at the Lanchester Library, Coventry University

Figure 1.1.1.1: The complex cellular interactions involved in mediating the chronic inflammation associated with COPD pathology (Chung and Adcock 2008). A range of different components are involved in mediating this response, with several different immunological cells as well as the epithelium. Ab – antibody, Th – T helper cell, MHC - major histocompatibility complex, TCR - T-cell receptor, CXCL - CXC chemokine ligand, IP -

interferon (IFN)-c-inducible protein, CCL - CC chemokine ligand, RANTES - regulated on activation normal T-cell expressed and secreted, TSLP - thymic stromal lymphopoietin, IL – interleukin, TNF - tumour necrosis factor, MCP - monocyte chemotactic protein, LT – leukotriene, CRP - C-reactive protein, TGF - transforming growth factor, EGF - epidermal growth factor, VEGF - vascular endothelial growth factor, MMP - matrix metalloproteinase.

1.2 Muscarinic receptors

Muscarinic receptors are G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs) (Katritch, Cherezov and Stevens 2012), G-proteins consist of an α , β and γ subunit; the α subunit exists in many forms, including G_{α s} and G_{α i}, hydrolysing guanosine triphosphate (GTP) into guanosine diphosphate (GDP). The β and γ subunits also initiate responses through ion channels and proteins (Marinissen and Gutkind 2001). Second messenger signalling depends on the G α ; the α s subunit is stimulatory via several effectors including, adenylyl cyclase (Liu, Erlichman and Weinstein 2003). G α i inhibits adenylyl cyclase mediated cyclic AMP (cAMP), ion channels and other second messengers (Marinissen and Gutkind 2001). GPCRs share a generic signal transduction mechanism but are activated by various ligands including photons, which makes them a key target for pharmaceutical intervention (Katritch, Cherezov and Stevens 2013). Therapeutic targeting allows modulation of function in COPD, muscarinic antagonists block muscarinic bronchoconstriction, and dampen inflammation (Karakiulakis and Roth 2012).

1.2.1 Acetylcholine and Muscarinic receptors

Acetylcholine is an abundant neurotransmitter in the central and peripheral nervous systems, released from cholinergic neurons and non-neuronal sources such as endothelial and epithelial cells (Wessler and Kirkpatrick 2008). Acetylcholine modulates neuronal signalling; including synaptic transmission, synaptic plasticity, neuronal networks and responses to stimuli (Picciotto, Higley and Mineur 2012). Acetylcholine is released from parasympathetic nerves in the neuronal system and various cell types in the non-neuronal

system, binding to metabotropic muscarinic and ionotropic nicotinic receptors (Caulfield and Birdsall 1998, Coulson and Fryer 2003, Wess, Eglen and Gautam 2007). There are five muscarinic receptor subtypes, M₁-5 (Caulfield and Birdsall 1998, Coulson and Fryer 2003). M₁, M₂ and M₃ exhibit a physiological function in the airways and the heart (Coulson and Fryer 2003, Harvey 2012). Muscarinic signalling activates downstream signalling molecules such as phospholipase C (PLC); the varying receptor expression patterns in different tissues leads to different physiological consequences. M₂ receptors mediate bradycardia in the heart, however expression of M₂ receptors in the brain contributes to anti-nociception (Wess, Eglen and Gautam 2007).

Airway smooth muscle control occurs via muscarinic and β_2 -adrenergic GPCRs (Katritch, Cherezov and Stevens 2013). M₂ and M₃ receptors are involved in airway smooth muscle contractility; M₂ receptors inhibit β_2 -adrenergic mediated smooth muscle relaxation, and M₃ receptors directly mediate contractility (Coulson and Fryer 2003). Muscarinic receptors are a common target in COPD due to increased parasympathetic tone (Coulson and Fryer 2003, Wess, Eglen and Gautam 2007). Hyperactivity of parasympathetic tone is characteristic of COPD, resulting in irritant mediated bronchoconstriction. Muscarinic antagonists counteract the increased vagal tone, and alleviate symptoms associated with bronchoconstriction (Wess, Eglen and Gautam 2007).

1.2.2 Muscarinic receptors in COPD and pharmacological intervention using muscarinic receptor antagonists

Muscarinic activity is involved in COPD due to increased vagal tone resulting in elevated bronchoconstriction, mucus secretion and hyper-responsiveness to allergenic agents (Buels and Fryer 2012). Increased cholinergic tone may be due to increased muscarinic receptor expression, or an enhanced sensitivity to cholinergic stimulation through elevated synthesis or reduced breakdown of acetylcholine (Pieper 2012). Muscarinic antagonists or anticholinergics were one of the earliest forms of treatment for COPD patients, with the short acting muscarinic antagonist, Ipratropium bromide and the long acting (LAMA), Tiotropium bromide (Hanania, Lareau and Yawn 2017, Karakiulakis and Roth 2012). They function as bronchodilators by reversing parasympathetic bronchoconstriction; however, they are not limited to antagonising cholinergic signalling (Gosens et al. 2006).

Cholinergic signalling is also involved in inflammation (Rosas-Ballina and Tracey 2009), attributed to airway remodelling in COPD (Karakiulakis and Roth 2012). Inflammation in COPD sees increased infiltrating neutrophils, lymphocytes and macrophages; these promote inflammation through leukotriene b₄ (LKB4) production (Profita et al. 2005). Acetylcholine may influence the release of leukotrienes from alveolar epithelial cells through increased eosinophil and neutrophil activity (Profita et al. 2005). The stimulation of muscarinic receptors promotes inflammation, this has been observed following the incubation of bronchial epithelial cell lines with acetylcholine, which results in increased inflammatory mediators from neutrophilic granulocytes, and is blocked with muscarinic antagonists, such as Tiotropium bromide (Pieper 2012), within the same dose range for bronchodilation.

Stable COPD shows neutrophil infiltration, CD8⁺ cytotoxic lymphocytes, macrophages and monocytes (Gosens et al. 2006). These express muscarinic receptors, therefore suggesting that cholinergic signalling may also affect inflammation (Gosens et al. 2006, Pieper 2012). Both neuronal and non-neuronal acetylcholine and muscarinic receptors are involved in mediating inflammation in COPD. In COPD there is upregulation of mucin 5AC (MUC5AC) induced by cigarette smoke, which is inhibited by LAMAs such as Aclidinium bromide (Karakiulakis and Roth 2012). Muscarinic stimulation affects inflammation and airway remodelling, which are inhibited with LAMAs, such as Tiotropium bromide (Karakiulakis and Roth 2012). Fibroblasts also express muscarinic receptors, mainly M₁₃ and are influential in COPD airway remodelling, increased fibroblast proliferation occurs from muscarinic stimulation, leading to fibrosis and remodelling of the airways (Buels and Fryer 2012). Acetylcholine indirectly mediates smooth muscle proliferation via platelet derived growth factor (PDGF) and epidermal growth factor (EGF) (Karakiulakis and Roth 2012). Figure 1.2.2.1 summarises the effects of muscarinic signalling on inflammation and remodelling in the airway.

Some materials have been removed from this thesis due to Third Party Copyright or confidentiality issues. Pages where material has been removed are clearly marked in the electronic version. The unabridged version of the thesis can be viewed at the Lanchester Library, Coventry University

Figure 1.2.2.1: Effects of acetylcholine and muscarinic signalling on airway inflammation and remodelling. ACH – acetylcholine, PDGF-BB – platelet derived growth factor type B, EGF – epidermal growth factor, $M_{1,2,3}$ – muscarinic receptors 1,2,3, MMP – matrix metalloproteases, IL – interleukins, ERK1/2 – extracellular signal-regulated kinase, NF κ B – nuclear factor κ -light-chain enhancer of activated B cells, TGF-61 – transforming growth factor 6 1 (Karakiulakis and Roth 2012).

1.2.3 Muscarinic receptors in the heart

In the heart, muscarinic receptors function as part of the parasympathetic nervous system to regulate heart rate and contractility (Harvey 2012), with M₂ receptors the predominant subtype (Brodde and Michel 1999). Activation of M₂ receptors results in negative chronotropy and inotropy (Brodde and Michel 1999, Eglen 2012). M₂ receptors were previously thought to be the only functional muscarinic receptor in the heart, however M₁ and M₃ receptors are also present (Ockenga et al. 2013). M₂ receptors couple to the Ga_i, which inhibits cAMP through adenylyl cyclase (Marinissen and Gutkind 2001). M₂ receptors show down the rate of action potentials fired from the sinoatrial node; this slows down

heart rate through hyperpolarisation of the maximum diastolic potential (Ang, Opel and Tinker 2012, Harvey 2012). M₂ receptor stimulation results in dissociation of the G-protein complex, the $\beta\gamma$ subunit can activate the G-protein inward rectifying potassium channel (GIRK) leading to membrane hyperpolarsation (Harvey 2012, Olshansky et al. 2008). The α subunit inhibits adenylyl cyclase, leading to decreased cAMP and protein kinase A (PKA), which inhibits hyperpolarisation-activated cation currents (HCN) leading to decreased pacemaker depolarisation rate (I_h/I_f) (Ang, Opel and Tinker 2012).

Cardiac ion channels are regulated by cAMP largely through sympathetic innervations which increase heart rate, via β_1 -adrenergic receptors (Rockman, Koch and Lefkowitz 2002). These activate the G α_s subunit promoting adenylyl cyclase mediated cAMP (Harvey and Belevych 2003). Increased cAMP can directly affect the pacemaker ion channel in the sinoatrial and atrioventricular nodes or through PKA, leading to PKA-dependent phosphorylation of ion channels, including the L-type Ca²⁺ channel (Ang, Opel and Tinker 2012). However, M₂ receptor stimulation can modulate the β -adrenergic stimulated cAMP-dependent response, through the L-type Ca²⁺ channel to affect heart rate and contractility (Harvey and Belevych 2003); acetylcholine has no direct effect on L-type Ca²⁺ channels, however it can antagonise the currents produced as a result of β -adrenergic stimulation (Ang, Opel and Tinker 2012, Belevych and Harvey 2000). Figure 1.2.3.1 summarises the M₂ muscarinic signalling pathways in supraventricular myocytes.
Some materials have been removed from this thesis due to Third Party Copyright or confidentiality issues. Pages where material has been removed are clearly marked in the electronic version. The unabridged version of the thesis can be viewed at the Lanchester Library, Coventry University

Figure 1.2.3.1: Acetylcholine binds to M_2 receptors and triggers the dissociation of the *GPCR*. The separate subunit complexes (α and $\beta\gamma$) function by acting on adenylyl cyclase (AC) and K⁺ channels, resulting in a decrease in cyclic AMP (cAMP) and hyperpolarisation. Noradrenaline-mediated (NEPI) activation of β_1 -adrenergic receptors however, has a stimulatory effect on cAMP production and through protein kinase A (PKA) phosphorylation of L-type Ca²⁺ channels, results in an increase in heart rate (Harvey 2012). SR – sarcoplasmic reticiulum, PLn – phospholamban, RyR – ryanodine receptor, AKAP – A-kinase anchoring proteins.

The roles of cardiac M₁ and M₃ receptors are not clear, due to the predominant expression of M₂ receptors, and due to poor ligand selectivity (Matsui et al. 2002a). However, these subtypes are thought to have a role in pathological conditions such as ischaemia/reperfusion injury (Borda et al. 1999, Hang et al. 2013). Cardiac M₃ receptors regulate heart rate and cardiac repolarisation; they modulate and regulate inotropic effects, confer cytoprotection against ischaemic attacks and are involved in atrial fibrillation (Wang, Lu and Wang 2007, Wang et al. 2012c, Wang, Shi and Wang 2004). M₃ receptors activate a delayed rectifying K⁺ current, highly sensitive to M₃ antagonists, involved in mediating physiological and pathological cardiac repolarisation (Wang, Lu and Wang 2007).

 M_1 receptor knock out models have shown that there is a loss of response to the M_1 agonist McN-A-343, which facilitates an increase in heart rate and force of contraction (Hamilton et al. 2001, Hardouin et al. 2002). M_1 knockout mice show that these receptors are not involved in basal activity, but affect the heart via β_1 -adrenergic receptors, through postganglionic sympathetic innervation (Hardouin et al. 2002). M_1 receptors are predominantly present in the brain and have well defined physiological and pathological roles such as memory impairment in dementia (Eglen 2012), but negligible expression in wild type mouse hearts. In rats, M_1 receptors are thought to increase intracellular Ca²⁺ and contractility, observed following the M_1 antagonist pirenzepine, which inhibits carbachol mediated Ca²⁺ transients (Sharma et al. 1997). In humans, M_1 receptors have been associated with episodic memory in cognitive dysfunction (Nathan et al. 2013).

 M_1 and M_3 receptors couple to $G\alpha_{q/11}$, leading to mobilisation of inositol phospholipids stimulating increases in intracellular Ca^{2+} (Kruse et al. 2012, Wang, Shi and Wang 2004). M_1 and M_3 receptor stimulation activates membrane bound PLC, which results in the release of inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate (IP₃) and diacyglycerol (DAG) mediating intracellular Ca^{2+} release and activating protein kinase C (PKC) (Brodde and Michel 1999, Ockenga et al. 2013). Figure 1.2.3.2 summarises the generalised muscarinic signalling pathways. However, the functional roles of these receptors are dependent on 'location', such that the role of M_2 receptors in ventricular myocytes will vary from those in atrial myocytes (Harvey 2012). Some materials have been removed from this thesis due to Third Party Copyright or confidentiality issues. Pages where material has been removed are clearly marked in the electronic version. The unabridged version of the thesis can be viewed at the Lanchester Library, Coventry University

Figure 1.2.3.2: Signalling of muscarinic receptors. M_2 and M_4 couple preferentially to $G_{i/0}$, whereas M_1 , M_3 and M_5 couple to $G_{q/11}$. Upon stimulation, M_2 and M_4 inhibit adenylyl cyclase (AC), leading to decreased cAMP, they can also activate ion (K^+) channels. M_1 , M_3 and M_5 activate PKC by PLC mediated increases in IP₃ and Ca²⁺. PKC can activate Raf kinase, leading to activation of the MAPK cascade and ERK1/2. Activation of ERK1/2 via Src/PI3K is common to all muscarinic receptors (Ockenga et al. 2013).

1.3 Cardiotoxicity and Bronchodilators

Cardiovascular toxicity is a major concern and an even urgent matter due to the growing number of COPD patients with comorbidities (Wood-Baker, Cochrane and Naughton 2010). Cardiotoxicity, hepatoxicity and respiratory depression account for 56% of all post marketing drug withdrawal, where the drugs resulted in death (Onakpoya, Heneghan and Aronson 2015). The definition for cardiotoxicity is vague and universally lacking, however 'cardiotoxicity' accounts for cardiomyopathy, heart failure and a reduction in left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) (Yeh et al. 2014). The National Cancer Institute (NCI) defines cardiotoxicity as a 'toxicity that affects the heart', including left ventricular dysfunction, rhythm disturbances and ischaemia (Brana and Tabernero 2010).

Attrition rates have increased considerably over the last few years; several reasons underlie withdrawal of drugs including, poor *in vitro* assays which fail to spot safety concerns at a preclinical level (Mordwinkin, Burridge and Wu 2013). Often, adverse drug reactions (ADRs) are only realised following long-term use, therefore the role of post marketing surveillance is very important (Coloma et al. 2013). However, any potential toxic effects of a drug compound should be established early, using screening assessments and *in vitro* assays (Bowes et al. 2012).

1.3.1 Bronchodilator induced cardiotoxicity

Drug induced cardiotoxicity is well established with many chemotherapeutic drugs, particularly anthracyclines such as doxorubicin (Octavia et al. 2012). Many anticancer drugs affect the cardiovascular system, including tyrosine kinase inhibitors, such as the monoclonal antibody, trastuzumab (Fiuza and Magalhães 2012). In contrast, little evidence suggests such toxicity with the use of bronchodilators however, this view is now being challenged.

 β -adrenergic receptor agonists have been associated with cardiotoxicity particularly in a preclinical setting, but also long term cardiotoxic effects leading to fatal or near-death consequences (Spitzer et al. 1992). The cardiotoxicity of β_2 agonists has been well documented due to the presence of β_2 -adrenergic receptors in cardiac muscle (Lipworth and McDevitt 1992), this is despite the introduction of newer drugs designed to be more specific (Sears and Lötvall 2005). In COPD, patients administered a β_2 agonist were more

likely to experience arrhythmias, and develop heart failure and other vascular diseases, leading to arrhythmia related death (Wilchesky et al. 2012). Although the use of many adrenergic bronchodilators alone, have been associated with cardiotoxicity, such as albuterol (salbutamol) (Coskun et al. 2001) and salmeterol (Sears 2002); anti-muscarinics with β_2 agonists have been shown to reduce adverse cardiovascular effects in patients, with the exception of Ipratropium bromide (Wood-Baker, Cochrane and Naughton 2010). However, few studies have looked at the potential mechanism of cardiotoxicity with anti-muscarinics alone (Harvey, Hussain and Maddock 2014).

The focus is on the various drug therapies patients are administered and the associated adverse effects, including short acting or long acting β_2 agonists (SABAs or LABAs), as well as short or long acting muscarinic receptor antagonists (SAMAs or LAMAs). With antimuscarinics, the use of SAMAs increases the risk of arrhythmias, particularly in severe COPD (Wilchesky et al. 2012). This is particularly concerning in patients who may have underlying cardiovascular disease, an increasingly common comorbidity amongst COPD patients (Cazzola, Rogliani and Matera 2015). Comorbidities in patients mean that drugs may have off target effects which aggravate underlying conditions such as ischaemic heart disease.

Several large scale clinical studies have revealed a correlative relationship between the use of bronchodilators and adverse cardiovascular events; however, these studies do not show any mechanistic relationship (Hilleman et al. 2009, Oba, Zaza and Thameem 2008, Singh, Loke and Furberg 2008, Tashkin et al. 2008). Anti-muscarinics such as Tiotropium and Ipratropium bromide are widely prescribed amongst COPD patients, however the cardiovascular outcomes following the use of these drugs are largely unclear. Meta analyses of the use of these drugs highlight the relationship between the use of anti-muscarinics and adverse cardiotoxic effects amongst patient populations (Rodrigo et al. 2009, Singh, Loke and Furberg 2008).

1.3.2 Safety of Muscarinic antagonists

Long acting muscarinic receptor antagonists (LAMAs) and long acting β_2 agonists (LABAs) are first line therapy for patients, they are prescribed alone, or as a co-treatment with short acting agents, to treat moderate to severe exacerbations (Matera, Page and Cazzola 2011).

Several trials, namely the TORCH (towards a revolution in COPD health) and UPLIFT (understanding potential long-term impacts on function with Tiotropium bromide) studies have shown that in some patients, there is no reduction in lung function decline even after a period of treatment, suggesting that patients require assessment of Forced Expiratory Volume in 1 second (FEV₁) to decide which treatments are best (Cazzola and Page 2014). Most guidelines, recommend long acting bronchodilators, and in patients with breathlessness, short acting bronchodilators may also be prescribed (Cazzola and Page 2014). Inhaled corticosteroids show an improvement in the quality of life for patients, by alleviating inflammation associated with COPD (Kew, Dias and Cates 2014).

Anti-muscarinics have been used to alleviate symptoms of COPD for decades. These drugs are thought to have a better cardiac safety profile than other bronchodilator classes, due to their low gastrointestinal absorbance which limits the concentration of drug in the systemic circulation (Rabe 2010). Various trials have assessed the efficacy and safety of muscarinic antagonists; a five-year Lung Health Study showed safety concerns regarding lpratropium bromide, with an increase in cardiovascular related hospitalisations (Wang et al. 2012b), particularly due to supraventricular tachycardia. Ipratropium bromide is a quaternary derivative of atropine, a non-selective muscarinic receptor antagonist with equal binding affinity for M₁, M₂ and M₃ receptors (Barnes 2000, Cazzola et al. 2012b), the short acting nature of the drug is thought to contribute to better safety tolerability. However, recent studies have shown a correlation between increased cardiovascular morbidity and mortality with Ipratropium bromide (Ogale et al. 2010, Singh, Loke and Furberg 2008, Wood-Baker, Cochrane and Naughton 2010).

The increased risk of cardiovascular events with Ipratropium bromide has shifted some focus towards other anti-muscarinics, such as Tiotropium bromide (Singh, Loke and Furberg 2008). Tiotropium bromide is a derivative of Ipratropium bromide; however, it has a slow dissociation affinity, making it more potent than its predecessor with greater selectivity over M₃ receptors (Barnes et al. 1995). The added benefit of Tiotropium bromide is the once daily dose, which makes it favourable amongst patients (Oba, Zaza and Thameem 2008, Rodrigo and Nannini 2007). Van Noord et al. (2000) compared the use of Ipratropium bromide with Tiotropium bromide in COPD. The study found that a single dose of Tiotropium bromide was more effective than multiple doses of Ipratropium bromide,

with similar safety profiles for both drugs. More recent studies assessing the cardiac safety of Tiotropium bromide have found conflicting information regarding the risk of cardiovascular events (Hilleman et al. 2009, Kesten et al. 2006, Singh, Loke and Furberg 2008, Wood-Baker, Cochrane and Naughton 2010); however, the possible implication of cardiac adverse effects has meant a greater emphasis on the development of new long acting muscarinic antagonists (LAMAs) (Suppli Ulrik 2012) with better cardiovascular safety profiles (Wise et al. 2018).

Aclidinium bromide, Glycopyrronium bromide and Umeclidinium bromide are LAMAs which have recently entered the market (Decramer et al. 2013, Prakash, Babu and Morjaria 2013). These newer LAMAs have potent activity at M₃ receptors, meaning that patients who are unable to tolerate Tiotropium bromide have other options (Prakash, Babu and Morjaria 2013). Due to the recent approval of these drugs, long term studies following the safety of these drugs have yet to be established; however, early trials such as ACCLAIM, ACCORD and ATTAIN for Aclidinium bromide, suggest that patients tolerated the drug well with rare cardiovascular events reported (Reid and Carlson 2014). Recently, a cohort study of over 100,000 new users of antimuscarinics to treat overactive bladder, found that the cardiovascular risk amongst the antimuscarinics used was variable; specifically, oxybutynin showed an elevated risk of cardiovascular events and mortality compared to the standard antimuscarinic, tolterodine (Arana et al. 2018). This suggests that antimuscarinics may have unknown cardiovascular risk associated with their use, and therefore urges investigation into the cardiovascular risk of antimuscarinics used for other conditions, such as COPD.

1.3.2.1 Glycopyrronium bromide

Glycopyrronium bromide is a once daily LAMA; phase III clinical trials have shown it to be effective for COPD patients with moderate to severe disease (Carter 2013, D'Urzo 2013). Glycopyrronium bromide has low oral bioavailability therefore low risk of systemic effects following oral administration (Buhl and Banerji 2012). Atropine and Glycopyrronium bromide are used to decrease oral and respiratory secretions however, atropine results in significant anticholinergic side effects such as dry mouth (Bennett et al. 2002, Gomez, Bellido and Sanchez de la Cuesta 1995). Glycopyrronium bromide is a competitive antagonist with high affinity and slow dissociation for M₃ receptors (Buhl and Banerji 2012).

All LAMAs carry cardiovascular risks associated due to non-selective receptor binding to M₂ receptors in the heart (Hanania, Lareau and Yawn 2017). Glycopyrronium bromide has 4-to 5-fold greater selectivity for M₃ receptors, therefore fewer cardiovascular events (Carter 2013). Glycopyrronium bromide has a rapid onset of action, assessed via inhibition of methacholine-induced calcium release, demonstrating a five times shorter half-life than Tiotropium bromide (Buhl and Banerji 2012).

The clinical effectiveness of Glycopyrronium bromide was observed during the GLOW1 trial (Glycopyrronium bromide in COPD airways clinical study 1, 2011); patients were administered 50µg of Glycopyrronium bromide or a placebo once daily via a dry powder inhaler with low internal resistance (D'Urzo 2013). Efficacy was measured as an improvement in FEV₁, at 24 hours following drug administration at 12 weeks; secondary parameters included breathlessness and health related quality of life. FEV₁ values showed considerable improvement with respect to placebo; this was maintained throughout the 26 weeks and observed from day 1. A 31% drop in COPD exacerbations was also observed vs. placebo (D'Urzo 2013, Ulrik 2012). Early studies have suggested a good safety profile for Glycopyrronium bromide, with adverse effects similar to placebo, apart from an increase in patients reporting dry mouth; and no considerable risk of cardiovascular or metabolic effects, however this may be as patients with comorbidities were excluded from trials (Ulrik 2012).

1.3.2.2 Aclidinium bromide

Aclidinium bromide is another novel LAMA for moderate to severe COPD, like Glycopyrronium bromide, it is also exhibits a quaternary ammonium salt structure, based on a (3R)-quinuclidinol ester (Sims and Panettieri Jr 2011). Aclidinium bromide was found as a potential anticholinergic following screening of compounds with high affinity M₃ receptor binding and low systemic availability (Joos et al. 2010). Aclidinium bromide features a long half-life at the M₃ receptor *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Gavalda et al. 2009). It is rapidly hydrolysed *in vivo;* resulting in low systemic availability and potentially decreased clinical side effects, with little effect on renal function in plasma clearance (Schmid et al. 2010, Sentellas et al. 2010). Aclidinium bromide was firstly tested as a once daily and then as a twice daily treatment (Cazzola, Page and Matera 2013).

The ACCLAIM (Aclidinium bromide clinical trial assessing efficacy and safety in moderate to severe COPD patients) trials evaluated the efficacy of once daily Aclidinium bromide 200 µg versus placebo (Jones et al. 2011). The studies showed maintained but non-significant bronchodilation with respect to minimal clinically important difference (MCID), indicating suboptimal therapy (Reid and Carlson 2014). The phase III ATTAIN (Aclidinium bromide to treat airway obstruction in COPD patients) trial evaluated twice daily Aclidinium bromide at 200 and 400 µg compared to placebo in a double-blind trial over 24 weeks. The study showed that patients with moderate to severe COPD showed significant improvement in FEV₁ with both doses; however, improvement with 400 μ g was better and comparable to improvement seen with Tiotropium bromide in 6-12 month studies (Jones et al. 2012). The ACCORD (Aclidinium bromide in Chronic Obstructive Respiratory Disease) trial found only the 400 µg dose to show clinical significance. The St. George's Respiratory Questionnaire (SGRQ) was used to assess COPD symptoms (mornings and nights) and use of rescue medication; it revealed that frequency and severity of night-time symptoms were reduced with treatment (Reid and Carlson 2014). Twice daily Aclidinium bromide over 6-weeks has numerically greater improvement in COPD symptoms, compared to once daily Tiotropium bromide. This provides a use for twice daily LAMAs in the relief of symptomatic COPD (Cazzola and Page 2014).

1.3.2.3 Tiotropium bromide

Tiotropium bromide received FDA approval in 2004 as a single daily dose for patients with moderate to severe COPD (Michele, Pinheiro and Iyasu 2010, Yohannes, Connolly and Hanania 2013), and is the most widely prescribed LAMA (Jara, Wentworth and Lanes 2012, Rodrigo et al. 2009). [³H] binding assays show a 10-fold greater affinity and 100 times slower dissociation for pulmonary M₃ receptors with Tiotropium bromide compared to Ipratropium bromide (Barnes et al. 1995, Barnes 2000), contributing to its potency. Previously, long acting β_2 agonists (LABA) and inhaled corticosteroids (ICS) were associated with increased pneumonia-related hospitalisations followed by death (Matera et al. 2018), however LAMAs have been associated with improved lung function and fewer hospitalisations in COPD (Oba, Zaza and Thameem 2008). Tiotropium bromide has limited systemic bioavailability and dissociates faster at M₂ receptors allowing for reduced acetylcholine release (Rodrigo et al. 2009), this suggests a lower risk of side effects.

Tiotropium bromide binding to its receptors involves interaction between hydroxy groups and asparagine residues within the receptor core (Popescu 2015), which may explain reduced M₂ receptor binding.

Studies looking at FEV₁ have found that Tiotropium bromide shows significant improvement compared to Ipratropium bromide (van Noord et al. 2000). The UPLIFT (Understanding Potential Long-term Impacts on Function with Tiotropium) trial was a randomised, double blinded trial examining COPD patients using placebo or Tiotropium bromide over four years, exclusion criteria for the study included any history of asthma, COPD exacerbations or pulmonary infections (Tashkin et al. 2008). Tiotropium bromide was shown to improve health related quality of life and lung function with decreased exacerbations; of 2987 patients randomised to the treatment group, there were 792 deaths, caused by cancer, respiratory and cardiac disorders (Celli et al. 2009) at a lower risk than the placebo group. Randomised clinical trials have shown fewer exacerbations and hospilisations, and improved lung function with Tiotropium bromide compared to placebo and Ipratropium bromide (Rodrigo and Nannini 2007).

Tiotropium bromide was approved in the HandiHaler[®] and the Respimat[®] Soft Mist[™] formats, the latter being more favourable amongst patients (Ohno, Muraki and Tohda 2015). The HandiHaler delivers a dry formulation (18µg), whereas the Respimat inhaler delivers an aqueous solution (5µg) showing similar safety, efficacy and pharmacokinetic profiles (Halpin et al. 2015). Data from independent trials show reduced fatality with the HandiHaler[®] but a numerical increase with the Respimat[®], however a causal relationship was unidentified (Wise et al. 2013a). The TIOSPIR[®] (Tiotropium bromide Safety and Performance in Respimat[®]) trial assessed all-cause mortality of HandiHaler[®] vs. Respimat[®] (Halpin et al. 2015, Mathioudakis et al. 2014, Wise et al. 2013b), involving over 17,000 patients across multiple countries with a 2-3 year follow up. The study showed no difference in mortality or exacerbations between the formats (Ohno, Muraki and Tohda 2015, Wise et al. 2013a, Wise et al. 2013b); however, the trial excluded patients with comorbidities (Mathioudakis et al. 2014). Trials reporting an increase in cardiovascular-related mortality with Respimat[®] included data with the higher dose of 10µg (Halpin et al. 2015, Karner, Chong and Poole 2014). However, the UPLIFT trial also used short acting anti-

muscarinics (SAMAs); this is the key difference to other trials which had shown increased risk with Tiotropium bromide use (Grosso et al. 2009).

1.3.2.4 Umeclidinium bromide

Umeclidinium bromide is a quaternary ammonium structure derived from quinuclidine (Segreti et al. 2014). Single and repeat doses of Umeclidinium bromide are well tolerated in patients and healthy volunteers (Decramer et al. 2013). *In vitro* studies have shown Umeclidinium bromide has a longer duration of action compared to Tiotropium bromide. Umeclidinium bromide received approval, both as a once-daily drug and combined with the long acting β_2 agonist, vilanterol (Cazzola and Page 2014). Umeclidinium bromide also has greater selectivity and dissociates slowly from M₃ receptors compared to M₂ (Cazzola et al. 2012a). In patients responsive to Ipratropium bromide, Umeclidinium bromide was rapidly absorbed, cleared and eliminated (Segreti et al. 2014).

Umeclidinium bromide (15.6, 31.25, 62.5 and 125 µg) was evaluated in a large-scale trial, administered twice daily over 7 days (Church et al. 2014), via the ElliptaTM dry formulation inhaler. Tiotropium bromide in the HandiHaler[®] format (18 µg) and placebo once daily were also used, FEV₁ determined primary efficacy. Umeclidinium bromide significantly improved lung function in patients with moderate to severe COPD compared to placebo (Church et al. 2014, Segreti et al. 2014) and was well tolerated at 62.5 and 125 µg, subsequently recommended at these doses for clinical assessment (Church et al. 2014). These doses showed improved lung function and good tolerance (Trivedi et al. 2014). Umeclidinium bromide received approval as a single dose; however, there is now focus on combinatorial therapy with long acting β_2 agonists (LABA) and inhaled corticosteroids (ICS).

Vilanterol (LABA) displays high receptor selectivity for β_2 over β_1 , showing rapid onset of action in isolated small airways (Cazzola, Segreti and Matera 2013). Combinatorial therapy can potentially achieve a once-daily dose, encouraging patient compliance as multiple drugs would not need to be taken for the same effect. Moderate to severe COPD patients can be prescribed a LABA with a LAMA, (Malerba, Morjaria and Radaeli 2014). Umeclidinium bromide/vilanterol has been assessed at 62.5/25 µg and 125/25 µg respectively (Donohue et al. 2013, Malerba, Morjaria and Radaeli 2014), both show improved lung function, and quality of life (Cazzola and Page 2014), and improved FEV₁ with respect to placebo and monotherapies (Donohue et al. 2013, Malerba, Morjaria and Radaeli 2014). Recently, LAMA/LABA/ICS combinations such as Umeclidinium bromide/vilanterol/fluticasone have shown significant improvement in FEV₁ with respect to placebo/vilanterol/fluticasone; the frequency of adverse effects was equivalent amongst all groups, supporting triple therapy (Siler et al. 2015).

1.3.3 Clinical studies

In the last decade, there has been a surge in studies analysing therapeutic agents and adverse cardiovascular outcomes. Comorbidities amongst COPD patients elevate the need to identify drugs which may exacerbate underlying cardiac disease. Studies have shown an association with anti-muscarinic use, such as Ipratropium bromide and adverse cardiac events (Macie et al. 2008, Singh, Loke and Furberg 2008); however, multiple studies debate any increase in all-cause mortality (Sin and Tu 2000, Tashkin et al. 2008).

Singh et al. (2008) highlighted that exposure to Tiotropium bromide elevated the risk of adverse cardiac events and mortality. The risk of cardiovascular death, stroke or myocardial infarction was greater in those who had received Tiotropium bromide or Ipratropium bromide compared to controls (Singh, Loke and Furberg 2008). However, this study was criticised for methodological limitations, such as bias in study selection which specifically selected trials reporting cardiovascular events (Michele, Pinheiro and Iyasu 2010). A subsequent study by Singh et al. (2011) assessed the use of the Tiotropium bromide mist inhaler (Respimat [®] Soft Mist inhaler) in COPD patients; the meta-analysis of five randomised controlled trials showed an increased risk of mortality with the mist inhaler. Another study observing the impact of adherence to Tiotropium bromide found that the device used can significantly alter patient adherence. Poor adherence and underuse of the Respimat[®] format were associated with a significant increase in mortality, and overuse was associated with increased morbidity such as community acquired pneumonia (CAP) (Koehorst-ter Huurne et al. 2013). Additionally, it was shown that use of the Handihaler® format was at much less risk of overuse (Koehorst-ter Huurne et al. 2018). This highlights the fact that adherence and format of LAMA may substantially increase the risk of adverse events.

Certain patient populations showed increased susceptibility, indicating the role of comorbidities in exacerbating cardiac events. Although anti-muscarinics have a better safety profile in COPD patients, patients with cardiac complications are often excluded from trials, limiting the support to use these bronchodilators within these populations (Hawkins et al. 2010, Mentz et al. 2012). COPD is a strong risk factor for cardiovascular events (Sin and Man 2005); a large-scale study analysing mortality and hospitalisations amongst COPD patients found that cardiovascular disease is more frequent and may represent an increased burden compared to primary disease (Huiart, Ernst and Suissa 2005). There is a strong association of COPD and cardiac disease, which is independent of other risk factors such as smoking status (Bhatt and Dransfield 2013, Cazzola, Rogliani and Matera 2015).

1.3.4 Patients with underlying morbid heart conditions

A large-scale study reviewing the associations of cardiovascular disease and COPD found significant correlation, indicating a five-fold greater risk of major cardiac diseases including ischaemic heart disease (IHD) in COPD patients (Cazzola et al. 2015). Finkelstein et al. (2009) assessed whether COPD was an independent risk factor of cardiovascular disease; the study showed that COPD patients were at a greater risk of cardiovascular events with respect to matched controls, matched for various sociodemographic, health and comorbidity factors, concluding that COPD is an independent risk factor of cardiac disease. Increased cardiac complications amongst COPD patients have seen a rise in hospitalisations associated with cardiac related mortality (Sidney et al. 2005). This is not restricted to COPD patients but is also observed amongst patients with asthma and other respiratory diseases (Guite, Dundas and Burney 1999).

This co-existent relationship is also present in the inverse, where patients with existing cardiovascular disease also present with COPD or other airflow restricting respiratory conditions. A study conducted amongst Japanese patients with diagnosed cardiovascular disease assessed patients for COPD, a quarter of patients had COPD which was largely undiagnosed (Onishi et al. 2014).

The mechanism for increased cardiovascular risk in COPD is poorly defined. Several potential mechanisms are attributed to the increased risk amongst COPD patients,

including arterial stiffness and blood pressure (Mills et al. 2008). Increased arterial stiffness and systemic inflammation are attributed to COPD, as patients without comorbidities also presented the same. Arterial stiffness is a validated marker of cardiovascular risk, especially atherosclerosis (McAllister et al. 2007, Patel et al. 2013, Sabit et al. 2007). However, multiple mechanisms may be involved with the increased cardiovascular risk, including airway infection and inflammation. The low grade chronic inflammation underlying COPD is also an important risk factor for cardiovascular disease, independent of smoking (Sin et al. 2006). It is hypothesised that markers such as C-reactive protein (CRP) are directly involved in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis (Sin and Man 2003). CRP is thought to deposit into the arterial wall and interact with other inflammatory mediators to form foam cells which are the prerequisite of atherosclerotic plaques (Calverley and Scott 2006, Sin and Man 2003).

1.4 Ischaemic Heart Disease

Ischaemic heart disease (IHD) also known as coronary artery disease (CAD) is the leading cause of death worldwide according to the World Health Organisation (Finegold, Asaria and Francis 2013, Kim and Johnston 2011, Wong 2014). IHD is defined as reduced blood flow to the coronary artery, which reduces blood supply to the heart (Hansson 2005). IHD involves atherosclerotic lesions in the arterial wall narrowing the lumen, leading to myocardial infarction (Hansson 2005, Marzilli et al. 2012, Polonsky et al. 2010). The risk of cardiac complications is significantly greater with age, with an elevated risk of atherosclerosis and arterial stiffening (Lakatta and Levy 2003).

Understanding the mechanisms underlying atherosclerotic plaques is important in prevention. However, defining atherosclerosis in a patient is necessary to manage disease with modification of life style factors to invasive percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty (PTCA) (Libby and Theroux 2005).

1.4.1 Atherosclerosis

Atherosclerosis involves local immune mediators such as T cells and macrophages (Danesh et al. 2004, Epstein and Ross 1999, Lind 2003), it is not fatal itself; however, thrombosis along with plaque formation leads to stroke and acute coronary syndromes (Falk 2006).

Figure 1.4.1.1 depicts the stages of plaque build-up and thrombosis. Arterial endothelial cells express receptors enabling interaction with immune cells (Pamukcu, Lip and Shantsila 2011, Rudijanto 2007) such as macrophages, monocytes and T cells (Falk 2006, Fordjour et al. 2015, Lind 2003, Moore and Tabas 2011). Immune involvement is supported by elevated levels of auto-antibodies and cytokines (Hansson et al. 2002). The expression of pro-attachment molecules such as vascular adhesion molecule (VCAM) and monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 (MCP1) follows exposure to hypertension, diabetes mellitus, smoking or blood flow induced laminar shear stress (Cunningham and Gotlieb 2005, Libby, Ridker and Hansson 2011).

Apolipoprotein B containing lipoproteins (apoB-LPs) accumulate within the arterial wall, which are then converted into atherogenic remnant lipoproteins known as the fatty streak (Moore and Tabas 2011). Macrophages are predominantly involved in the formation of foam cells; foam cells are common in infants and young children and may resolve untreated (Epstein and Ross 1999, Falk 2006). Macrophage derived foam cells are important in atherosclerosis and are the primary source of atherogenic plaques (Shashkin, Dragulev and Ley 2005, Yu et al. 2013). The release and production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) by macrophages aid the progressive oxidation of LDL. This oxidised LDL is taken up by macrophages via scavenger receptors such as CD36 and SR class-A (Yu et al. 2013), leading to internalisation and storage as lipid droplets (Rudijanto 2007).

Once foam cells and lipid droplets accumulate, an irreversible atheroma develops (Hansson 2005). A fibrous cap forms as a protective scar over tha atheroma, however when ruptured this leads to exposure of the thrombogenic core to the blood. This core is composed of apoptotic and necrotic immune cells; necrosis occurs through the defective clearance of apoptotic macrophages, leading to lesional macrophages. Apoptosis in macrophages is triggered by oxidative stress and the activation of death receptors (Moore and Tabas 2011). Dendritic cells also accumulate in atherosclerotic lesions contributing to early foam cell development; the functional role of dendritic cells and macrophages has significant overlap in this context (Zernecke 2015).



Figure 1.4.1.1: The formation of atherosclerotic plaque, from the fatty streak to the problematic ruptured plaque. All stages involve the inter-play of several cell types including immune cells and smooth muscle cells. Fatty streaks may be reversed before the atheroma stage is reached, before macrophages become foam cells upon interaction with lipids. ApoB-LP – apolipoprotein B containing lipoproteins (Moore and Tabas 2011).

The thinning and rupture of the fibrous cap leads to thrombosis; it is this step which leads to myocardial infarction, unstable angina and thromboemoblic stroke (Lee et al. 2013, Moore and Tabas 2011). The integrity of the cap is compromised due to proteolytic enzymes such as matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) (Rudijanto 2007). MMP-2 and MMP-9 are strongly correlated with plaque instability and are over expressed in atherosclerosis (Heo et al. 2011). Plaque stability is also associated with microcalcifications; which increase plaque stability, and reduce rupture; for this reason, coronary calcification is used as a prognostic marker (Maldonado et al. 2012). However, calcification at the fibrous cap increases the probability of rupture therefore, the location of microcalcifications is important in determining plaque stability. Although plaque stability is crucial in determining the fate of rupture, certain genes are closelylinked to ruptured plaques. Fatty acid binding protein 4 (FABP4) and leptin were expressed highly in samples of ruptured plaques from patients undergoing carotid stenosis surgery. These genes are linked to lipid metabolism and inflammation, showing a correlation between these pathways and plaque instability (Lee et al. 2013).

1.4.2. Ischaemia and Reperfusion

Ischaemia occurs when the demand for oxygen consumption exceeds the supply; therefore, obstructions in blood vessels are critical (Crossman 2004). Prolonged ischaemia results in altered cellular metabolism and structure, and irreversible damage. Myocardial ischaemia underlies the pathological conditions of angina, arrhythmias and myocardial infarction (Eltzschig and Collard 2004).

Tissue acidosis occurs during ischaemia due to increased H⁺ (Turer and Hill 2010). Deprivation of oxygen and metabolites lead to suspension of oxidative phosphorylation, which depolarises the mitochondrial membrane and results in ATP depletion (Hausenloy and Yellon 2013). The Na⁺-H⁺ exchanger (NHE) becomes activated and results in the accumulation of Na⁺ whilst expelling protons; accumulation of Na⁺ reverses the Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger (NCX), leading to calcium overload (Hausenloy and Yellon 2013). Increased Ca²⁺ entry compensates for the expulsion of accumulated Na⁺ and is exacerbated via L-type calcium channels and the Ca²⁺-ATPase, which promote calcium overload and leads to ATP depletion. In cardiomyocytes this means hypercontracture, mitochondrial damage and myocardial stunning (Dorn and Maack 2013, Murphy and Steenbergen 2008).

To curb the lethal consequences of ischaemia, restoration of blood flow is critical. In a clinical context, this is achieved by percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) (Hausenloy and Yellon 2013). PCI is standard therapy for patients who have experienced ST elevated myocardial infarction (STEMI), whereby blood flow is restored by thrombolysis, which has been shown to reduce infarct size (Sardella et al. 2009). However, the restoration of blood flow is necessary to protect the myocardium from the damaging consequences of ischaemia alone (Yellon and Hausenloy 2007). Figure 1.4.2.1 depicts the cellular processes underlying myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion injury. It is well established that the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (mPTP) has an important role in reperfusion injury, particularly with regards to cell death (Dhalla and Duhamel 2007, Halestrap and Richardson 2015, Halestrap 2006, Yellon and Hausenloy 2007). During acute ischaemia, the drop in pH prevents the opening of the mPTP, however during reperfusion the reactivation of the electron transport chain generates ROS, leading to opening of the mPTP. This stage is the gateway to cardiomyocyte cell death (Hausenloy and Yellon 2013).

Some materials have been removed from this thesis due to Third Party Copyright or confidentiality issues. Pages where material has been removed are clearly marked in the electronic version. The unabridged version of the thesis can be viewed at the Lanchester Library, Coventry University

Figure 1.4.2.1: Cardiomyocyte damage occurs during both ischaemia and reperfusion. This is due to the initial deprivation of oxygenated blood flow leading to anaerobic respiration; however, following re-establishment of blood flow, the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) cause opening of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (mPTP) and Ca²⁺ efflux from the sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR) leads to further injury (Hausenloy and Yellon 2013).

Clinically, aside from cell death there are reversible and permanent injuries sustained with myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion including arrhythmias, contractile dysfunction, ultrastructural damage, vasoconstriction and endothelial dysfunction (Dhalla and Duhamel 2007). The 'no-reflow' phenomenon also known as microvascular obstruction is a lethal consequence of ischaemia/reperfusion injury (Jaffe et al. 2008) from incomplete reperfusion (Reffelmann and Kloner 2002), a common clinical occurrence where 39% of cases may show unsuccessful reperfusion via angiography following successful PCI intervention (Galiuto, Rebuzzi and Crea 2009). Microvascular obstruction involves neutrophil accumulation which release inflammatory mediators, proteases and ROS (Buja 2005); de novo thrombosis also contributes to the no-reflow phenomenon (Moens et al. 2005).

Myocardial stunning describes depressed contractility following reperfusion of previously ischaemic regions (Buja 2005). Stunning is due to oxidative stress and calcium overload; repeated periods of myocardial stunning may lead to the development of heart failure and cardiomyopathy (Hausenloy and Yellon 2013, Moens et al. 2005). Myocardial stunning persists for long periods, despite cells being viable. Several mechanisms including depleted ATP due to ischaemia, microvascular obstruction and cellular damage from ROS may contribute to stunning (Maxwell and Lip 1997).

Reperfusion induced ventricular arrhythmias are potentially lethal. These remain for long periods of time; however arrhythmias are usually self-terminating and are reversible (Hausenloy and Yellon 2013). The critical mechanisms responsible for these manifestations are oxidative stress and calcium overload (Dhalla and Duhamel 2007). A key component of these cascading pathways is the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (mPTP); during ischaemia the mPTP remains unopened however, in reperfusion this pore opens due to ROS generation and thus leads to mitochondrial mediated cell death (Hausenloy and Yellon 2013).

Several genes are linked to cardiovascular dysfunction, the expression of which are altered in certain disease phenotypes. The peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARy) is involved in heart failure and myocardial infarction, but also possesses contrasting cardioprotective properties when activated (Chandra, Miriyala and Panchatcharam 2017), particularly in the context of ischaemic preconditioning (Han et al. 2010). Coactivators enhance the activity of transcriptional factors; in the case of PPARy, the most well profile coactivator is PGC-1 α , which has the capacity to affect many transcription factors (Rowe, Jiang and Arany 2010). Circulating levels of PGC-1 α have been used to predict myocardial salvage after acute myocardial infarction (Fabregat-Andrés et al. 2011), where higher baseline levels have correlated with increased myocardial salvage; however excessive levels of PGC-1 α lead to damaging ventricular remodelling through the upregulation of adenine nucleotide translocase (ANT1) (Fabregat-Andrés et al. 2015, Lynn et al. 2010).

Another potential biomarker of acute myocardial infarction is VEGF-A (Zhao et al. 2010b), during hypoxic conditions, there is an increase in VEGF-A to promote angiogenesis, this increase in expression can be used as a biomarker, with prognostic value in predicting adverse outcome in patients with acute coronary syndrome (Heeschen et al. 2003). However, a case-controlled study of acute myocardial infarction patients, found VEGF-A to have a lower power as a biomarker when adjusted for traditional risk factors and C-reactive protein (CRP) (Iribarren et al. 2011). Nonetheless, VEGF-A is a lucrative therapeutic target in many cancers such as renal cell carcinoma (Ciamporcero et al. 2015), gastric cancer cells (Chen et al. 2014) and myeloid cells (Klose et al. 2016). Greater emphasis is now based upon targeting VEGF-A mRNA using microRNAs (miRs) and silencing microRNAs (siRNA), for the treatment of breast cancer (Chen et al. 2017a) and oesophageal cancer (Li et al. 2017). These suggest that VEGF-A may be targeted at a transcript level and may therefore have prognostic value in acute myocardial infarction, particularly when paired together with another biomarker.

1.4.3 Mitochondrial Permeability Transition Pore (mPTP)

Apoptosis and necrosis are implicated in ischaemia/reperfusion injury. Opening of the mPTP leads to the initiation of both apoptosis and necrosis and leads to a cessation of ATP production (Halestrap 2006). The pore is a high conductance, non-specific channel which is influenced by calcium overload, leading to mPTP opening and enabling the loss of membrane potential due to ionic disturbance. This leads to a collapse in oxidative phosphorylation and initiates cell death signalling (Mott et al. 2004). The mPTP is important in ischaemia/reperfusion injury; the use of a pore inhibitor such as cyclosporin A (CsA) can significantly attenuate infarct development in the heart (Piot et al. 2008). The cardioprotective effects of CsA have been demonstrated both experimentally and in humans, confirming the role of the mPTP in cell death signalling (Wong, Steenbergen and Murphy 2012). CsA binds to mitochondrial cyclophilin D, a protein found in the mitochondrial matrix (Hausenloy et al. 2010, Mott et al. 2004), which is involved in the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS). Cardiomyocytes without cyclophilin D do not generate ROS in hypoxic conditions (Hausenloy et al. 2010). CsA also has inhibitory effects on the calcium dependent phosphatase, calcineurin, via binding of cyclophilin A, which may lead to undesirable consequences on the heart (Mott et al. 2004). Figure 1.4.3.1 shows a schematic demonstrating the steps that occur in deciding cell fate.

Some materials have been removed from this thesis due to Third Party Copyright or confidentiality issues. Pages where material has been removed are clearly marked in the electronic version. The unabridged version of the thesis can be viewed at the Lanchester Library, Coventry University

Figure 1.4.3.1: The steps occurring to decide cellular fate, in response to stress factors (Halestrap 2006). The schematic highlights the role of calcium overload (Ca²⁺- overload) in affecting the mPTP (or MPT), which ultimately decides the mode of cell death.

Mitochondria support cell survival, through oxidative phosphorylation and modulate cell death via the mPTP. Several factors underlie mPTP opening such as matrix pH, [Ca²⁺] and the mitochondrial membrane potential difference (Di Lisa et al. 2001). The opening of the permeability pore is known to affect several metabolic pathways, including NAD⁺ catabolism. This pathway is important due to the role of mitochondrial NAD⁺ in cardioprotection (Di Lisa et al. 2001).

Calcium overload is the key driver of mPTP dysfunction. Release of Ca²⁺ from the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) causes mitochondrial calcium influx via calcium-selective uniporters, however this influx is rapidly followed by efflux (Baumgartner et al. 2009). In

physiological circumstances, increased mitochondrial Ca²⁺ is met with increased ATP synthesis (Tarasov, Griffiths and Rutter 2012); however, in pathological conditions calcium overload results in mPTP opening. The rate at which the Ca²⁺ concentrations change, is the key difference; in pathological circumstances the increase in Ca²⁺ is initially slow and progressive, allowing management of Ca²⁺ across the inner mitochondrial membrane, however once the cytosolic concentration rises proportionally greater than 1-3 μ M, calcium overload occurs; this concentration is referred to as a 'set point' (Crompton 1999, Wong, Steenbergen and Murphy 2012). mPTP opening allows free movement of small (<1.5 KDa) ions, which disturbs colloidal osmotic pressure of the inner mitochondrial membrane. The outer membrane of the mitochondria ruptures to release cytochrome *c* and key apoptotic proteins such as apoptosis inducing factor (AIF). The rupture of the outer membrane exposes the inner membrane and thus allows free movement of protons, resulting in a breakdown of oxidative phosphorylation and a cessation in ATP production, which quickly reverses to ATP hydrolysis (Halestrap, Clarke and Javadov 2004).

The duration of mPTP opening has significance in whether apoptosis or necrosis is adopted (Halestrap 2006). Brief opening of the pore leads to transient depolarisation of the mitochondria and ROS generation occurring as oxygen is re-introduced to the inhibited respiratory chain and can further trigger mPTP opening and ROS production in neighbouring mitochondria, causing sustained mPTP opening leading to cell death (Halestrap, Clarke and Javadov 2004, Kinnally et al. 2011, Wong, Steenbergen and Murphy 2012). An important pathway highly exploited to curb the damaging consequences of ischaemia/reperfusion injury, is known as the reperfusion injury salvage kinase (RISK) pathway, involving Akt and ERK1/2 which mediate ischaemic preconditioning via non-pathological mPTP opening and small quantities of ROS.

1.4.4 RISK pathway

The reperfusion injury salvage kinase (RISK) pathway is a cardioprotective pathway, involving the rapid activation of pro-survival kinase pathways such as phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3K)-Akt and p42/44 extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2 (ERK1/2) (Davidson et al. 2006, Hausenloy and Yellon 2004, Zhu et al. 2006). Several other kinases are also known to confer cytoprotection such as p38, JNK, MAPK and the Jak-Stat pathway, (Hausenloy and Yellon 2004). The Jak-Stat pathway is an evolutionary conserved pathway; Stat3 (Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3) in particular is a transcription factor which localises to the mitochondria and is involved in oxidative phosphorylation and membrane permeability, and has been shown to exert protective effects via modulation of mitochondrial and transcriptional responses as well as anti-apoptotic proteins (Harada et al. 2005, O'Sullivan et al. 2016).

The protective effects of Stat3 are particularly apparent in myocardial infarction (MI); a cardiac specific knockout of Stat3 in mice showed an increase in detrimental cardiac remodelling following MI with exaggerated fibrosis, therefore the induction of Stat3 in MI confers resistance to cardiac remodelling (Enomoto et al. 2015). In contrast, the RISK pathway elicits a cardioprotective state through inhibiting mPTP opening, via phosphorylation of pro-apoptotic proteins by Akt and ERK1/2 (Hausenloy, Tsang and Yellon 2005, Hausenloy and Yellon 2004). This pathway is important in ischaemia/reperfusion injury, which is a consequential phenomenon occurring during the restoration of blood flow to ischaemic areas. Myocardial tissue can cope with brief periods of ischaemia, up to 15 minutes without significant damage. However, once damage occurs from myocyte death, it is irreversible and can only be subsided by reperfusion to prevent further cardiomyocyte death (Verma et al. 2002).

The RISK pathway is also involved in ischaemic preconditioning (IPC) through GPCR activation and nitric oxide (NO) mediated mPTP inhibition (Hausenloy, Tsang and Yellon 2005). ERK1/2 and protein kinase C (PKC) facilitate the cardioprotective response of the RISK pathway (Hausenloy, Tsang and Yellon 2005). Figure 1.4.4.1 depicts the mediators of the RISK pathway involved in promoting cardiomyocyte survival following ischaemia/reperfusion injury. Other signalling molecules also utilise the PI3K/Akt and ERK1/2 signalling pathways to confer cardioprotection, such as insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) and transforming growth factor β 1 (TGF- β 1) (Hausenloy and Yellon 2004).

Some materials have been removed from this thesis due to Third Party Copyright or confidentiality issues. Pages where material has been removed are clearly marked in the electronic version. The unabridged version of the thesis can be viewed at the Lanchester Library, Coventry University

Figure 1.4.4.1: The components of the RISK pathway. The components in green are prosurvival whereas those in red are pro-apoptotic. Components in yellow are the key components of the RISK pathway (Hausenloy and Yellon 2004).

1.5 Cell death pathways

Programmed cell death (PCD) and non-programmed cell death (NPCD) are distinct mechanisms, however aspects of these signalling pathways often overlap; therefore, determining the activation of one pathway over another can prove difficult. The most well-known form of PCD is apoptosis, an organised and sequential form of death resulting in characteristic features. Necrosis on the other hand is perceived as a disorganised NPCD process leading to damaging inflammatory consequences; however, a 'programmed' form of necrosis is also thought to exists (Jin and El-Deiry 2005).

Apoptosis is commonly associated with cell death in physiological conditions, notably in the regulation of bone physiology (Clarke 2008); whereas necrosis is often associated with pathological conditions. However programmed necrosis has been implicated in microbial infections; necrosis often takes over when apoptosis is inhibited, thus implying a physiological role for necrotic cell death (Edinger and Thompson 2004). Apoptosis is also involved in pathological conditions, such as ischaemia/reperfusion injury, where both necrosis and apoptosis are implicated (Ibáñez et al. 2015, McCully et al. 2004). Cell death signalling is interwoven with many essential pathways including calcium signalling, where calcium dependent processes are interconnected with apoptotic caspases (Orrenius, Zhivotovsky and Nicotera 2003).

1.5.1 Apoptosis

Caspases are also involved in ischaemia/reperfusion injury. Both apoptosis and necrosis mediate cardiomyocyte death following ischaemia/reperfusion injury. Apoptosis is a controlled and sequential process of events which does not involve inflammation and is an energy dependent process. Caspases, death receptors and effectors are instrumental in apoptosis; other key players are the tumour necrosis factor/receptor family (TNF/R) and the Bcl-2 protein family members which regulate apoptosis (Strasser, O'Connor and Dixit 2000).

Caspases are cysteine-aspartate proteases, existing as zymogens and require cleavage for activation (Brentnall et al. 2013, Salvesen and Dixit 1997); caspase-8, caspase-9, and caspase-3 are critically important in apoptosis (Mocanu, Baxter and Yellon 2000). Apoptosis and necrosis are thought to be on going processes during ischaemia; however, apoptosis is thought to be boosted during reperfusion (Eefting et al. 2004). Figure 1.5.1.1 illustrates the apoptotic signalling pathway involved in cardiomyocyte death.

Some materials have been removed from this thesis due to Third Party Copyright or confidentiality issues. Pages where material has been removed are clearly marked in the electronic version. The unabridged version of the thesis can be viewed at the Lanchester Library, Coventry University

Figure 1.5.1.1: The key components in the apoptotic pathway in a cardiomyocyte (Eefting et al. 2004). Caspases have an important role as the mediators of apoptosis, with caspase-3 as an effector caspase, directly affecting DNA. The activation of caspase-3 relies on the release of cytochrome c from the mitochondria but also, as a result of the activation of death receptors. AIF – apoptosis inducible factor, Apaf 1 – apoptotic protease activating factor 1, Bcl-2 – B cell lymphoma 2, Iκ-B – inhibitor of Kappa B, FADD – Fas associated protein with death domain, FLICE – FADD like interleukin 1 β converting enzyme, FLIP – FLICE like inhibitory protein , RSK90 – 90KDa ribosomal s6 kinase (Eefting et al. 2004).

Apoptosis sees cell shrinkage, disintegration of the nuclear envelope, DNA fragmentation and extracellular presentation of epitopes to promote phagocytosis (Jin and El-Deiry 2005, Strasser, O'Connor and Dixit 2000). Apoptosis may be triggered intrinsically or extrinsically (Brentnall et al. 2013). The extrinsic pathway can be stimulated via death receptor ligands such as tumour necrosis factor α (TNF- α) and Fas ligand, but also by chemical or chemotherapeutic agents, such as cisplatin and doxorubicin (Han, Kim and Kim 2008). These interact with death receptors, in contrast to the intrinsic pathway which involves permeabilsation of the mitochondrial outer membrane leading to cytochrome *c* release and caspase activation (Harr and Distelhorst 2010). Apoptotic protease activating factor 1 (Apaf-1) interacts with cytochrome *c* causing oligomerisation of Apaf-1 which recruits dimerised caspase-9, leading to its activation (Green 2005). Both strands of the apoptotic signalling pathway converge to involve the activation of caspases (Strasser, O'Connor and Dixit 2000).

Caspases are the driving force behind apoptosis, therefore targeting of caspases in myocardial infarction may have therapeutic significance (Mocanu, Baxter and Yellon 2000). Caspase-3 is known as an effector caspase in apoptosis (Brentnall et al. 2013, Lakhani et al. 2006, Porter and Jänicke 1999), figure 1.5.1.1 shows how caspase-3 is one of the final caspases to be activated during an apoptotic cascade, resulting in DNA fragmentation and condensation of chromatin, both hallmarks of apoptosis (Eefting et al. 2004). For these reasons, caspase-3 may be targeted for therapeutic benefit. In cardiac post-conditioning studies conducted on guinea pig whole heart models, the post-conditioning effect conferred with the use of an inhalational anaesthetic sevoflurane, shows inhibition of caspase-3 activity; this protective effect was abolished with an Akt and ERK inhibitor respectively (Inamura et al. 2010). This study confirmed the role of caspase-3 in mediating the damaging consequences of myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion injury, and that Akt and ERK are involved in eliciting cardioprotection during postconditioning. Interestingly in cancers, caspase-3 activation is correlated with improved survival; a study conducted in patients with gastric cancer found that increased caspase-3 detection in tumour samples was associated with improved clinical outcome such as 5-year survival (Huang et al. 2018). This may also be of benefit to cardiac disease, where caspase-3 activation is increased in heart failure and myocardial infarction (Scheubel et al. 2002), however the mechanism of improved survival may be specific to cancers

Another protein with a crucial role in apoptosis is the Bcl-2 associated X (Bax) protein. Bcl-2 is an anti-apoptotic protein whereas Bax is a pro-apoptotic protein, which interacts with the mitochondrial outer membrane leading to the formation of a pore, these pores leak out pro-apoptotic proteins and enhance apoptosis (Ola, Nawaz and Ahsan 2011). Cells lacking Bax and another pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 protein Bak, are resistant to apoptotic cell death (Karch et al. 2017). Bax is also involved in necrotic cell death and autophagy; a study using mouse embryonic fibroblasts and Bax^{-/-} mice, found that Bax mediates mPTP opening observed in necrotic cell death, which is absent in Bax knock out mice (Karch et al. 2013). The same group also found that mice embryonic fibroblasts deficient in Bax, were also resistant to autophagic cell death, associated with lysosomal permeability; restoring Bax to the lysosomes was sufficient to enable autophagy in null mice (Karch et al. 2017). The ratio of Bcl-2 to Bax is a measure of survival following apoptotic stimuli; in autopsied hearts from myocardial infarction (MI), there was an overexpression of Bax in patients who had died >1 month after MI, however patients who had died following an acute MI showed increased Bcl-2 in salvaged areas (Misao et al. 1996). This highlights the role of apoptotic proteins with a clinical significance and the potential use of Bax as a clinical marker following MI. These studies show that Bax may mediate multiple forms of cell death aside from apoptosis, therefore it is an important regulator of cell death and shows the crossover between various cell death pathways (Biala and Kirshenbaum 2014).

1.5.2 Necrosis

Necrosis triggers an inflammatory response via swelling and subsequent rupture of affected cells (Jin and El-Deiry 2005). Breakdown of the plasma membrane releases cellular contents, affecting surrounding cells. Necrosis is associated with severe cell swelling and rupture, breakdown down of organelles and coagulation of proteins in the cardiomyocyte cytoplasm leading to an inflammatory response (Zhao et al. 2000). Ischaemia is often associated with necrosis, where oxygen and metabolite deprived cells undergo necrosis on an enormous scale (Jin and El-Deiry 2005). High mobility group box 1 (HMGB1) is a nuclear protein released extracellularly following necrosis, triggering a necrotic inflammatory response (Han, Kim and Kim 2008, Krysko et al. 2008). Preventing HMGB1 release in lung

cancer prevents excessive ROS formation (Han, Kim and Kim 2008). Necrosis is the consequence of extreme stress including heat, chemical and osmotic (Krysko et al. 2008) and is known to be a cause of tumour promotion and invasion due to excessive inflammation (Han, Kim and Kim 2008).

Necrosis is seen as an assortment of random processes (Lopez-Neblina, Toledo and Toledo-Pereyra 2005) triggering an inflammatory response as the cell membrane is ruptured, and cellular contents exit to elicit an immune response (Hausenloy and Yellon 2004). Apoptosis and necrosis can be distinguished based on morphological changes; however, as both mechanisms of cell death interact, it can be difficult to distinguish the pathways (Eefting et al. 2004). In cardiomyocyte ischaemia/reperfusion injury, necrosis also mediates cell death through the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (mPTP) like apoptosis (Green 2005, Lopez-Neblina, Toledo and Toledo-Pereyra 2005), therefore mPTP opening alone cannot distinguish the cell death pathway. Whilst necrosis and apoptosis are thought of as a set of programmed actions versus random actions, there is no biochemical distinction and morphological differences can also overlap; in the absence of phagocytosis in apoptosis, cells appear morphologically similar to primary necrosis (Krysko et al. 2008, Kung, Konstantinidis and Kitsis 2011). Necrosis is involved in physiological processes and may also be programmed and can be regulated via cyclophilin D in the mPTP and in a caspasedependent manner (Edinger and Thompson 2004, Han, Kim and Kim 2008). Where apoptosis is pharmacologically or genetically blocked, necrosis occurs following death receptor activation; there is evidence to suggest that necrosis may be preferred in physiological conditions where an immune reaction to a dying cell may be desirable such as with a bacterial infection (Edinger and Thompson 2004).

1.6 Role of Calcium in cell death signalling

Calcium overload and reactive oxygen species (ROS) drive ischaemia/reperfusion injury and initiate cardiomyocyte death, however both have important functions in healthy cardiomyocytes. External consequences such as ischaemia result in dysfunctional production of these mediators, therefore it important to understand the associated signalling pathways (Moens et al. 2005). In cardiomyocytes, systole occurs by L-type Ca²⁺

channel mediated Ca²⁺ entry, triggering Ca²⁺ induced Ca²⁺ release (CICR) via the sarcoplasmic reticulum (Bootman 2012); relaxation follows Ca²⁺ removal via the Na⁺/ Ca²⁺ exchanger (NCX), and the sarcoplasmic/endoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase (SERCA) (Fearnley, Roderick and Bootman 2011, Murphy and Steenbergen 2008). Physiological cytosolic [Ca²⁺] is maintained at 100-200 nM (Farber 1990), an electrochemical force maintains Ca²⁺ homeostasis consisting of the intracellular-extracellular difference in [Ca²⁺] and the electrical potential of the plasma membrane (Kristian and Siesjo 1998).

1.6.1 Changes in calcium handling and involvement in cardiomyocyte death

Calcium is implicated in several cellular processes such as excitability, cell motility and gene transcription; there are several sensor and adaptor proteins which respond to changes in calcium concentrations and initiate a cellular response (Clapham 2007). Disturbance in calcium balance is best exemplified with compartmental dependence on calcium homeostasis, and its role in initiating cell death signalling (Orrenius, Zhivotovsky and Nicotera 2003). Calcium homeostasis is essential for mitochondrial function via the Na⁺/Ca²⁺ ion antiporter which maintains the ionic gradient across the inner mitochondrial membrane, required for oxidative phosphorylation (Halestrap 2006). An overload in mitochondrial calcium regulation. Calcium overload is often accompanied by oxidative stress and depleting levels of ATP, forcing opening of the mPTP (Baumgartner et al. 2009, Halestrap 2006). mPTP opening is one of the initiating factors of cell death signalling, particularly apoptosis; however, calcium signalling has also been associated with initiating non-apoptotic cell death and promoting phagocytosis of dying cells (Halestrap 2006, Orrenius, Zhivotovsky and Nicotera 2003).

Some materials have been removed from this thesis due to Third Party Copyright or confidentiality issues. Pages where material has been removed are clearly marked in the electronic version. The unabridged version of the thesis can be viewed at the Lanchester Library, Coventry University

Figure 1.6.1.1: The compartmental regulation of calcium. Several channels and transporters are involved in order to maintain calcium homeostasis (Orrenius, Zhivotovsky and Nicotera 2003). PTP refers to the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (mPTP). NCX – Na^+/Ca^{2+} exchanger, PLCy – phospholipase C γ , $Ins(1,4,5)P_3/R$ – inositol 1,4,5 triphosphate receptor, RYR – ryanodine receptor, ER – endoplasmic reticulum, SERCA – sarcoplasmic/endoplasmic reticulum Ca^{2+} ATPase, DAG – diacylglycerol, PtdIns(4,5)P₂ – phosphatidylinositol bisphosphate, PMCA – plasma membrane Ca^{2+} ATPase.

The calcium hypothesis suggests that the cellular ability to regulate calcium is impaired following ischaemia; leading to the accumulation of toxic intracellular concentrations of calcium (Moens et al. 2005). Calcium influx can be linked to the dysfunction of several key channels; the sarcolemmal L-type calcium channel and SERCA dysfunction result in hypercontracture and mitochondrial damage (Turer and Hill 2010). The calpain family of calcium dependent serine proteases are also involved in apoptosis; therefore, tight control of calcium concentrations has significant importance in cell death (Matsumura et al. 2001). Much like the paradoxical damage sustained with restoration of blood flow to ischaemic areas, the introduction of Ca²⁺ into previously Ca²⁺- free environments also has damaging consequences, known as the 'Calcium Paradox' (Piper 2000). Preconditioning studies have

shown that signalling pathways involved in reducing Ca²⁺ overload are activated for cardioprotection (Murphy and Steenbergen 2008).

1.6.2 Calcium in Ischaemia/Reperfusion injury

Despite the significant role of calcium involvement in ischaemia/reperfusion injury, there is no clinical evidence to suggest that blocking calcium channels at the onset of reperfusion is cardioprotective (Hausenloy and Yellon 2013), suggesting that other calcium pathways may underlie the observed consequences. One such target for calcium signalling in apoptosis is the activation of the Ca²⁺/calmodulin dependent phosphatase; calcineurin, as well as the activation of calpains (Garcia-Dorado et al. 2012). Figure 1.6.2.1 depicts the interactions involved in Ca²⁺ overload mediated cell death in the context of reperfusion injury.



Figure 1.6.2.1: Alterations in calcium handling during reperfusion in cardiomyocytes leads to calcium mediated cardiomyocyte death. There is involvement of reactive oxygen species (ROS), mitochondrial permeability transition pore (mPTP), SR mediated Ca²⁺ release and Ca²⁺ overload in cell death (Garcia-Dorado et al. 2012). NOS – nitric oxide synthase, GPCR – G-protein coupled receptor, IP3- inositol triphosphate.

Activation of the Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger (NCX), particularly during ischaemia sheds light on the role of Ca²⁺ in ischaemia/reperfusion. NCX increases cytosolic calcium, correlating with

hypercontracture and cell death (Moens et al. 2005). Figure 1.6.2.2 summarises the roles of the Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ in ischaemia/reperfusion. Calcium also plays a role in cardiomyocyte death during reperfusion, mediated via the opening of the mPTP and influx of mitochondrial calcium.

Some materials have been removed from this thesis due to Third Party Copyright or confidentiality issues. Pages where material has been removed are clearly marked in the electronic version. The unabridged version of the thesis can be viewed at the Lanchester Library, Coventry University

Figure 1.6.2.2: The roles of sodium and calcium ions in ischaemia/reperfusion induced hypercontracture in cardiomyocytes (Moens et al. 2005), and the potential roles of inhibitors for the transporters.

Ca²⁺ overload in cell death specifically in cardiac ischaemia/reperfusion injury, has been elucidated through the examination of the mPTP and the disturbance of mitochondrial calcium homeostasis. However, few studies have examined the role of calcium signalling in the context of drug exacerbated ischaemia/reperfusion injury. Drugs such as the short acting muscarinic antagonist Ipratropium bromide, are prescribed to patients with COPD; however, these patients often have underlying comorbidities such as ischaemic heart disease. Harvey et al. (2014) showed that the use of Ipratropium bromide in myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion injury can exacerbate ischaemia/reperfusion injury via necrosis and apoptosis. Although the study revealed that Ipratropium bromide exacerbated myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion injury, the specific mediators involved were not described.

However, Shaik et al. (2012) showed that Ipratropium bromide initiated Ca²⁺ mediated suicidal death in erythrocytes (Shaik et al. 2012), showing cell shrinkage a hallmark of eryptosis and membrane scrambling, a mechanism of identifying suicidal erythrocytes, by exposing phosphatidylserine residues on the cell surface (Shaik et al. 2012). This study highlights the role of calcium in mediating anti-muscarinic dependent cell death. Ipratropium bromide and similar drugs may also initiate cardiomyocyte death in a calcium dependent manner.

1.7 Role of Reactive Oxygen Species in cardiomyocyte cell death

Classically, reactive oxygen species (ROS) in cells were thought to be detrimental, however they also have protective effects (Becker 2004) observed in preconditioning, where a stress response leads to survival. Conditioning responses are associated with decreased oxidative stress during ischaemia/reperfusion injury therefore providing cytoprotection (Becker 2004, Pasdois et al. 2011). This is also observed with drug-induced cardioprotection in ischaemia/reperfusion injury; acetylcholine mediated cardioprotection correlates with an increase in intracellular ROS prior to the onset of ischaemia, the use of an anti-oxidant abolishes acetylcholine mediated cardioprotection and also blocks ROS increase (Yao et al. 1999). ROS are generated from oxidative phosphorylation in the mitochondria, or via interaction with xenobiotics (Ray, Huang and Tsuji 2012). Oxidation of cellular metabolites can affect the functional properties of these entities, influence the "Ca²⁺ code" and modify essential pathways (Ermak and Davies 2002). In the context of T cell activation, ROS influence calcium channel opening via oxidation of IP₃R and ryanodine receptors (Harr and Distelhorst 2010).

1.7.1 Types of Reactive Oxygen Species

Highly toxic ROS include superoxide anions (O⁻₂), hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) and the hydroxyl radical (⁻OH), produced from the universal reduction of freely available oxygen (Bandyopadhyay, Das and Banerjee 1999, Ray, Huang and Tsuji 2012). Other radicals include nitric oxide (NO⁻) and peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻) (Griendling and FitzGerald 2003). Superoxides and H₂O₂ are involved in signalling at low concentrations, however at higher concentrations they form hydroxyl radicals that can lead to cell death (Pasdois et al. 2011).

1-5% of the oxygen consumed by the mitochondria is involved in ROS formation through the respiratory chain (Becker 2004, Circu and Aw 2010). In this process, oxygen accepts an electron and becomes the superoxide anion, along with the protonated \cdot HO₂; during ischaemia where the pH drops, the protonated form is more favourable and can cause oxidative damage to lipids and the cell membrane (Becker 2004). This can be circumvented by dismutation producing hydrogen peroxide, which is only toxic at high concentrations; cells have adapted mechanisms which enable the conversion of H₂O₂ to H₂O through the catalase enzyme or the glutathione system (Becker 2004).

ROS generation was first observed in phagocytic cells' NADPH oxidase; ROS were produced as a result of respiratory burst, utilising electrons from intracellular NAPDH to form superoxide anions which are processed to H₂O₂, used as a defence against microbial invasion (Orient et al. 2007). Phagocyte-type NAPDH oxidase have homologs in other cell types including vascular smooth muscle cells, known as Nox; these produce ROS in vascular smooth muscle, enhanced with stimuli such as angiotensin II or TNF- α (Li et al. 2002). Sources of mitochondrial ROS also include α -ketoglutarate dehydrogenase, p66^{shc} and monoamine oxidase (MAO); generation of ROS may also occur in the cytosol. Peroxisomes, endoplasmic reticular monooxygenases, cytochrome P450 and membrane associated NADPH oxidase also generate ROS, the latter results in the generation of ROS implicated in cellular signalling (Circu and Aw 2010, Griendling and FitzGerald 2003). Damage is not restricted to ROS generated cells; damaged cells also release ROS resulting in injury to surrounding cells. Tissue injury can also cause oxidative stress via ischaemia/reperfusion, trauma or infection (Bandyopadhyay, Das and Banerjee 1999).

1.7.2 Role of ROS in Physiological and Pathological conditions

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) can be detrimental; in physiological conditions, molecular oxygen is taken up by the mitochondria, forming the site of ROS generation in aerobic conditions (Orrenius, Gogvadze and Zhivotovsky 2015). ROS and nitrogen species also function as signalling molecules in physiological conditions (Ermak and Davies 2002). The phosphatase and tensin homology (PTEN) protein negatively regulates the synthesis of membrane bound phosphatidylinositol 1, 4, 5 trisphosphate (PIP3), which recruits Akt by dephosphorylating to PIP2; PTEN can be inactivated via H₂O₂ oxidation which modulates this pathway (Griendling et al. 2000, Ray, Huang and Tsuji 2012).

In pathological conditions, ROS promote the oxidation of mitochondrial membrane phospholipids and proteins, resulting in a compromised membrane (Bandyopadhyay, Das and Banerjee 1999, Orrenius, Zhivotovsky and Nicotera 2003, Orrenius, Gogvadze and Zhivotovsky 2015). ROS can also damage DNA through base modifications, deoxyribose oxidation, strand breakage or cross-linking DNA proteins, resulting in mutagenesis or carcinogenesis (Bandyopadhyay, Das and Banerjee 1999, Devasagayamet al. 2004) leading to apoptosis (Griendling and FitzGerald 2003). Attack from ⁻OH on pyrimidines results in thymine glycol, uracil glycol, urea residue, 5-hydroxydeoxyuradine, hydantoin or 5-hydroxydeoxycytidine. Similarly, ⁻OH attack of purine bases results in the formation of 8-hydroxydeoxyguanosine (8-OHdG), formamidopyrimidines and 8-hydroxydeoxyadenosine (Devasagayam et al. 2004). 8-OHdG has been implicated in cancer and is a biomarker for oxidative damage of DNA. Figure 1.7.2.1 shows a schematic summarising the involvement of ROS and antioxidants in pathological conditions.

Some materials have been removed from this thesis due to Third Party Copyright or confidentiality issues. Pages where material has been removed are clearly marked in the electronic version. The unabridged version of the thesis can be viewed at the Lanchester Library, Coventry University

Figure 1.7.2.1: The involvement of reactive oxygen species in pathological conditions. Conditions such as ischaemia/reperfusion injury, acidosis and tissue damage are described, along with endogenous scavengers, the sources and consequences of ROS. SOD- superoxide dismutase, GSH – glutathione, adapted from (Bandyopadhyay, Das and Banerjee 1999).

Mitochondria are the major contributor to reperfusion-induced ROS (Becker 2004, Chouchani et al. 2014), produced from the reduction of molecular oxygen when re-
introduced into previously ischaemic tissue (Murphy and Steenbergen 2008, Verma et al. 2002). ROS are also generated from enzymes such as mitochondrial cytochrome oxidase, and activated neutrophils (Pasdois et al. 2011, Verma et al. 2002). Free radicals induce the release of platelet activating factor from endothelial cells, attracting more neutrophils and amplifying ROS production. ROS causes reperfusion injury by reacting with membrane-bound polyunsaturated fatty acids (Verma et al. 2002). Whilst ROS generation is attributed to reperfusion following mPTP opening (Hausenloy et al. 2002, Murphy 2009), there is evidence to suggest ROS may also be produced during ischaemia; however, failure to provide a completely anoxic simulated environment leaves differences in studies regarding ROS production (Murphy 2009). Ischaemic preconditioning relies on short periods of ischaemia induced sequentially before an ischaemic attack; the PI3K pathway leads to the involvement of the mitochondrial K_{ATP} channel which activates survival kinases such as Akt, p38, ERK1/2, JNK and PKC following ROS generation (Hausenloy and Yellon 2006). Conversely, postconditioning is based on attenuation of ROS generation early on during reperfusion, through the inhibition of neutrophil related events (Sun et al. 2005).

1.7.3 ROS Scavengers and Antioxidants

Several redox systems neutralise ROS, including the gluthathione redox system, thioredoxin system, pyridine nucleotide system, NAPDH, NAD⁺ and sirtuins (Circu and Aw 2010). Antioxidant enzymes responsible for primary defence against ROS include superoxide dismutase, gluthathione peroxidise, horseradish peroxidise and lactoperoxidase as well as catalase (Bandyopadhyay, Das and Banerjee 1999, Birben et al. 2012). Exogenous or dietary substances can also detoxify ROS or free radicals; these are collectively known as antioxidants. Antioxidants also exist in non-enzymatic forms, such as vitamin C, vitamin E and glutathione (Birben et al. 2012). Free radical scavengers are antioxidants which scavenge and detoxify free radical species (Carocho and Ferreira 2013, Hamilton 2007). ROS can activate redox sensitive transcription factors, such as nuclear factor $\kappa\beta$ (NF- $\kappa\beta$), nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT) and hypoxia inducible factor 1 (HIF1) (Birben et al. 2012). Figure 1.7.3.1 describes the effect of ROS on pathways affecting transcription factors.

Some materials have been removed from this thesis due to Third Party Copyright or confidentiality issues. Pages where material has been removed are clearly marked in the electronic version. The unabridged version of the thesis can be viewed at the Lanchester Library, Coventry University

Figure 1.7.3.1: The signalling cascades occurring within a cell in response to mitochondrial and non-mitochondrial ROS. ROS signalling results in the activation of proinflammatory and antioxidant transcription genes. NFAT – nuclear factor of activated T cells, NF-κB/IκB - nuclear factor kappa light chain enhancer of activated B-cells/inhibitor, NADPH – nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate, MEK – mitogen activated protein kinase kinase, ERK – extracellular signal regulated kinase, JNK, c-Jun n-terminal kinase, ROS – reactive oxygen species, AP1 – activator protein 1 (Birben et al. 2012).

Resveratrol is a polyphenol compound found in red wine, implicated in conferring cardioprotection (Hung, Su and Chen 2004, Ray et al. 1999). Low to moderate consumers of red wine have decreased incidence of coronary heart disease, compared to excessive drinking or no alcohol consumption, this protective effect has been attributed to polyphenols (Magyar et al. 2012, Wu and Hsieh 2011). Polyphenols react with superoxides, hydroxyl or lipid hydroxyl radicals, reducing lipid oxidation and atherosclerosis (Hung et al. 2002). Resveratrol acts as free radical scavenger but does not function as a potent scavenger *in vitro* (Das and Maulik 2006); instead, the protective effects of resveratrol are likely to be from the upregulation of endogenous anti-oxidant systems such as Fe/Mn-superoxide dismutase and increased peroxidase activity (Mokni et al. 2013, Wang et al.

2012a). Resveratrol improves left ventricular function and lowers low density lipoproteins in post-infarction patients (Magyar et al. 2012).

Resveratrol is cardioprotective via nitric oxide (NO) (Das and Maulik 2006, Thirunavukkarasu et al. 2007) and adenosine, leading to NO mediated coronary flow increase in Langendorff models (Du et al. 2014, Magyar et al. 2012, Mokni et al. 2013, Thuc et al. 2012). Adenosine also acts through NO by activating NO signalling, which is abolished with adenosine inhibitors (Bradamante et al. 2003, Das and Maulik 2006). Resveratrol pretreatment in models of ischaemia/reperfusion injury shows significant upregulation of endothelial and neuronal NO synthase (eNOS and nNOS), this results in a significant reduction in infarct size (Dernek et al. 2004, Hung, Su and Chen 2004). Resveratrol induces relaxation in rat aortic rings mediated via inhibition of NADH/NADPH oxidase activity and activation of the L-arginine/NO/cGMP pathway; this activation is from an increased synthesis of NO and due to a decrease in NO inactivation. Diffusion of NO from endothelial cells to smooth muscle cells leads to the stimulation of guanylate cyclase resulting in cGMP mediated vascular relaxation (Orallo et al. 2002).

Resveratrol effects several pathways related to inflammation and gene expression, as seen in figure 1.7.3.2 (Das and Maulik 2006), with anti-apoptotic and anti-inflammatory effects (Wang et al. 2012a). At low concentrations, resveratrol induces autophagy following ischaemia/reperfusion via AMPK mediated activation of mammalian target of rapamycin 2 (mTOR2) and inhibition of mTOR1 (Gurusamy et al. 2009). However, AMPK activation by resveratrol inhibits cardiac hypertrophy by suppressing protein synthesis and gene transcription by NFAT and inhibition of Akt (Chan et al. 2008). Resveratrol also has genomic mechanisms to confer cardioprotection (Wu and Hsieh 2011), with differential expression observed with some MicroRNAs (miRs); ischaemia/reperfusion hearts pre-treated with resveratrol were shown to have miR patterns similar to basal levels with significant increases in ERK1/2 phosphorylation regulated by miR-21 (Mukhopadhyay et al. 2010). These studies show the diverse effect of resveratrol in cardiomyocytes to confer protection. Some materials have been removed from this thesis due to Third Party Copyright or confidentiality issues. Pages where material has been removed are clearly marked in the electronic version. The unabridged version of the thesis can be viewed at the Lanchester Library, Coventry University

Figure 1.7.3.2: Resveratrol interacts with a wide range of different proteins and pathways. These account for the anti-oxidant properties which can be manipulated to confer protection in a vast number of disease phenotypes (Das and Maulik 2006).

1.8 Aims and Objectives

This study hypothesises that LAMAs may exacerbate cardiovascular damage in ischaemia/reperfusion injury. Additionally, it is hypothesised that Tiotropium bromide results in cardiomyocyte death via Ca²⁺ overload or reactive oxygen species.

The primary aim of this study was to elucidate the cardiotoxicity of long acting muscarinic receptor antagonists, notably how Tiotropium bromide induces myocardial damage in *ex vivo* and *in vitro* models of normoxic conditions and ischaemia/reperfusion injury. The objectives of this study were:

- (a) Determining the cardiotoxicity of other long acting muscarinic receptor antagonists in *ex vivo* models of myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion injury
- (b) Understanding the effect of Tiotropium bromide on calcium signalling and oxidative stress in *ex vivo* and *in vitro* normoxic conditions via Ca²⁺/calmodulin kinase II (CaMKII) and the antioxidant, resveratrol
- (c) Elucidating the function of muscarinic, PI3K-Akt, caspase-3 and the mPTP in Tiotropium bromide mediated myocardial damage
- (d) To observe the effect of Tiotropium bromide on gene expression profiles associated with myocardial infarction and oxidative stress.

Chapter 2: Methods and Materials

2.1 Drugs and Materials

Aclidinium bromide, Tiotropium bromide, Glycopyrronium bromide and Umeclidinium bromide (Sequoia Research Products Ltd, UK) were dissolved in DMSO at 10 mM or 1 mM (Sigma Aldrich, UK) before use and diluted in Krebs Henseleit buffer for subsequent concentrations. The final dilution of DMSO has been shown to have no significant effect on infarct size (Joyeux et al. 2002), due to negligible final concentrations. All stock solutions were stored at -20°C. The 2,3,5-Triphenyltetrazolium Chloride (TTC) and Evans blue dye were purchased from Sigma Aldrich, UK. All other reagents used were purchased from Fisher Scientific, UK. Haemodynamic function was recorded using a physiological pressure transducer connected to a latex balloon and PowerLab (ADI, UK), using LabChart[®] software v7.

2.1.1 Antibodies used for Flow cytometry

Cleaved caspase-3 (Asp175) Alexa Fluor[®] 488 antibody (Cell Signalling), Annexin-V FITC apoptosis detection kit (Abcam, UK), CellROX[®] green flow cytometry assay kit and Fluo 3-AM (Invitrogen, ThermoFisher, UK) were used with the BD FACSCalibur (BD Biosciences, UK).

2.1.2 Antibodies and reagents used for Western blotting

Antibodies from Cell Signalling (UK) include; anti-Akt antibody and phospho-Akt (Ser473), anti-CaMKII antibody and p-CaMKII (Thr286) antibody, biotinylated protein ladder detection pack; secondary antibodies for anti-biotin and HRP-linked anti-rabbit IgG. Any KDa Mini-PROTEAN[®] TGX[™] pre-cast gels, the Mini-PROTEAN tetra cell, Trans-blot[®] Turbo[™], PVDF membranes and Precision Plus Protein [™] Kaleidoscope prestained ladder were purchased from Bio-Rad Ltd. (UK).

2.1.3 Reagents used for quantitative PCR (qPCR)

Reagents for sample preparation, including RNase Zap[®] and RNA Later[®] were purchased from Ambion[®], ThermoFisher, UK. SYBR Green, dNTPs and PrimePCR pathway plates were obtained from Bio-Rad Ltd. (UK), whilst the GAPDH primer was purchased from Qiagen, UK; all other reagents were from Invitrogen[®], ThermoFisher, UK.

2.2. Animals

Adult male Sprague-Dawley rats (300g ± 50g body weight – Charles River, UK) were kept in humane conditions and fed a standard laboratory diet. Procedures were in accordance with the Guidelines on the Operation of the Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act 1986. Whole hearts were used for Langendorff models to record haemodynamic parameters and evaluate infarct development, tissue collection (Western blotting/qPCR) and cardiomyocyte cell isolations. All studies were approved by the Coventry University Ethics department (UK).

2.3 Langendorff Perfused Heart Model

2.3.1 Krebs-Henseleit solution and mounted Langendorff

For the whole heart perfusion models, animals were sacrificed via cervical dislocation in accordance to the Schedule I Home Office procedure, and the intact hearts were excised. The excised hearts were immediately placed in ice cold Krebs-Henseleit (KH - 118.5 mM NaCl, 25 mM NaHCO₃, 12 mM Glucose, 4.8 mM KCl, 1.2 mM KH₂PO₄, 1.2 mM MgSO₄.7H₂O and 1.7 mM CaCl₂.2H₂O) buffer before being cannulated securely onto the Langendorff apparatus (figure 2.3.1.1), and retrogradely perfused with KH buffer (37°C, pH 7.4) saturated with 95% O₂ and 5% CO₂. Figure 2.3.1.1 depicts Langendorff mounted hearts.



Figure 2.3.1.1: Hearts mounted on a Langendorff. a) A normoxic heart cannulated with a latex balloon inflated in the left ventricle, through the excised left atrium. b) A heart following 35 minutes of regional ischaemia and 120 minutes of reperfusion. There is a clear ischaemic band formed horizontally across the heart (arrow).

2.3.2 Haemodynamics Data Collection

Haemodynamics and experimental protocols were as described by Gharanei et al. (2013b). Figure 2.3.2.1 shows left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) and heart rate (Beats per Minute – BPM). The coronary flow (ml/min) was recorded by collecting the coronary perfusate at timed intervals. Haemodynamic parameters were recorded at 5 minute intervals during stabilisation and ischaemia, and 15 minute intervals during reperfusion. Appendix 1 depicts the primary data recorded from a single experiment.



Figure 2.3.2.1: Haemodynamic trace for LVDP and heart rate. The parameters were recorded at timed intervals as mentioned in section 2.3.2.

2.3.3 Experimental Design – Concentration Response and Adjunctive therapies

2.3.3.1 Normoxia Langendorff Models – Adjunctive Therapies and Tiotropium bromide

Tiotropium bromide (10 nM – 0.1 nM) was used in the concentration response model; 1 nM was subsequently used for all other studies. For the adjunctive drug groups: acetylcholine (100 nM), resveratrol (10 μ M), KN-93 (400 nM), wortmannin (100 nM), cyclosporin A (200 nM), Z-DEVD-FMK (140 nM) and nifedipine (1 nM) were used. The data from these drug groups were compared to normoxic controls (n = 4-6).

Normoxic controls received Krebs-Henseleit (KH) buffer for the duration of the experiment (175-mins) with no intervention. For all drug groups, following 20 minutes of stabilisation,

drug administration was initiated and remained for the duration of the experimental protocol (155 minutes) as demonstrated in figure 2.3.3.1.1. At the end of the experimental protocol, the weight of the hearts were recorded and stored at -20°C, before further analysis using TTC staining.



Figure 2.3.3.1.1: Normoxic Langendorff experimental model. The drug treated groups accounts for Tiotropium bromide (10 - 0.1 nM), and the adjunctive drugs following stabilisation. The normoxic control group did not receive any drug treatment.

2.3.3.2 Ischaemia/Reperfusion Langendorff Model

Tiotropium bromide ($10 \mu M - 0.1 nM$), Aclidinium and Glycopyrronium bromides ($10 \mu M - 1 nM$) and Umeclidinium bromide ($1 \mu M - 1 nM$) were used for the concentration response in ischaemia/reperfusion (n = 4-6), to include a range of concentrations including those administered in humans. Figure 2.3.3.2.1 depicts the experimental protocol. The normoxic controls were the same as described in 2.3.3.1. For ischaemia/reperfusion (I/R), following 20 minutes of stabilisation, regional ischaemia was induced for 35 minutes. Ischaemia was induced through the insertion of surgical sutures to occlude the left descending coronary arteries; the sutures were tightened and secured in place using plastic tubes forming a snare. Following the end of the ischaemia period, the snare around the coronary arteries was released and reperfusion commenced for 120 minutes. Drug administration began at the onset of reperfusion and lasted throughout.

Following reperfusion, the coronary arteries were re-ligated and hearts were perfused with 0.25% Evans blue dye (EBD). This perfusion with Evans blue solution allows discrimination

between the ischaemic tissue (unstained), and non-ischaemic 'risk' tissue, comprising the areas which are not subjected to regional ischaemia (stained blue) (Bell, Mocanu and Yellon 2011). The weight of the hearts were recorded and stored at -20°C, before further analysis. TTC staining was undertaken for all Langendorff groups, including normoxic groups.



Figure 2.3.3.2.1: The standard experimental protocols for ischaemia/reperfusion (I/R) and normoxic conditions. Following the end of the experimental protocol, all hearts were weighed and prepared for TTC staining.

2.3.3.3 Staining procedure using 2, 3, 5-Triphenyl Tetrazolium Chloride (TTC)

The TTC staining procedure was as previously described by Bell et al (2011). Viable tissue appeared red (tetrazolium positive) whilst infarct areas appeared pale (tetrazolium negative). For ischaemia/reperfusion groups, these were also stained with Evans blue dye, distinguishing areas 'at risk'. Figure 2.3.3.3.1 shows an image of an ischaemia/reperfusion heart section following Evans blue staining. ImageJ (Java) was used to analyse infarct size by computerised planimetry.



Figure 2.3.3.3.1: Transverse heart slice obtained following Evans blue dye and TTC staining. The red arrow depicts the area 'at risk' which is dyed with Evans blue, the blue arrow highlights the infarcted area, which is seen as pale (Bell, Mocanu and Yellon 2011).

2.3.4 Tissue Collection for Western Blot Analysis

Myocardial tissue from the treatment groups as per section 2.3.3.1, were collected. RNaseZap® was used to decontaminate all surfaces before tissue excision, the left ventricle was excised from each heart and divided into two; all tissues were rapidly frozen in liquid nitrogen before storage at -80°C. Approximately 50 mg of the excised left ventricle was homogenised using an IKA Ultra-Turrax[®] T 25 basic disperser, set to a speed of 21,500 RPM, with lysis buffer (100 mM NaCl, 10 mM Tris base - pH 8.0, 1 mM EDTA - pH 8.0, 2 mM sodium pyrophosphate, 2 mM NaF, 2 mM β-glycerophosphate, SigmaFAST[™] protease inhibitor cocktail tablets – 1 tablet/100ml and PhosStop[™] - 1 tablet/10ml). Homogenised tissue was centrifuged for 10 minutes at 11,000 RPM at 4°C to obtain the supernatant, which was transferred into 1.5ml microcentrifuge tubes. The protein content of each sample was calculated using the Pierce[™] BCA assay kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, UK), as described in section 2.5.1. Samples were diluted with an equal volume of Laemmli buffer (250 mM Tris-HCl – pH 6.8, 10% glycerol, 0.006% bromophenol blue, 4% SDS, βmercaptoethanol - pH 6.8) and incubated at 100°C for 5 minutes before being stored at -20°C. All samples were defrosted on ice prior to use and diluted further using Laemmli buffer to obtain a protein concentration of 50 μ g.

2.3.5 Tissue Collection for RNA Analysis and Isolation

Tissue was obtained as described in section 2.3.4. Tissue was homogenised in TRIsure reagent (Bioline, UK) for RNA extraction, followed by 5 minute incubation at room temperature for phase separation. Chloroform was added to homogenised tissue (0.2ml/ml of TRIsure) and vigorously shaken for 15 seconds, incubated for 3 minutes at room temperature, then centrifuged (12000 x g, 15 minutes) at 4°C to separate into the different phases; organic phase, interphase and aqueous layer containing RNA. The aqueous layer was used to precipitate RNA, by addition of ice cold isopropyl alcohol (0.5ml/ml of TRIsure) and incubated at room temperature for 10 minutes. Samples were centrifuged (12000 x g, 10 minutes) at 4°C. The pellet obtained was washed with 75% ethanol (1ml/ml of TRIsure) mixed, and centrifuged (7500 x g, 5 minutes) at 4°C. Pellets were airdried and dissolved in diethyl pyrocarbonate (DEPC)-treated water (10 μ l) before analysis of RNA content. The RNA content of each sample was calculated using a Nanodrop One spectrophotometer. 260/280 ratios of 2.0 were assumed to be pure RNA; samples which had low ratios indicative of impurity were discarded and repeated.

2.4 Adult Rat Ventricular Cardiomyocyte Isolation

2.4.1 Isolation Protocol

Hearts were obtained as described in section 2.3.1, and mounted onto a modified Langendorff set up with a mechanical pump set at a constant flow of 10 ml/min, perfused with a modified calcium free Krebs buffer (KRH - 119.9 mM NaCl, 5.4 mM KCl, 0.49 mM MgSO₄, 10 mM Glucose, 19.98 mM Taurine, 5 mM Sodium Pyruvate, 5.06 mM Na₂HPO₄, 11.76 mM KH₂PO₄ oxygenated with 95% O₂ and 5% CO₂, pH 7.4, 37°C). Hearts were perfused with KRH buffer for 3 minutes to ensure cessation of cardiac function, before 5-7 minutes of perfusion with modified digestion buffer (KRH, 0.046% Gibco[®] Collagenase Type II, 34 µM CaCl₂); during digestion, the coronary perfusate was collected and recycled throughout.

Following enzymatic digestion, hearts were removed from the apparatus and the atria were trimmed away. Ventricular tissue was minced and aspirated for a further 5 minutes in digestion buffer at 37°C for complete enzymatic dissociation. The digestion buffer was

filtered through nylon mesh and the filtrate was centrifuged (1200 RPM, 2 minutes) at room temperature, and repeated if necessary. The pellet was resuspended in restoration buffer composed of modified Krebs buffer (KRH, 5 mM Creatine, 50 μ M CaCl₂, 1% BSA, 1% Pen/Strep) and maintained at 37°C; 3.4 μ l of 1 M CaCl₂ was added in five stages over a period of 20 minutes to gradually increase the calcium concentration to 1.13 M, reducing the risk of calcium overload. Figure 2.5.1.1 depicts isolated cardiomyocytes in an inverted microscope.



Figure 2.4.1.1: Isolated cardiomyocytes under an inverted microscope following enzymatic digestion. The red arrows indicate viable cardiomyocytes which appear elongated and striated, and the black arrows show non-viable cardiomyocytes, in hypercontracture.

2.4.2 Experimental Protocol

Cardiomyocytes were incubated with Tiotropium bromide ($10 \mu M - 0.1 nM$) or Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm acetylcholine (100 nM), Resveratrol ($10 \mu M$), KN-93 (400 nM), Wortmannin (100 nM) and Z-DEVD-FMK (70 nM) diluted in restoration buffer. The normoxic control group was composed of cardiomyocytes and restoration buffer only, at a 1:1 ratio. Approximately 50,000 cells were plated per well with a final volume of 1 ml. Cells

were then incubated for 4 hours in a Nuaire incubator at 37° C with humidified air and 5% CO₂.

2.4.3 Cleaved caspase-3 analysis of cardiomyocytes via flow cytometry

Following section 2.4.2, cells were transferred into microfuge tubes and centrifuged (1200 RPM, 2 minutes) at room temperature. The supernatant was removed, and samples were resuspended and incubated in 1x phosphate buffered saline (PBS – pH 7.4). An equal volume of 6% formaldehyde was added, giving a final concentration of 3%. Cells were incubated at 37°C for 10 minutes, followed by 1 minute on ice. Cells were centrifuged (1200 RPM, 2 minutes) at room temperature and resuspended in 90% ice-cold methanol. Cells were placed in -80°C, or on ice for 30 minutes before immediate use.

Following methanol fixation and permeabilisation of the cell membrane, samples were prepared with cleaved caspase-3 (Asp175) (Alexa Fluor[®] 488). Cells were washed with incubation buffer (0.5% BSA in 1x PBS) twice and centrifuged (1200 RPM, 2 minutes) at 4°C. Cardiomyocytes were resuspended in incubation buffer and incubated for 10 minutes at room temperature. The final antibody dilution was prepared following the datasheet at 1:100, diluted in incubation buffer. Following the 10-minute incubation, samples were centrifuged (1200 RPM, 2 minutes) at 4°C, the supernatant was removed, and the samples were resuspended in antibody preparations of 100 µl for 1 hour at room temperature, protected from light. Samples were then centrifuged (1200 RPM, 2 minutes) at 4°C, and washed in incubation buffer, before resuspension in 500 µl of 1x PBS for immediate use on the flow cytometer. The FL-1 channel was used for the Alexa Fluor[®] 488 antibody, set to count 2,000 – 10,000 cells.

2.4.4 Apoptosis and necrosis detection assay – Annexin V FITC

Following drug incubation, samples were transferred to microfuge tubes, and centrifuged (500 RPM, 2 minutes) at room temperature. The supernatant was removed, and samples were resuspended in 1x binding buffer and centrifuged (500 RPM, 2 minutes) at room temperature. The supernatant was removed, and the samples were resuspended in annexin-V and propidium iodide, diluted in 1x binding buffer (1:100), incubated for 5 minutes away from light. Following incubation, samples were immediately analysed on the flow cytometer using the FITC signal detector (FL-1) for annexin-V, and phycoerythrin

emission (FL-2) for propidium iodide, set to count 10,000 cells. Total apoptosis included early and late apoptosis, which equate to cardiomyocytes grouped in the lower right and upper right quadrants of the density plot respectively (cells stained: annexin V positive/propidium iodide negative AV+, PI- and annexin V positive/propidium iodide positive AV+, PI+ respectively).

2.4.5 Reactive oxygen species detection – CellRox® assay

The negative control, N-acetylcysteine (NAC) was prepared with 245 μ I PBS to a stock concentration of 250 mM; the positive control, tert-Butyl hydroperoxide (TBHP) was prepared with 496.8 μ l to 50 mM. The SYTOX stain was reconstituted in DMSO to give a stock concentration of 5 μ M, as per manufacturer's protocol. Cells were incubated with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM), resveratrol (10 μ M), Tiotropium bromide + resveratrol, positive, negative and single stain controls for CellROX and SYTOX. The negative control was incubated with NAC (1000 μ M) alone for 1 hour, before the addition of TBHP (200 μ M) for the rest of the incubation period, the same as the positive control. In the final hour of the 4 hour incubation period, CellROX reagent (500 nM) was added to each well, apart from the SYTOX only well. The CellROX reagent was reconstituted in DMSO (250 μ M). In the last 15 minutes of the incubation period, SYTOX reagent (5 nM) was added to the wells, apart from the CellROX only well. Cells were assessed using the flow cytometer set to 488 nm excitation; the positive control was used to adjust settings, set to count 10,000 cells.

2.4.6 Intracellular Calcium measurement using Fluo 3-AM

Fluo 3-AM (500 μ M) stock solution was reconstituted using DMSO. Following incubation with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM), KN-93 (400 nM), Tiotropium bromide + KN-93, the ionophore, ionomycin (1 μ M) and the Ca²⁺ channel blocker, amiloride (100 mM). Cells were pipetted into microfuge tubes and washed with restoration buffer before being resuspended in fresh restoration buffer. Fluo 3-AM (5 μ M) was added to the cells incubated at room temperature for 25 minutes, protected from light. Following incubation, cells were centrifuged (300 RPM, 2 minutes) at room temperature and resuspended in fresh restoration buffer, fluo 3-AM (5 μ M) was added to the cells incubated in fresh restoration buffer. Fluo 3-AM (5 μ M) was added to the cells incubated at room temperature for 25 minutes, protected from light. Following incubation, cells were centrifuged (300 RPM, 2 minutes) at room temperature and resuspended in fresh restoration buffer, and subsequently incubated for 10 minutes at room temperature for the de-esterification stage. Cells were immediately analysed on the FL-1 channel of the flow cytometer at 488 nm excitation, set to count 10,000 cells.

2.5 Western Blot Analysis

2.5.1 Protein Quantification using Bicinchoninic acid assay (BCA)

The protein content of homogenised sample lysates was evaluated using a colorimetric BCA Protein assay kit. Concentrated albumin standards were serially diluted using lysis buffer to obtain a concentration range of $0 - 2000 \ \mu g/ml$. BCA working reagent was prepared following a 50:1 ratio of reagent A and reagent B. In a 96 well plate, all standards and unknown samples were pipetted at a volume of 10 μ l in triplicate, following this, 200 μ l of working reagent was added to each well and the plate was gently agitated. Plates were covered to protect from light and incubated for 30 minutes at 37°C. The plate was left to cool to room temperature, before measurement using a plate reader set at 562 nm. The absorbance values were then used to calculate protein content in the unknowns.

2.5.2 Gel Electrophoresis

Following sample collection and homogenisation, outlined in 2.3.4; diluted samples at 50 µg were centrifuged (1800 RPM, 2 minutes) at 4°C, before loading. Precast TGX[™] (Tris/glycine) gradient gels were used for all experiments; gels were placed inside of a Mini-PROTEAN[™] vertical electrophoresis assembly unit. The chamber and outer tank were filled with running buffer (14.42g/LGlycine, 1.0g/LSDS, 3.03g/LTris base, pH 8.3) before removal of the gel combs, the samples were then loaded into the wells, with at least one well loaded with a molecular protein marker. The gels were run at 130-150V for 60-75 minutes using a Power-Pac 3000 (Bio-Rad, UK).

2.5.3 Protein Transfer

Following separation of the protein samples, gels were removed carefully from their compartments and sandwiched into Trans-Blot[®] Turbo[™] transfer packs, consisting of filter paper, buffer and a polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membrane. The assembled cassettes were then loaded into the Trans-Blot system (Bio-Rad, UK) and run for mixed molecular weight transfer for 7 minutes when using two mini gels, using the 'Turbo' setting.

2.5.4 Antibody Probing

Membrane blots were incubated at room temperature in blocking buffer (5% w/v milk powder in Tris-buffered saline with 1% Tween 20 - TBS/T, pH 7.4) for 60 minutes on an orbital shaker, with the protein side facing downwards. Following the blocking stage, membranes were washed with TBS/T three times for 5 minutes each, before proceeding with primary antibody incubation (5% w/v bovine serum albumin (BSA) in TBS/T) on a roller shaker at 4°C overnight. Membranes were then washed (3x) with TBS/T to remove any unbound antibody and incubated for 1 hr at room tempartaure with secondary antibody (anti-rabbit HRP IgG – 1 in 10,000) in blocking solution (5% w/v milk powder in TBS/T) on an orbital shaker. The membranes were then washed again using TBS/T (3x) before continuing.

2.5.5 Visualisation, Densitometry and Quantification

Membranes were placed onto acetate sheets with a 1:1 dilution of SuperSignal West Femto, analysed using a ChemiDoc transluminator for imaging (Bio-Rad, UK) with ImageLab[®]. Membranes were auto-exposed to detect dense bands corresponding to the protein of interest; images were captured and analysed using ImageJ.

2.6 Real Time Polymerase Chain Reaction (qPCR) using PrimePCR Pathway plates 2.6.1 cDNA synthesis from isolated RNA and assessment of optimal cDNA concentration using GAPDH

Following section 2.3.5, cDNA was synthesised using 1 μ l of the Oligo dT ₍₂₀₎ primer kit, 1 μ l of premixed dNTP solution (10 mM), 1000 ng or a maximum volume of 8 μ l of RNA, with a volume made to 10 μ l using DEPC water, following the protocol from Invitrogen. The reaction mix was prepared in RNase and DNase free tubes and denatured at 65°C for 5 mins in a thermal cycler and immediately placed on ice before brief centrifuging (quick spin setting). Once on ice, mastermix consisiting of SuperScript Reverse transcriptase (1 μ l per reaction), 0.1 M DTT (1 μ l per reaction) and 5x First strand buffer (4 μ l per reaction) were used. Samples were vortexed, centrifuged (quick spin setting), and incubated at 50°C for 5 minutes, followed by 85°C for 5 minutes to terminate the reaction, before placing the samples on ice. The cDNA was quantified using NanoDrop One.

Following cDNA synthesis, a concentration response was determined for glyceraldehyde 3phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH). cDNA at 1, 3, 10, 30, 50, 80 and 100 ng as well as no template controls (NTC) were prepared in DNase- and RNase-free tubes before being plated into a PCR microplate in triplicate. GAPDH primer (2 μ l) and SYBR Green (10 μ l) were added to the cDNA and the volume made up to 20 μ l using DEPC treated water. Samples were vortexed and centrifuged (quick spin setting) before plating, plates were sealed then briefly centrifuged (quick spin setting), and set up in the PCR machine with: activation at 95 °C (2 minute cycle), denaturation at 95°C (5 seconds, 40 cycles), annealing/extension at 60°C (30 seconds, 40 cycles), followed by a melt curve at 65-95°C (5 second cycle). Ct values were analysed and a concentration response curve (not shown) determined 80 ng as optimal.

2.6.2 Gene expression associated with Myocardial Infarction and Oxidative Stress

Following section 2.6.1, cDNA was prepared with SYBR green and DEPC treated water and added to wells pre-prepared with primers, with a total of 20 µl per well. PrimePCR[™] pathway plates were used for gene expression analysis. For the Myocardial Infarction plate (96 well), Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) and normoxic samples were plated for 27 genes along with 5 control genes. For the Oxidative Stress plate (96 well), only one 'n' number could be plated to assess 91 genes associated with oxidative stress and 5 control genes. Run files for the two plates were obtained from Bio-Rad, which provided the run instructions for the CFX Connect PCR machine (Bio-Rad, UK).

2.7 Data and Statistical Analysis

Data presented in this study is expressed as the Mean ± standard error of the mean (SEM). Microsoft[®] Excel, GraphPad Prism 6[®] and SPSS[®] (IBM) software were used to statistically analyse the data and produce graphs. The statistical test and the post-hoc test used to analyse the haemodynamics and infarct data were one-way ANOVA and Tukey's test, whereas cardiomyocyte and western blot data were analysed using Fisher's Least Significant Difference (LSD) post-hoc test; qPCR data was evaluated using Student's T test. To assess the difference in the data sets, a p-value of p<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Chapter 3: Pharmacological Profiling of Long Acting Muscarinic Receptor Antagonists (LAMAs)

The primary aim of this study was to elucidate the cardiotoxicity of long acting muscarinic receptor antagonists, notably how Tiotropium bromide induces myocardial damage in *ex vivo* and *in vitro* models of normoxic conditions and ischaemia/reperfusion injury.

(a) Determining the cardiotoxicity of other long acting muscarinic receptor antagonists in *ex vivo* models of myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion injury.

(d) To observe the effect of Tiotropium bromide on gene expression profiles associated with myocardial infarction and oxidative stress.

3.1 Profiling of Glycopyrronium Bromide – in an *in vitro* model of Myocardial Ischaemia/Reperfusion injury

3.1.1 Haemodynamic Data Analysis for Glycopyrronium bromide (10 μ M – 1 nM)

Using a whole heart Langendorff model, the effect of Glycopyrronium bromide ($10 \mu M - 1 nM$) administration was assessed in conditions of myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion injury, with 20 minutes of stabilisation preceding 35 minutes of regional ischaemia followed by 120 minutes of reperfusion; drug administration lasted the duration of reperfusion, as described in section 2.3.3.2.

Haemodynamic data was recorded for each study; at the end of each experiment, hearts were stained with Evans blue and re-stained for infarct size to risk ratio (%) using the TTC method. Coronary flow (fig 3.1.1.1), left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP, fig 3.1.1.2) and heart rate (fig 3.1.1.3) are shown for Glycopyrronium bromide (10 μ M – 1 nM) administration in conditions of ischaemia/reperfusion as well as the ischaemia/reperfusion control group. The data collected for all parameters (fig 3.1.1.1 – 3.1.1.3) following Glycopyrronium bromide (10 μ M – 1 nM) administration in ischaemia/reperfusion were statistically analysed at 15, 25, 50, 70 and 160 minutes. The Glycopyrronium bromide (10 μ M – 1 nM) groups were analysed with respect to the ischaemia/reperfusion control as well as between each concentration.

There was no statistical significance in coronary flow between Glycopyrronium bromide (10 μ M - 1 nM) with respect to the ischaemia/reperfusion control nor between each concentration of Glycopyrronium bromide (10 μ M - 1 nM) for coronary flow as shown in figure 3.1.1.1 (p>0.05).



Figure 3.1.1.1: Percentage coronary flow of the mean stabilisation period following Glycopyrronium bromide (10 μ M – 1 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation, thereafter subjected to 35 minutes of ischaemia before 120 minutes of Glycopyrronium bromide (10 μ M – 1 nM) throughout reperfusion. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the 'IR' (ischaemia/reperfusion) group. The graph represents data collected from a concentration response of Glycopyrronium bromide (GB) (10 μ M – 1 nM). Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-6 for all groups.

There was no statistical significance observed for left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) in figure 3.1.1.2 (p>0.05) amongst the Glycopyrronium bromide groups (10 μ M – 1 nM) and the ischaemia/reperfusion control.





There was no statistical significance observed for heart rate between the Glycopyrronium bromide (10 μ M – 1 nM) groups and the ischaemia/reperfusion control at 15, 25, 50, 70 and 160 minutes, in figure 3.1.1.3 (p>0.05).



Figure 3.1.1.3: Percentage heart rate of the mean stabilisation period following Glycopyrronium bromide (10 μ M – 1 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation, thereafter subjected to 35 minutes of ischaemia before 120 minutes of Glycopyrronium bromide (10 μ M – 1 nM) throughout reperfusion. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the 'IR' (ischaemia/reperfusion) group. The graph represents data collected from a concentration response of Glycopyrronium bromide (GB) (10 μ M – 1 nM). Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-6 for all groups.

3.1.2 Infarct to Risk Analysis of Glycopyrronium Bromide Administration in an *in vitro* model of Ischaemia/Reperfusion Injury

This study observed the effects of Glycopyrronium bromide $(10 \mu M - 1 nM)$ administration on infarct to risk ratio (%), in an *in vitro* model of myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion injury. Glycopyrronium bromide $(10 \mu M - 1 nM)$ was administered at the onset of reperfusion and continued throughout the 120-minute period as described in section 2.3.2.2, followed by Evans blue and TTC staining to delineate ischaemic zones and determine infarct size to risk ratio.

Figure 3.1.2.1 shows the infarct/risk ratios of Glycopyrronium bromide $(10 \mu M - 1 nM)$ with respect to normoxic and ischaemia/reperfusion (IR) controls. The study shows a significant increase in infarct development between the normoxic control group and the ischaemia/reperfusion control group $(10.27 \pm 1.94\% \text{ vs.} 50.85 \pm 3.93\%, \text{ p<}0.0001, \text{ fig}$ 3.1.2.1). All concentrations of Glycopyrronium $(10 \mu M - 1 nM)$ were also significant with respect to the normoxia control group $(55.07 \pm 2.04\% \text{ (GB } 10 \mu \text{M}), 51.96 \pm 2.50\% \text{ (GB } 1 \mu \text{M}), 51.83 \pm 5.05\% \text{ (GB } 100 n\text{M}), 51.03 \pm 3.65\% \text{ (GB } 10 n\text{M})$ and $50.94 \pm 0.38\% \text{ (GB } 1 \text{ nM})$ vs. $10.27 \pm 1.94\% \text{ (Norm)}$, p<0.001, fig 3.1.2.1). However, there is no statistically significant difference in infarct development between the concentrations of Glycopyrronium bromide $(10 \mu M - 1 \text{ nM})$ with respect to the ischaemia/reperfusion control, or between each concentration (fig 3.1.2.1, p>0.05).



Figure 3.1.2.1: Percentage infarct to risk ratios (%) following Glycopyrronium bromide (10 μ M – 1 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation, thereafter subjected to 35 minutes of ischaemia before 120 minutes of Glycopyrronium bromide (10 μ M – 1 nM) throughout reperfusion. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the 'IR' (ischaemia/reperfusion) group and Normoxic (Norm) group. The graph represents data collected from a concentration response of Glycopyrronium bromide (GB) (10 μ M – 1 nM). Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-6 for all groups. *** vs. Norm, p<0.001.

3.2 Profiling of Aclidinium Bromide – in an *in vitro* model of Myocardial Ischaemia/Reperfusion injury

3.2.1 Haemodynamic Data Analysis for Aclidinium bromide ($10 \mu M - 1 nM$)

Using a whole heart Langendorff model, the effect of Aclidinium bromide $(10 \mu M - 1 nM)$ administration was assessed in conditions of myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion injury with 20 minutes of stabilisation preceding 35 minutes of regional ischaemia followed by 120 minutes of reperfusion; drug administration lasted the duration of reperfusion, as described in section 2.3.3.2.

Coronary flow (fig 3.2.1.1), left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP, fig 3.2.1.2) and heart rate (fig 3.2.1.3) are shown for Aclidinium bromide (10 μ M – 1 nM) administration in ischaemia/reperfusion as well as the ischaemia/reperfusion control group. The data collected for all parameters (fig 3.2.1.1 – 3.2.1.3) following Aclidinium bromide (10 μ M – 1 nM) administration in ischaemia/reperfusion were statistically analysed at 15, 25, 50, 70 and 160 minutes. The Aclidinium bromide (10 μ M – 1 nM) groups were analysed with respect to the ischaemia/reperfusion control as well as well as between each concentration.

Figure 3.2.1.1 for coronary flow shows no statistical significance at the onset of reperfusion with Aclidinium bromide (10 μ M – 1 nM) (p>0.05) between each concentration and also with respect to the ischaemia/reperfusion control.



Figure 3.2.1.1: Percentage coronary flow of the mean stabilisation period following Aclidinium bromide (10 μ M – 1 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation, thereafter subjected to 35 minutes of ischaemia before 120 minutes of Aclidinium bromide (10 μ M – 1 nM) throughout reperfusion. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the 'IR' (ischaemia/reperfusion) group. The graph represents data collected from a concentration response of Aclidinium bromide (GB) (10 μ M – 1 nM). Values plotted signify the Mean ± SEM, derived from an n of 4-6 for all groups.

There was no statistical significance observed for left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) in figure 3.2.1.2 (p>0.05) amongst the Aclidinium bromide groups (10 μ M – 1 nM) and the ischaemia/reperfusion control.



Figure 3.2.1.2: Percentage left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) of the mean stabilisation period following Aclidinium bromide (10 μ M – 1 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation, thereafter subjected to 35 minutes of ischaemia before 120 minutes of Aclidinium bromide (10 μ M – 1 nM) throughout reperfusion. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the 'IR' (ischaemia/reperfusion) group. The graph represents data collected from a concentration response of Aclidinium bromide (GB) (10 μ M – 1 nM). Values plotted signify the Mean ± SEM, derived from an n of 4-6 for all groups.

There was no statistical significance observed between the different Aclidinium bromide $(10 \,\mu\text{M} - 1 \,\text{nM})$ groups and ischaemia/reperfusion control at 15, 25, 50, 70 and 160 minutes for heart rate, in figure 3.2.1.3 (p>0.05).



Figure 3.2.1.3: Percentage heart rate of the mean stabilisation period following Aclidinium bromide (10 μ M – 1 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation, thereafter subjected to 35 minutes of ischaemia before 120 minutes of Aclidinium bromide (10 μ M – 1 nM) throughout reperfusion. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the 'IR' (ischaemia/reperfusion) group. The graph represents data collected from a concentration response of Aclidinium bromide (GB) (10 μ M – 1 nM). Values plotted signify the Mean ± SEM, derived from an n of 4-6 for all groups.

3.2.2 Infarct to Risk Analysis of Aclidinium Bromide Administration in an *in vitro* model of Ischaemia/Reperfusion Injury

This study observed the effects of Aclidinium bromide (10 μ M – 1 nM) administration at the onset of reperfusion on infarct to risk ratio (%), in an *in vitro* model of myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion injury.

Figure 3.2.2.1 shows the infarct/risk ratios of Aclidinium bromide (10 μ M – 1 nM) with respect to normoxic (Norm) and ischaemia/reperfusion (IR) controls. All concentrations of Aclidinium bromide (10 μ M – 1 nM) show an increase in infarct to risk ratio (%) with respect

to the normoxic control (p<0.001). Aclidinium bromide at the 10 nM and 1 nM concentrations show a significant increase in infarct size to risk ratio (%) with respect the IR control (67.09 \pm 1.78% (AB 10 nM) and 66.15 \pm 3.58% (AB 1nM) vs. 50.8 \pm 3.93% (IR control), p<0.01, fig 3.2.2.1). There are also significances observed between the different Aclidinium bromide (10 μ M – 1 nM) concentrations; Aclidinium at 10 nM shows an increase in infarct to risk ratio with respect to Aclidinium at 100 nM concentration (67.09 \pm 1.78% (AB 10 nM), p<0.05, fig 3.2.2.1).





3.3 Profiling of Umeclidinium Bromide – in an *in vitro* model of Myocardial Ischaemia/Reperfusion injury

3.3.1 Haemodynamic Data Analysis for Umeclidinium bromide (1 µM – 1 nM)

Using a whole heart Langendorff model, the effect of Umeclidinium bromide $(1 \mu M - 1 nM)$ administration was assessed in conditions of myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion injury with 20 minutes of stabilisation preceding 35 minutes of regional ischaemia followed by 120 minutes of reperfusion; drug administration lasted the duration of reperfusion, as described in section 2.3.3.2.

Coronary flow (fig 3.3.1.1), left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP, fig 3.3.1.2) and heart rate (fig 3.3.1.3) are shown for Umeclidinium bromide (1 μ M – 1 nM) administration in conditions of ischaemia/reperfusion as well as the ischaemia/reperfusion control group. The data collected for all parameters (fig 3.3.1.1 – 3.3.1.3) following Umeclidinium bromide (1 μ M – 1 nM) administration in ischaemia/reperfusion were statistically analysed at 15, 25, 50, 70 and 160 minutes. The Umeclidinium bromide (1 μ M – 1 nM) groups were analysed with respect to the ischaemia/reperfusion control as well as between each concentration.

Figure 3.3.1.1 for coronary flow shows no statistical significance at the onset of reperfusion with Umeclidinium bromide $(1 \mu M - 1 nM)$ (p>0.05) between each concentration and with respect to the ischaemia/reperfusion control.



Figure 3.3.1.1: Percentage coronary flow of the mean stabilisation period following Umeclidinium bromide $(1 \mu M - 1 nM)$ in ischaemia/reperfusion. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation, thereafter subjected to 35 minutes of ischaemia before 120 minutes of Umeclidinium bromide $(1 \mu M - 1 nM)$ throughout reperfusion. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the 'IR' (ischaemia/reperfusion) group. The graph represents data collected from a concentration response of Umeclidinium bromide (UB) $(1 \mu M - 1 nM)$. Values plotted signify the Mean ± SEM, derived from an n of 4-6 for all groups.

Figure 3.3.1.2 shows the left ventricular pressure recorded (LVDP) from the Umeclidinium bromide (1 μ M - 1 nM) treatment groups. The data does not show any statistical significances amongst the Umeclidinium bromide (1 μ M - 1 nM) groups at the time points assessed (p>0.05, fig 3.3.1.2) between the different concentrations or with respect to the ischaemia/reperfusion group.



Figure 3.3.1.2: Percentage left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) of the mean stabilisation period following Umeclidinium bromide $(1 \ \mu M - 1 \ nM)$ in ischaemia/reperfusion. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation, thereafter subjected to 35 minutes of ischaemia before 120 minutes of Umeclidinium bromide $(1 \ \mu M - 1 \ nM)$ throughout reperfusion. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the 'IR' (ischaemia/reperfusion) group. The graph represents data collected from a concentration response of Umeclidinium bromide (UB) $(1 \ \mu M - 1 \ nM)$. Values plotted signify the Mean ± SEM, derived from an n of 4-6 for all groups.

Figure 3.3.1.3 shows heart rate following administration of Umeclidinium bromide (1 μ M – 1 nM) following ischaemia/reperfusion. The data shows no statistical significance in heart rate observed with Umeclidinium bromide administration (1 μ M – 1 nM) and the ischaemia/reperfusion control group (p>0.05, fig 3.3.1.3).



Figure 3.3.1.3: Percentage heart rate of the mean stabilisation period following Umeclidinium bromide $(1 \mu M - 1 nM)$ in ischaemia/reperfusion. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation, thereafter subjected to 35 minutes of ischaemia before 120 minutes of Umeclidinium bromide $(1 \mu M - 1 nM)$ throughout reperfusion. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the 'IR' (ischaemia/reperfusion) group. The graph represents data collected from a concentration response of Umeclidinium bromide (UB) $(1 \mu M - 1 nM)$. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-6 for all groups.

3.3.2. Infarct to Risk Analysis of Umeclidinium Bromide Administration in an *in vitro* model of Ischaemia/Reperfusion Injury

This study observed the effects of Umeclidinium bromide $(1 \mu M - 1 nM)$ administration at the onset of reperfusion and throughout, on infarct to risk ratio (%), in an *in vitro* model of myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion injury.

Figure 3.3.2.1 shows the infarct/risk ratios of Umeclidinium bromide $(1 \mu M - 1 nM)$ with respect to normoxic (Norm) and ischaemia/reperfusion (IR) controls. All concentrations of Umeclidinium bromide $(1 \mu M - 1 nM)$ show an increase in infarct to risk ratio (%) with

respect to the normoxic control (p<0.001). Umeclidinium bromide at 100 nM, 10 nM and 1 nM show a significant increase in infarct size to risk ratio (%) with respect the IR control (60.07 \pm 0.70% (UB 100 nM, p<0.05), 69.56 \pm 1.03% and 69.86 \pm 1.54% (UB 10nM and UB 1nM respectively, p<0.001) vs. 50.8 \pm 3.93% (IR control), fig 3.3.2.1). Umeclidinium bromide at 10 nM and 1 nM show a significant increase with respect to Umeclidinium at 1 μ M (69.56 \pm 1.03% (UB 10 nM) and 69.86 \pm 1.54% (UB 1 nM) vs. 55.23 \pm 0.91% (UB 1 μ M), p<0.001, fig 3.3.2.1) and Umeclidinium at 100nM (69.56 \pm 1.03% (UB 10 nM) and 69.86 \pm 1.54% (UB 1 nM) vs. 55.23 \pm 0.91% (UB 1 μ M), p<0.001, fig 3.3.2.1) and Umeclidinium at 100nM (69.56 \pm 1.03% (UB 10 nM) and 69.86 \pm



Figure 3.3.2.1: Percentage infarct to risk ratios (%) following Umeclidinium bromide (1 μ M – 1 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation, thereafter subjected to 35 minutes of ischaemia before 120 minutes of Umeclidinium bromide (1 μ M – 1 nM) throughout reperfusion. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the 'IR' (ischaemia/reperfusion) group and Normoxic (Norm) group. The graph represents data collected from a concentration response of Umeclidinium bromide (UB) (1 μ M – 1 nM). Values plotted signify the Mean ± SEM, derived from an n of 4-6 for all groups. *** vs. Norm, p<0.001; # vs. IR, p<0.05; ### vs. IR, p<0.001; \$\$ vs. IR+UB (1 μ M), p<0.05.

3.4 Profiling of Tiotropium Bromide – in an *in vitro* model of Myocardial Ischaemia/Reperfusion injury

3.4.1 Haemodynamic Data Analysis for Tiotropium bromide (10 µM – 0.1 nM)

Using a whole heart Langendorff model, the effect of Tiotropium bromide ($10 \mu M - 0.1 nM$) administration was assessed in conditions of myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion injury with 20 minutes of stabilisation preceding 35 minutes of regional ischaemia followed by 120 minutes of reperfusion; drug administration lasted the duration of reperfusion, as described in section 2.3.3.2.

Coronary flow (fig 3.4.1.1), left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP, fig 3.4.1.2) and heart rate (fig 3.4.1.3) are shown for Tiotropium bromide (10 μ M – 0.1 nM) administration in conditions of ischaemia/reperfusion as well as the ischaemia/reperfusion control group. The data collected for all parameters (fig 3.4.1.1 – 3.4.1.3) following Tiotropium bromide (10 μ M – 0.1 nM) administration in ischaemia/reperfusion were statistically analysed at 15, 25, 50, 70 and 160 minutes. The Tiotropium bromide (10 μ M – 0.1 nM) groups were analysed with respect to the ischaemia/reperfusion control as well as between each concentration.

Figure 3.4.1.1 for coronary flow shows no statistical significance at the onset of reperfusion with Tiotropium bromide (10 μ M – 0.1 nM) (p>0.05) between each concentration and also with respect to the ischaemia/reperfusion control.



Figure 3.4.1.1: Percentage coronary flow of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide ($10 \mu M - 0.1 nM$) in ischaemia/reperfusion. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation, thereafter subjected to 35 minutes of ischaemia before 120 minutes of Tiotropium bromide ($10 \mu M - 0.1 nM$) throughout reperfusion. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the 'IR' (ischaemia/reperfusion) group. The graph represents data collected from a concentration response of Tiotropium bromide (TB) ($10 \mu M - 0.1 nM$). Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-6 for all groups.

Figure 3.4.1.2 shows the left ventricular pressure recorded (LVDP) from the Tiotropium bromide (10 μ M - 0.1 nM) treatment groups. The data does not show any statistical significances amongst the Tiotropium bromide (10 μ M - 0.1 nM) groups at the time points assessed (p>0.05, fig 3.4.1.2) between the different concentrations or with respect to the ischaemia/reperfusion group.



Figure 3.4.1.2: Percentage left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide (10 μ M – 0.1 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation, thereafter subjected to 35 minutes of ischaemia before 120 minutes of Tiotropium bromide (10 μ M – 0.1 nM) throughout reperfusion. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the 'IR' (ischaemia/reperfusion) group. The graph represents data collected from a concentration response of Tiotropium bromide (TB) (10 μ M – 0.1 nM). Values plotted signify the Mean ± SEM, derived from an n of 4-6 for all groups.

Figure 3.4.1.3 shows heart rate following administration of Tiotropium bromide (10 μ M – 0.1 nM) following ischaemia/reperfusion. The data shows no statistical significance in heart rate observed with Tiotropium bromide administration (10 μ M – 0.1 nM) and the ischaemia/reperfusion control group (p>0.05, fig 3.4.1.3).


Figure 3.4.1.3: Percentage heart rate of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide ($10 \mu M - 0.1 nM$) in ischaemia/reperfusion. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation, thereafter subjected to 35 minutes of ischaemia before 120 minutes of Tiotropium bromide ($10 \mu M - 0.1 nM$) throughout reperfusion. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the 'IR' (ischaemia/reperfusion) group. The graph represents data collected from a concentration response of Tiotropium bromide (TB) ($10 \mu M - 0.1 nM$). Values plotted signify the Mean ± SEM, derived from an n of 4-6 for all groups.

3.4.2 Infarct to Risk Analysis of Tiotropium Bromide Administration in an *in vitro* model of Ischaemia/Reperfusion Injury

This study observed the effects of Tiotropium bromide $(10 \,\mu\text{M} - 0.1 \,\text{nM})$ administration at the onset of reperfusion and throughout, on infarct to risk ratio (%), in an *in vitro* model of myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion injury.

Figure 3.4.2.1 shows the infarct/risk ratios of Tiotropium bromide ($10 \mu M - 0.1 nM$) with respect to normoxic (Norm) and ischaemia/reperfusion (IR) controls. All concentrations of Tiotropium bromide ($10 \mu M - 0.1 nM$) show an increase in infarct to risk ratio (%) with

respect to the normoxic control (p<0.001, fig 3.4.2.1). Tiotropium bromide (100 nM) shows a significant increase in infarct size to risk ratio (%) with respect to the IR control (64.03 ± 1.06% vs. 50.8 ± 3.93% (IR control), p<0.05, fig 3.4.2.1). Tiotropium (10 nM) (67.36 ± 3.01% vs. 50.8 ± 3.93% (IR control), p<0.001, fig 3.4.2.1) and (1 nM) (65.42 ± 3.00% vs. 50.8 ± 3.93% (IR control), p<0.01, fig 3.4.2.1) also show a significant increase in infarct to risk ratio with respect to the IR control.



Figure 3.4.2.1: Percentage infarct to risk ratios (%) following Tiotropium bromide (10 μ M – 0.1 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation, thereafter subjected to 35 minutes of ischaemia before 120 minutes of Tiotropium bromide (10 μ M – 0.1 nM) throughout reperfusion. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the 'IR' (ischaemia/reperfusion) group and Normoxic (Norm) group. The graph represents data collected from a concentration response of Tiotropium bromide (TB) (10 μ M – 0.1 nM). Values plotted signify the Mean ± SEM, derived from an n of 4-6 for all groups. *** vs. Norm, p<0.001; # vs. IR, p<0.05; ## vs. IR, p<0.01; ### vs. IR, p<0.001.

3.5 Tiotropium bromide in Normoxic Conditions in a Whole heart model

3.5.1 Haemodynamic Data Analysis for Tiotropium bromide (10 nM – 0.1 nM)

Tiotropium bromide (10 nM - 0.1 nM) was administered following a 20-minute stabilisation period and perfused throughout the rest of the experimental protocol for 155 minutes, as described in section 2.3.3.1. The data for all parameters (fig 3.5.1.1 – 3.5.1.3) following Tiotropium bromide (10 nM - 0.1 nM), were statistically analysed at 15, 25, 50, 70 and 160 minutes. Tiotropium bromide (10 nM - 0.1 nM) was compared to the normoxic control and each concentration.

The coronary flow (fig 3.5.1.1) data shows significance between Tiotropium bromide (0.1 nM and 10 nM) at 70 minutes. Tiotropium bromide (0.1 nM) shows an increase in coronary flow with respect to Tiotropium bromide (10 nM) (70 minutes: $109.34 \pm 18.18\%$ (TB 0.1 nM) vs. 73.57 ± 6.61% (TB 10nM), p<0.05, fig 3.5.1.1).



Figure 3.5.1.1: Percentage coronary flow of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide (10 nM – 0.1 nM). Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation perfused with Krebs-Henseleit buffer, thereafter switched to Tiotropium bromide (10 nM - 0.1 nM) perfusion for 155-minutes. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the normoxia group. Values plotted signify the Mean ± SEM, derived from an n of 3-5 for all groups. # Norm+TB (0.1nM) vs. Norm+TB (10nM), p<0.05.

Figure 3.5.1.2 shows left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) following Tiotropium bromide (10 nM - 0.1 nM) administration in normoxic conditions. The analysed data shows statistical significance observed at the 160 minute time point; Tiotropium at 10 nM shows an increase in LVDP with respect to the normoxic control (160 minutes: $100.11 \pm 5.43\%$ vs. 83.19 ± 2.89% (normoxia), p<0.05, fig 3.5.1.2). Tiotropium at 0.1 nM also shows a significant increase in LVDP with respect to the normoxic control (160 minutes: $104.47 \pm 1.19\%$ vs. 83.19 ± 2.89% (normoxia), p<0.05, fig 3.5.1.2). Significance is also observed between Tiotropium at the 10 nM and 0.1 nM concentrations with respect to Tiotropium at 1 nM, where Tiotropium at 10 nM and 0.1 nM show a significant increase in LVDP (160

minutes: 100.11 ± 5.43% (TB 10 nM) and 104.47 ± 1.19% (TB 0.1 nM) vs. 76.54 ± 6.11% (TB 1nM), p<0.01, fig 3.5.1.2).



Figure 3.5.1.2: Percentage left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide (10 nM – 0.1 nM). Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation perfused with Krebs-Henseleit buffer, thereafter switched to Tiotropium bromide (10 nM – 0.1 nM) perfusion for 155-minutes. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the normoxia group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 3-5 for all groups. * Norm+TB (10nM) and Norm+TB (1nM) vs. Normoxia, p<0.05; ## Norm+TB (1nM) vs. Norm+TB (1nM), p<0.01.

Figure 3.5.1.3 shows heart rate following administration of Tiotropium bromide (10 nM - 0.1 nM) in normoxic conditions. The data shows no statistical significance in heart rate observed with Tiotropium bromide administration (10 nM - 0.1 nM) and the normoxic control group (p>0.05, fig 3.5.1.3).



Figure 3.5.1.3: Percentage heart rate of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide (10 nM – 0.1 nM). Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation perfused with Krebs-Henseleit buffer, thereafter switched to Tiotropium bromide (10 nM - 0.1 nM) perfusion for 155-minutes. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the normoxia group. Values plotted signify the Mean ± SEM, derived from an n of 3-5 for all groups.

3.5.2. Infarct to Risk analysis of Tiotropium bromide administration following stabilisation in Normoxic conditions

This study observed the effects of Tiotropium bromide (10 nM - 0.1 nM) administration on infarct size (%), in normoxic conditions. Tiotropium bromide (10 nM - 0.1 nM) was administered following 20 minutes of stabilisation and continued for 155 minutes; hearts were subjected to TTC staining to determine infarct size.

Figure 3.5.2.1 shows the infarct size of Tiotropium bromide (10 nM - 0.1 nM) with respect to normoxic (Norm) controls. The study shows that there is a significant increase in infarct size following Tiotropium bromide (10 nM - 0.1 nM) administration with respect to the normoxic control. Tiotropium at 10 nM and 0.1 nM show a similar increase in infarct size

compared to the normoxic control (17.55 \pm 0.98% (TB 10 nM) and 17.19 \pm 0.37% (TB 0.1 nM, p<0.01) vs. 10.27 \pm 1.94% (Norm), p<0.001, fig 3.5.2.1). Tiotropium (1 nM) shows a slightly greater increase in infarct size compared to the normoxic control (18.69 \pm 1.79% vs. 10.28 \pm 1.74%, p<0.001, fig 3.5.2.1).



Figure 3.5.2.1: Percentage infarct size (%) following Tiotropium bromide (10 nM -1 nM) in normoxic conditions. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation with Krebs-Henseleit buffer, thereafter switched to Tiotropium bromide (10 nM - 0.1 nM) perfusion for 155-minutes. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the normoxia group. Values plotted signify the Mean ± SEM, derived from an n of 3-5 for all groups. ** TB (10nM) and TB (0.1nM) vs. Norm, p<0.01, *** TB (1nM) vs. Norm, p<0.001

3.6 Tiotropium bromide mediated signalling in Adult rat ventricular cardiomyocytes

3.6.1 Effect of Tiotropium bromide on the expression profile of genes involved in myocardial ischaemia

Figure 3.6.1.1 shows Ppargc1 α , Bax, Stat-3, Casp-3 and VEGF-A gene expression typically involved in myocardial infarction, following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) administration in normoxic conditions. All genes were normalised using the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method to the normoxic control samples which represent a value of 1. Statistically significant decreases were observed with the expression of the Ppargc1a (0.19 ± 0.26 vs. 1.0 ± 0.0, p<0.05, fig 3.6.1.1) and Bax genes (0.34 ± 0.02 vs. 1.0 ± 0.0, p<0.001, fig 3.6.1.1) with respect to normoxic controls following GAPDH normalisation. The Stat-3 and VEGF-A genes show a non-significant decrease in gene expression following Tiotropium (1 nM) administration with respect to normoxic controls (0.25 ± 0.36 (Stat-3) and 0.21 ± 0.27 (VEGF-A) vs. 1.0 ± 0.0, p>0.05, fig 3.6.1.1); caspase 3 shows a non-significant increase in gene expression following Tiotropium (1 nM) administration with respect to normoxic controls (1.78 ± 0.94 (Casp-3) vs. 1.0 ± 0.0, p>0.05, fig 3.6.1.1).





Figure 3.6.1.1: Relative normalised gene expression levels of Ppargc1 α , Bax, Stat-3, Casp-3 and Vegf α following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) in a whole heart Langendorff model of normoxic conditions. Whole heart tissue was obtained following 120 minutes of Tiotropium (1 nM) administration and assessed for gene expression using the Myocardial Infarction Prime PCR pathway plate. GAPDH was used to normalise the gene expression levels using the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method and compared against the normoxic control samples. Data is presented as the Mean ± SEM, n of 2. * vs. Control, p<0.05 and *** vs. Control, p<0.001.

3.6.2 Role of Tiotropium bromide in affecting cell death via Annexin-V/Propidium iodide staining

Cardiomyocytes were incubated with Tiotropium bromide ($10 \mu M - 0.1 nM$) or control for a period of 4 hours before staining with Annexin-V and Propidium iodide (PI), and analysed on the flow cytometer using the FL-1 and FL-2 channels. Propidium iodide was used as a counter stain to differentiate between necrotic and dead apoptotic cells.

Figure 3.6.2.1 shows the percentage of total apoptosis in cardiomyocyte treated with Tiotropium bromide (10 μ M – 0.1 nM) in normoxic conditions. Figure 3.6.2.1 shows a concentration dependent relationship with total apoptosis following Tiotropium bromide (10 μ M – 0.1 nM), where the highest concentration (10 μ M) shows a significant percentage

increase in total apoptosis with respect to the normoxic control (149.85 ± 25.1% vs. 100 ± 0.0%, p<0.05, fig 3.6.2.1). Tiotropium bromide at 1 μ M – 0.1 nM shows a decreasing but non-significant trend in percentage total apoptosis with respect to normoxic controls (135.25 ± 18.33% (TB 1 μ M), 129.69 ± 21.40% (TB 100 nM), 114.62 ± 15.89% (TB 10 nM), 117.2 ± 8.85% (TB 1 nM), 115.71 ± 18.59% (TB 0.1 nM) vs. 100 ± 0.0% (normoxia), p>0.05, fig 3.6.2.1). Analysis of necrosis data showed no significant difference between Tiotropium bromide (10 μ M – 0.1 nM) and normoxic conditions (data not shown, p>0.05).



Treatment Groups

Figure 3.6.2.1: Percentage of total apoptotic cardiomyocytes (%) following treatment with Tiotropium bromide (TB 10 μ M – 0.1 nM) in normoxic conditions, expressed as a percentage of the normoxia control. Cardiomyocytes were treated for 4 hours in normoxic conditions with Tiotropium bromide (10 μ M – 0.1 nM), apart from the normoxia control group, before staining with Annexin-V/Propidium iodide and analysed using the FL-1 and FL-2 channels of the flow cytometer. Data is presented as the Mean ± SEM, n of 4-5. * vs. Normoxia, p<0.05.

Chapter 4: Role of Adjunctive Therapies in Reversing Tiotropium Mediated Cardiotoxicity

The primary aim of this study was to elucidate the cardiotoxicity of long acting muscarinic receptor antagonists, notably how Tiotropium bromide induces myocardial damage in *ex vivo* and *in vitro* models of normoxic conditions and ischaemia/reperfusion injury.

(c) Elucidating the function of muscarinic, PI3K-Akt, caspase-3 and the mPTP in Tiotropium bromide mediated myocardial damage.

4.1 Effect of the muscarinic receptor agonist, Acetylcholine in the presence or absence of Tiotropium bromide in Normoxia and Ischaemia/Reperfusion whole heart models

4.1.1 Haemodynamic Data Analysis

4.1.1.1 Haemodynamic in Normoxic conditions for Tiotropium ± Acetylcholine

Using a whole heart Langendorff model, the haemodynamic data for Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) administration in the presence or absence of acetylcholine (100 nM) following 20 minutes of stabilisation in normoxic conditions are depicted in figures 4.1.1.1.1 - 4.1.1.1.3. Tiotropium bromide (1nM) ± acetylcholine (100nM) was administered following a 20-minute stabilisation period and perfused throughout the rest of the experimental protocol for a period of 155 minutes, as described in section 2.3.3.1. The data collected for all parameters (fig 4.1.1.1.1 - 4.1.1.1.3) following Tiotropium bromide (1nM) ± acetylcholine (100nM) administration were statistically analysed at 15, 25, 50, 70 and 160 minutes. The Tiotropium bromide (1nM) ± acetylcholine (100nM) groups were analysed with respect to the normoxic control as well as between each treatment group.

Tiotropium bromide (1nM) alone and acetylcholine (100nM) alone show a significant increase in coronary flow with respect to the co-administered Tiotropium bromide (1nM) + acetylcholine (100nM) group, at 25 minutes (25 minutes: 100.86 \pm 4.72% (TB 1nM) and 98.47 \pm 3.58% (ACh 100nM) vs.83.72 \pm 3.43% (TB 1nM + ACh 100nM), p<0.05, fig 4.1.1.1).



Figure 4.1.1.1: Percentage coronary flow of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide $(1nM) \pm acetylcholine (100nM)$. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation perfused with Krebs-Henseleit buffer, thereafter switched to Tiotropium bromide $(1nM) \pm acetylcholine (100nM)$ perfusion for 155-minutes. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the normoxia group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-5 for all groups. \in Norm+TB (1nM) and ACh (100nM) vs. TB (1nM) + ACh (100nM), p<0.05.

Figure 4.1.1.1.2 shows left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) following Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm acetylcholine (100nM) administration in normoxic conditions. The data does not show any statistical significances amongst the Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm acetylcholine (100nM) groups at the time points assessed (p>0.05, fig 4.1.1.1.2) between the groups or with respect to the normoxic control.



Figure 4.1.1.1.2: Percentage left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm acetylcholine (100nM). Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation perfused with Krebs-Henseleit buffer, thereafter switched to Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm acetylcholine (100nM) perfusion for 155-minutes. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the normoxia group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-5 for all groups.

Figure 4.1.1.1.3 shows heart rate following administration of Tiotropium bromide $(1nM) \pm$ acetylcholine (100nM) in normoxic conditions. The data shows no statistical significance in heart rate observed with Tiotropium bromide $(1nM) \pm$ acetylcholine (100nM) and the normoxic control group (p>0.05, fig 4.1.1.1.3).



Figure 4.1.1.1.3: Percentage heart rate of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide $(1nM) \pm acetylcholine (100nM)$. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation perfused with Krebs-Henseleit buffer, thereafter switched to Tiotropium bromide $(1nM) \pm acetylcholine (100nM)$ perfusion for 155-minutes. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the normoxia group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-5 for all groups.

4.1.1.2 Haemodynamics in Ischaemia/Reperfusion for Tiotropium ± Acetylcholine

The effect of Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) administration in the presence or absence of acetylcholine (100 nM), was assessed in conditions of myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion injury with 20 minutes of stabilisation preceding 35 minutes of regional ischaemia followed by 120 minutes of reperfusion; drug administration lasted the duration of reperfusion, as described in section 2.3.3.2.

Haemodynamic data was recorded for each study; at the end of each experiment, hearts were stained with Evans blue and retained for infarct analysis using the TTC method. Coronary flow (fig 4.1.1.2.1), left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP, fig 4.1.1.2.2) and heart rate (fig 4.1.1.2.2.3) are shown for Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± acetylcholine (100

nM) administration in conditions of ischaemia/reperfusion as well as the ischaemia/reperfusion control group. The data collected for all parameters (fig 4.1.1.2.1 - 4.1.1.2.3) following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± acetylcholine (100 nM) administration in ischaemia/reperfusion were statistically analysed at 15, 25, 50, 70 and 160 minutes.

Figure 4.1.1.2.1 for coronary flow shows no statistical significance at the onset of reperfusion with Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{acetylcholine} (100 \text{ nM})$ (p>0.05) between each group and also with respect to the ischaemia/reperfusion control.



Figure 4.1.1.2.1: Percentage coronary flow of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm acetylcholine (100 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation, thereafter subjected to 35 minutes of ischaemia before 120 minutes of Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm acetylcholine (100 nM) throughout reperfusion. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the 'IR' (ischaemia/reperfusion) group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-5 for all groups.

Figure 4.1.1.2.2 shows the left ventricular pressure recorded (LVDP) from the Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{acetylcholine}$ (100 nM) treatment groups. The data does not show any

statistical significances amongst the Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{acetylcholine} (100 \text{ nM})$ groups at the time points assessed (p>0.05, fig 4.1.1.2.2) between the different groups or with respect to the ischaemia/reperfusion group.



+ IR + IR+TB (1nM) + IR+ACh (100nM) - IR+TB (1nM) + ACh (100nM) Figure 4.1.1.2.2: Percentage left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± acetylcholine (100 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation, thereafter subjected to 35 minutes of ischaemia before 120 minutes of Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± acetylcholine (100 nM) throughout reperfusion. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the 'IR' (ischaemia/reperfusion) group. Values plotted signify the Mean ± SEM, derived from an n of 4-5 for all groups.

Figure 4.1.1.2.3 shows heart rate following administration of Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm$ acetylcholine (100 nM) following ischaemia/reperfusion. The data shows no statistical significance in heart rate observed with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm acetylcholine (100 nM) and the ischaemia/reperfusion control group (p>0.05, fig 4.1.1.2.3).



Figure 4.1.1.2.3: Percentage heart rate of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm acetylcholine (100 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation, thereafter subjected to 35 minutes of ischaemia before 120 minutes of Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm acetylcholine (100 nM) throughout reperfusion. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the 'IR' (ischaemia/reperfusion) group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-5 for all groups.

4.1.2 Infarct size analysis of Tiotropium ± Acetylcholine administration

4.1.2.1 Infarct Analysis in Normoxic conditions for Tiotropium ± Acetylcholine

This study observed the effects of Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{acetylcholine} (100 \text{ nM})$ administration on infarct size (%), in normoxic conditions. Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm$ acetylcholine (100 nM) was administered following 20 minutes of stabilisation and continued for 155 minute; hearts were subjected to TTC staining to determine infarct.

Figure 4.1.2.1.1 shows the infarct size of Tiotropium bromide (TB 1 nM) \pm acetylcholine (ACh 100 nM) with respect to normoxic (Norm) controls. The study shows that there is a significant difference in infarct size following TB (1 nM) \pm ACh (100 nM) administration with respect to the normoxic control. Tiotropium (1 nM) shows an increase in infarct size compared to the normoxic control (18.69 \pm 1.79% vs. 10.28 \pm 1.74%, p<0.001, fig 4.1.2.1.1). The administration of acetylcholine (100 nM) shows no significance with respect to the normoxic control (p>0.05, fig 4.1.2.1.1), however a significant decrease in infarct size is observed with respect to Tiotropium (1 nM) (10.74 \pm 1.02% (ACh 100nM) vs. 18.69 \pm 1.79% (TB 1nM), p<0.01, fig 4.1.2.1.1). The decrease in infarct size following acetylcholine (100 nM) administration is also observed upon co-administration with Tiotropium (1 nM) with respect to the Tiotropium (1 nM) alone group (13.31 \pm 0.96% (TB 1nM + ACh 100nM) vs. 18.69 \pm 1.79% (TB 1nM), p<0.05, fig 4.1.2.1.1).



Figure 4.1.2.1.1: Percentage infarct size (%) following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± acetylcholine (100 nM) in normoxic conditions. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation with Krebs-Henseleit buffer, thereafter switched to

Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm acetylcholine (100 nM) perfusion for 155-minutes. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the normoxia group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, n = 4-5. *** TB (1nM) vs. Norm, p<0.001; # TB (1nM) + ACh (100nM) vs. TB (1nM), p<0.05 and ## ACh (100nM) vs. TB (1nM), p<0.01.

4.1.2.2 Infarct Analysis in Ischaemia/Reperfusion for Tiotropium ± Acetylcholine

This study observed the effects of Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± acetylcholine (100 nM) administration on infarct to risk ratio (%), in an *in vitro* model of myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion. Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± acetylcholine (100 nM) was administered at the onset of reperfusion and continued throughout the 120-minute period following 20 minutes of stabilisation and 35 minutes of regional ischaemia as described in section 2.3.2.2, followed by Evans blue dye staining to delineate ischaemic zones, and subjected to TTC staining to determine infarct size to risk ratio (%).

Figure 4.1.2.2.1 shows the infarct/risk ratios of Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{acetylcholine}$ (100 nM) with respect to the ischaemia/reperfusion (IR) control. The study showed that Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) administration results in a significant increase in infarct to risk ratio (%) with respect to the ischaemia/reperfusion control (65.42 ± 3.00% (TB 1nM) vs. 50.85 ± 3.93 (IR), p<0.01, fig 4.1.2.2.1). There is a significant decrease in infarct to risk ratio with acetylcholine (100 nM) alone with respect to Tiotropium (1 nM) alone (39.97 ± 0.94% (ACh 100nM) vs. 65.42 ± 3.00% (TB 1nM), p<0.001, fig 4.1.2.2.1). Tiotropium (1 nM) + acetylcholine (100 nM) administration also shows a significant decrease in infarct to risk ratio with respect to Tiotropium (1 nM) (46.05 ± 0.30% (TB 1nM + ACh 100nM) vs. 65.42 ± 3.00% (TB 1nM), p<0.01, fig 4.1.2.2.1).



Figure 4.1.2.2.1: Percentage infarct to risk ratios (%) following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm acetylcholine (100 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation, thereafter subjected to 35 minutes of ischaemia before 120 minutes of Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm acetylcholine (100 nM) throughout reperfusion. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the 'IR' (ischaemia/reperfusion) group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-5 for all groups. ** vs. IR, p<0.05; ## vs. IR+TB (1nM), p<0.01 and ### vs. IR+TB (1nM), p<0.001.

4.1.3 Effect of Tiotropium bromide administration on Phospho-Akt (Ser473) expression in the presence or absence of Acetylcholine

P-Akt (Ser473) activation was assessed using western blotting for phosphorylated Akt (Ser473) in cardiac tissue to establish the role of Akt in Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm acetylcholine (100 nM) mediated cardiotoxicity. Figure 4.1.3.1 shows the expression pattern observed following normoxia and Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm acetylcholine (100 nM). All drugs were administered following stabilisation in a modified Langendorff model, for a period of 155 minutes; hearts were immediately removed following the end of the protocol period and the left ventricle was excised and snap-frozen as described in section 2.3.4.

The data shows a significant increase in phosphorylated Akt (Ser473) following Tiotropium (1 nM) administration with respect to the normoxic control (88.03 ± 5.62% (TB 1nM) vs. 36.17 ± 5.13% (Norm), p<0.0001, fig 4.1.3.1). Acetylcholine (100 nM) shows a significant decrease in p-Akt (Ser473) with respect to the Tiotropium (1 nM) mediated increase (47.71 ± 4.47% (ACh 100nM) vs. 88.03 ± 5.62% (TB 1nM), p<0.0001, fig 4.1.3.1). This increase in p-Akt (Ser473) is attenuated upon co-administration of acetylcholine (100 nM) with Tiotropium (1 nM) with respect to Tiotropium (1 nM) (47.30 ± 8.08% (TB 1nM + ACh 100nM) vs. 88.03 ± 5.62% (TB 1nM), p<0.0001, fig 4.1.3.1).



Figure 4.1.3.1: Percentage expression (%) of phosphorylated Akt (Ser473) as a percentage of total Akt following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm acetylcholine (100 nM) in normoxic conditions. Langendorff hearts were perfused with either Krebs-Henseleit buffer (Norm) or Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm acetylcholine (100 nM). Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 3 for all groups. **** vs. Norm, p<0.0001 and #### vs. TB (1nM), p<0.0001.

4.1.4 Role of Acetylcholine in Tiotropium bromide mediated apoptotic cell death

Cardiomyocytes were incubated with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± acetylcholine (100 nM) and the normoxic controls respectively for a period of 4 hours before staining with Annexin-V and Propidium iodide (PI), and analysed on the flow cytometer using the FL-1 and FL-2 channels. Propidium iodide was used as a counter stain to differentiate between necrotic and dead apoptotic cells.

Figure 4.1.4.1 shows the percentage of total apoptosis in cardiomyocyte treated with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm acetylcholine (100 nM) in normoxic conditions. Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) shows an observable but non-significant increase in total apoptosis with respect to the normoxic control (117.2 \pm 8.85% (TB 1 nM) vs. 100 \pm 0.0% (normoxia), p>0.05, fig 4.1.4.1). However, acetylcholine (100 nM) administration shows a decrease in total apoptosis with respect to Tiotropium (1 nM) (83.92 \pm 9.9% (ACh 100nM) vs. 117.2 \pm 8.85% (TB 1 nM), p<0.05, fig 4.1.4.1). The effect of acetylcholine (100 nM) on total apoptosis is masked upon co-administration with Tiotropium (1 nM), which shows an increase in total apoptosis with respect to acetylcholine (100 nM) alone (119.96 \pm 9.95% (TB 1nM + ACh 100nM) vs.83.92 \pm 9.9% (ACh 100nM), p<0.05, fig 4.1.4.1). Data for necrosis did not show any significant difference between any of the groups (p>0.05, data not shown).



Treatment Groups

Figure 4.1.4.1: Percentage of total apoptotic cardiomyocytes (%) following treatment with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm acetylcholine (100 nM) in normoxic conditions, expressed as a percentage of the normoxia control. Cardiomyocytes were treated for 4 hours in normoxic conditions with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm acetylcholine (100 nM), apart from the normoxia control group, before staining with Annexin-V/Propidium iodide and analysed using the FL-1 and FL-2 channels of the flow cytometer. Data is presented as the Mean \pm SEM, n of 3-4. # vs. TB (1nM), p<0.05 and \$ vs. Acetylcholine (100nM), p<0.05.

4.2 Effect of the PI3K inhibitor, Wortmannin in the presence or absence of Tiotropium bromide in Normoxia and Ischaemia/Reperfusion whole heart models

4.2.1 Haemodynamic Data Analysis

4.2.1.1 Haemodynamic in Normoxic conditions for Tiotropium ± Wortmannin

Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm wortmannin (100nM) was administered following a 20minute stabilisation period and perfused throughout the rest of the experimental protocol for a period of 155 minutes, as described in section 2.3.3.1. The data for all parameters (fig 4.2.1.1.1 – 4.2.1.1.3) following Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm wortmannin (100nM) were analysed at 15, 25, 50, 70 and 160 minutes. Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm wortmannin (100nM) was compared to the normoxic control and each concentration. The coronary flow (fig 4.2.1.1.1) shows that Tiotropium bromide $(1nM) \pm$ wortmannin (100nM) alone show no significance with respect to the normoxic control or each other.



----Normoxia ----Norm+TB(1nM) ----Norm+Wortmannin (100nM) ----Norm+TB (1nM) +Wortmannin (100nM)

Figure 4.2.1.1.1: Percentage coronary flow of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm wortmannin (100nM). Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation perfused with Krebs-Henseleit buffer, thereafter switched to Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm wortmannin (100nM) perfusion for 155-minutes. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the normoxia group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-5 for all groups.

Figure 4.2.1.1.2 shows left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) following Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm wortmannin (100nM) administration in normoxic conditions. The data does not show any statistical significances amongst the Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm

wortmannin (100nM) groups at the time points assessed (p>0.05, fig 4.2.1.1.2) between the groups or with respect to the normoxic control.



--- Normoxia --- Norm+TB(1nM) --- Norm+Wortmannin (100nM) --- Norm+TB (1nM) +Wortmannin (100nM)

Figure 4.2.1.1.2: Percentage left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm wortmannin (100nM). Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation perfused with Krebs-Henseleit buffer, thereafter switched to Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm wortmannin (100nM) perfusion for 155-minutes. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the normoxia group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-5 for all groups.

Figure 4.2.1.1.3 shows heart rate following administration of Tiotropium bromide $(1nM) \pm$ wortmannin (100nM) in normoxic conditions. The data shows no statistical significance in heart rate observed with Tiotropium bromide $(1nM) \pm$ wortmannin (100nM) and the normoxic control group (p>0.05, fig 4.2.1.1.3).



🔶 Normoxia 🛛 🛶 Norm+TB(1nM) 🚽 Norm+Wortmannin (100nM) 🚽 Norm+TB (1nM) +Wortmannin (100nM)

Figure 4.2.1.1.3: Percentage heart rate of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide $(1nM) \pm$ wortmannin (100nM). Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation perfused with Krebs-Henseleit buffer, thereafter switched to Tiotropium bromide $(1nM) \pm$ wortmannin (100nM) perfusion for 155-minutes. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the normoxia group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-5 for all groups.

4.2.1.2 Haemodynamic in Ischaemia/Reperfusion for Tiotropium ± Wortmannin

The effect of Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) administration in the presence or absence of wortmannin (100 nM), was assessed in conditions of myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion injury with 20 minutes of stabilisation preceding 35 minutes of regional ischaemia followed by 120 minutes of reperfusion; drug administration lasted the duration of reperfusion, as described in section 2.3.3.2.

Coronary flow (fig 4.2.1.2.1), left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP, fig 4.2.1.2.2) and heart rate (fig 4.2.1.2.2.3) are shown for Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm wortmannin (100 nM) administration in conditions of ischaemia/reperfusion as well as the ischaemia/reperfusion control group. The data collected for all parameters (fig 4.2.1.2.1 –

4.2.1.2.3) following Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm$ wortmannin (100 nM) administration in ischaemia/reperfusion were statistically analysed at 15, 25, 50, 70 and 160 minutes.

Figure 4.2.1.2.1 for coronary flow shows no statistical significance at the onset of reperfusion with Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm$ wortmannin (100 nM) (p>0.05) between each group and also with respect to the ischaemia/reperfusion control.



Figure 4.2.1.2.1: Percentage coronary flow of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide (TB 1 nM) \pm wortmannin (100 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation, thereafter subjected to 35 minutes of ischaemia before 120 minutes of Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm wortmannin (100 nM) throughout reperfusion. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the 'IR' (ischaemia/reperfusion) group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-5 for all groups.

Figure 4.2.1.2.2 shows the left ventricular pressure recorded (LVDP) from the Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm$ wortmannin (100 nM) treatment groups. The data does not show any statistical significances amongst the Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm$ wortmannin (100 nM)

groups at the time points assessed (p>0.05, fig 4.2.1.2.2) between the different groups or with respect to the ischaemia/reperfusion group.



Figure 4.2.1.2.2: Percentage left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) of the mean

-- IR -- IR+TB (1nM) -- IR+Wort (100nM) -- IR+TB (1nM) +Wortmannin (100nM) stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide (TB 1 nM) ± wortmannin (100 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation, thereafter subjected to 35 minutes of ischaemia before 120 minutes of Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± wortmannin (100 nM) throughout reperfusion. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the 'IR' (ischaemia/reperfusion) group. Values plotted signify the Mean ± SEM, derived from an n of 4-5 for all groups.

Figure 4.2.1.2.3 shows heart rate following administration of Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm$ wortmannin (100 nM) following ischaemia/reperfusion. The data shows no statistical significance in heart rate observed with Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm$ wortmannin (100 nM) and the ischaemia/reperfusion control group (p>0.05, fig 4.2.1.2.3).



Figure 4.2.1.2.3: Percentage heart rate of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide (TB 1 nM) \pm wortmannin (100 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation, thereafter subjected to 35 minutes of ischaemia before 120 minutes of Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm wortmannin (100 nM) throughout reperfusion. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the 'IR' (ischaemia/reperfusion) group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-5 for all groups.

4.2.2 Infarct size analysis of Tiotropium ± Wortmannin administration

4.2.2.1 Infarct Analysis in Normoxic conditions for Tiotropium ± Wortmannin

This study observed the effects of Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{wortmannin}$ (100 nM) administration on infarct size (%), in normoxic conditions. Figure 4.2.2.1.1 shows the infarct size of Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{wortmannin}$ (100 nM) with respect to normoxic (Norm) controls. There is a significant difference in infarct size (%) following Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{wortmannin}$ (100 nM) administration with respect to the normoxic control. The administration of wortmannin (100 nM) shows no significance in infarct size (%) with respect to the normoxic control (p>0.05), however a significant decrease is observed with respect to the Tiotropium (1 nM) group (9.83 \pm 0.75% (Wort 100nM) vs. 18.69 \pm 1.79% (TB 1nM), p<0.001, fig 4.2.2.1.1). Wortmannin (100 nM) co-administration with Tiotropium (1 nM) shows no significant difference with respect to the other groups (p>0.05, fig 4.2.2.1.1).



Figure 4.2.2.1.1: Percentage infarct to risk ratios (%) following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± wortmannin (100 nM) in normoxic conditions. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation with Krebs-Henseleit buffer, thereafter switched to Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± wortmannin (100 nM) perfusion for 155-minutes. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the normoxia group. Values plotted signify the Mean ± SEM, derived from an n of 4-5 for all groups. *** TB (1nM) vs. Norm, p<0.001; ### Wortmannin (100nM) vs. TB (1nM), p<0.001.

4.2.2.2 Infarct Analysis in Ischaemia/Reperfusion for Tiotropium ± Wortmannin

This study observed the effects of Tiotropium bromide (TB 1 nM) \pm wortmannin (Wort 100 nM) administration on infarct to risk ratio (%), in an *in vitro* model of myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion. Figure 4.2.2.2.1 shows the infarct/risk ratios of TB (1 nM) \pm Wort (100 nM) with respect to the ischaemia/reperfusion (IR) control. The study showed that there is no significance in infarct size to risk ratio (%) observed upon administration of

wortmannin (100 nM) with or without Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) with respect to the ischaemia/reperfusion control or Tiotropium (1 nM) ($50.6 \pm 3.83\%$ (Wort 100nM) and $55.94 \pm 8.14\%$ (TB 1nM + Wort 100nM) vs. 50.85 ± 3.93 (IR) and $65.42 \pm 3.00\%$ (TB 1nM), p>0.05, fig 4.2.2.2.1).



Figure 4.2.2.2.1: Percentage infarct to risk ratios (%) following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± wortmannin (100 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation, thereafter subjected to 35 minutes of ischaemia before 120 minutes of Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± wortmannin (100 nM) throughout reperfusion. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the 'IR' (ischaemia/reperfusion) group. Values plotted signify the Mean ± SEM, derived from an n of 4-5 for all groups. ** vs. IR, p<0.01.

4.2.3 Effect of Tiotropium bromide administration on Phospho-Akt (Ser473) expression in the presence or absence of Wortmannin

P-Akt _(Ser473) activation was assessed using western blotting for phosphorylated Akt _(Ser473) in cardiac tissue to establish the role of Akt in Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm wortmannin (100 nM) mediated cardiotoxicity. Figure 4.2.3.1 shows the expression pattern observed following normoxia and Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm wortmannin (100 nM).

Wortmannin (100 nM) administration blocks p-Akt _(Ser473) phosphorylation with respect to the normoxic control and Tiotropium (1 nM) mediated increase (4.26 \pm 0.78% (Wort 100nM) vs. 36.17 \pm 5.13% (Norm) and 88.03 \pm 5.62% (TB 1nM), p<0.05 and p<0.0001 respectively, fig 4.2.3.1). Tiotropium (1 nM) mediated p-Akt _(Ser473) upregulation is attenuated upon co-administration of wortmannin (100 nM) with respect to Tiotropium (1 nM) alone (15.09 \pm 3.06% (TB 1nM + Wort 100nM) vs. 88.03 \pm 5.62% (TB 1nM), p<0.0001, fig 4.2.3.1).



Figure 4.2.3.1: Percentage expression (%) of phosphorylated Akt _(Ser473) as a percentage of total Akt following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± wortmannin (100 nM) in normoxic conditions. Langendorff hearts were perfused with either Krebs-Henseleit buffer (Norm) or Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± wortmannin (100 nM). Values plotted signify the Mean ± SEM, derived from an n of 3 for all groups. * vs. Norm, p<0.05; **** vs. Norm, p<0.0001 and #### vs. TB (1nM), p<0.0001.

4.2.4 Role of Wortmannin in Tiotropium bromide mediated apoptotic cell death

Cardiomyocytes were incubated with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± wortmannin (100 nM) and the normoxic controls respectively for a period of 4 hours before staining with Annexin-V and Propidium iodide (PI), and analysed on the flow cytometer using the FL-1 and FL-2 channels. Propidium iodide was used as a counter stain to differentiate between necrotic and dead apoptotic cells.

Figure 4.2.4.1 shows the percentage of total apoptosis in cardiomyocyte treated with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm wortmannin (100 nM) in normoxic conditions. Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) shows an observable but non-significant increase in total apoptosis with respect to the normoxic control (117.2 \pm 8.85% (TB 1 nM) vs. 100 \pm 0.0% (normoxia), p>0.05, fig 4.2.4.1). However, wortmannin (100 nM) administration shows a decrease in total apoptosis with respect to Tiotropium (1 nM) (88.21 \pm 12.64% (Wort 100nM) vs. 117.2 \pm 8.85% (TB 1 nM), p<0.05, fig 4.2.4.1). The effect of wortmannin (100 nM) when co-administered with Tiotropium (1 nM) reverses the apoptotic effect of Tiotropium (1 nM) alone (85.93 \pm 11.37% (TB 1nM + Wort 100nM) vs. 117.2 \pm 8.85% (TB 1 nM), p<0.05, fig 4.2.4.1). Data for necrosis did not show any significant difference between any of the groups (p>0.05, data not shown).



Treatment Groups

Figure 4.2.4.1: Percentage of total apoptotic cardiomyocytes (%) following treatment with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm wortmannin (100 nM) in normoxic conditions, expressed as a percentage of the normoxia control. Cardiomyocytes were treated for 4 hours in normoxic conditions with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm wortmannin (100 nM), apart from the normoxia control group, before staining with Annexin-V/Propidium iodide and analysed using the FL-1 and FL-2 channels of the flow cytometer. Data is presented as the Mean \pm SEM, n of 4. # vs. TB (1nM), p<0.05.

4.3 Effect of the caspase-3 inhibitor, Z-DEVD-FMK in the presence or absence of Tiotropium bromide in Normoxia and Ischaemia/Reperfusion whole heart models 4.3.1 Haemodynamic Data Analysis

4.3.1.1 Haemodynamic in Normoxic conditions for Tiotropium ± Z-DEVD-FMK

Tiotropium bromide $(1nM) \pm Z$ -DEVD-FMK (140nM) was administered following a 20minute stabilisation period and perfused throughout the rest of the experimental protocol for a period of 155 minutes, as described in section 2.3.3.1. The data for all parameters (fig 4.3.1.1.1 – 4.2.1.1.3) following Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm Z-DEVD-FMK (140nM) were analysed at 15, 25, 50, 70 and 160 minutes. Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm Z-DEVD-FMK (140nM) was compared to the normoxic control and each concentration.

The coronary flow (fig 4.3.1.1.1) data shows that the administration of Z-DEVD-FMK (140 nM) show a significant increase in coronary flow with respect to normoxic control, at 25, 50 and 70 minutes (25 minutes: $109.64 \pm 6.69\%$ (Z-DEVD 140nM) vs. $93.03 \pm 2.16\%$ (Norm); 50 minutes: $108.31 \pm 8.17\%$ (Z-DEVD 140nM) vs. $87.57 \pm 2.24\%$ (Norm); 70 minutes: $109.31 \pm 5.90\%$ (Z-DEVD 140nM) vs. $87.68 \pm 4.23\%$ (Norm), p<0.05 respectively, fig 4.3.1.1.1).



---- Normoxia ---- Norm+TB (1nM) ---- Norm+Z-DEVD-FMK (140nM) ---- Norm+TB (1nM)+Z-DEVD-FMK (140nM)

Figure 4.3.1.1.1: Percentage coronary flow of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide (1nM) ± Z-DEVD-FMK (140nM). Langendorff

hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation perfused with Krebs-Henseleit buffer, thereafter switched to Tiotropium bromide (1nM) ± Z-DEVD-FMK (140nM) perfusion for 155-minutes. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the normoxia group. Values plotted signify the Mean ± SEM, derived from an n of 3-5 for all groups. * Z-DEVD-FMK (140nM) vs. Norm, p<0.05.

Figure 4.3.1.1.2 shows left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) following Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm Z-DEVD-FMK (140nM) administration in normoxic conditions. The data does not show any statistical significances amongst the Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm Z-DEVD-FMK (140nM) groups at the time points assessed (p>0.05, fig 4.3.1.1.2) between the groups or with respect to the normoxic control.



– Normoxia 🛛 🛶 Norm+TB (1nM) 🛶 Norm+Z-DEVD-FMK (140nM) 🛶 Norm+TB (1nM)+Z-DEVD-FMK (140nM)
Figure 4.3.1.1.2: Percentage left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm Z-DEVD-FMK (140nM). Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation perfused with Krebs-Henseleit buffer, thereafter switched to Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm Z-DEVD-FMK (140nM) perfusion for 155-minutes. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the normoxia group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 3-5 for all groups.

Figure 4.3.1.1.3 shows heart rate following administration of Tiotropium bromide $(1nM) \pm$ Z-DEVD-FMK (140nM) in normoxic conditions. The data shows no statistical significance in heart rate observed with Tiotropium bromide $(1nM) \pm$ Z-DEVD-FMK (140nM) and the normoxic control group (p>0.05, fig 4.3.1.1.3).



Figure 4.3.1.1.3: Percentage heart rate of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm Z-DEVD-FMK (140nM). Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation perfused with Krebs-Henseleit buffer, thereafter switched to Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm Z-DEVD-FMK (140nM) perfusion for 155-minutes. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the normoxia group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 3-5 for all groups.

4.3.1.2 Haemodynamic in Ischaemia/Reperfusion for Tiotropium ± Z-DEVD-FMK

The effect of Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) administration in the presence or absence of Z-DEVD-FMK (70 nM), was assessed in conditions of myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion injury with 20 minutes of stabilisation preceding 35 minutes of regional ischaemia followed by 120 minutes of reperfusion; drug administration lasted the duration of reperfusion, as described in section 2.3.3.2.

Coronary flow (fig 4.3.1.2.1), left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP, fig 4.3.1.2.2) and heart rate (fig 4.3.1.2.2.3) are shown for Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm Z-DEVD-FMK (70 nM) administration in conditions of ischaemia/reperfusion as well as the ischaemia/reperfusion control group. The data collected for all parameters (fig 4.3.1.2.1 – 4.3.1.2.3) following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm Z-DEVD-FMK (70 nM) administration in ischaemia/reperfusion were statistically analysed at 15, 25, 50, 70 and 160 minutes.

Figure 4.3.1.2.1 for coronary flow shows no statistical significance at the onset of reperfusion with Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{Z}-\text{DEVD}-\text{FMK}$ (70 nM) (p>0.05) between each group and also with respect to the ischaemia/reperfusion control.



-- IR -- IR+TB (1nM) -- IR+Z-DEVD-FMK (70nM) -- IR+TB (1nM)+Z-DEVD (70nM) Figure 4.3.1.2.1: Percentage coronary flow of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide (TB 1 nM) \pm Z-DEVD-FMK (70 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation, thereafter subjected to 35 minutes of ischaemia before 120 minutes of Tiotropium bromide (TB 1 nM) \pm Z-DEVD-FMK (70 nM) throughout reperfusion. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the 'IR' (ischaemia/reperfusion) group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-5 for all groups.

Figure 4.3.1.2.2 shows the left ventricular pressure recorded (LVDP) from the Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm Z-DEVD-FMK (70 nM) treatment groups. The data does not show any statistical significances amongst the Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm Z-DEVD-FMK (70 nM) groups at the time points assessed (p>0.05, fig 4.3.1.2.2) between the different groups or with respect to the ischaemia/reperfusion group.



+ IR + IR+TB (1nM) + IR+Z-DEVD-FMK (70nM) + IR+TB (1nM)+Z-DEVD (70nM) Figure 4.3.1.2.2: Percentage left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide (TB 1 nM) ± Z-DEVD-FMK (70 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation, thereafter subjected to 35 minutes of ischaemia before 120 minutes of Tiotropium bromide (TB 1 nM) ± Z-DEVD-FMK (70 nM) throughout reperfusion. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the 'IR' (ischaemia/reperfusion) group. Values plotted signify the Mean ± SEM, derived from an n of 4-5 for all groups.

Figure 4.3.1.2.3 shows heart rate following administration of Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm$ Z-DEVD-FMK (70 nM) following ischaemia/reperfusion. The data shows no statistical

significance in heart rate observed with Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{Z}-\text{DEVD-FMK}$ (70 nM) and the ischaemia/reperfusion control group (p>0.05, fig 4.3.1.2.3).



Figure 4.3.1.2.3: Percentage heart rate of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide (TB 1 nM) \pm Z-DEVD-FMK (70 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation, thereafter subjected to 35 minutes of ischaemia before 120 minutes of Tiotropium bromide (TB 1 nM) \pm Z-DEVD-FMK (70 nM) throughout reperfusion. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the 'IR' (ischaemia/reperfusion) group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-5 for all groups.

4.3.2 Infarct size analysis of Tiotropium ± Z-DEVD-FMK administration

4.3.2.1 Infarct Analysis in Normoxic conditions for Tiotropium ± Z-DEVD-FMK

This study observed the effects of Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{Z}-\text{DEVD}-\text{FMK}$ (140 nM) administration on infarct size (%), in normoxic conditions. Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{Z}-\text{DEVD}-\text{FMK}$ (140 nM) was administered following 20 minutes of stabilisation and continued for 155 minute; hearts were subjected to TTC staining to determine infarct size.

Figure 4.3.2.1.1 shows the infarct size of Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{wortmannin}$ (100 nM) with respect to normoxic (Norm) controls. The study shows that there is a significant difference in infarct size following Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{Z}-\text{DEVD}-\text{FMK}$ (140 nM) administration with respect to the normoxic control. The administration of Z-DEVD-FMK (140 nM) shows a significant decrease in infarct size (%) with respect to the Tiotropium (1 nM) group (8.66 ± 2.84% (Z-DEVD-FMK 140nM) vs. 18.69 ± 1.79% (TB 1nM), p<0.001, fig 4.3.2.1.1). Z-DEVD-FMK (140 nM) co-administration with Tiotropium (1 nM) sustains the significant decrease in infarct size with respect to Tiotropium (1 nM) (8.74 ± 2.41% (TB 1nM) + Z-DEVD 140nM) vs. 18.69 ± 1.79% (TB 1nM), p<0.001, fig 4.3.2.1.1).



Figure 4.3.2.1.1: Percentage infarct to risk ratios (%) following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm Z-DEVD-FMK (140 nM) in normoxic conditions. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation with Krebs-Henseleit buffer, thereafter switched to Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm Z-DEVD-FMK (140 nM) perfusion for 155-minutes. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the normoxia group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-5 for all groups. *** TB (1nM) vs. Norm, p<0.001; ### Z-DEVD-FMK (140 nM) + Z-DEVD (140 nM) vs. TB (1nM), p<0.001.

4.3.2.2 Infarct Analysis in Ischaemia/Reperfusion for Tiotropium ± Z-DEVD-FMK

This study observed the effects of Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{Z}-\text{DEVD-FMK}$ (70 nM) administration on infarct to risk ratio (%), in an *in vitro* model of myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion. Figure 4.3.2.2.1 shows the infarct/risk ratios of Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{Z}-\text{DEVD-FMK}$ (70 nM) with respect to the ischaemia/reperfusion (IR) control. Administration of Z-DEVD-FMK (70 nM) shows a reversal in the infarct to risk ratio observed with ischaemia/reperfusion and Tiotropium (1 nM) alone (19.87 ± 3.63% (Z-DEVD-FMK 70nM) vs. 50.85 ± 3.93% (IR) and 65.42 ± 3.00% (TB 1nM), p<0.001 respectively, fig 4.3.2.2.1). Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) co-administered with Z-DEVD-FMK (70 nM) shows an abrogated infarct to risk ratio with respect to Tiotropium (1 nM) alone (43.70 ± 1.79% (TB 1nM + Z-DEVD 70nM) vs. 65.42 ± 3.00% (TB 1nM), p<0.01, fig 4.3.2.2.1); however the Tiotropium (1 nM) + Z-DEVD-FMK (70 nM) group shows an increase in infarct to risk ratio with respect to Z-DEVD-FMK (70 nM) alone (43.70 ± 1.79% (TB 1nM + Z-DEVD 70nM) vs. 19.87 ± 3.63% (Z-DEVD-FMK 70nM), p<0.001, fig 4.3.2.2.1).



Figure 4.3.2.2.1: Percentage infarct to risk ratios (%) following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm Z-DEVD-FMK (70 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation, thereafter subjected to 35 minutes of ischaemia before 120 minutes of Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm Z-DEVD-FMK (70 nM) throughout reperfusion. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the 'IR' (ischaemia/reperfusion) group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-5 for all groups. ** vs. IR, p<0.01; *** vs. IR, p<0.001, ## vs. IR+TB (1nM), p<0.001 and \$\$ vs. IR+Z-DEVD-FMK (70 nM), p<0.01.

4.3.3 Role of Z-DEVD-FMK in Tiotropium bromide mediated apoptotic cell death

Cardiomyocytes were incubated with Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{Z-DEVD-FMK}$ (70 nM) and the normoxic controls respectively for a period of 4 hours before staining with Annexin-V and Propidium iodide (PI), and analysed on the flow cytometer using the FL-1 and FL-2 channels. Propidium iodide was used as a counter stain to differentiate between necrotic and dead apoptotic cells.

Figure 4.3.3.1 shows the percentage of total apoptosis in cardiomyocyte treated with Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{Z}-\text{DEVD-FMK}$ (70 nM) in normoxic conditions. Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) shows a non-significant increase in total apoptosis with respect to the normoxic control $(117.2 \pm 8.85\% \text{ (TB 1 nM)} \text{ vs. } 100 \pm 0.0\% \text{ (normoxia)}, \text{ p>0.05, fig 4.3.3.1)}.$

Z-DEVD-FMK (70 nM) administration shows a decrease in total apoptosis with respect to Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) and the normoxic control (75.7 \pm 6.72% (Z-DEVD-FMK 70nM) vs. 117.2 \pm 8.85% (TB 1nM) and 100 \pm 0.0% (Norm), p<0.001 and p<0.01 respectively, fig 4.3.3.1). Co-administration of Z-DEVD-FMK (70 nM) with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) suppresses the effect of Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) alone (79.53 \pm 4.92% (TB 1nM + Z-DEVD 70nM) vs. 117.2 \pm 8.85% (TB 1 nM), p<0.001, fig 4.3.3.1), and shows a significant decrease with respect to the normoxic control (79.53 \pm 4.92% (TB 1nM + Z-DEVD 70nM) vs. 100 \pm 0.0% (Norm), p<0.05, fig 4.3.3.1). Data for necrosis did not show any significant difference between any of the groups (p>0.05, data not shown).



Treatment Groups

Figure 4.3.3.1: Percentage of total apoptotic cardiomyocytes (%) following treatment with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm Z-DEVD-FMK (70 nM) in normoxic conditions, expressed as a percentage of the normoxia control. Cardiomyocytes were treated for 4 hours in normoxic conditions with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm Z-DEVD-FMK (70 nM), apart from the normoxia control group, before staining with Annexin-V/Propidium iodide and analysed using the FL-1 and FL-2 channels of the flow cytometer. Data is presented as the Mean \pm SEM, n of 3-4. * vs. Normoxia, p<0.05; ** vs. Normoxia, p<0.01; ### vs. TB (1 nM), p<0.001.

4.3.4 The effect of Tiotropium bromide on Caspase-3 activity

Cardiomyocytes were incubated with acetylcholine (100 nM), Tiotropium (1 nM) \pm Z-DEVD (70 nM) or control for 4 hours before methanol fixation prior to staining with anti-cleaved caspase-3 _(Asp175) and analysed on the flow cytometer using the FL-1 channel.

Figure 4.3.4.1 shows the percentage of cleaved caspase-3 (Asp175) in cardiomyocyte treated with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm Z-DEVD-FMK (70 nM) or acetylcholine (100 nM) in normoxic conditions. Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) significantly increases cleaved caspase-3 (Asp175) compared to control (195.0 \pm 30.38% (TB 1nM) vs. 100 \pm 0.0% (Control), p<0.01, fig 4.3.4.1). Acetylcholine (100 nM) shows no significance with respect to the control (p>0.05, fig 4.3.4.1), but shows a significant decrease in cleaved caspase-3 with respect to Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) (83.14 \pm 17.38% (ACh 100nM) vs. 195.0 \pm 30.38% (TB 1nM), p<0.01, fig 4.3.3.1). Z-DEVD-FMK (70 nM) significantly inhibits cleaved caspase-3 (Asp175) compared to the control and Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) (11.65 \pm 6.08% (Z-DEVD-FMK 70nM) vs. 100 \pm 0.0% (Control) and 195.0 \pm 30.38% (TB 1nM), p<0.05 and p<0.001 respectively, fig 4.3.4.1). Co-administration of Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) (46.43 \pm 4.38% (TB 1nM) + Z-DEVD 70nM) vs. 195.0 \pm 30.38% (TB 1nM), p<0.001, fig 4.3.4.1).



Treatment Groups

Figure 4.3.4.1: Percentage of cleaved caspase-3 $_{(Asp175)}$ in cardiomyocytes (%) following treatment with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± Z-DEVD-FMK (70 nM) or acetylcholine (ACh 100 nM) expressed as a percentage of the normoxia control. Cardiomyocytes were treated for 4 hours in normoxic conditions with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± Z-DEVD-FMK (70 nM) or acetylcholine (ACh 100 nM), apart from the normoxia control group. Data is presented as the Mean ± SEM, n of 3-6. * vs. Normoxia, p<0.05; ** vs. Normoxia, p<0.01; ## vs. TB (1 nM), p<0.001.

4.4 Effect of mPTP inhibitor, Cyclosporin A in the presence or absence of Tiotropium bromide in Normoxia and Ischaemia/Reperfusion whole heart models 4.4.1 Haemodynamic Data Analysis

4.4.1.1 Haemodynamic in Normoxic conditions for Tiotropium ± Cyclosporin A (CsA)

Tiotropium bromide $(1nM) \pm CsA$ (200nM) was administered following a 20-minute stabilisation period and perfused throughout the rest of the experimental protocol for a

period of 155 minutes, as described in section 2.3.3.1. The data for all parameters (fig 4.4.1.1.1 - 4.4.1.1.3) following Tiotropium bromide (1nM) ± CsA (200nM) were analysed at 15, 25, 50, 70 and 160 minutes. Tiotropium bromide (1nM) ± CsA (200nM) was compared to the normoxic control and each concentration.

The coronary flow (fig 4.4.1.1.1) shows that Tiotropium bromide $(1nM) \pm$ cyclosporin A (200nM) alone shows no significance with respect to the normoxic control or each other.



---- Normoxia ---- Norm+TB (1nM) ---- Norm+Cyclosporin A (200nM) ---- Norm+TB (1nM)+Cyclosporin A (200nM)

Figure 4.4.1.1.1: Percentage coronary flow of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide $(1nM) \pm cyclosporin A (200nM)$. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation perfused with Krebs-Henseleit buffer, thereafter switched to Tiotropium bromide $(1nM) \pm cyclosporin A (200nM)$ perfusion

for 155-minutes. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the normoxia group. Values plotted signify the Mean ± SEM, derived from an n of 3-5 for all groups.

Figure 4.4.1.1.2 shows left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) following Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm cyclosporin A (200nM) administration in normoxic conditions. The data does not show any statistical significances amongst the Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm cyclosporin A (200nM) groups at the time points assessed (p>0.05, fig 4.4.1.1.2) between the groups or with respect to the normoxic control.



--- Normoxia --- Norm+TB (1nM) --- Norm+Cyclosporin A (200nM) --- Norm+TB (1nM)+Cyclosporin A (200nM)

Figure 4.4.1.1.2: Percentage left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide (1nM) ± cyclosporin A (200nM). Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation perfused with Krebs-Henseleit buffer, thereafter switched to Tiotropium

bromide $(1nM) \pm$ cyclosporin A (200nM) perfusion for 155-minutes. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the normoxia group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 3-5 for all groups.

Figure 4.4.1.1.3 shows heart rate following administration of Tiotropium bromide $(1nM) \pm$ cyclosporin A (200nM) in normoxic conditions. The data shows no statistical significance in heart rate observed with Tiotropium bromide $(1nM) \pm$ cyclosporin A (200nM) and the normoxic control group (p>0.05, fig 4.4.1.1.3).



--- Normoxia --- Norm+TB (1nM) --- Norm+Cyclosporin A (200nM) --- Norm+TB (1nM)+Cyclosporin A (200nM)

Figure 4.4.1.1.3: Percentage heart rate of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide $(1nM) \pm cyclosporin A (200nM)$. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation perfused with Krebs-Henseleit buffer, thereafter switched to Tiotropium bromide $(1nM) \pm cyclosporin A (200nM)$ perfusion

for 155-minutes. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the normoxia group. Values plotted signify the Mean ± SEM, derived from an n of 3-5 for all groups.

4.4.1.2 Haemodynamic in Ischaemia/Reperfusion for Tiotropium ± Cyclosporin A

The effect of Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) administration in the presence or absence of cyclosporin A (200 nM), was assessed in conditions of myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion injury with 20 minutes of stabilisation preceding 35 minutes of regional ischaemia followed by 120 minutes of reperfusion; drug administration lasted the duration of reperfusion, as described in section 2.3.3.2.

Coronary flow (fig 4.4.1.2.1), left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP, fig 4.4.1.2.2) and heart rate (fig 4.4.1.2.2.3) are shown for Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm cyclosporin A (200 nM) administration in conditions of ischaemia/reperfusion as well as the ischaemia/reperfusion control group. The data collected for all parameters (fig 4.4.1.2.1 – 4.4.1.2.3) following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm cyclosporin A (200 nM) administration in ischaemia/reperfusion were statistically analysed at 15, 25, 50, 70 and 160 minutes.

Figure 4.4.1.2.1 for coronary flow shows no statistical significance at the onset of reperfusion with Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{cyclosporin A} (200 \text{ nM}) (p>0.05)$ between each group and also with respect to the ischaemia/reperfusion control.



Figure 4.4.1.2.1: Percentage coronary flow of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide (TB 1 nM) \pm cyclosporin A (CsA 200 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation, thereafter subjected to 35 minutes of ischaemia before 120 minutes of Tiotropium bromide (TB 1 nM) \pm cyclosporin A (200 nM) throughout reperfusion. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the 'IR' (ischaemia/reperfusion) group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-5 for all groups.

Figure 4.4.1.2.2 shows the left ventricular pressure recorded (LVDP) from the Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{cyclosporin A} (200 \text{ nM})$ treatment groups. The data shows a statistically significant increase in LVDP with cyclosporin A (200 nM) compared to Tiotropium bromide

(1 nM) at 70 minutes (70 minutes: 132.71 ± 10.45% (CsA 200nM) vs. 88.06 ± 12.20% (TB 1nM), p<0.05, fig 4.4.1.2.2).



- IR - IR+TB (1nM) - IR+CsA (200nM) - IR+TB (1nM)+Cyclosporin A (200nM) Figure 4.4.1.2.2: Percentage left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide (TB 1 nM) ± cyclosporin A (CsA 200 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion. Langendorff hearts were subjected to 20-minute of stabilisation, thereafter subjected to 35 minutes of ischaemia before 120 minutes of Tiotropium bromide (TB 1 nM) ± cyclosporin A (200 nM) throughout reperfusion. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the 'IR' (ischaemia/reperfusion) group. Values plotted signify the Mean ± SEM, derived from an n of 4-5 for all groups. # vs. IR+TB (1nM), p<0.05. Figure 4.4.1.2.3 shows heart rate following administration of Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm$ cyclosporin A (200 nM) following ischaemia/reperfusion. The data shows no statistical significance in heart rate observed with Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm$ cyclosporin A (200 nM) and the ischaemia/reperfusion control group (p>0.05, fig 4.4.1.2.3).



Figure 4.4.1.2.3: Percentage heart rate of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide (TB 1 nM) \pm cyclosporin A (CsA 200 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation, thereafter subjected to 35 minutes of ischaemia before 120 minutes of Tiotropium bromide (TB 1 nM) \pm cyclosporin A (200 nM) throughout reperfusion. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the 'IR' (ischaemia/reperfusion) group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-5 for all groups.

4.4.2 Infarct size analysis of Tiotropium ± Cyclosporin A administration

4.4.2.1 Infarct Analysis in Normoxic conditions for Tiotropium ± Cyclosporin A

This study observed the effects of Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{cyclosporin A}$ (200 nM) administration on infarct size (%) in normoxic conditions. Figure 4.4.2.1.1 shows infarct size

following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm cyclosporin A (200 nM) with respect to normoxic (Norm) controls. A significant difference in infarct size following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm cyclosporin A (200 nM) administration is shown with respect to the normoxic control. The administration of cyclosporin A (200 nM) shows a significant decrease in infarct size (%) with respect to Tiotropium (1 nM) (5.14 \pm 0.95% (cyclosporin A 200nM) vs. 18.69 \pm 1.79% (TB 1nM), p<0.001, fig 4.4.2.1.1). Cyclosporin A (200 nM) co-administration with Tiotropium (1 nM) (8.41 \pm 2.13% (TB 1nM + CsA 200nM) vs. 18.69 \pm 1.79% (TB 1nM), p<0.001, fig 4.4.2.1.1).



Figure 4.2.2.1.1: Percentage infarct to risk ratios (%) following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± cyclosporin A (200 nM) in normoxic conditions. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation with Krebs-Henseleit buffer, thereafter switched to Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± cyclosporin A (200 nM) perfusion for 155-minutes. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the normoxia group. Values plotted signify the Mean ± SEM, derived from an n of 4-5 for all groups. *** TB (1nM) vs. Norm, p<0.001; ### Cyclosporin A (200 nM) erform of the test of test of the test of tes

4.4.2.2 Infarct Analysis in Ischaemia/Reperfusion for Tiotropium ± Cyclosporin A

This study observed the effects of Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{cyclosporin A}$ (200 nM) administration on infarct to risk ratio (%), in an *in vitro* model of myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion.

Figure 4.4.2.2.1 shows the infarct/risk ratios of Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{cyclosporin A}$ (200 nM) with respect to the ischaemia/reperfusion (IR) control. Administration of cyclosporin A (200 nM) shows a reversal in the infarct to risk ratio observed with ischaemia/reperfusion and Tiotropium (1 nM) alone (7.16 ± 1.23% (cyclosporin A 200nM) vs. 50.85 ± 3.93% (IR) and 65.42 ± 3.00% (TB 1nM), p<0.001 respectively, fig 4.4.2.2.1). Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) co-administered with cyclosporin A (200 nM) also shows an abrogated infarct to risk ratio with respect to the ischaemia/reperfusion control and Tiotropium (1 nM) alone (16.34 ± 0.78% (TB 1nM + CsA 200nM) vs. 50.85 ± 3.93% (IR) and 65.42 ± 3.00% (TB 1nM + CsA 200nM) vs. 50.85 ± 3.93% (IR) and



Figure 4.4.2.2.1: Percentage infarct to risk ratios (%) following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm cyclosporin A (200 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation, thereafter subjected to 35 minutes of ischaemia before 120 minutes of Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm cyclosporin A (CsA 200 nM) throughout reperfusion. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the 'IR' (ischaemia/reperfusion) group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-5 for all groups. ** vs. IR p<0.01; *** vs. IR p<0.001; ### vs. IR+TB (1nM), p<0.001.

Chapter 5: Role of reactive oxygen species in Tiotropium mediated signalling in *ex vivo* and *in vitro* Cardiac models

The primary aim of this study was to elucidate the cardiotoxicity of long acting muscarinic receptor antagonists, notably how Tiotropium bromide induces myocardial damage in *ex vivo* and *in vitro* models of normoxic conditions and ischaemia/reperfusion injury.

(b) Understanding the effect of Tiotropium bromide on ... oxidative stress in *ex vivo* and *in vitro* normoxic conditions via ... the antioxidant, resveratrol.

(d) To observe the effect of Tiotropium bromide on gene expression profiles associated with myocardial infarction and oxidative stress.

5.1 Effect of the antioxidant, Resveratrol on Tiotropium bromide mediated cardiotoxicity in Normoxic conditions and Ischaemia/Reperfusion whole heart models

5.1.1 Haemodynamic Data Analysis

5.1.1.1 Haemodynamic in Normoxic conditions for Tiotropium ± Resveratrol

Using a whole heart Langendorff model, the haemodynamic data for Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) administration in the presence or absence of resveratrol (10 μ M) following 20 minutes of stabilisation in normoxic conditions are depicted in figures 5.1.1.1.1 – 5.1.1.1.3. Tiotropium bromide (1nM) ± resveratrol (10 μ M) was administered following a 20-minute stabilisation period and perfused throughout the rest of the experimental protocol for a period of 155 minutes, as described in section 2.3.3.1. The data collected for all parameters (fig 5.1.1.1.1 – 5.1.1.1.3) following Tiotropium bromide (1nM) ± resveratrol (10 μ M) administration were statistically analysed at 15, 25, 50, 70 and 160 minutes. The Tiotropium bromide (1nM) ± resveratrol (10 μ M) groups were analysed with respect to the normoxic control as well as between each treatment group.

The coronary flow (fig 5.1.1.1.1) data shows that the Tiotropium bromide (1nM) + resveratrol (10 μ M) group shows a significant increase in coronary flow with respect to the normoxic control, at 50 and 160 minutes (50 minutes: 113.33 ± 5.93% (TB 1nM + Resv 10 μ M) vs. 87.57 ± 2.24% (Norm), p<0.05; 160 minutes: 93.63 ± 7.78% (TB 1nM + Resv 10 μ M) vs. 67.48 ± 4.99% (Norm), p<0.05, fig 5.1.1.1.1).



Figure 5.1.1.1.1: Percentage coronary flow of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M). Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation perfused with Krebs-Henseleit buffer, thereafter switched to Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M) perfusion for 155minutes. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the normoxia group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-6 for all groups.* TB (1nM) + Resv (10 μ M) vs. Normoxia, p<0.05.

Figure 5.1.1.1.2 shows left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) following Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M) administration in normoxic conditions. The data does not show any statistical significances amongst the Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M) groups at the time points assessed (p>0.05, fig 5.1.1.1.2) between the groups or with respect to the normoxic control.



Figure 5.1.1.1.2: Percentage left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M). Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation perfused with Krebs-Henseleit buffer, thereafter switched to Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M) perfusion for 155-minutes. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the normoxia group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-6 for all groups.

Figure 5.1.1.1.3 shows heart rate following administration of Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M) in normoxic conditions. The data shows no statistical significance in heart rate observed with Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M) and the normoxic control group (p>0.05, fig 5.1.1.1.3).



Figure 5.1.1.1.3: Percentage heart rate of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M). Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation perfused with Krebs-Henseleit buffer, thereafter switched to Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M) perfusion for 155minutes. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the normoxia group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-6 for all groups.

5.1.1.2 Haemodynamic in Ischaemia/Reperfusion for Tiotropium ± Resveratrol

The effect of Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) administration in the presence or absence of resveratrol (10 μ M), was assessed in conditions of myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion injury with 20 minutes of stabilisation preceding 35 minutes of regional ischaemia followed by 120 minutes of reperfusion; drug administration lasted the duration of reperfusion.

Haemodynamic data was recorded for each study; at the end of each experiment, hearts were stained with Evans blue and retained for infarct analysis using the TTC method. Coronary flow (fig 5.1.1.2.1), left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP, fig 5.1.1.2.2) and heart rate (fig 5.1.1.2.3) are shown for Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M)

administration in conditions of ischaemia/reperfusion as well as the ischaemia/reperfusion control group. The data collected for all parameters (fig 5.1.1.2.1 – 5.1.1.2.3) following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M) administration in ischaemia/reperfusion were statistically analysed at 15, 25, 50, 70 and 160 minutes.

Figure 5.1.1.2.1 for coronary flow shows no statistical significance at the onset of reperfusion with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M) (p>0.05) between each group and also with respect to the ischaemia/reperfusion control.



-- IR -- IR+TB (1nM) -- IR+Resveratrol (10µM) -- IR+TB (1nM)+Resveratrol (10µM) Figure 5.1.1.2.1: Percentage coronary flow of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± resveratrol (10 µM) in ischaemia/reperfusion. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation, thereafter subjected to 35 minutes of ischaemia before 120 minutes of Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± resveratrol (10 µM) throughout reperfusion. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the 'IR' (ischaemia/reperfusion) group. Values plotted signify the Mean ± SEM, derived from an n of 4-6 for all groups.

Figure 5.1.1.2.2 shows the left ventricular pressure recorded (LVDP) from the Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M) treatment groups. The data does not show any statistical significances amongst the Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M)

Page 169 of 303

groups at the time points assessed (p>0.05, fig 5.1.1.2.2) between the different groups or with respect to the ischaemia/reperfusion group.



🛶 IR 🛛 → IR+TB (1nM) 🛛 → IR+Resveratrol (10μM) 🚽 IR+TB (1nM)+Resveratrol (10μM)

Figure 5.1.1.2.2: Percentage left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M) in ischaemia/reperfusion. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation, thereafter subjected to 35 minutes of ischaemia before 120 minutes of Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M) throughout reperfusion. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the 'IR' (ischaemia/reperfusion) group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-6 for all groups.

Figure 5.1.1.2.3 shows heart rate following administration of Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M) following ischaemia/reperfusion. The data shows no statistical significance in heart rate observed with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M) and the ischaemia/reperfusion control group (p>0.05, fig 5.1.1.2.3).



Figure 5.1.1.2.3: Percentage heart rate of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M) in ischaemia/reperfusion. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation, thereafter subjected to 35 minutes of ischaemia before 120 minutes of Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M) throughout reperfusion. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the 'IR' (ischaemia/reperfusion) group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-6 for all groups.

5.1.2 Infarct to Risk analysis of Tiotropium Bromide following Resveratrol administration in normoxia and ischaemia/reperfusion

5.1.2.1 Infarct to Risk analysis in Normoxic conditions for Tiotropium ± Resveratrol

This study observed the effects of Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M) administration on infarct size (%), in normoxic conditions. Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M) was administered following 20 minutes of stabilisation and continued

for 155 minutes, as described in section 2.3.3.2; hearts were subjected to TTC staining to determine infarct size.

Figure 5.1.2.1.1 shows the infarct size of Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M) with respect to normoxic (Norm) controls. The study shows that there is a significant difference in infarct size following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M) administration with respect to the normoxic control. Tiotropium (1 nM) shows an increase in infarct size compared to the normoxic control (18.69 \pm 1.79% vs. 10.28 \pm 1.74%, p<0.001, fig 5.1.2.1.1). The administration of resveratrol (10 μ M) shows no significance with respect to the normoxic control (10 μ M) with respect to the normoxic control (10 μ M) shows no significance with respect to the normoxic control (10 μ M) shows no significance with respect to the normoxic control (10 μ M) shows no significance with respect to the Tiotropium (1 nM) group (12.28 \pm 1.50% (Resv 10 μ M) vs. 18.69 \pm 1.79% (TB 1nM), p<0.01, fig 5.1.2.1.1). The decrease in infarct size following resveratrol (10 μ M) administration is sustained upon co-administration with Tiotropium (1 nM) with respect to the Tiotropium (1 nM) alone group (11.99 \pm 1.71% (TB 1nM + Resv 10 μ M) vs. 18.69 \pm 1.79% (TB 1nM), p<0.01, fig 5.1.2.1.1).



Page 172 of 303

Figure 5.1.2.1.1: Percentage infarct to risk ratios (%) following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M) in normoxic conditions. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation with Krebs-Henseleit buffer, thereafter switched to Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M) perfusion for 155-minutes. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the normoxia group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-6 for all groups. *** TB (1nM) vs. Norm, p<0.001; ## Resveratrol (10 μ M) and TB (1nM) + Resv (10 μ M) vs. TB (1nM), p<0.01.

5.1.2.2 Infarct to Risk analysis of Ischaemia/Reperfusion for Tiotropium ± Resveratrol

This study observed the effects of Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{resveratrol} (10 \mu\text{M})$ administration on infarct to risk ratio (%), in an *in vitro* model of myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion. Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{resveratrol} (10 \mu\text{M})$ was administered at the onset of reperfusion and continued throughout the 120-minute period following 20 minutes of stabilisation and 35 minutes of regional ischaemia as described in section 2.3.2.2, followed by Evans blue dye staining to delineate ischaemic zones, and subjected to TTC staining to determine infarct size to risk ratio.

Figure 5.1.2.2.1 shows the infarct/risk ratios of Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M) with respect to the ischaemia/reperfusion (IR) control. The study showed that Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) administration results in a significant increase in infarct to risk ratio with respect to the ischaemia/reperfusion control (65.42 \pm 3.00% (TB 1nM) vs. 50.85 \pm 3.93 (IR), p<0.01, fig 5.1.2.2.1). There is a significant decrease in infarct to risk ratio with resveratrol (10 μ M) administration with respect to Tiotropium (1 nM) (35.24 \pm 0.40% (Resv 10 μ M) vs. 65.42 \pm 3.00% (TB 1nM), p<0.001, fig 5.1.2.2.1). Tiotropium (1 nM) + resveratrol (10 μ M) administration also shows a significant decrease in infarct to risk ratio with respect to Tiotropium (1 nM) + resveratrol (10 μ M) administration also shows a significant decrease in infarct to risk ratio with respect to Tiotropium (1 nM) (39.10 \pm 0.89% (TB 1nM + Resv 10 μ M) vs. 65.42 \pm 3.00% (TB 1nM), p<0.01, fig 5.1.2.2.1).



Figure 5.1.2.2.1: Percentage infarct to risk ratios (%) following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M) in ischaemia/reperfusion. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation, thereafter subjected to 35 minutes of ischaemia before 120 minutes of Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M) throughout reperfusion. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the 'IR' (ischaemia/reperfusion) group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-6 for all groups. ** vs. IR, p<0.05; ## vs. IR+TB (1nM), p<0.01 and ### vs. IR+TB (1nM), p<0.001.

5.2 Effect of Tiotropium Bromide on Akt expression in the presence or absence of Resveratrol in Normoxic conditions

5.2.1 Effect of Tiotropium bromide administration on Phospho-Akt (Ser473) expression in the presence or absence of Resveratrol

P-Akt _(Ser473) activation was assessed using western blotting for phosphorylated Akt _(Ser473) in cardiac tissue to establish the role of Akt in Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) mediated cardiotoxicity ± resveratrol (10 μ M). Figure 5.2.1.1 shows the expression pattern observed following normoxia and Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± resveratrol (10 μ M). All drugs were administered following stabilisation in a modified Langendorff model, for a period of 155

minutes; hearts were immediately removed following the end of the protocol period and the left ventricle was excised and snap-frozen as described.

The data shows a significant increase in phosphorylated Akt (Ser473) following Tiotropium (1 nM) administration with respect to the normoxic control (88.03 ± 5.62% (TB 1nM) vs. 36.17 ± 5.13% (Norm), p<0.0001, fig 5.2.1.1). Resveratrol (10 μ M) shows a significant decrease in p-Akt (Ser473) with respect to the Tiotropium (1 nM) mediated increase (65.73 ± 8.50% (Resv 10 μ M) vs. 88.03 ± 5.62% (TB 1nM), p<0.05, fig 5.2.1.1); however, resveratrol (10 μ M) administration shows a significant increase in p-Akt (Ser473) with respect to the normoxic control (65.73 ± 8.50% (Resv 10 μ M) vs. 36.17 ± 5.13% (Norm), p<0.01, fig 5.2.1.1). Tiotropium (1 nM) mediated increase in p-Akt (Ser473) with respect to the normoxic control (10 μ M) with respect to Tiotropium (1 nM) alone (61.05 ± 5.34% (TB 1nM + Resv 10 μ M) vs. 88.03 ± 5.62% (TB 1nM), p<0.01, fig 5.2.1.1); however, it shows significantly greater p-Akt (Ser473) than the normoxic control (61.05 ± 5.34% (TB 1nM + Resv 10 μ M) vs. 36.17 ± 5.13% (Norm), p<0.01, fig 5.2.1.1).





5.3 Effect of Tiotropium bromide in the presence or absence of Resveratrol on Reactive Oxygen Species as a marker of oxidative stress

Cardiomyocytes were incubated with Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{resveratrol} (10 \mu\text{M})$ and the normoxic controls respectively for a period of 4 hours before staining with CellROX green for 1 hour and analysed on the flow cytometer using the FL-1 channel. SYTOX red was used as a counter stain to differentiate dead cells.

Figure 5.3.1 shows the percentage of CellROX in cardiomyocyte treated with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M) in normoxic conditions. Tiotropium bromide (1 nM)

shows no observable difference in ROS production with respect to the normoxic control (99.52 \pm 4.67% (TB 1nM) vs. 100 \pm 0.0% (Norm), p>0.05, fig 5.4.1). However, resveratrol (10 μ M) administration shows a significant decrease in ROS production with respect to the normoxic control and Tiotropium (1 nM) (84.27 \pm 4.68% (Resv 10 μ M) vs. 100 \pm 0.0% (Norm) and 99.52 \pm 4.67% (TB 1nM), p<0.05, fig 5.3.1). Tiotropium (1 nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M) shows a significant increase in ROS production with respect to resveratrol (10 μ M) alone (98.15 \pm 10.21% (TB 1nM + Resv 10 μ M) vs. 84.27 \pm 4.68% (Resv 10 μ M), p>0.01, fig 5.3.1).



Figure 5.3.1: Percentage of CellROX production in cardiomyocytes (%) following treatment with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M) in normoxic conditions, expressed as a percentage of the normoxia control. Cardiomyocytes were treated for 4 hours in normoxic conditions with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M), apart from the normoxia control group, before staining with CellROX and analysed using the FL-1 channel of the flow cytometer. Data is presented as the Mean \pm SEM, n of 3-7. * vs. Control, p<0.05; # vs. TB (1nM), p<0.05 and \$\$ vs. Resveratrol (10 μ M), p<0.01.

5.4 Role of Tiotropium bromide in presence or absence of Resveratrol on cardiomyocyte death

Cardiomyocytes were incubated with Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{resveratrol} (10 \mu\text{M})$ and the normoxic controls respectively for a period of 4 hours before staining with Annexin-V and Propidium iodide (PI) and analysed on the flow cytometer using the FL-1 and FL-2 channels. Propidium iodide was used as a counter stain to differentiate between necrotic and dead apoptotic cells.

Figure 5.4.1 shows the percentage of total apoptosis in cardiomyocytes treated with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M) in normoxic conditions. Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) shows an observable but non-significant increase in total apoptosis with respect to the normoxic control (117.2 \pm 8.85% (TB 1 nM) vs. 100 \pm 0.0% (normoxia), p>0.05, fig 5.4.1). However, resveratrol (10 μ M) administration shows a decrease in total apoptosis with respect to Tiotropium (1 nM) (79.97 \pm 7.79% (Resv 10 μ M) vs. 117.2 \pm 8.85% (TB 1 nM), p<0.05, fig 5.4.1). Tiotropium (1 nM) + resveratrol (10 μ M) shows an observable but non-significant decrease in total apoptosis with respect to Tiotropium (1 nM) + resveratrol (10 μ M) shows an observable but non-significant decrease in total apoptosis with respect to Tiotropium (1 nM) + resveratrol (10 μ M) shows an observable but non-significant decrease in total apoptosis with respect to Tiotropium (1 nM) + resveratrol (10 μ M) shows an observable but non-significant decrease in total apoptosis with respect to Tiotropium (1 nM) alone (97.48 \pm 28.71% (TB 1nM + Resv 10 μ M) vs. 117.2 \pm 8.85% (TB 1 nM), p>0.05, fig 5.4.1). Data for necrosis did not show any significant difference between any of the groups (p>0.05, data not shown).



Figure 5.4.1: Percentage of total apoptotic cardiomyocytes (%) following treatment with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M) in normoxic conditions, expressed as a percentage of the normoxia control. Cardiomyocytes were treated for 4 hours in normoxic conditions with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M), apart from the normoxia control group, before staining with Annexin-V/Propidium iodide and analysed using the FL-1 and FL-2 channels of the flow cytometer. Data is presented as the Mean \pm SEM, n of 3-4. # vs. TB (1nM), p<0.05.
5.5 Expression profile of genes involved in Oxidative Stress following Tiotropium Bromide administration

Figure 5.5.1 shows the gene expression profile of Nfe2l2, Casp-3, Akt1, Gpx4, Hrt1, Prkc δ , Gst π 1, Prdx4, Prkc ζ , Tp53, Cyba, Atf2, Lcn2, Ldha, Prka α 1, Sod2 and Ucp2 typically involved in oxidative stress, following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) administration in normoxic conditions, all genes were normalised using the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method to normoxic control samples which represent a value of 1.

Several of the genes show statistically significant decreases with respect to the control samples. The Nfe2l2, Akt1, Tp53 and Prka α 1 show a similar significant decrease in gene expression following Tiotropium (1 nM) administration with respect to the normoxic control following GAPDH normalisation $(0.18 \pm 0.25 \text{ (Nfe2l2)}, 0.16 \pm 0.20 \text{ (Akt1)}, 0.37 \pm 0.13 \text{ (Nfe2l2)}, 0.16 \pm 0.20 \text{ (Akt1)}, 0.37 \pm 0.13 \text{ (Nfe2l2)}, 0.16 \pm 0.20 \text{ (Akt1)}, 0.37 \pm 0.13 \text{ (Nfe2l2)}, 0.16 \pm 0.20 \text{ (Akt1)}, 0.37 \pm 0.13 \text{ (Nfe2l2)}, 0.16 \pm 0.20 \text{ (Akt1)}, 0.37 \pm 0.13 \text{ (Nfe2l2)}, 0.16 \pm 0.20 \text{ (Akt1)}, 0.37 \pm 0.13 \text{ (Nfe2l2)}, 0.16 \pm 0.20 \text{ (Akt1)}, 0.37 \pm 0.13 \text{ (Nfe2l2)}, 0.16 \pm 0.20 \text{ (Akt1)}, 0.37 \pm 0.13 \text{ (Nfe2l2)}, 0.16 \pm 0.20 \text{ (Akt1)}, 0.37 \pm 0.13 \text{ (Nfe2l2)}, 0.16 \pm 0.20 \text{ (Akt1)}, 0.37 \pm 0.13 \text{ (Nfe2l2)}, 0.16 \pm 0.20 \text{ (Akt1)}, 0.37 \pm 0.13 \text{ (Nfe2l2)}, 0.16 \pm 0.20 \text{ (Akt1)}, 0.37 \pm 0.13 \text{ (Nfe2l2)}, 0.16 \pm 0.20 \text{ (Akt1)}, 0.37 \pm 0.13 \text{ (Nfe2l2)}, 0.16 \pm 0.20 \text{ (Nfe2l2)}, 0.2$ (Tp53) and 0.15 \pm 0.21 (Prka α 1) vs. 1.0 \pm 0.0, p<0.05 respectively, fig 5.5.1). The Gst π 1, Cyba, Atf2 and Lcn2 also show a significant decrease in gene expression following Tiotropium (1 nM) (0.18 \pm 0.06 (Gst π 1), 0.22 \pm 0.04 (Cyba), 0.08 \pm 0.11 (Atf2) and 0.66 \pm 0.02 (Lcn2) vs. 1.0 \pm 0.0, p<0.01, fig 5.5.1). The greatest significant decrease in gene expression is observed with the Prkcζ gene following Tiotropium (1 nM) administration with respect to normoxic controls $(0.33 \pm 0.00 \text{ (Prkc\zeta) vs. } 1.0 \pm 0.0, \text{ p} < 0.001, \text{ fig 5.5.1)}.$ Although the Gpx4, Hprt1 and Ldha genes shows an observable increase in expression, these are non-significant with respect to normoxic controls $(2.08 \pm 1.29 \text{ (Gpx4)}, 2.11 \pm 0.76 \text{ (Gpx4)})$ (Hprt1) and 3.24 ± 1.98 (Ldha) vs. 1.0 ± 0.0 , p>0.05, fig 5.5.1). Similarly, although the Casp-3, Prkc δ , Prdx4, Sod2 and Ucp2 genes show an observable decrease in expression, these are non-significant with respect to normoxic controls (0.86 \pm 0.59 (Casp-3), 0.54 \pm 0.35 $(Prkc\delta)$, 0.66 ± 0.12 (Prdx4), 0.23 ± 0.33 (Sod2) and 0.92 ± 0.61 (Ucp2) vs. 1.0 ± 0.0, p>0.05, fig 5.5.1).



Figure 5.5.1: Relative normalised gene expression levels of various genes involved in oxidative stress following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) in a whole heart Langendorff model of normoxic conditions. Whole heart tissue was obtained following 120 minutes of Tiotropium (1 nM) administration and assessed for gene expression using the Myocardial Infarction Prime PCR pathway plate. GAPDH was used as a house keeping gene to normalise the gene expression levels using the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method and compared against the normoxic control samples. Data is presented as the Mean ± SEM, n of 2. * vs. Control, p<0.05; ** vs. Control, p<0.01 and *** vs. Control, p<0.001.

Chapter 6: The role of Calcium signalling in Tiotropium mediated cardiotoxicity in *ex vivo* and *in vitro* Cardiac models

The primary aim of this study was to elucidate the cardiotoxicity of long acting muscarinic receptor antagonists, notably how Tiotropium bromide induces myocardial damage in *ex vivo* and *in vitro* models of normoxic conditions and ischaemia/reperfusion injury.

(b) Understanding the effect of Tiotropium bromide on calcium signalling ... in *ex vivo* and *in vitro* normoxic conditions via Ca²⁺/calmodulin kinase II...

6.1 Effect of the Ca²⁺ channel blocker, Nifedipine on Tiotropium mediated cardiotoxicity in Normoxic cardiac conditions

6.1.1 Haemodynamic Data Analysis in Normoxic conditions

Using a whole heart Langendorff model, the haemodynamic data for Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) administration in the presence or absence of nifedipine (1 nM) following 20 minutes of stabilisation in normoxic conditions are depicted in figures 6.1.1.1 - 6.1.1.3. Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm nifedipine (1 nM) was administered following a 20-minute stabilisation period and perfused throughout the rest of the experimental protocol for a period of 155 minutes, as described in section 2.3.3.1. The data collected for all parameters (fig 6.1.1.1 - 6.1.1.3) following Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm nifedipine (1 nM) administration were statistically analysed at 15, 25, 50, 70 and 160 minutes. The Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm nifedipine (1 nM) groups were analysed with respect to the normoxic control as well as between each treatment group.

The coronary flow (fig 6.1.1.1) data shows that the Tiotropium bromide (1nM) + nifedipine (1 nM) group shows a significant decrease in coronary flow with respect to nifedipine (1 nM) at 50 and 70 minutes (50 minutes: 80.44 ± 6.02% (TB 1nM + Nif 1nM) vs.99.98 ± 7.30% (Nif 1nM), p<0.05; 70 minutes: 71.31 ± 8.83% (TB 1nM + Nif 1nM) vs. 98.98 ± 3.00% (Nif 1nM), p<0.01, fig 6.1.1.1).



Figure 6.1.1.1: Percentage coronary flow of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm nifedipine (1 nM). Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation perfused with Krebs-Henseleit buffer, thereafter switched to Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm nifedipine (1 nM) perfusion for 155minutes. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the normoxia group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-5 for all groups. \$ TB (1nM) \pm Nifedipine (1nM) vs. Nifedipine (1nM), p<0.05; \$ TB (1nM) \pm Nifedipine (1nM), p<0.01.

Figure 6.1.1.2 shows left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) following Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm nifedipine (1 nM) administration in normoxic conditions. The data does not show any statistical significances amongst the Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm nifedipine (1 nM) groups at the time points assessed (p>0.05, fig 6.1.1.2) between the groups or with respect to the normoxic control.



Figure 6.1.1.2: Percentage left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm nifedipine (1 nM). Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation perfused with Krebs-Henseleit buffer, thereafter switched to Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm nifedipine (1 nM) perfusion for 155-minutes. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the normoxia group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-5 for all groups.

Figure 6.1.1.3 shows heart rate following administration of Tiotropium bromide $(1nM) \pm$ nifedipine (1 nM) in normoxic conditions. The data shows no statistical significance in heart rate observed with Tiotropium bromide $(1nM) \pm$ nifedipine (1 nM) and the normoxic control group (p>0.05, fig 6.1.1.3).



Figure 6.1.1.3: Percentage heart rate of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide $(1nM) \pm nifedipine (1 nM)$. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation perfused with Krebs-Henseleit buffer, thereafter switched to Tiotropium bromide $(1nM) \pm nifedipine (1 nM)$ perfusion for 155-minutes. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the normoxia group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-5 for all groups.

6.1.2 Infarct size analysis following Nifedipine administration in the presence or absence of Tiotropium bromide

This study observed the effects of Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{nifedipine} (1 \text{ nM})$ administration on infarct size (%), in normoxic conditions. Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{nifedipine} (1 \text{ nM})$ was administered following 20 minutes of stabilisation and continued for 155 minutes; hearts were subjected to TTC staining to determine infarct size.

Figure 6.1.2.1 shows the infarct/risk ratios of Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{nifedipine}$ (1 nM) with respect to normoxic (Norm) controls. The study shows that there is a significant difference in infarct size following Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{nifedipine}$ (1 nM) administration with respect to the normoxic control. Tiotropium (1 nM) shows an increase

in infarct size compared to the normoxic control $(18.69 \pm 1.79\% \text{ vs. } 10.28 \pm 1.74\%, \text{ p} < 0.001,$ fig 6.1.2.1). The administration of nifedipine (1 nM) shows no significance with respect to the normoxic control (p>0.05), however a significant decrease is observed with respect to the Tiotropium (1 nM) group (6.32 ± 0.77% (Nif 1nM) vs. $18.69 \pm 1.79\%$ (TB 1nM), p<0.001, fig 6.1.2.1). The decrease in infarct size following nifedipine (1 nM) administration is sustained upon co-administration with Tiotropium (1 nM) with respect to Tiotropium (1 nM) alone (11.32 ± 1.66% (TB 1nM + Nif 1nM) vs. $18.69 \pm 1.79\%$ (TB 1nM), p<0.01, fig 6.1.2.1).



Figure 6.1.2.1: Percentage infarct size (%) following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm nifedipine (1 nM) in normoxic conditions. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20minute period of stabilisation with Krebs-Henseleit buffer, thereafter switched to Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm nifedipine (1 nM) perfusion for 155-minutes. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the normoxia group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-5 for all groups. *** TB (1nM) vs. Norm, p<0.001; ## Nifedipine (1 nM) vs. TB (1nM), p<0.01 and ### Nifedipine (1nM) vs. TB (1nM), p<0.001.

6.2 Effect of the specific Ca²⁺/Calmodulin Kinase II inhibitor, KN-93 on Tiotropium bromide induced cardiotoxicity in Normoxia and Ischaemia/Reperfusion whole heart models

6.2.1 Haemodynamic Data Analysis

6.2.1.1 Haemodynamic in Normoxic conditions for Tiotropium ± KN-93

Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm KN-93 (400nM) was administered following a 20-minute stabilisation period and perfused throughout the rest of the experimental protocol for a period of 155 minutes, as described in section 2.3.3.1. The data for all parameters (fig 6.2.1.1.1 – 6.2.1.1.3) following Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm KN-93 (400nM) were analysed at 15, 25, 50, 70 and 160 minutes. Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm KN-93 (400nM) was compared to the normoxic control and each group.

The coronary flow (fig 6.2.1.1.1) shows that Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm KN-93 (400 nM) show no significant difference in coronary flow with respect to other groups (p>0.05, fig 6.2.1.1.1).



Figure 6.2.1.1.1: Percentage coronary flow of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide $(1nM) \pm KN-93$ (400 nM). Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation perfused with Krebs-Henseleit buffer, thereafter switched to Tiotropium bromide $(1nM) \pm KN-93$ (400 nM) perfusion for 155-minutes. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the normoxia group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-5 for all groups.

Figure 6.2.1.1.2 shows left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) following Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm KN-93 (400 nM) administration in normoxic conditions. The data shows statistical significances amongst the Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm KN-93 (400 nM) groups at 50 and 160 minutes. At 50 minutes, there is a significant increase in coronary flow following Tiotropium (1 nM) + KN-93 (400 nM) with respect to the KN-93 (400 nM) alone group (131.35 \pm 12.62% (TB 1nM + KN-93 400nM) vs. 91.75 \pm 6.36% (KN-93 400nM), p<0.05, fig 6.2.1.1.2). At 160 minutes, the Tiotropium (1 nM) + KN-93 (400 nM) group shows a significant increase in coronary flow with respect to all other groups (103.47 \pm 7.28% (TB 1nM + KN-93 400nM) vs. 83.19 \pm 2.89% (Norm, p<0.05), 76.45 \pm 6.11% (TB 1nM) and 77.14 \pm 3.01% (KN-93 400nM), p<0.01 respectively, fig 6.2.1.1.2).



Figure 6.2.1.1.2: Percentage left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm KN-93 (400 nM). Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation perfused with Krebs-Henseleit buffer, thereafter switched to Tiotropium bromide (1nM) \pm KN-93 (400 nM) perfusion for 155-minutes. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the normoxia group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-5 for all groups. * vs. Normoxia, p<0.05; ## vs. Norm+TB (1nM), p<0.01; \$ vs. Norm+KN-93 (400nM), p<0.05 and \$\$ vs. Norm+KN-93 (400nM), p<0.01.

Figure 6.2.1.1.3 shows heart rate following administration of Tiotropium bromide $(1nM) \pm$ KN-93 (400 nM) in normoxic conditions. The data shows no statistical significance in heart rate observed with Tiotropium bromide $(1nM) \pm$ KN-93 (400 nM) and the normoxic control group (p>0.05, fig 6.2.1.1.3).



Figure 6.2.1.1.3: Percentage heart rate of the mean stabilisation period following administration with Tiotropium bromide $(1nM) \pm KN-93$ (400 nM). Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation perfused with Krebs-Henseleit buffer, thereafter switched to Tiotropium bromide $(1nM) \pm KN-93$ (400 nM) perfusion for 155minutes. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the normoxia group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-5 for all groups.

6.2.1.2 Haemodynamics in Ischaemia/Reperfusion for Tiotropium ± KN-93

The effect of Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) administration in the presence or absence of KN-93 (400 nM), was assessed in conditions of myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion injury with 20 minutes of stabilisation preceding 35 minutes of regional ischaemia followed by 120 minutes of reperfusion; drug administration lasted the duration of reperfusion, as described in section 2.3.3.2.

Haemodynamic data was recorded for each study; at the end of each experiment, hearts were stained with Evans blue and retained for infarct analysis using the TTC method. Coronary flow (fig 6.2.1.2.1), left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP, fig 6.2.1.2.2) and

heart rate (fig 6.2.1.2.3) are shown for Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm KN-93 (400 nM) administration in conditions of ischaemia/reperfusion as well as the ischaemia/reperfusion control group. The data collected for all parameters (fig 6.2.1.2.1 – 6.2.1.2.3) following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm KN-93 (400 nM) administration in ischaemia/reperfusion were statistically analysed at 15, 25, 50, 70 and 160 minutes.

Figure 6.2.1.2.1 for coronary flow shows no statistical significance at the onset of reperfusion with Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{KN-93}$ (400 nM) (p>0.05) between each group and also with respect to the ischaemia/reperfusion control.



Figure 6.2.1.2.1: Percentage coronary flow of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm KN-93 (400 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation, thereafter subjected to 35 minutes of ischaemia before 120 minutes of Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm KN-93 (400 nM) throughout reperfusion. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the 'IR' (ischaemia/reperfusion) group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-5 for all groups. Figure 6.2.1.2.2 shows the left ventricular pressure recorded (LVDP) from the Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{KN-93}$ (400 nM) treatment groups. The data does not show any statistical significances amongst the Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{KN-93}$ (400 nM) groups at the time points assessed (p>0.05, fig 6.2.1.2.2) between the different groups or with respect to the ischaemia/reperfusion group.



Figure 6.2.1.2.2: Percentage left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{KN-93}$ (400 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation, thereafter subjected to 35 minutes of ischaemia before 120 minutes of Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{KN-93}$ (400 nM) throughout reperfusion. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the 'IR' (ischaemia/reperfusion) group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-5 for all groups.

Figure 6.2.1.2.3 shows heart rate following administration of Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm$ KN-93 (400 nM) following ischaemia/reperfusion. The data shows no statistical significance

in heart rate observed with Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{KN-93}$ (400 nM) and the ischaemia/reperfusion control group (p>0.05, fig 6.2.1.2.3).



Figure 6.2.1.2.3: Percentage heart rate of the mean stabilisation period following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm KN-93 (400 nM) in ischaemia/reperfusion. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation, thereafter subjected to 35 minutes of ischaemia before 120 minutes of Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm KN-93 (400 nM) throughout reperfusion. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the 'IR' (ischaemia/reperfusion) group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-5 for all groups.

6.2.2 Infarct to Risk analysis of Tiotropium bromide in the presence or absence of KN-93 6.2.2.1 Infarct to Risk analysis in Normoxic conditions for Tiotropium ± KN-93

This study observed the effects of Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{KN-93}$ (400 nM) administration on infarct size (%), in normoxic conditions. Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm$

KN-93 (400 nM) was administered following 20 minutes of stabilisation and continued for 155 minutes; hearts were subjected to TTC staining to determine infarct size.

Figure 6.2.2.1.1 shows the infarct size of Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{KN-93}$ (400 nM) with respect to normoxic (Norm) controls. The study shows that there is a significant difference in infarct size following Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{KN-93}$ (400 nM) administration with respect to the normoxic control. Tiotropium (1 nM) shows an increase in infarct size compared to the normoxic control (18.69 ± 1.79% vs. 10.28 ± 1.74%, p<0.001, fig 6.2.2.1.1). The administration of KN-93 (400 nM) shows no significance with respect to the normoxic control (p>0.05), however a significant decrease is observed with respect to the Tiotropium (1 nM) group (9.50 ± 0.90% (KN-93 400nM) vs. 18.69 ± 1.79% (TB 1nM), p<0.01, fig 6.2.2.1.1). Tiotropium (1 nM) + KN-93 (400 nM) administration also shows a significant decrease in infarct size with respect to Tiotropium (1 nM) (12.81 ± 2.81% (TB 1nM + KN-93 400nM) vs. 18.69 ± 1.79% (TB 1nM), p<0.05, fig 6.2.2.1.1).



Figure 6.2.2.1.1: Percentage infarct to risk ratios (%) following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm KN-93 (400 nM) in normoxic conditions. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20minute period of stabilisation with Krebs-Henseleit buffer, thereafter switched to Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm KN-93 (400 nM) perfusion for 155-minutes. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the normoxia group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-5 for all groups. *** TB (1nM) vs. Norm p<0.001; # TB (1nM) + KN-93 (400nM) vs. TB (1nM), p<0.05 and ## KN-93 (400nM) vs. TB (1nM), p<0.01

6.2.2.2 Infarct to Risk analysis in Ischaemia/Reperfusion for Tiotropium ± KN-93

This study observed the effects of Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{KN-93}$ (400 nM) administration on infarct to risk ratio (%), in an *in vitro* model of myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion injury. Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{KN-93}$ (400 nM) was administered at the onset of reperfusion and continued throughout the 120-minute period following 20 minutes of stabilisation and 35 minutes of regional ischaemia as described in section 2.3.2.2, followed by Evans blue dye staining to delineate ischaemic zones, and subjected to TTC staining to determine infarct size to risk ratio.

Figure 6.2.2.2.1 shows the infarct/risk ratios of Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{KN}-93$ (400 nM) with respect to the ischaemia/reperfusion (IR) control. The study showed that Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) administration results in a significant increase in infarct to risk

ratio with respect to the ischaemia/reperfusion control ($65.42 \pm 3.00\%$ (TB 1nM) vs. 50.85 ± 3.93 (IR), p<0.01, fig 6.2.2.2.1). There is a significant decrease in infarct to risk ratio with KN-93 (400 nM) administration with respect to Tiotropium (1 nM) ($48.20 \pm 4.62\%$ (KN-93 400nM) vs. $65.42 \pm 3.00\%$ (TB 1nM), p<0.05, fig 6.2.2.2.1). Tiotropium (1 nM) + KN-93 (400 nM) administration also shows a significance decrease in infarct to risk ratio with respect to Tiotropium (1 nM) alone ($47.36 \pm 3.88\%$ (TB 1nM + KN-93 400nM) vs. $65.42 \pm 3.00\%$ (TB 1nM), p<0.05, fig 6.2.2.2.1).



Figure 6.2.2.2.1: Percentage infarct to risk ratios (%) following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M) in ischaemia/reperfusion. Langendorff hearts were subjected to a 20-minute period of stabilisation, thereafter subjected to 35 minutes of ischaemia before 120 minutes of Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm resveratrol (10 μ M) throughout reperfusion. All groups were subjected to drug treatment apart from the 'IR' (ischaemia/reperfusion) group. Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 4-5 for all groups. ** vs. IR p<0.01 and #vs. IR+TB (1nM), p<0.05.

6.3 Effect of Tiotropium Bromide on p-Akt _(Ser473) expression in the presence or absence of KN-93 in Normoxic conditions

6.3.1 Effect of Tiotropium bromide administration on Phospho-Akt (Ser473) expression in the presence or absence of KN-93

P-Akt (Ser473) activation was assessed using western blotting for phosphorylated Akt (Ser473) in cardiac tissue to establish the role of Akt in Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm KN-93 (400 nM) mediated cardiotoxicity. Figure 6.3.1.1 shows the expression pattern observed following normoxia and Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm KN-93 (400 nM). All drugs were administered following stabilisation in a modified Langendorff model, for a period of 155 minutes; hearts were immediately removed following the end of the protocol period and the left ventricle was excised and snap-frozen as described.

The data shows a significant increase in phosphorylated Akt (Ser473) following Tiotropium (1 nM) administration with respect to the normoxic control (88.03 ± 5.62% (TB 1nM) vs. 36.17 ± 5.13% (Norm), p<0.0001, fig 6.3.1.1). KN-93 (400 nM) shows a significant decrease in p-Akt (Ser473) with respect to the Tiotropium (1 nM) mediated increase (57.21 ± 4.69% (KN-93 400nM) vs. 88.03 ± 5.62% (TB 1nM), p<0.01, fig 6.3.1.1); however, KN-93 (400 nM) administration shows a significant increase in p-Akt (Ser473) with respect to the normoxic control (57.21 ± 4.69% (KN-93 400nM) vs. 36.17 ± 5.13% (Norm), p<0.05, fig 6.3.1.1). Tiotropium (1 nM) mediated increase in p-Akt (Ser473) is attenuated upon co-administration of KN-93 (400 nM) with respect to Tiotropium (1 nM) alone (60.51 ± 4.92% (TB 1nM + KN-93 400nM) vs. 88.03 ± 5.62% (TB 1nM), p<0.01, fig 6.3.1.1); however, it shows significantly greater p-Akt (Ser473) than the normoxic control (60.51 ± 4.92% (TB 1nM + KN-93 400nM) vs. 36.17 ± 5.13% (Norm), p<0.01, fig 6.3.1.1).



Figure 6.3.1.1: Percentage expression (%) of phosphorylated Akt (Ser473) as a percentage of total Akt following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm KN-93 (400 nM) in normoxic conditions. Langendorff hearts were perfused with either Krebs-Henseleit buffer (Norm) or Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm KN-93 (400 nM). Values plotted signify the Mean \pm SEM, derived from an n of 3 for all groups. * vs. Norm, p<0.05; ** vs. Norm, p<0.01; **** vs. Norm, p<0.0001; ## vs. TB (1nM), p<0.01.

6.4 Effect of Tiotropium Bromide on the expression of phosphorylated Ca²⁺/Calmodulin Kinase II (CaMKII) (Thr286) in the presence or absence of KN-93

CaMKII activation was assessed using western blotting for phosphorylated CaMKII (Thr286) in cardiac tissue to establish the role of CaMKII in Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) mediated cardiotoxicity \pm KN-93 (400 nM). Figure 6.4.1 shows the expression pattern of p-CaMKII (Thr286) observed following normoxia and Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm KN-93 (400 nM). All drugs were administered following stabilisation in a modified Langendorff setup, for a period of 155 minutes; hearts were immediately removed following the end of the protocol period and the left ventricle was excised and snap-frozen as described. The data shows a significant increase in phosphorylated CaMKII (Thr286) following Tiotropium (1 nM) administration with respect to the normoxic control (86.46 ± 8.43% (TB 1nM) vs. 43.73 ± 5.71% (Norm), p<0.0001, fig 6.4.1). KN-93 (400 nM) shows a significant decrease in p-CaMKII (Thr286) with respect to Tiotropium (1 nM) (51.84 ± 8.11% (KN-93 400nM) vs. 86.46 ± 8.43% (TB 1nM), p<0.01, fig 6.3.2.1). The increase in p-CaMKII (Thr286) observed with Tiotropium (1 nM) is attenuated upon co-administration with KN-93 (400 nM) with respect to Tiotropium (1 nM) alone (59.58 ± 8.94% (TB 1nM + KN-93 400nM) vs. 86.46 ± 8.43% (TB 1nM), p<0.05, fig 6.3.2.1).





6.5 Release of intracellular Ca²⁺ in cardiomyocytes following Tiotropium bromide administration in the presence or absence of KN-93

Cardiomyocytes were incubated with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm KN-93 (400 nM), amiloride (100 mM) as a negative control, ionomycin (1 μ M) as a positive control and the normoxic controls respectively for a period of 4 hours before staining with the Ca²⁺ indicator, Fluo-3AM and analysed on the flow cytometer using the FL-1 channel.

Figure 6.5.1 shows the percentage of Fluo-3AM as an indicator of intracellular Ca²⁺ in cardiomyocytes treated with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) ± KN-93 (400 nM) in normoxic conditions. Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) shows a significant increase in Fluo-3AM with respect to the normoxic control (130.63 ± 1.65% (TB 1nM) vs. 100 ± 0.0% (Norm), p<0.05, fig 6.5.1). KN-93 (400 nM) administration shows an observable but non-significant decrease in Fluo-3AM with respect to Tiotropium (1 nM) alone, Tiotropium (1 nM) + KN-93 (400 nM) and ionomycin (1 μ M) (108.01 ± 8.59% (KN-93 400nM) vs. 130.63 ± 1.65% (TB 1nM), 124.34 ± 22.30% (TB 1nM + KN-93 400nM) and 135.69 ± 9.17% (Iono 1 μ M), p>0.05, fig 6.5.1). Amiloride (100 mM) shows a significant decrease in Fluo-3AM with respect to Tiotropium (1 nM) alone and TB (1 nM) + KN-93 (400 nM) (93.92 ± 10.01% (Amil 100mM) vs. 130.63 ± 1.65% (TB 1nM) and 124.34 ± 22.30% (TB 1nM + KN-93 400nM), p<0.05, fig 6.5.1). Ionomycin (1 μ M) shows a significant increase in Fluo-3AM with respect to the normoxic control and amiloride (100 mM) groups (135.69 ± 9.17% (Iono 1 μ M) vs. 100 ± 0.0% (Norm) and 93.92 ± 10.01% (Amil 100mM), p<0.01, fig 6.5.1).



Treatment Groups

Figure 6.5.1: Percentage fluorescence of Fluo-3AM in cardiomyocytes (%) following treatment with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm KN-93 (400 nM) in normoxic conditions, expressed as a percentage of the normoxia control. Cardiomyocytes were treated for 4 hours in normoxic conditions with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm KN-93 (400 nM), apart from the normoxia control group, before staining with Fluo-3AM and analysed using the FL-1 channel of the flow cytometer. Data is presented as the Mean \pm SEM, n of 3-6. * vs. Control, p<0.05; ** vs. Control, p<0.01; # vs. TB (1nM), p<0.05; \$ vs. TB (1nM) + KN-93 (400nM), p<0.05.

6.6 Role of Tiotropium bromide in presence or absence of KN-93 on cardiomyocyte

death

Cardiomyocytes were incubated with Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{KN-93}$ (400 nM) and the normoxic controls respectively for a period of 4 hours before staining with Annexin-V and Propidium iodide (PI) and analysed on the flow cytometer using the FL-1 and FL-2 channels. Propidium iodide was used as a counter stain to differentiate between necrotic and dead apoptotic cells.

Figure 6.6.1 shows the percentage of total apoptosis in cardiomyocyte treated with Tiotropium bromide $(1 \text{ nM}) \pm \text{KN-93}$ (400 nM) in normoxic conditions. Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) shows an observable but non-significant increase in total apoptosis with respect to the normoxic control $(117.2 \pm 8.85\% \text{ (TB 1 nM}) \text{ vs. } 100 \pm 0.0\% \text{ (normoxia)}, \text{ p>0.05, fig 6.6.1}).$ KN-93 (400 nM) administration does not show any significant change in total apoptosis with respect to the other groups (106.83 ± 14.94% (KN-93 400nM) vs. 100 ± 0.0% (Norm), 117.2 ± 8.85% (TB 1 nM) and 107.16 ± 14.02% (TB 1 nM + KN-93 400nM), p>0.05, fig 6.6.1). Although the KN-93 (400 nM) and Tiotropium (1 nM) + KN-93 (400 nM) groups show an observable decrease with respect to Tiotropium (1 nM), this is not significant (p>0.05, fig 6.6.1). Data for necrosis did not show any significant difference between any of the groups (p>0.05, data not shown).



Treatment Groups

Figure 6.6.1: Percentage of total apoptotic cardiomyocytes (%) following treatment with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm KN-93 (400 nM) in normoxic conditions, expressed as a percentage of the normoxia control. Cardiomyocytes were treated for 4 hours in normoxic conditions with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) \pm KN-93 (400 nM), apart from the normoxia control group, before staining with Annexin-V/Propidium iodide and analysed using the FL-1 and FL-2 channels of the flow cytometer. Data is presented as the Mean \pm SEM, n of 3-4.

Chapter 7: General Discussion

Chapter 3 Summary - Pharmacological Profiling of Long Acting Muscarinic Receptor Antagonists (LAMAs)

This chapter observed the effect of Long acting muscarinic receptor antagonists (LAMAs) in ischaemia/reperfusion injury. LAMAs show little effect on haemodynamic function in ex vivo models of myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion injury; all four LAMAs show no statistical significance with respect to the ischaemia/reperfusion control nor amongst concentrations. However, analysis of infarct size to risk ratio showed a significant increase in infarct size with administration of Aclidinium (10 – 1 nM), Tiotropium (10 μ M – 0.1 nM) and Umeclidinium bromide (100 - 1 nM) at reperfusion amongst various concentrations. Glycopyrronium bromide (10 μ M – 1 nM) did not show any statistical significance with infarct size or haemodynamic parameters. In normoxic conditions, Tiotropium bromide (10 - 0.1 nM) significantly increases infarct size with respect to the normoxic control; haemodynamics (coronary flow and left ventricular developed pressure) also show a significant change with respect to normoxic controls and between concentrations. Analysis of genes associated with myocardial infarction show a decrease in pro-apoptotic genes (Bax and caspase-3) and a decrease in genes associated with mitochondrial biosynthesis with Tiotropium bromide at 1 nM. Analysis of apoptotic cell death show significance only with Tiotropium at 10 μ M, with a concentration dependent trend in cell death.

Chapter 4 Summary - Role of Adjunctive Therapies in Reversing Tiotropium Mediated Cardiotoxicity

This chapter investigated the effect of several cardioprotective therapies on abrogating Tiotropium bromide mediated infarct size and the effect on various signalling pathways. The muscarinic agonist, acetylcholine (100 nM) shows little change in haemodynamic function when administered alone in normoxic conditions, however lower the coronary flow when combined with Tiotropium. Acetylcholine significantly reduces infarct size when co-administered with Tiotropium bromide, this is also observed with phosphorylated Akt where Tiotropium shows a significant increase in Akt phosphorylation however this is abrogated upon acetylcholine co-administration. Although acetylcholine dampens infarct size in ischaemia/reperfusion and normoxic conditions and reduces Akt phosphorylation, there is no protective effect observed upon apoptosis when co-administered with Tiotropium. The PI3K inhibitor was also used to determine the role of the PI3K-Akt signalling pathway in Tiotropium bromide mediated cardiotoxicity. Wortmannin (100 nM) showed no significant effect on haemodynamic parameters, interestingly wortmannin did not affect Tiotropium bromide mediated infarct size but significantly attenuated Akt phosphorylation, alone and co-administered with Tiotropium. Wortmannin also significantly abrogated apoptotic cell death, alone and combined with Tiotropium. The caspase-3 inhibitor, Z-DEVD-FMK (70/140 nM) was also investigated to understand the role of caspase-3 activation in Tiotropium bromide mediated cardiotoxicity. When administered alone, Z-DEVD-FMK showed an increase in coronary flow in normoxic conditions; additionally, Z-DEVD-FMK abrogated infarct size under ischaemia/reperfusion and normoxic conditions comparably, attenuated apoptotic cell death and showed a significant reversal in Tiotropium bromide mediated cleaved caspase-3. Lastly, the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (mPTP) inhibitor cyclosporin A (200 nM) was found to increase coronary flow in ischaemia/reperfusion when administered alone and significantly attenuated infarct size in ischaemia/reperfusion and normoxic conditions, alone and combined with Tiotropium.

Chapter 5 Summary – Role of reactive oxygen species in Tiotropium mediated signalling in *ex vivo* and *in vitro* Cardiac models

The effect of the dietary antioxidant, resveratrol (10 µM) was also investigated on Tiotropium bromide mediated cardiotoxicity. Resveratrol administration showed an increase in coronary flow in normoxic conditions and showed a significant decrease in infarct size when co-administered with Tiotropium bromide in ischaemia/reperfusion and normoxic conditions. Resveratrol also showed a decrease in Akt phosphorylation compared to Tiotropium alone, however when combined a greater decrease in Akt was observed. Interestingly, analysis of reactive oxygen species (ROS) production in cardiomyocytes showed no effect on ROS following Tiotropium bromide. Although resveratrol showed a significant decrease in ROS, this was reversed upon co-administration with Tiotropium bromide. Similarly, resveratrol showed a significant decrease in apoptosis, however coadministration showed a reversal of this protective effect. Tiotropium bromide showed a decrease in genes associated with cellular anti-oxidant machinery such as glutathione S transferase (Gst π 1) and nuclear factor like 2 (Nfe2l2) and saw a non-significant increase in lactate dehydrogenase A (Ldha).

Chapter 6 Summary – The role of Calcium signalling in Tiotropium mediated cardiotoxicity in *ex vivo* and *in vitro* Cardiac models

The effect of the L-type calcium inhibitor, nifedipine (1 nM) and the calmodulin kinase II inhibitor, KN-93 (400 nM) were investigated on Tiotropium bromide mediated cardiotoxicity. Nifedipine showed a decrease in coronary flow when co-administered with Tiotropium bromide in normoxic conditions, whereas KN-93 showed a significant increase in left ventricular developed pressure following co-administration with Tiotropium bromide in normoxic conditions. Nifedipine showed a substantial attenuation of infarct size when administered alone and combined with Tiotropium; although KN-93 abrogated infarct size, there was a greater reduction in infarct size in ischaemia/reperfusion however co-administration in both conditions showed a comparable decrease in infarct size. KN-93 showed increased Akt phosphorylation compared to normoxic controls, however this was dampened in comparison to Tiotropium mediated Akt phosphorylation. Similarly, CaMKII phosphorylation was increased with Tiotropium bromide administration however coadministration with KN-93 showed some abrogation of CaMKII activation. Interestingly, Tiotropium bromide saw an increase in Fluo-3AM fluorescence, a marker of Ca²⁺ release, however KN-93 did not show any significant change when administered alone or combined, this was also observed with apoptotic cardiomyocytes.

General Summary

Langendorff models mimic drug effects at an organ level (Bell, Mocanu and Yellon 2011, lgić 1996, Skrzypiec-Spring et al. 2007); assessing myocardial responses in the absence of confounding factors (Liao, Podesser and Lim 2012). Left ventricular pressure and contractility are often seen to be affected by drugs, therefore contractility assessment is an important aspect of toxicology (Sarazan, Kroehle and Main 2012). Drug-induced cardiotoxicity includes the inhibition of the <u>h</u>uman <u>E</u>ther-à-go-go-<u>R</u>elated <u>G</u>ene (hERG), which results in prolonged QT syndrome, associated with Torsade de Pointes (TdP) (Mordwinkin, Burridge and Wu 2013). Doxorubicin is known to cause cardiotoxicity (Fisher et al. 2005, Ganey et al. 1991, Gharanei et al. 2013a, Gharanei et al. 2013b, Hahn, Lenihan

and Ky 2014, Hole et al. 2013); as well as the long- and short-acting β_2 receptor agonists (LABA/SABA) salmeterol and salbutamol (Prevost et al. 1997), and the short acting muscarinic receptor antagonist (SAMA), Ipratropium bromide (Harvey, Hussain and Maddock 2014). Long acting muscarinic receptor antagonists (LAMAs) have no previous link to cardiotoxicity; however, the meta-analysis conducted by Singh et al. (2008) highlighted the potential cardiovascular risks associated with the use of LAMAs such as, Tiotropium bromide (Cazzola et al. 2017a, Mathioudakis et al. 2014, Singh, Loke and Furberg 2008).

Oxidative stress and dysfunctional calcium homeostasis are known factors of drug induced cardiotoxicity (Fearnley, Roderick and Bootman 2011, Orrenius, Gogvadze and Zhivotovsky 2015). Like oxidative stress, calcium signalling functions as a switch, where a shift in the balance of intracellular calcium favours abhorrent calcium signalling, or oxidants in the case of oxidative stress (Cunningham and Gotlieb 2005, Ermak and Davies 2002). Cardioprotective strategies protect the heart from damage (Heusch 2013); including targeting mitochondria (Garlid et al. 2003, Garlid et al. 2009, Halestrap, Clarke and Javadov 2004, Oldenburg et al. 2002), survival kinases (Fujio et al. 2000, Hausenloy and Yellon 2004, Miyamoto, Murphy and Brown 2008, Yu et al. 2007) and acetylcholine mediated muscarinic signalling (Kakinuma et al. 2005, Krieg et al. 2004, Pan et al. 2012, Qin, Downey and Cohen 2003, Sun et al. 2010, Wang et al. 2012c). The current study focuses on the cardiotoxic capabilities of LAMAs, with emphasis on Tiotropium bromide mediated cardiotoxicity and the pathways involved.

7.1 Effect of long acting muscarinic receptor antagonist (LAMA) administration in an *in vitro* model of myocardial Ischaemia/Reperfusion injury

The data presented indicates the directly toxic effects of long acting muscarinic receptor antagonist (LAMA) administration in a cardiac model of ischaemia/reperfusion injury, with respect to infarct size to risk ratio. Conversely, there is no significant difference observed in haemodynamic function following the administration of LAMAs, with respect to the ischaemia/reperfusion control and between concentrations. Administration of Aclidinium, Tiotropium and Umeclidinium bromides throughout the reperfusion period in conditions of ischaemia/reperfusion show enhanced infarct to risk ratio with respect to ischaemia/reperfusion controls; this enhancement is not seen following the administration of Glycopyrronium bromide. Aclidinium bromide (10 nM - 1 nM) administration shows that the lowest concentrations show the greatest infarct development with respect to the ischaemia/reperfusion controls. Umeclidinium bromide $(1 \mu M - 1 \text{ nM})$ shows decreasing infarct development with increasing concentration and all concentrations of Tiotropium bromide $(10 \mu M - 0.1 \text{ nM})$ shows similar infarct size to risk ratio.

Muscarinic receptors are thought to have a role in bladder smooth muscle contractility through stimulation, therefore use of antagonists could potentially affect aspects of cardiac contractility (Wang, Luthin and Ruggieri 1995). Activation of cardiac muscarinic receptors leads to a decrease in heart rate through slowing of the sinoatrial node (Brodde and Michel 1999, Harvey 2012). However, the present study shows very little effect on the contractile and haemodynamic function of Langendorff hearts, following LAMA administration throughout reperfusion. A study showed that electrical stimulation of vagal nerves prevented ventricular tachycardia, fibrillation and death; this protective effect was abrogated with the use of atropine (Mioni et al. 2005). Aside from the role of M₂ and M₃ receptors in cardiac contractility (Brodde and Michel 1999, Hornigold et al. 2003, Matsui et al. 2002a, Wang, Shi and Wang 2004, Wang et al. 2001), the activation of M₃ receptors is known to results in cardioprotection following ischaemia/reperfusion injury (Roy et al. 2015). Therefore, the inhibition via antagonists of this receptor subtype is likely to affect cardiomyocyte damage as it would block the cardioprotective effects.

Ischaemia is a stress factor on the heart, arterial occlusion leads to damaging consequences on the myocardium, resulting in depleted contractile function (Ibáñez et al. 2015). Animal models are a useful tool in studying the various effects of ischaemia/reperfusion injury (Bell et al. 2016), in a controlled model where the duration of ischaemia and reperfusion can be set; most studies suggest a minimum reperfusion period of 60 minutes, to observe triphenyltetrazolium (TTC) mediated infarct size (Herr, Aune and Menick 2015, Lateef, Al-Masri and Alyahya 2017, Rossello et al. 2016). Induction of ischaemia results in depressed coronary flow and LVDP, with function returned upon reperfusion (Bell, Mocanu and Yellon 2011, Herr, Aune and Menick 2015, Skrzypiec-Spring et al. 2007). Interestingly, the use of intraventricular balloons to record LVDP, may act as a preconditioning effect on the heart, through survival kinases such as JNK, ERK1/2 and p38-MAPK and have an antiarrhythmogenic effect due to localised inflation-induced ischaemia, which may mask experimental effects (Stensløkken et al. 2009, Wilder et al. 2016).

Ischaemia/reperfusion injury occurs following obstructive blood flow to the myocardium, resulting in ischaemic insult, which can only be minimised through reperfusion, this itself causes paradoxical injury (Dhalla and Duhamel 2007, Ibáñez et al. 2015, Murphy and Steenbergen 2008). Oxidative stress through the production of mitochondrial free radicals (Chouchani et al. 2014) and elevated calcium are essential mediators of ischaemia/reperfusion injury (Cadenas 2018), resulting in mPTP opening mediated cell death (Ibáñez et al. 2015, Ong et al. 2015c, Turer and Hill 2010). Figure 7.1.1 shows mitochondrial reactive oxygen species (ROS) generation following ischaemia/reperfusion injury. Different forms of cardiomyocyte death are thought to contribute to infarct size development following ischaemia/reperfusion injury, mediated by intracellular Ca²⁺ overload and ROS generation (Hausenloy and Yellon 2015, Hausenloy and Yellon 2013, Ibáñez et al. 2015). The abhorrent signalling of calcium and ROS during the induction of ischaemia and subsequent reperfusion are known to affect infarct size, but not necessarily haemodynamic function, which can be restored following reperfusion in animal models (Pfeffer et al. 1979), or percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) in patients with myocardial ischaemia (Bulluck, Yellon and Hausenloy 2016, Hausenloy and Yellon 2013). The short acting muscarinic receptor antagonist, Ipratropium bromide exacerbates ischaemia/reperfusion injury in a Langendorff model (Harvey, Hussain and Maddock 2014) and causes suicidal cell death in erythrocytes via Ca²⁺ (Shaik et al. 2012). These indicate that the LAMAs which exacerbate ischaemia/reperfusion injury may also utilise pathways associated with ROS and Ca²⁺ in mediating cardiotoxicity.



Figure 7.1.1: The role of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in mitochondria following ischaemia/reperfusion injury. The opening of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (mPTP) is inhibited via the acidic pH in ischaemia but initiated following reperfusion through the combined effect of Ca²⁺ overload and ROS. Succinate plays an important role in the generation of ROS in early reperfusion. CsA, cyclosporin A; CyP-D, cyclophilin D; GPX, glutathione peroxidase; IMM, inner mitochondrial membrane; IMS, intermembrane space; mitoK_{str}, mitochondrial ATP-sensitive K-channels; OMM, outer mitochondrial membrane; RET, reverse electron transport; SOD, superoxide dismutase; TRX, thioredoxin (Cadenas 2018).

Although Aclidinium, Tiotropium and Umeclidinium bromides exacerbate ischaemia/reperfusion injury through infarct size to risk ratio, Glycopyrronium bromide does not show any significance in infarct size to risk ratio with respect to the control. All LAMAs carry the risk of cardiovascular adverse effects such as tachycardia, due to the presence of muscarinic receptors in the heart (Buhl and Banerji 2012); functional studies have shown Glycopyrronium bromide to exert greater safety and stability than Tiotropium bromide, with a greater therapeutic index for bradycardia and hypotension. Tiotropium bromide also showed greater inhibition of M₂ receptors compared to Glycopyrronium bromide (Trifilieff et al. 2015); the latter is thought to affect tachycardia less and block bradycardia more effectively than atropine (Gomez, Bellido and Sanchez de la Cuesta 1995). In terms of onset of action, both Glycopyrronium and Aclidinium bromide are quicker than Tiotropium bromide and are recommended when immediate effect is desired for COPD symptoms (Cazzola and Page 2014). However, Glycopyrronium bromide has a better safety profile when compared to Tiotropium bromide (Trifilieff et al. 2015), and thus supports the observations of this study with infarct size to risk ratio.

These studies support previous clinical observations which may suggest the role of Tiotropium bromide mediated cardiac adverse effects in COPD patients (Jara, Wentworth and Lanes 2012). This propagates the need for clinical studies with emphasis on cardiac safety monitoring factors other than functional parameters, particularly the potential use of sensitive biomarker known to reflect cardiac damage which may not be observed with function alone (Ibáñez et al. 2015).

7.2 Effect of Tiotropium bromide administration in normoxic cardiac conditions on haemodynamics and infarct size

The administration of Tiotropium bromide (10 nM - 0.1 nM) in normoxic hearts results in an increase in infarct size with respect to controls, when administered following stabilisation. Although there is an increase in infarct size, the severity of cardiac damage assessed by infarct size is not as great as known cardiotoxic therapies such as anti-cancer drugs (Duran et al. 2014, Force, Krause and Van Etten 2007, Hahn, Lenihan and Ky 2014). There are also significant differences observed with coronary flow and LVDP following administration of Tiotropium bromide. This implies that in otherwise 'normal' cardiac conditions, the inhibition of muscarinic receptors results in altered cardiac function and increased cardiomyocyte damage observed as an increase in infarct size.

Muscarinic signalling is known to play a role in cardiac function through the parasympathetic nervous system (Brodde and Michel 1999). Cardiac muscarinic receptors are involved in the chronotropic regulation of the heart, specifically via the M₂ receptor subtype, however M₃ receptors are also thought to play a role in cardiac function (Gordan,

Gwathmey and Xie 2015). Parasympathetic innervation modulates the cardiac pacemaker function through regulation of the G protein gated inwardly rectifying potassium channel (GIRK) I_{KACh} and through the cardiac 'funny' current I_f (Baruscotti, Bucchi and DiFrancesco 2005, Dhein, Van Koppen and Brodde 2001). M₂ receptors are the predominant subtype associated with the heart and control of heart rate, with some role in atrioventricular node conduction (Harvey 2012). In bladder smooth muscle however, the M₃ receptor mediates contractility through the G_i and G_{q/11} sub-families (Wang, Luthin and Ruggieri 1995). Muscarinic agonists increase cardiac contractility through protein kinase C (PKC) and PKA mediated mechanisms (Bers 2002, Harvey and Belevych 2003, Patane 2014). Figure 7.2.1 shows a schematic representing adrenergic and muscarinic receptor mediated excitation coupling. It is thought that stimulation of cardiac muscarinic receptors inhibits the 'funny' current via the pertussis sensitive $G_{\alpha i/0}$ protein, resulting in inhibition of adenylyl cyclase (Baruscotti, Bucchi and DiFrancesco 2005, Brodde and Michel 1999, Dhein, Van Koppen and Brodde 2001).



Figure 7.2.1: Agonist binding to 6 adrenergic receptors increases contraction and results in a decrease in intracellular Ca^{2+} concentrations through cAMP. M_2 receptors can also contribute to cAMP increase or decrease depending on β_1 or β_2 adrenergic receptor costimulation (Bers 2002). AC – adenylyl cyclase, PKA – protein kinase A, Reg – PKA regulatory subunit, cAMP – cyclic adenosine monophosphate, RyR – ryanodine receptors, SR – sarcoplasmic reticulum, ATP – adenosine trisphosphate, PLB – phospholambans, Ca – calcium, GTP – guanosine trisphosphate, β AR – β adrenergic receptor, M_2 rec – muscarinic M_2 receptor, AKAP – A kinase anchoring protein.

The cardiac 'funny' current (If) generated by cAMP-activated ion channel 4 (Hyperpolarisation-activated cyclic nucleotide gated channel 4 – HCN4) is essential for the heart's pacemaker activity; it is regulated by cAMP activity and therefore can be inhibited by M₂ receptor stimulation (Perde et al. 2015, Ravagli et al. 2016). The current is responsible for pacemaker depolarisation (Accili et al. 2002, DiFrancesco 2010, Perde et al. 2015), leading to a change in heart rate. Antagonism at the muscarinic receptor could potentially reverse the effect of the If current, which is normally inhibited through a decrease in cAMP from M₂ stimulation (Baruscotti, Bucchi and DiFrancesco 2005). Thus, the If current presents an opportunity to understand the effect of Tiotropium bromide on cardiac function.

M₃ receptors are coupled to G_q leading to phospholipase C mediated production of diacylglycerol (DAG) and inositol trisphosphate (IP_3), leading to calcium release and activation of PKC (Hornigold et al. 2003, Luo, Busillo and Benovic 2008). Whilst M₂ receptors dominate in the heart, M₃ receptors are known to influence atrial inotropy and are also instrumental in cardioprotection following ischaemia/reperfusion injury (Pan et al. 2012, Roy et al. 2015, Wang et al. 2012c, Zhao et al. 2010a), and in stress responses particularly in M₂ KO mice (Tomankova et al. 2015). A key mediator for GPCR signalling, is the G protein coupled receptor kinase (GRK) (Luo, Busillo and Benovic 2008), these activate following agonist occupied or stimulated GPCRs; GRK2 is ubiquitously expressed including the heart and couples to $\beta_{1/2}$ adrenoreceptors as well as $M_{2/3}$ receptors (Bünemann and Hosey 1999, Luo, Busillo and Benovic 2008, Rockman, Koch and Lefkowitz 2002). GPCRs undergo sensitisation involving the action of GRKs and β arrestins, which lead to GPCR phosphorylation following agonist binding, hindering GPCR function; other kinases such as PKA, PKC and c-Src phosphorylate GRKs; interestingly Ca²⁺ bound calmodulin inhibits GRK2 activity (Kohout and Lefkowitz 2003). Figure 7.2.2 depicts the signalling of muscarinic receptors with GRK interaction.

Agonist mediated activation of M₂ receptors leads to activation of G protein gated K⁺ channels in atrial cardiomyocytes, this response occurs through the βγ subunit leading to receptor de-sensitisation; other G_i coupled receptors are also de-sensitised as a result (Bünemann and Hosey 1999). Carbachol is a muscarinic receptor agonist which shows the involvement of multiple mediators in downstream signalling, following activation of G_q leading to PLC mediated breakdown of PIP₂ into DAG and IP₃. IP₃ then binds to ER based IP₃R to result in an increase in cytosolic Ca²⁺, whereas DAG recruits PKC and activates the Ras-Raf-MEK-ERK1/2 pathway (Luo, Busillo and Benovic 2008). GRKs and arrestins modulate this signalling, specifically GRK6 which is regulated more sensitively by Ca²⁺- calmodulin (Bünemann and Hosey 1999). GRK6 mediated M₃ receptor phosphorylation leads to the recruitment of arrestins and therefore terminates subsequent GPCR activation. Arrestins recruit diacylglycerol kinase (DGK) to terminate PKC mediated signalling; GRKs and arrestins inhibit both arms of muscarinic signalling (Luo, Busillo and Benovic 2008). The involvement of GRKs and arrestins presents another facet to agonist bound muscarinic signalling, particularly in the absence of external stress factors such as

ischaemia/reperfusion injury (Johnson, Scott and Pitcher 2004), without GRK signalling there is an alteration in GPCR response (Walker et al. 1999); the binding of antagonists may also modulate GPCR activity through alternative GRK/arrestin mechanisms. This presents a novel explanation for the effects observed following Tiotropium bromide binding at cardiac muscarinic receptors.



Figure 7.2.2: Carbachol binding to muscarinic receptors may result in the activation of two different signalling pathways, via arrestin mediated signalling. The schematic above depicts the mechanism of muscarinic receptors following carbachol binding in A) interaction of GPCR to G_q subunit mediated signalling and B) GRK and arrestin mediated signalling (Luo, Busillo and Benovic 2008).
It should be noted, that whilst Tiotropium bromide is often referred to as an antagonist of muscarinic receptors (with higher specificity for M_3 receptors), studies also refer to the drug as an inverse agonist (Casarosa et al. 2010, Kruse et al. 2012, Kruse et al. 2014a, Kruse et al. 2014b). This definition of Tiotropium bromide would add considerable weight to the studies observing a signalling effect following administration of this antagonist. Antagonists are generally thought to be neutral in their effect with no capability of signalling (Bond and IJzerman 2006, Khilnani and Khilnani 2011, Rosenbaum, Rasmussen and Kobilka 2009); however inverse agonists are described as showing negative intrinsic activity (Milligan, Bond and Lee 1995), the definition for inverse agonists changes when describing structural stability of the receptor (Bokoch et al. 2010). Figure 7.2.3 shows a schematic describing the various efficacies of different receptor binding intermediates. Nearly all anti-histamines are inverse agonists, despite often being thought of as antagonists (Khilnani and Khilnani 2011). Tiotropium bromide is an orthosteric ligand for M_3 receptors; however, it also binds to the allosteric site transiently (Gosens et al. 2017, Kruse et al. 2012), which may be sufficient to show variation in binding activity can dictate reclassification (Cooke et al. 2015). In the last decade, many GPCR ligands have been structurally identified when bound to their receptors using X-ray crystallography, this has shown the potential for many ligands to have functional selectivity based on allosteric binding (Cooke et al. 2015, Stewart, Sexton and Christopoulos 2010). Tiotropium bromide as an inverse agonist may result in a signalling cascade which opposes acetylcholine or agonist-mediated stimulation; this may even involve an arm of the β arrestin signalling pathway (Azzi et al. 2003).

The present studies indicate the potential role of Tiotropium bromide in cardiomyocyte signalling; this may occur as a result of 'inverse agonist' binding potential and may also include β arrestin signalling (Azzi et al. 2003, Kruse et al. 2014a), accounting for the observed effects on haemodynamic function and infarct size via cardiomyocyte cell death pathways. In order to investigate this phenomenon, further studies focused on specific signalling pathways following receptor binding are needed to elucidate the role of Tiotropium bromide in cardiomyocyte signalling.



Figure 7.2.3: The model representing levels of agonist and antagonist activity following receptor binding. Conventionally an agonist elicits a signalling response following receptor binding, and an antagonist results in cessation of signalling activity. However, studies have shown that 'antagonist' can result in negative activity and have therefore been termed inverse agonists (Szkudlinski 2015).

7.3 Oxidative stress and Calcium signalling in Tiotropium bromide mediated cardiotoxicity

Cardiotoxicity is any toxic effect on the heart including myocardial infarction and heart failure (Scherrer-Crosbie 2016). In ischaemia/reperfusion injury, cell death such as apoptosis occurs as a result of oxidative stress or Ca²⁺ overload and opening of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (mPTP) (Halestrap and Richardson 2015, Kinnally et al. 2011, Ong et al. 2015c), these mechanisms mediate cardiotoxicity (Angsutararux, Luanpitpong and Issaragrisil 2015, Braña, Zamora and Tabernero 2013, Díaz-Muñoz et al. 2006).

Oxidative stress and reactive oxygen species (ROS) contribute to cell death, particularly in myocardial injury, both as a preconditioning agent and a mediator of cell damage (Cohen et al. 2001, Ray, Huang and Tsuji 2012, Xu et al. 2014). Drug induced oxidative stress is a cause of cardiotoxicity (Deavall et al. 2012, Šimůnek et al. 2009); ROS in the heart is generated via mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation from aerobic metabolism, xanthine oxidase, NAD(P)H oxidases, cytochrome P450 or nitric oxide synthase (NOS) uncoupling (Giordano 2005). Excess ROS triggers oxidative stress via direct or in-direct interaction with proteins, lipids and DNA (Circu and Aw 2010, Ray, Huang and Tsuji 2012). In addition to enzymatic antioxidants (Birben et al. 2012), dietary antioxidants such as resveratrol and vitamin E improve diseased states (Devasagayam et al. 2004).

Resveratrol is vasodilatory and cardioprotective, via an NO- and adenosine-dependent mechanism (Bradamante et al. 2003, Dernek et al. 2004, Orallo et al. 2002, Ray et al. 1999). This study shows that resveratrol (10 μ M) increases coronary flow in normoxic conditions, this increase is significant when co-administered with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM). The increase in coronary flow following co-administration suggests that vasodilation occurs independently of Tiotropium bromide. The lack of change in coronary flow following ischaemia/reperfusion is observed with hearts undergoing global ischaemia (Ray et al. 1999). However, resveratrol following ischaemia, shows observational recovery of cardiac function which can be abrogated with the use of the non-selective NO inhibitor, L-NAME (30 μ M) (Bradamante et al. 2003); this implies the involvement of the nitric oxide pathway in the recovery of cardiac function.

Resveratrol affects cell death by reducing infarct size in ischaemia/reperfusion (Lin et al. 2008, Ray et al. 1999, Tsai et al. 2007), and is protective in the diabetic myocardium (Csiszar 2011, Thirunavukkarasu et al. 2007). In both ischaemia/reperfusion and normoxic conditions, resveratrol showed decreased infarct sizes compared to Tiotropium bromide and attenuated ischaemia/reperfusion injury; co-administration also abrogated Tiotropium bromide mediated infarct size. Resveratrol has been shown to reduce infarct size in an NO dependent manner; co-administration of L-NAME blocks the protective effect of resveratrol following ischaemia (Hung, Su and Chen 2004, Thirunavukkarasu et al. 2007). Nitric oxide has been shown to be increased during ischaemia and early reperfusion, via endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS), through activation of PI3K and Akt (Gao et al.

2002, Schulz, Kelm and Heusch 2004). Xanthine oxidase also produces NO in hypoxia and facilitates cardioprotection via vasodilation mediated contractile function and relaxation (Schulz, Kelm and Heusch 2004). Resveratrol also indirectly affects vasodilation by inhibiting endothelin mediated vasoconstriction (Andriantsitohaina et al. 2012, Mokni et al. 2013).

Resveratrol inhibits mRNA for atrial natriuretic peptide (ANP) and transforming growth factor beta 1 (TGF β1) (Lin et al. 2008). ANP correlates with enhanced mortality in myocardial infarction, showing prognostic value (Omland et al. 1993, Takashio et al. 2016). TGF β1 is detrimental in myocardial infarction, suppresses inflammation mediated infarct healing (Bujak and Frangogiannis 2007, Frangogiannis, Smith and Entman 2002) and tissue remodelling (Asano et al. 2010). Figure 7.3.1 depicts resveratrol mediated signalling (Mokni et al. 2013). Resveratrol is also cytoprotective via NF-E2 related factor 2 (Nrf2), coordinating expression of antioxidant mechanisms, including heme oxygenase 1 (Csiszar 2011).

Resveratrol has antioxidant activity greater than vitamin E (Dernek et al. 2004, Hung, Su and Chen 2004, King, Bomser and Min 2006, Magyar et al. 2012, Mokni et al. 2013) through inhibition of LDL oxidation (Chan et al. 2008, Mokni et al. 2013, Wu and Hsieh 2011). However, resveratrol is most effective through recruitment of internal antioxidant machinery and protective pathways (Bradamante et al. 2003, Li, Xia and Förstermann 2012), such as PI3K/Akt (Davidson et al. 2006). Western blot showed Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) and resveratrol (10 μ M) significantly increase p-Akt (Ser473), however the latter to a lesser extent. Co-administration of Tiotropium bromide with resveratrol attenuates the Tiotropium bromide mediated p-Akt (Ser473) increase. PI3K/Akt activation is involved in the preconditioning-like effect of resveratrol through the adenosine A₁ receptor leading to increased Bcl-2 activity (Carrizzo et al. 2013, Das and Maulik 2006, Li, Xia and Förstermann 2012). Resveratrol increases Akt phosphorylation in cardiomyocytes, contributing to improved left ventricular diastolic function (Magyar et al. 2012). Resveratrol phosphorylates Akt via SIRT1 mediated FoxO1 activity (Ni et al. 2007) and affects Akt differently under different conditions. In myotubules and hepatocytes, resveratrol decreases Akt phosphorylation through inhibition of PI3K (Pirola and Fröjdö 2008). However, in endothelial progenitor cells, resveratrol induces an increase in telomerase

activity and Akt phosphorylation (Xia et al. 2008). It is evident from the data in this study that resveratrol exerts protective effects and affects Akt phosphorylation.



Figure 7.3.1: The various interactions of resveratrol involved in conferring protection. A schematic depicting the different interactions of resveratrol with cellular mediators, leading to several cellular effects ranging from decreasing cardiac ischaemia/reperfusion injury to increasing endothelial function (Li, Xia and Förstermann 2012).

Figure 7.3.2 depicts drug induced oxidative stress. Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) significantly downregulates protective genes associated with oxidative stress. Nuclear factor (erythroid derived 2) like 2 (Nfe2l2), a transcription factor responsible for activating antioxidant genes (Deavall et al. 2012) and Akt1, associated with cell survival were downregulated with Tiotropium bromide (Häggblad Sahlberg et al. 2017, Nogueira et al. 2008). Gluthatione S-transferase pi 1 (Gstp1), protein kinase c ζ (Prkcz), tumour protein 53 (Tp53), cytochrome

b-245 light chain (Cyba), activating transcription factor 2 (Atf2), lipocalin 2 (Lcn2) and protein kinase AMP activated alpha 1 catalytic subunit (Prkaa1) were also downregulated. Lactate dehydrogenase A (Ldha) and hypoxanthine guanine phosphoribosyltransferase (Hprt1) showed an observable increase. LDH from damaged membranes catalyses lactate oxidation to pyruvate and reduction of NAD⁺; increased LDH is observed with doxorubicin and acts as a marker of cellular damage (Šimůnek et al. 2009, Yang et al. 2009), therefore implying that Tiotropium bromide may elicit a comparable mechanism of cell damage.



Figure 7.3.2: The multiple effects that reactive oxygen species (ROS) have on cellular processes. These include lipid damage, DNA damage, activation of antioxidants, protein oxidation essentially all leading to apoptotic cell death (Deavall et al. 2012). SOD – superoxide dismutase, JNK – c-Jun N-terminal Kinase, 8-oxoGua – 8 oxoguanine, BER – base excision repair, MDA – malondialdehyde, HNE – 4-hydroxynonenal.

Tiotropium bromide induced a small increase of ROS in cardiomyocytes compared to controls; resveratrol alone saw a significant reduction in ROS with respect to the control and Tiotropium alone. Drugs known to cause cardiotoxicity show increased ROS as a

marker of oxidative stress (Burridge et al. 2016, Olsen et al. 2013, Yokoyama et al. 2017). Similarly, the observation with resveratrol supports its action as an antioxidant and ROS scavenger (Carrizzo et al. 2013, Das and Maulik 2006). The effect of resveratrol was also assessed in apoptotic cells. Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) showed a non-significant increase in apoptotic cells; however, resveratrol showed a decrease in apoptotic cells, this was sustained with the co-administration of Tiotropium bromide. Resveratrol has previously been known to abrogate the toxicity of doxorubicin (Hamlaoui et al. 2012). This study shows that resveratrol protects against Tiotropium bromide induced cardiotoxicity and implies ROS may mediate the cardiotoxicity of Tiotropium bromide.

Calcium overload is also associated with regulating cell death (Fearnley, Roderick and Bootman 2011, Orrenius, Gogvadze and Zhivotovsky 2015), a shift in the balance of intracellular calcium results in abhorrent calcium signalling (Ermak and Davies 2002, Kristian and Siesjo 1998, Pinton et al. 2008, Salas et al. 2010). Defects in calcium handling are observed in heart failure (Gorski, Ceholski and Hajjar 2015), cardiac hypertrophy and tachyarrhythmias (Kang and Lebeche 2013). Ca²⁺ overload results in reversal of Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger (NCX) function; leading to increased intracellular Ca²⁺ (Garcia-Dorado et al. 2012, Krebs, Agellon and Michalak 2015). L-type Ca²⁺ channels mediate cellular calcium entry during excitation-coupling (Murgia and Rizzuto 2014), leading to calcium induced calcium release (CICR) which can contribute to Ca²⁺ overload (Shen, Jiang and Pappano 2000). Doxorubicin impairs Ca²⁺ sequestration resulting in increased intracellular Ca²⁺ (Hahn, Lenihan and Ky 2014). Ipratropium bromide directly results in erythrocyte death via Ca²⁺ (Shaik et al. 2012). The role of Ca²⁺ signalling in cardiomyocyte death means it can be involved in drug cardiotoxicity and targeted pharmacologically.

Nifedipine is an L-type Ca²⁺ channel inhibitor used for hypertension (Brown et al. 2000); studies in isolated hearts have found nifedipine to be cardioprotective (Okuda et al. 2005, Pijl et al. 1993). Nifedipine reduces LDH leakage in myocardial ischaemia and reduces neutrophil accumulation in the myocardium following ischaemia/reperfusion (Huang et al. 2009). In this study, nifedipine (1 nM) significantly decreased coronary flow with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) co-administration in normoxic conditions but did not affect LVDP or heart rate. Nifedipine has negative inotropic and chronotropic effects but increases coronary flow at low concentrations (Kumar et al. 2012). The data suggests that muscarinic inhibition in addition to L type Ca²⁺ channels may result in vasoconstriction. Studies observing the effect of M₃ receptor and L type Ca²⁺ channel inhibition in rainbow trout, showed decreased cholinergic induced gut contractility (Aronsson and Holmgren 2000). Nifedipine is a cardiodepressant (Kumar et al. 2012) but associated with cardioprotection (Huang et al. 2009, Kitakaze et al. 2000, Kloner and Przyklenk 1990, Okuda et al. 2005); however, nifedipine can be toxic by enhancing the cardiodepressant effect of other compounds such as magnesium sulfate (Thorp et al. 1990). Nifedipine significantly decreases infarct size, compared to Tiotropium bromide; co-administration abrogates Tiotropium bromide mediated infarct size. This may be linked to NO production which is enhanced following nifedipine administration (Huang et al. 2009, Kitakaze et al. 2000). This study suggests that whilst nifedipine administration may dampen the effect of Tiotropium bromide on infarct size, it does not fully reverse it, implying the involvement of other mediators aside from L-type Ca²⁺ channels.

Calcium concentrations are regulated by mediators including ion channels, kinases and phosphatases (Bootman 2012, Fearnley, Roderick and Bootman 2011, Harada et al. 2014). Ca²⁺/calmodulin dependent protein kinase II (CaMKII) phosphorylates many proteins, transcription factors and ion channels (Zhang, Miyamoto and Brown 2004). In heart failure and arrhythmias (Fearnley, Roderick and Bootman 2011, Said et al. 2011), there is a marked increase in CaMKII activity and abnormal Ca²⁺ release (Cheng et al. 2012, Fischer et al. 2013, Sossalla et al. 2010, Zhang, Miyamoto and Brown 2004), which is proapoptotic (Harada et al. 2014). CaMKII inhibition is protective against ischaemia/reperfusion injury (Vila-Petroff et al. 2007). M₁, M₃ and M₅ receptors increase endoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ via phospholipase C (PLC), which activate calmodulin-dependent mechanisms involving CaMKII, depicted by figure 7.3.3 (Harvey 2012). CaMKII in ischaemia/reperfusion and myocardial infarction promotes cell death through mPTP opening and phosphorylation of ryanodine receptors (Di Carlo et al. 2014, Joiner et al. 2012). Ischaemic preconditioning alters cardiac function through the Ca²⁺ paradox, where CaMKII mediated phosphorylation of phospholamban protects against Ca²⁺ overload (Kawabata et al. 2000, Piper 2000, Valverde et al. 2006). KN-93 inhibits CaMKII, preventing calmodulin-CaMKII interaction (Anderson et al. 1998) and inhibits increases in sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR) Ca²⁺ leading to

decreased excitation coupling, implying a role in contractility (Zhang, Miyamoto and Brown 2004).



Figure 7.3.3: Muscarinic receptors have an important role in vascular tissue contractility. M_3 receptor activation in endothelial cells leads to phospholipase C (PLC) activation; leading to inositol triphosphate (IP₃) mediated release of Ca²⁺. Nitric oxide (NO) is released via calmodulin-dependent (CM) activation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS). NO diffuses into adjacent cells to stimulate cGMP production via soluble guanylyl cyclase (sGC), resulting in protein kinase G (PKG) mediated relaxation. M_3 receptor activation in vascular smooth muscle cells, results in calcium mediated activation of Ca²⁺/calmodulin dependent kinase II (CaMKII) leading to activation of myosin light chain kinase (MLCK) (Harvey 2012).

KN-93 (400 nM) showed significantly increased LVDP in normoxic conditions when coadministered with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM); no other parameters showed any significance in ischaemia/reperfusion or normoxic conditions. KN-93 pre-treatment has been shown to prevent LVDP elevation following clofilium treatment, an anti-arrhythmic agent (Anderson et al. 1998). CaMKII inhibition by KN-93 in the failing myocardium improves contractility following ischaemia (Vila-Petroff et al. 2007); however, this is not observed in non-failing hearts (Sossalla et al. 2010). LVDP is a measure of contractility (Sarazan, Kroehle and Main 2012, Valverde et al. 2006) indirectly relating to intracellular Ca^{2+} concentrations (Lou, Janardhan and Efimov 2012). Co-administration of KN-93 with Tiotropium bromide in normoxic conditions may mimic conditions observed in heart failure therefore, inhibition of CaMKII may be beneficial to LVDP. KN-93 significantly decreased infarct size with respect to Tiotropium bromide in ischaemia/reperfusion and normoxic conditions; co-administration with Tiotropium bromide abrogated Tiotropium bromide mediated infarct size. Constitutive activation of ryanodine receptors by CaMKII is known to increase ischaemia/reperfusion injury (Di Carlo et al. 2014); inhibition of CaMKII decreases infarct size however these studies used KN-93 at 2.5 μ M (Di Carlo et al. 2014, Salas et al. 2010, Vila-Petroff et al. 2007). In the context of ischaemic- and desaflurane induced preconditioning, KN-93 abolishes cardioprotection (Lange et al. 2008, Osada et al. 2000) implying a role for CaMKII. This study suggests CaMKII activation may play a role in Tiotropium bromide mediated cardiac damage.

CaMKII activation by β-adrenergic receptors is well documented (Anderson, Brown and Bers 2011, Fischer et al. 2013, Grimm, Ling and Brown 2011, Zhang, Miyamoto and Brown 2004), however the role of muscarinic receptors in CaMKII signalling is less clear. A study in adipocytes, found that M₃ receptor stimulation induces Ca²⁺ oscillation via PI3K which then activates CaMKII (Turovsky et al. 2013). Overexpression of CaMKII is known to phosphorylate Akt in human breast cancer (Chi et al. 2016), in prostate cancer (Rokhlin et al. 2007) and in heart failure (Harada et al. 2014) where Akt is highly phosphorylated. However, restoration of SERCA2a activity improves cardiac function in an Akt/FoxO3A dependent manner (Kumarswamy et al. 2012). Akt is normally associated with cardioprotection, however overactivation can be detrimental (Castino et al. 2008, Chaanine and Hajjar 2011, Harada et al. 2014, Kumarswamy et al. 2012, Los et al. 2009, Nogueira et al. 2008, O'Neill and Abel 2005). Tiotropium bromide increases p-Akt (Ser473), co-administration of KN-93 dampens Tiotropium bromide mediated Akt phosphorylation. This study implies a role for CaMKII in Tiotropium bromide induced Akt phosphorylation. In heart failure, Akt phosphorylates FoxO3a which translocates to the cytosol (Kumarswamy et al. 2012), FoxO3a is a transcription factor involved in the regulation of

pre-microRNA 1, which in the mature form affects NCX activity (Harada et al. 2014) and regulates ROS formation (Afanas'ev 2011). Akt can inhibit ROS scavengers downstream of FoxO, leading to apoptosis (Los et al. 2009, Nogueira et al. 2008). Figure 7.3.4 depicts the 'two sided' nature of Akt, which can be cardioprotective, but also pathological.



Figure 7.3.4: The role of Akt phosphorylation in promoting cell survival and leading to cell death. Ordinarily, Akt phosphorylation as a result of PI3K activity leads to cardioprotective effects in the heart, however studies have shown that in heart failure the over-activation of CaMKII also leads to Akt activation, which has a role in cell death.

Tiotropium bromide increased phosphorylated CaMKII (Thr286) with respect to normoxic controls; co-administration with KN-93 attenuated this increase. The IC₅₀ for KN-93 is approximately 370 nM to compete with the calmodulin binding site (Gao, Blair and Marshall 2006, Yung-Chi and Prusoff 1973), however, KN-93 does not inhibit the catalytic activity of auto-phosphorylated CaMKII (Pellicena and Schulman 2014, Sumi et al. 1991, Tokumitsu et al. 1990). KN-93 is good for assessing the function of CaMKII, however due to

its competitive nature with calmodulin, autonomous activity can't be inhibited, additionally, it also affects voltage gated K⁺ and Ca²⁺ channels (Ledoux, Chartier and Leblanc 1999, Vest et al. 2007). This study suggests that Tiotropium bromide increases CaMKII phosphorylation, which is attenuated by KN-93. Chronic CaMKII activation follows an increase in autonomous activity; this may be due to CaMKII oxidation (Luczak and Anderson 2014) and may lead to atrial and ventricular dysfunction (Khoo et al. 2006).

In heart failure, abnormal Ca²⁺ release from CaMKII phosphorylated ryanodine receptors leads to arrhythmia and contractile dysfunction (Ai et al. 2005), therefore measurement of Ca²⁺ is a useful tool (Ai et al. 2005, Farber 1990, Zhang et al. 2009). Fluo-3AM is a cell permeable Ca²⁺indicator used in the study of cardiomyocytes (Loughrey et al. 2003, Petroff et al. 2001). Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) increased intracellular Ca²⁺ with respect to controls, co-administration with KN-93 (400 nM) showed no significant difference. Protein kinase A (PKA) and PKG are also involved in ryanodine receptor phosphorylation and Ca^{2+} movement in addition to CaMKII (Ai et al. 2005, Berridge, Bootman and Roderick 2003, Garcia-Dorado et al. 2012). KN-93 preconditioning elicits the most effective response in dampening CaMKII activity (Lange et al. 2008, Osada et al. 2000), which may explain why the effect of KN-93 was not prominent in this study. Tiotropium bromide non-significantly increased apoptotic cardiomyocytes, however no significant change was observed following KN-93. The effect of KN-93 may not manifest here, as a lower concentration of KN-93 was used compared to other studies. Additionally, mitochondrial Ca²⁺ may be more significant in dysfunctional Ca²⁺ signalling than SR Ca²⁺, as the mPTP can lead to cell death following calcium overload (Joiner et al. 2012), this is particularly true for ischaemia/reperfusion injury (Di Carlo et al. 2014). These studies indicate that Tiotropium bromide induced cardiotoxicity may involve CaMKII mediated Ca²⁺ dysregulation through abhorrent Akt phosphorylation but warrants further investigation with regards to mitochondrial Ca²⁺.

Caspase-3 mediates apoptosis; caspase-3 is an effector caspase and is responsible for some of the characteristic features associated with apoptosis (Lakhani et al. 2006, Porter and Jänicke 1999). The use of the caspase-3 inhibitor, Z-DEVD-FMK (Ekert, Silke and Vaux 1999, Putinski et al. 2013, Xu et al. 2014) shows increased coronary flow in normoxic conditions; no other effect is observed on haemodynamic function in ischaemia/reperfusion and normoxic conditions. Z-DEVD-FMK significantly decreased infarct size to risk ratio in ischaemia/reperfusion and attenuated Tiotropium bromide mediated infarct size in both conditions. Tiotropium bromide also increased cleaved caspase -3 with respect to normoxic controls, Z-DEVD-FMK reversed this increase upon co-administration. Inhibition of caspase-3 has previously been found to be cardioprotective against ischaemia/reperfusion injury (Harvey, Hussain and Maddock 2014, Kudelova et al. 2015). Tiotropium bromide (10 μ M – 0.1 nM) showed a concentration-dependent relationship on apoptosis with respect to normoxic controls, however only the highest concentration showed a significant increase; Z-DEVD-FMK (70 nM) significantly attenuated Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) mediated apoptosis. Caspase-3 is largely associated with initiating apoptosis, particularly during reperfusion (Kang et al. 2003, Porter and Jänicke 1999, Ueno et al. 2006), and is important in cardiac hypertrophy, both in vivo and in vitro (Balakumar and Singh 2006, Putinski et al. 2013). Caspase-3 along with caspase-8 mediate ceramide induced cardiomyocyte death (Wang et al. 2000). Muscarinic receptors can inhibit caspase-3 resulting in protection, therefore antagonism could attenuate this protection indirectly leading to cell damage (Resende and Adhikari 2009). Apoptosis is the transitioning factor from left ventricular hypertrophy to heart failure (Li et al. 2009a), parasympathetic signalling is known to be involved in heart failure and diabetes (LaCroix et al. 2008, Pathak et al. 2005), but is protective in congestive heart failure (Communal et al. 1998). These studies suggest that caspase-3 activation may be involved in Tiotropium bromide mediated cardiomyocyte death.

Myocardial infarction is a manifestation of ischaemic heart disease (IHD); occuring following atheroma mediated obstruction in blood flow (Hansson 2005, Marzilli et al. 2012). Cardiac comorbidity in COPD patients is common, due shared risk factors such as COPD-mediated arterial stiffening, inflammation and endothelial dysfunction (Cazzola et al. 2017a, Mills et al. 2008, Patel et al. 2012). The expression of genes involved in myocardial infarction was assessed following Tiotropium bromide (1 nM). Casp3 expression showed a non-significant increase, indicating that Tiotropium bromide may induce an upregulation of caspase-3, which corroborates with the study observing increased cleaved caspase-3 activation.

Ppargca1 and Bax showed significant downregulation following Tiotropium bromide administration. Ppargca1 (PGC-1 α) regulates mitochondrial biogenesis and oxidative stress, in heart failure it is downregulated, (Madrazo and Kelly 2008, Sun et al. 2007, Ventura-Clapier, Garnier and Veksler 2008), however PGC-1a activity is upregulated in patients with ST elevated acute myocardial infarction (Fabregat-Andrés et al. 2011). The differential expression of PGC-1 α in heart failure and ischaemia/reperfusion suggests other factors may contribute to mitochondrial biogenesis (Fabregat-Andrés et al. 2011, Ventura-Clapier, Garnier and Veksler 2008). In heart failure, there is an observed increase in Akt (Haq et al. 2001), which can downregulate PGC-1 α (Ventura-Clapier, Garnier and Veksler 2008). This suggests that the pattern of expression observed with Tiotropium bromide may be indicative of a heart failure phenotype, where PGC-1 α is also downregulated. Additionally, PGC-1 α expression is involved in glucose homeostasis and mitochondrial activity and has been shown to play an important role in metabolic diseases and is activated with resveratrol administration (Borriello et al. 2010). This suggests that by downregulating PGC-1 α , Tiotropium bromide administration may inhibit the protective properties associated with PGC-1 α activation, and therefore lead to indirect cell toxicity.

Bax is a pro-apoptotic protein, however in this study this is significantly downregulated following Tiotropium bromide administration despite Tiotropium bromide showing an increase in infarct size. Ischaemia/reperfusion injury and heart failure show upregulation of Bax in canine models of heart failure and in patients with dilated cardiomyopathy or ischaemic heart disease (Cardin et al. 2003, Latif et al. 2000, Li et al. 2009a, McCully et al. 2004). Bax induces cell death without DNA fragmentation through caspase-independent release of cytochrome *c* (Porter and Jänicke 1999, Yellon and Baxter 2000). Cell death can occur without Bax, through drug induced autophagy such as with etoposide in murine embryonic fibroblasts (Shimizu et al. 2004). The study indicates that cell death following Tiotropium bromide administration may occur independently of Bax at a gene level but may still involve the activation of caspase-3 as observed; it would appear that the administration of Tiotropium bromide induces a state similar to heart failure, due to downregulation of the Ppargca1 gene and activated Akt protein, which are observed in heart failure. This level of gene expression also corresponds with the data observing the effect of Tiotropium bromide on apoptosis, as there is no significant difference observed

with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) with respect to control groups (p<0.05), despite an increase in caspase-3 activity. This corresponds to the observations that Bax induces apoptosis via caspase-independent mechanisms, therefore in the case of this study the activation of caspase-3 may itself downregulate Bax activity.

Stat3 and VEGF-A show non-significant downregulation following Tiotropium bromide; Stat3 is involved in signalling via the Jak-Stat pathway leading to cytoprotective signalling, therefore downregulation of this may be indicative of cytotoxic signalling (Heusch et al. 2011, Negoro et al. 2000, Oshima et al. 2005). Rapamycin induces cardioprotection against ischaemia/reperfusion injury through Jak-Stat signalling; the downregulation of Stat3 attenuates this cardioprotection in Langendorff models (Das et al. 2012). The observation of downregulated Stat3, suggests that Tiotropium bromide administration inhibits cardioprotective pathways such as Jak-Stat and may indirectly contribute to cytotoxicity. VEGF-A is involved in the initation of angiogenesis, leading to the formation of new vessels (Hao et al. 2007). Studies have shown that there is an increase in VEGF-A mRNA following myocardial infarction (MI) in patients with stable angina and Sprague-Dawley rat models (Kranz et al. 2000, Zhao et al. 2010b). Hypoxic conditions are strong stimuli for VEGF signalling (Hayashi et al. 2016, Narasimhan et al. 2009) due to the need for oxygenation, which can be fulfilled with new vessel formation, therefore circulating levels of VEGF-A following myocardial infarction are a potential biomarker of cardiac damage (Kranz et al. 2000). In dilated cardiomyopathy patients, VEGF-A mRNA is downregulated, with a decrease in vascular density (Abraham et al. 2000); this is also observed in patients with progressive kidney disease, despite an increase in hypoxia inducible factors (HIF) (Rudnicki et al. 2009).

These studies suggest that although hypoxic conditions are known to induce VEGF-A expression for angiogenesis, expression is also affected by other variables aside from hypoxia. Angiogenesis increases the formation of new blood vessels and therefore increases blood supply to hypoxic or ischaemic areas, which in turn can improve cardiac function as a result of myocardial infarction (Nakamura et al. 2012). The downregulation of VEGF-A and Stat3 in the current study offers a suggestion that Tiotropium bromide does not induce the formation of new blood vessels, which is observed as a protective strategy, this combined with downregulation in the protective transcription factor, Stat3, shows

impaired cytoprotective signalling, which may contribute to the observed toxicity with Tiotropium bromide.

7.4 Cardioprotective strategies on Tiotropium bromide mediated cardiotoxicity

Parasympathetic muscarinic signalling in the heart is mediated via M₂ receptors (Harvey 2012), involved in controlling heart rate (Dhein, Van Koppen and Brodde 2001). However, M₃ receptors play a role in cardioprotection (Pan et al. 2012, Wang, Lu and Wang 2007, Wang et al. 2012c). M₃ receptor signalling is involved in cardioprotection through the reduction in reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Pan et al. 2012, Sun et al. 2010, Wang, Lu and Wang 2007, Yao et al. 1999) and decreasing Ca²⁺ overload (Dhein, Van Koppen and Brodde 2001). Cardiac M₃ receptors induce cardioprotection upon stimulation through the up-regulation of cyclooxygenase-2 and inhibit ischaemia mediated connexin-43 dephosphorylation (Ando et al. 2005, Zhao et al. 2010a). Parasympathetic innervation protects against oxidative stress through enhanced antioxidant activity via AMPK leading to PKC mediated NAPDH oxidase (Nox) inactivation, atropine abolished this effect (Kong et al. 2012). L-NAME mediated nitric oxide synthase (NOS) inhibition attenuates protection conferred by acetylcholine and inhibits ischaemia induced ROS, whilst inhibition of PKC also abrogates the protective effect of ACh it does not affect ROS formation (Liu et al. 2001). Figure 7.4.1 depicts the various interactions of M₃ receptors.

Acetylcholine mediated muscarinic signalling is necessary in conditions of stress, resulting in heart rate variability, from non-neuronal sources of acetylcholine (Roy et al. 2016, Schulte et al. 2014). Cardioprotective kinases are involved in phosphorylating key downstream mediators to result in changes at a gene level (Hausenloy and Yellon 2004, Hausenloy and Yellon 2006, Hu et al. 2004, Lee et al. 2006). Cardioprotection can also involve mitochondrial signalling (Garlid et al. 2003, Garlid et al. 2009, Halestrap, Clarke and Javadov 2004, Oldenburg et al. 2002). Akt and ERK1/2 confer protection against oxidative stress (Dai and Rabinovitch 2009), loss of these kinases is associated with decreased tolerance to oxidative stress. Moderate Akt overexpression promotes cardiac growth (Condorelli et al. 2002), however fully activated forms of Akt1/3 result in pathological consequences and cardiac dysfunction (Matsui et al. 2002b, Wessells and Bodmer 2007). Cardioprotective strategies are a growing field, aimed to protect the heart, notably from ischaemia/reperfusion injury (Heusch 2013).



Figure 7.4.1: M_3 receptors are thought to increase atrial fibrillation, decrease dysrhythmias and ischaemic injury as well as decreasing apoptotic cell death. (Wang, Lu and Wang 2007). ERKs – extra cellular regulated kinases, Cx43 – connexin 43, HR – heart rate, APD – action potential decrease, ERP – effective refractory period, $I_{KM3} - M_3$ activated delayed rectifying K⁺ current, PI – phosphoinositide, black upwards arrow – increase, black downwards arrow – decrease, unfilled upwards arrow – improved activity.

In this study, acetylcholine (ACh 100 nM) was administered in ischaemia/reperfusion and normoxic conditions. Co-administration of Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) and acetylcholine shows a significant decrease in coronary flow with respect to Tiotropium bromide and acetylcholine alone. No other significant changes were observed in haemodynamic

parameters. Coronary flow is used to measure vascular resistance, therefore decreases in coronary flow can be observed as an increase in vascular resistance, or vasoconstriction (Skrzypiec-Spring et al. 2007). Acetylcholine increases nitric oxide (NO) production, involved in the protective effects of preconditioning (Liu et al. 2001). NO results in cardioprotective effects through vasodilation (Ferdinandy and Schulz 2003, Gao et al. 2002). Antagonism at the M₃ receptor which is responsible for mediating the protective effects of ACh, may specifically result in decreased coronary flow.

Ischaemia/reperfusion injury normally depresses contractile function (Li et al. 2010); in streptozocin induced diabetic rats, acetylcholine following ischaemia/reperfusion injury results in an increase in contractile function (Knezl et al. 2006). This correlates with the current study which shows observable recovery of cardiac function mediated by ACh. Acetylcholine is normally associated with a decrease in contractility and heart rate, through slowing down of sinoatrial node action potentials and decreased conductance at the atrioventricular node (Florea and Cohn 2014). However, the current study shows no significance observed with heart rate following acetylcholine administration. Atropine increases heart rate through parasympathethic inhibition (Brodde and Michel 1999); in heart failure, there is a diminished response and depressed baroreceptor reflex following atropine administration, implying a role for muscarinic receptors (Florea and Cohn 2014). A decrease in heart rate following ischaemia/reperfusion injury can have a protective effect (Viviana et al. 2015) and may account for the cytoprotection afforded by ACh coadministration, as a decrease in heart rate in observed with the co-administration group. Therefore, a decrease in heart rate can preserve cardiac function through decreased expenditure (Viviana et al. 2015). However greater concentrations of ACh show a paradoxical increase in these parameters, displaying positive inotropy (Buccino et al. 1966, Krieg et al. 2004, Wang, Shi and Wang 2004), suggesting a dual function of muscarinic receptor stimulation on cardiac function.

Infarct size is a measure of cardiomyocyte death, therefore interventions to reduce infarct size are crucial (Bulluck, Yellon and Hausenloy 2016, Candilio 2016, Hausenloy 2016, Kloner and Braunwald 2016, Pfeffer et al. 1979). Muscarinic receptor agonists reduce cardiac infarct size, which can be attenuated with the specific M₃ receptor antagonist, 4-DAMP (Pan et al. 2012, Yang et al. 2005). ACh (100 nM) protects against ischaemia/reperfusion

injury by decreasing infarct size; co-administration with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) shows abrogation of Tiotropium bromide mediated infarct size in ischaemia/reperfusion and normoxic conditions. This study corroborates the role of M₃ receptors in cardioprotection (Wang, Shi and Wang 2004); in this study, ACh affords cardioprotection via M₃ receptors, as protection is partially affected by Tiotropium bromide administration.

Akt and phosphatidyl-inositol 3 kinase (PI3K) are also involved in conferring acetylcholine mediated cardioprotection as observed in human salivary gland cells and Sprague-Dawley rat ventricular myocytes (Kajiya et al. 2012, Sun et al. 2010). Akt is critical in cardioprotection via the reperfusion injury salvage kinase pathway (RISK) (Chen et al. 2017b, Davidson et al. 2006, Filippone et al. 2017, Hausenloy and Yellon 2006, Thomas et al. 2015). The RISK pathway involves the activation of multiple pro-survival kinases, such as ERK1/2 and Akt at the time of reperfusion, following ischaemia (Mockridge, Marber and Heads 2000, Rossello and Yellon 2018). Wortmannin inhibits PI3K activity (Nagoshi et al. 2005, Yu et al. 2007), PI3K inhibition in this study does not show any significant changes in haemodynamic function in ischaemia/reperfusion and normoxic conditions. In salivary glands, the use of an M₃ receptor antagonist and PI3K inhibitor showed a decrease in the cytoprotective effect observed with carbachol administration (Kajiya et al. 2012).

Wortmannin shows no protective effect on ischaemia/reperfusion injury, nor reversal of Tiotropium bromide induced infarct size when co-administered in ischaemia/reperfusion or normoxic conditions. In normoxic conditions, wortmannin alone shows a significant decrease in infarct size compared to Tiotropium bromide. Figure 7.4.2 depicts PI3K/Akt signalling. PI3K phosphorylates phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP₂) generating PIP₃; both recruit phosphoinositide dependent kinase 1 (PDK1) and Akt (Nagoshi et al. 2005). Phosphorylated Akt inhibits Forkhead transcription factor (FOXO) and Bad (Häggblad Sahlberg et al. 2017, Sussman et al. 2011) resulting in nitric oxide production (O'Neill and Abel 2005). PI3K/Akt has antiapoptotic effects (Ravingerová et al. 2007) therefore inhibition of this pathway could inhibit cytoprotection. However, overexpression of Akt is also shown to result in an increase in infarcts (Nagoshi et al. 2005). The current study implies that inhibition of PI3K abrogates cardiomyocyte survival.



Figure 7.4.2: PI3K activation following tyrosine kinase receptor stimulation. Akt is phosphorylated by PDK1 and PIP₃. Akt activation leads to activation/inhibition of several proteins involved in cell survival (Sussman et al. 2011).

The current study showed an increase in phosphorylated Akt (Ser473) following administration of Tiotropium bromide (1 nM). Co-administration with acetylcholine (100 nM) or wortmannin (100 nM) abrogates this, with wortmannin showing very little or no phosphorylation. Acetylcholine can activate the PI3K/Akt/eNOS pathway (Turovsky et al. 2013) involved in cardioprotection (Krieg et al. 2004). However, PI3K/Akt activity can also be induced via reactive oxygen species (Giordano 2005, Griendling et al. 2000, Nogueira et al. 2008). PI3K activation occurs following activation of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) by muscarinic stimulation (Kajiya et al. 2012, Krieg et al. 2002, Wang 2016); M₃ receptor induced cytoprotection is attenuated following inhibition of the EGFR coupled proto oncogene kinase Src (Kajiya et al. 2012). Short term Akt activation enhances mTOR mediated VEGF, preventing apoptosis in myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion (O'Neill and Abel 2005). Figure 7.4.3 depicts the PI3K/Akt pathway following activation by insulin receptor substrate (IRS).

Evidence suggests that Akt may also contribute to cell death (Liu et al. 2014). Constitutive activation of Akt is common in tumours (Los et al. 2009) and failing hearts (Chaanine and

Hajjar 2011, Hag et al. 2001), leading to severe cardiac dysfunction with no regression in hypertrophy, and decreased IRS-1/PI3K activation (O'Neill and Abel 2005). Several mediators can result in an increase in Akt, including H₂O₂, implying oxidative stress in Akt activation leading to apoptosis (Griendling et al. 2000, Nogueira et al. 2008, Ushio-Fukai et al. 1999). This study implies the involvement of muscarinic receptors and PI3K in Tiotropium bromide mediated Akt phosphorylation, which may contribute to cardiotoxicity. The study also assessed the effects of acetylcholine (100 nM) and wortmannin (100 nM) on Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) mediated apoptosis. Acetylcholine and wortmannin showed significant decreases in apoptosis with respect to Tiotropium bromide. For acetylcholine, this was reversed with Tiotropium bromide co-administration. Interestingly, the decrease with wortmannin was sustained and significant upon coadministration with respect to Tiotropium bromide. Acetylcholine mediated cardioprotection is abrogated with Tiotropium bromide, indicating that M₃ receptors are involved (Luo, Busillo and Benovic 2008, Yang et al. 2005, Zhao et al. 2010a). Wortmannin enhances apoptosis (Das et al. 2016, Nesterov et al. 2001, Zhao et al. 2014), however in this study, the inhibition of PI3K shows decreased apoptosis, indicating that PI3K may be involved in Tiotropium bromide mediated apoptosis (Li et al. 2009b). Akt may regulate cardiomyocyte survival by delaying the opening of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (mPTP) (Ong et al. 2015b).



Figure 7.4.3: Insulin receptor signalling activates PI3K/Akt activation. Short term activation of Akt1 via insulin results in physiological hypertrophy and increased VEGF which protects against ischaemia/reperfusion injury. Long term activation of Akt1 is detrimental and inhibits IRS mediated signalling, leading to IRS degradation, there is sustained hypertrophy and decreased VEGF leading to cell death and fibrosis (O'Neill and Abel 2005).

mPTP opening is important in understanding cell death. The intrinsic and extrinsic pathways mediate apoptosis (Baig et al. 2017, Brentnall et al. 2013). The intrinsic pathway is triggered by mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilisation (MOMP); whereas the extrinsic pathway is initiated by death receptor signalling, caspase 3 and Bcl2 proteins are involved in both pathways (Brentnall et al. 2013, Gill, Mestril and Samali 2002, Shamas-Din et al. 2011). Figure 7.4.4 illustrates the signalling cascades involved in both pathways, which ultimately converge to caspase mediated apoptosis.



Figure 7.4.4: The two pathways involved in initiation of apoptosis. The mitochondria are instrumental in the intrinsic pathway (a), whereas extracellular death receptors initiate the extrinsic pathway (b). ROS – reactive oxygen species, BH3 – Bcl-2 family of initiator proteins, BAX – Bcl-2 associated X protein, BAK – Bcl-2 homologous antagonist killer, tBID – truncated BH3 interacting-domain death agonist, SMAC – Diablo homolog, IAPs – inhibitor of apoptosis, XIAP – X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis, Apaf-1 – apoptotic protease activating factor 1, TRAIL - TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand, CD95L – Fas ligand, TNF α – Tumour necrosis factor α , TRADD – Tumour Necrosis Factor Receptor 1-associated death domain protein, FADD – Fas associated death domain (Baig et al. 2017).

Opening of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (mPTP) (Jeong and Seol 2008, Weiss et al. 2003), leads to depolarisation-dependent ATP hydrolysis (Kinnally et al. 2011).

Cyclosporin A (CsA) inhibits mPTP opening (Ong et al. 2015a) via cyclophillin D, which regulates pore opening (Crompton 1999, Fakharnia et al. 2017, Mott et al. 2004). Preclinical studies have found CsA mediated mPTP inhibition (Gyulkhandanyan et al. 2015) to confer protection (Halestrap and Pasdois 2009, Kinnally et al. 2011). However, CsA has failed in patient trials (Muehlschlegel 2014, Piot et al. 2008), particularly in ischaemia/reperfusion injury (Cung et al. 2015, Hausenloy and Yellon 2015, Song, Wang and Qi 2015).

Cyclosporin A (CsA 200 nM) significantly increases LVDP in ischaemia/reperfusion; no other significant differences were observed in haemodynamic function in ischaemia/reperfusion or normoxic conditions. Previous studies showed CsA did not affect coronary flow and heart rate (Chauhan et al. 1994, Greenberg et al. 1985, Sudhir et al. 1994). Studies observing cardiac hypertrophy found that CsA inhibits pressure overload induced hypertrophy (Meguro et al. 1999). However, in ischaemia/reperfusion, CsA restores ventricular function (Clarke, McStay and Halestrap 2002, Griffiths and Halestrap 1995) with pre-treatment and acute administration and recovers heart rate in isolated Langendorff hearts (Mirica et al. 2010). In this study, CsA administration in ischaemia/reperfusion and normoxic conditions significantly reduced infarct size compared to controls and Tiotropium bromide (1 nM), even with Tiotropium bromide co-administration. CsA administration attenuates acetylcholine induced vasodilation in the coronary circulation (Nasser et al. 2014, Sudhir et al. 1994, Vecchiati et al. 2014), linking muscarinic signalling with mPTP modulation. These studies show that Tiotropium bromide mediated infarct size can be attenuated through inhibition of mPTP opening.

Adjunctive therapies attenuate Tiotropium bromide mediated cardiotoxicty, however these are not currently a viable clinical intervention. Additionally, there is a need to correctly identify whether the effects observed in animal models are representative of patients. Studies suggest that genetic predisposition to adverse cardiovascular events in COPD patients may be an underlying cause as well as new use of LAMAs, where a nested control study showed a significant increase in risk (Matera et al. 2018, Liou et al. 2018, Wang et al. 2018).

Chapter 8: General Conclusion

Long acting muscarinic receptor antagonists (LAMAs) have no previous association with cardiotoxicity in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), unlike Ipratropium bromide (Harvey, Hussain and Maddock 2014) and salmeterol (Proskocil and Fryer 2005, Salpeter, Ormiston and Salpeter 2004, Sears 2002). However, the potential cardiovascular risks associated with anti-cholinergics including the LAMA, Tiotropium bromide, have been highlighted (Jara, Wentworth and Lanes 2012, Singh, Loke and Furberg 2008). These findings motivated the current study, to assess the adverse cardiovascular outcomes of LAMAs in a whole heart model, including ischaemia/reperfusion injury, and the signalling pathways involved in cardiotoxicity.

8.1 Key Findings of this Study

The results from this study suggest that Aclidinium, Tiotropium and Umeclidinium bromides exacerbate cardiac injury in terms of infarct size to risk ratio in models of ischaemia/reperfusion injury. Furthermore, Tiotropium bromide in normoxic conditions also shows increased infarct size in Langendorff hearts, and an increase in caspase-3 activation in adult isolated ventricular cardiomyocytes. Conversely, an increase in phosphorylation of the cardioprotective kinase, Akt (Ser473) is observed with Tiotropium bromide in normoxic conditions, and increases in intracellular [Ca²⁺] and phosphorylation of CaMKII (Thr286), indicating dysfunctional calcium homeostasis, a marker of cardiac damage.

8.1.1 Findings from Ischaemia Reperfusion models

The ischaemia/reperfusion models show that regional ischaemia affects haemodynamics, with recovery largely at reperfusion. LAMAs exert a tachycardic effect therefore can increase heart rate; however, in the model of ischaemia/reperfusion injury, the administration of LAMAs throughout reperfusion has no significant effect on haemodynamic function versus controls. This is in contrast to infarct size to risk ratios, which show exacerbation of ischaemia/reperfusion injury with LAMA administration, apart from Glycopyrronium bromide.

8.1.2 Assessment of Tiotropium bromide in Normoxic conditions

In contrast to ischaemia/reperfusion, Tiotropium bromide (10 – 0.1 nM) significantly affects cardiac function in normoxic conditions, as observed with changes in coronary flow and LVDP, with little effect on heart rate but increased infarct size. Cardiac muscarinic receptors are involved in parasympathetic control of cardiac function, resulting in modulation of pacemaker activity through K⁺ channels and atrio-ventricular conduction (Dhein, Van Koppen and Brodde 2001), therefore inhibition may affect cardiac function. Tiotropium bromide mediated increases in infarct size are modest with respect to Doxorubicin (Gharanei et al. 2013a, Gharanei et al. 2013b) and Sunitinib (Cooper et al. 2018) or in ischaemia/reperfusion, with the short acting muscarinic antagonist, Ipratropium bromide (Harvey, Hussain and Maddock 2014). However, the increase in infarct size with LAMAs is indicative of a greater concern due to long term exposure in COPD.

8.1.3 Oxidative stress and Calcium in Tiotropium bromide induced cardiotoxicity

Resveratrol (10 μ M) shows a significant increase in coronary flow in normoxic conditions with no other effect on haemodynamic function and dampens Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) mediated infarct size in ischaemia/reperfusion and normoxic conditions, whilst abrogating ischaemia/reperfusion injury. Resveratrol also dampens Tiotropium bromide mediated increased p-Akt (Ser473). Interestingly, Tiotropium bromide has no significant effect on ROS production in cardiomyocytes; however, resveratrol is protective by inhibiting basal ROS production and apoptotic cardiomyocytes. Nifedipine (1 nM) in normoxic conditions shows a decrease in coronary flow when co-administered with Tiotropium bromide with no other effect on haemodynamic function, but significantly decreases infarct size when coadministered with Tiotropium bromide. KN-93 (400 nM) only shows an increase in left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) under normoxic conditions when co-administered with Tiotropium bromide and decreases Tiotropium bromide mediated infarct size in normoxic conditions and in ischaemia/reperfusion. KN-93 also abrogates Tiotropium bromide mediated p-Akt (Ser473). Tiotropium bromide shows an increase in p-CaMKII (Thr286), which is abrogated with KN-93. Tiotropium bromide also shows an increase in intracellular Ca²⁺ release, however the use of KN-93 does not affect this; similarly, there is no effect on apoptotic cardiomyocytes with the use of KN-93 or combined with Tiotropium bromide. It is clear from this study that calcium and ROS contribute in part to the Tiotropium bromide mediated cardiotoxicity.

8.1.4 Effect of cardioprotective strategies on Tiotropium induced cardiotoxicity

Acetylcholine (100 nM) shows no significant effect on haemodynamic function, but a protective effect is observed with infarct size in ischaemia/reperfusion and normoxic conditions, where co-administration with Tiotropium bromide (1 nM), abrogates Tiotropium bromide mediated increase. Similarly, acetylcholine administration abrogates Tiotropium bromide mediated p-Akt (Ser473), but with little effect on total apoptotic cells. Wortmannin (100 nM) administration did not affect haemodynamic function or infarct size in either model, but abolished Tiotropium bromide mediated p-Akt (Ser473), and reversed Tiotropium bromide mediated apoptosis. Z-DEVD-FMK (70/140 nM) shows no effect on haemodynamic function in ischaemia/reperfusion, however in normoxic conditions there is an increase in coronary flow and a protective effect on infarct size in both models; additionally, there is a protective effect on apoptosis in cardiomyocytes. Tiotropium bromide (1 nM) in cardiomyocytes shows an increase in cleaved caspase-3 (Asp175), which is abolished following co-administration with Z-DEVD-FMK. Cyclosporin A (CsA 200 nM) also shows no effect on haemodynamic function in normoxic conditions, and only increases LVDP at the onset of reperfusion in ischaemia/reperfusion. However, CsA significantly decreases infarct size under both conditions, abrogating Tiotropium bromide mediated infarct size, and reversing infarct size to risk ratio due to ischaemia/reperfusion injury. This implies a greater role of the mitochondrial pore in Tiotropium bromide mediated cardiotoxicity.

8.1.5 Implications of this study

This study suggests that Tiotropium bromide may result in cardiovascular damage in an infarct size dependent manner, in normoxic conditions and ischaemia/reperfusion injury. Reversal of Tiotropium bromide mediated cardiac damage via acetylcholine, implies that muscarinic receptors mediate damage. Tiotropium bromide mediated cardiotoxicity in normoxic conditions may predominantly involve calcium signalling, through intracellular Ca²⁺ release, aberrant CaMKII and Akt phosphorylation. Although resveratrol shows a cardioprotective effect, Tiotropium bromide does not significantly affect reactive oxygen species formation, therefore resveratrol may enhance protective cellular strategies, which

are down-regulated following Tiotropium bromide. Tiotropium bromide administration sees increased cleaved caspase-3 and caspase-3 mRNA, however there is no significant increase in apoptosis, which suggests that caspase-3 alone in not sufficient for the induction of apoptosis in this study. The effect of cyclosporin A on Tiotropium bromide mediated cardiotoxicity suggests mitochondrial involvement, specifically the mPTP, which warrants further investigation.

This study highlights the importance of devising preclinical studies which can acutely assess the cardiotoxic capabilities of drugs, without solely depending on functional parameters as a measure of cardiovascular adverse effects. The current study also highlights that where there is an already heightened risk of cardiovascular complications, such as in COPD, there should be added care when devising a therapeutic intervention strategy due to the risks associated with exacerbating exisiting cardiovascular complications. Additionally, whilst this study shows that the use of several inhibitors exert protective effects on Tiotropium bromide induced cardiotoxicity, there is no scope of the use of these in a clinical setting, urging the development of cardioprotective strategies to shield patients against adverse cardiotoxic effects. This study has emphasised the importance of the preclinical testing of drugs, as well as support the studies which may observe adverse cardiovascular events with the use of LAMAs such as Tiotropium bromide. The mechanism of cardiotoxicity is important in understanding how drugs can be developed to reduce adverse effects and develop interventions which can have protective effects.

8.2 Further Investigations

Whilst Langendorff models provide the ability to observe the direct effects of drug compounds on the function of the heart, the results observed may not be mimicked *in vivo*, due to multiple interactions from other organs and limitations of the model itself (Aksentijević, Lewis and Shattock 2016, Bell, Mocanu and Yellon 2011), and may explain the discrepancies observed between multiple studies. However, there is no doubt that the cardiovascular safety of numerous drugs, including Tiotropium bromide has been challenged (Suissa, Dell'Aniello and Ernst 2017a, Suissa, Dell'Aniello and Ernst 2017b, Zou et al. 2018). It is thought that newer users of long acting bronchodilators may be subjected

to a greater risk of cardiovascular adverse effects (Wang et al. 2018), and the risks calculated in randomised controlled trials cannot be compared for different trials and different drugs due to the complexities of the selection criteria (Matera et al. 2018). There is a push and greater emphasis on combinatorial therapy, which is seen to reduce the risk of off target effects (Matera et al. 2018).

Although this study evaluates multiple facets of cardiotoxicity including calcium signalling and oxidative stress, a significant mediator of cardiomyocyte death is the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (mPTP) (Halestrap and Richardson 2015, Ong et al. 2015c); which has not been examined in detail for the purposes of this study. Mitochondria are one of the largest contributors to oxidative stress and Ca²⁺ overload and are well known to be involved in mediating cell death (Gyulkhandanyan et al. 2015, Jaeschke, McGill and Ramachandran 2012, Joiner et al. 2012, Ong et al. 2015b, Orrenius, Gogvadze and Zhivotovsky 2015, Pasdois et al. 2011). Mitochondrial activity has also been implicated in Ipratropium bromide and doxorubicin mediated cardiotoxicity (Deavall et al. 2012, Gharanei et al. 2013a, Gharanei et al. 2013b, Harvey, Hussain and Maddock 2014). These studies as well as the present study indicate that mitochondrial activity may have an instrumental role in mediating cardiomyocyte death in drug induced cardiotoxicity. This would justify further studies observing mitochondrial activity such as opening of the mPTP (Izem-Meziane et al. 2011), to measure hypercontracture in response to drug aggravation or measuring ATP in response to stress (Marroquin et al. 2007).

Muscarinic signalling is known to affect downstream mediators such as cyclic AMP (cAMP) (Harvey 2012), specifically associated with M₂ receptor signalling, which decrease cAMP production through inhibition of adenylyl cyclase (Harvey and Belevych 2003), particularly following β -adrenergic receptor mediated stimulation (Harvey 2012). It is thought that β_1 receptor mediated death signalling may occur via cAMP, involving PKA and Ca²⁺ regulation (Shin et al. 2014). cAMP has important functions in modulating pacemaker channel permeability to K⁺ and Na⁺ (Accili et al. 2002), the cardiac funny current (Baruscotti, Bucchi and DiFrancesco 2005) and mediating contractility via protein kinase A (PKA) (Salazar, Chen and Rockman 2007). PKA phosphorylates several important mediators of Ca²⁺ signalling, notably phospholamban, ryanodine receptors and L-type Ca²⁺ channels (Salazar, Chen and Rockman 2007). PKA phosphorylation of phospholamban occurs at a different site to

CaMKII mediated phosphorylation; whilst both sites are independent to each other, CaMKII mediated phosphorylation of phospholamban is difficult to achieve in the absence of high intracellular cAMP concentrations (Mattiazzi et al. 2005). This suggests that cAMP may be involved in high CaMKII activity, as suggested by this study. The effect on cAMP following Tiotropium bromide would elucidate the cardiac signalling which occurs, and potentially reveal any off-target receptor signalling.

Tiotropium bromide has been described as an inverse agonist (Kruse et al. 2012) and an antagonist (Casarosa et al. 2010, Cooke et al. 2015). Whilst these terms have been used interchangeably, inverse agonists are associated with a negative response which is opposing to an agonist, whereas antagonists are thought to elicit no response (Rosenbaum, Rasmussen and Kobilka 2009, Szkudlinski 2015). This study suggests that Tiotropium bromide may exert an effect as an inverse agonist, due to the cellular changes which occur such as increased intracellular Ca²⁺ following Tiotropium bromide. However, further investigations are necessary to determine the role of Tiotropium bromide as an inverse agonist capable of eliciting a signalling effect. As well as a potential role as an inverse agonist, GPCR ligands may also initiate signalling via β arrestins (Azzi et al. 2003). This requires recruitment of GPCR serine/threonine kinases (GRK) to the plasma membrane by the G $\beta\gamma$ subunit (Kohout and Lefkowitz 2003), to phosphorylate the receptor and recruit β arrestins. Previously β arrestins were only thought to be involved in receptor internalisation (Johnson, Scott and Pitcher 2004), however this has been challenged; this type of signalling is supplementary to normal $G\alpha$ mediated signalling and introduces an alternative mediator into the potential effect of inverse agonists (Azzi et al. 2003). Another interesting mediator is known as activator of G protein signalling 8 (AGS8) or fibronectin domain III containing 1 (FNDC1) protein, which interacts with the G $\beta\gamma$ subunit. AGS8 has been implicated in mediating hypoxia induced apoptosis in cardiomyocytes via connexin-43 (Ishikawa et al. 2012, Sato et al. 2009), independent of G protein dissociation (Sato et al. 2006, Yuan et al. 2007). AGS8 signalling has also been implicated in VEGF mediated angiogenesis (Hayashi et al. 2016). These suggest an important role for receptor independent activation via AGS8 in mediating cellular consequences such as apoptosis and may be of interest in understanding Tiotropium bromide mediated cardiotoxicity.

Biomarkers for cardiac injury have widely been used to assess cardiotoxicity and cardiac damage, such as cardiac troponin for acute myocardial infarction. Although troponin has high negative risk prediction, it has issues with positive risk identification, and may simply be due to the lack of reference material to standardise assays (Cardinale et al. 2010). Other biomarkers include elevated levels of N-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide (NT-pro BNP) which correlate to increased wall stress in heart failure, preceding most anatomical and functional changes (Cardinale et al. 2017, Cross et al. 2015). However, these biomarkers, may differ from person to person due to multiple other factors which are involved. Instead, non-coding RNAs have been proposed as biomarkers for cardiac damage; nc-RNAs in particular are stable and can be detected in human fluids and are shown to be considerably different in healthy volunteers and patients, and present profiles which correlate to different diseases (Ruggeri et al. 2018). MicroRNA-1 is significantly upregulated in acute myocardial infarction and thus may present as a predictor of disease (Gupta, Bang and Thum 2010, Viereck and Thum 2017). However, there are limitations to these due to inconsistencies in reported findings, which must be resolved before taking any further action (Gupta, Bang and Thum 2010, Ruggeri et al. 2018, Viereck and Thum 2017).

Recently, vascular biomarkers have been introduced in identifying at risk populations amongst COPD patients, including aortic pulse wave velocity and intima media thickening which have been found to show that COPD is an independent risk factor for cardiovascular disease (Fisk et al. 2018). The importance of translatable pre-clinical research cannot be stressed, and it is vital to ensure that the effects observed in animal models are realistic of in vivo signalling processes. This study has shown the effects of Tiotropium bromide both in the context of myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion injury and in normoxic conditions finding detectable changes in cardiac damage, which has been debated in human trials. These discrepancies raise the question of ensuring that appropriate biomarkers for disease can be screened, as well as understanding that genetic predisposition may underlie cardiovascular response to LAMA administration (Cazzola et al. 2017b, Matera et al. 2018). These push the field of drug induced cardiotoxicity towards adopting a pharmacogenomics-based approach to drug toxicity (Madonna 2017). This demonstrates the need for the development of screening assays which can incorporate multiple measures of toxicity, not solely relying on the functional capacity of the heart; and also emphasises that heading towards a genomics-based approach for therapy can prevent adverse cardiovascular effects in patients who may respond negatively to treatment, and tailor treatment specifically for individuals.

References

Abraham, D., Hofbauer, R., Schafer, R., Blumer, R., Paulus, P., Miksovsky, A., Traxler, H., Kocher, A., and Aharinejad, S. (2000) 'Selective Downregulation of VEGF-A(165), VEGF-R(1), and Decreased Capillary Density in Patients with Dilative but Not Ischemic Cardiomyopathy'. *Circulation Research* 87 (8), 644-647

- Accili, E. A., Proenza, C., Baruscotti, M., and DiFrancesco, D. (2002) 'From Funny Current to HCN Channels: 20 Years of Excitation'. *News in Physiological Sciences: An International Journal of Physiology Produced Jointly by the International Union of Physiological Sciences and the American Physiological Society* 17, 32-37
- Afanas'ev, I. (2011) 'ROS and RNS Signaling in Heart Disorders: Could Antioxidant Treatment be Successful?'. *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity* 2011, 293769
- Ai, X., Curran, J. W., Shannon, T. R., Bers, D. M., and Pogwizd, S. M. (2005) 'Ca2+/Calmodulin-Dependent Protein Kinase Modulates Cardiac Ryanodine Receptor Phosphorylation and Sarcoplasmic Reticulum Ca2+ Leak in Heart Failure'. *Circulation Research* 97 (12), 1314-1322
- Aksentijević, D., Lewis, H. R., and Shattock, M. J. (2016) 'Is Rate–pressure Product of any use in the Isolated Rat Heart? Assessing Cardiac 'effort'and Oxygen Consumption in the Langendorff-perfused Heart'. *Experimental Physiology* 101 (2), 282-294
- Anderson, M. E., Brown, J. H., and Bers, D. M. (2011) 'CaMKII in Myocardial Hypertrophy and Heart Failure'. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology* 51 (4), 468-473
- Anderson, M. E., Braun, A. P., Wu, Y., Lu, T., Wu, Y., Schulman, H., and Sung, R. J. (1998)
 'KN-93, an Inhibitor of Multifunctional Ca++/Calmodulin-Dependent Protein Kinase, Decreases Early Afterdepolarizations in Rabbit Heart'. *The Journal of Pharmacology* and Experimental Therapeutics 287 (3), 996-1006
- Ando, M., Katare, R. G., Kakinuma, Y., Zhang, D., Yamasaki, F., Muramoto, K., and Sato, T. (2005) 'Efferent Vagal Nerve Stimulation Protects Heart Against Ischemia-Induced Arrhythmias by Preserving connexin43 Protein'. *Circulation* 112 (2), 164-170
- Andriantsitohaina, R., Auger, C., Chataigneau, T., Étienne-Selloum, N., Li, H., Martínez, M.
 C., Schini-Kerth, V. B., and Laher, I. (2012) 'Molecular Mechanisms of the Cardiovascular Protective Effects of Polyphenols'. *British Journal of Nutrition* 108 (9), 1532-1549
- Ang, R., Opel, A., and Tinker, A. (2012) 'The Role of Inhibitory G Proteins and Regulators of G Protein Signaling in the in Vivo Control of Heart Rate and Predisposition to Cardiac Arrhythmias'. *Frontiers in Physiology* 3, 96
- Angsutararux, P., Luanpitpong, S., and Issaragrisil, S. (2015) 'Chemotherapy-Induced Cardiotoxicity: Overview of the Roles of Oxidative Stress'. Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity 2015

- Arana, A., Margulis, A. V., McQuay, L. J., Ziemiecki, R., Bartsch, J. L., Rothman, K. J., Franks, B., D' Silva, M., Appenteng, K., and Varas-Lorenzo, C. (2018) 'Variation in Cardiovascular Risk Related to Individual Antimuscarinic Drugs used to Treat Overactive Bladder. A Cohort Study in the UK'. *Pharmacotherapy: The Journal of Human Pharmacology and Drug Therapy*
- Aronsson, U. and Holmgren, S. (2000) 'Muscarinic M3-Like Receptors, Cyclic AMP and L-Type Calcium Channels are Involved in the Contractile Response to Cholinergic Agents in Gut Smooth Muscle of the Rainbow Trout, Oncorhynchus Mykiss'. *Fish Physiology and Biochemistry* 23 (4), 353-361
- Asano, K., Shikama, Y., Shoji, N., Hirano, K., Suzaki, H., and Nakajima, H. (2010) 'Tiotropium Bromide Inhibits TGF-Beta-Induced MMP Production from Lung Fibroblasts by Interfering with Smad and MAPK Pathways in Vitro'. *International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease* 5, 277-286
- Azzi, M., Charest, P. G., Angers, S., Rousseau, G., Kohout, T., Bouvier, M., and Pineyro, G. (2003) 'Beta-Arrestin-Mediated Activation of MAPK by Inverse Agonists Reveals Distinct Active Conformations for G Protein-Coupled Receptors'. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 100 (20), 11406-11411
- Baig, S., Seevasant, I., Mohamad, J., Mukheem, A., Huri, H., and Kamarul, T. (2017) 'Potential of Apoptotic Pathway-Targeted Cancer Therapeutic Research: Where do we Stand?'. *Cell Death & Disease* 7 (1), e2058
- Balakumar, P. and Singh, M. (2006) 'The Possible Role of Caspase-3 in Pathological and Physiological Cardiac Hypertrophy in Rats'. *Basic & Clinical Pharmacology & Toxicology* 99 (6), 418-424
- Bandyopadhyay, U., Das, D., and Banerjee, R. K. (1999) 'Reactive Oxygen Species: Oxidative Damage and Pathogenesis'. *Current Science*, 658-666
- Barbu, C., Iordache, M., and Man, M. (2011) 'Inflammation in COPD: Pathogenesis, Local and Systemic Effects'. *Rom J Morphol Embryo* 52 (1), 21-27
- Barnes, P. J. (2013) 'New Anti-Inflammatory Targets for Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease'. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery* 12 (7), 543-559
- Barnes, P. J. (2008) 'Immunology of Asthma and Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease'. Nature Reviews Immunology 8 (3), 183-192
- Barnes, P. J. (2000) 'The Pharmacological Properties of Tiotropium'. *CHEST Journal* 117 (2_suppl), 63S-66S

- Barnes, P. J., Belvisi, M. G., Mak, J. C., Haddad, E., and O'Connor, B. (1995) 'Tiotropium Bromide (Ba 679 BR), a Novel Long-Acting Muscarinic Antagonist for the Treatment of Obstructive Airways Disease'. *Life Sciences* 56 (11), 853-859
- Barnes, P. J., Shapiro, S. D., and Pauwels, R. A. (2003) 'Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease: Molecular and Cellular Mechanisms'. *The European Respiratory Journal* 22 (4), 672-688
- Baruscotti, M., Bucchi, A., and DiFrancesco, D. (2005) *Physiology and Pharmacology of the Cardiac Pacemaker ("funny") Current* [online]. available from <http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0163725805000252>
- Baumgartner, H. K., Gerasimenko, J. V., Thorne, C., Ferdek, P., Pozzan, T., Tepikin, A. V., Petersen, O. H., Sutton, R., Watson, A. J., and Gerasimenko, O. V. (2009) 'Calcium Elevation in Mitochondria is the Main Ca2+ Requirement for Mitochondrial Permeability Transition Pore (mPTP) Opening'. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 284 (31), 20796-20803
- Becker, L. B. (2004) 'New Concepts in Reactive Oxygen Species and Cardiovascular Reperfusion Physiology'. *Cardiovascular Research* 61 (3), 461-470
- Belevych, A. E. and Harvey, R. D. (2000) 'Muscarinic Inhibitory and Stimulatory Regulation of the L-type Ca2 Current is Not Altered in Cardiac Ventricular Myocytes from Mice Lacking Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase'. *The Journal of Physiology* 528 (2), 279-289
- Bell, R., Bøtker, H., Carr, R., Davidson, S., Downey, J., Dutka, D., Heusch, G., Ibanez, B., Macallister, R., and Stoppe, C. (2016) '9th Hatter Biannual Meeting: Position Document on Ischaemia/Reperfusion Injury, Conditioning and the Ten Commandments of Cardioprotection'. *Basic Research in Cardiology* 111 (4), 41
- Bell, R. M., Mocanu, M. M., and Yellon, D. M. (2011) 'Retrograde Heart Perfusion: The Langendorff Technique of Isolated Heart Perfusion'. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology* 50 (6), 940-950
- Bennett, M., Lucas, V., Brennan, M., Hughes, A., O'Donnell, V., Wee, B., and Association for Palliative Medicine's Science Committee (2002) 'Using Anti-Muscarinic Drugs in the Management of Death Rattle: Evidence-Based Guidelines for Palliative Care'. *Palliative Medicine* 16 (5), 369-374
- Berridge, M. J., Bootman, M. D., and Roderick, H. L. (2003) 'Calcium Signalling: Dynamics, Homeostasis and Remodelling'. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* 4 (7), 517-529

Bers, D. M. (2002) 'Cardiac Excitation-contraction Coupling'. Nature 415 (6868), 198-205

- Bhatt, S. P. and Dransfield, M. T. (2013) 'Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease and Cardiovascular Disease'. *Translational Research* 162 (4), 237-251
- Biala, A. K. and Kirshenbaum, L. A. (2014) *The Interplay between Cell Death Signaling Pathways in the Heart* [online]. available from <http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1050173814000954>
- Birben, E., Sahiner, U. M., Sackesen, C., Erzurum, S., and Kalayci, O. (2012) 'Oxidative Stress and Antioxidant Defense'. *World Allergy Organization Journal* 5 (1), 9
- Bokoch, M. P., Zou, Y., Rasmussen, S. G., Liu, C. W., Nygaard, R., Rosenbaum, D. M., Fung, J. J., Choi, H., Thian, F. S., and Kobilka, T. S. (2010) 'Ligand-Specific Regulation of the Extracellular Surface of a G-Protein-Coupled Receptor'. *Nature* 463 (7277), 108
- Bond, R. A. and IJzerman, A. P. (2006) 'Recent Developments in Constitutive Receptor Activity and Inverse Agonism, and their Potential for GPCR Drug Discovery'. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences* 27 (2), 92-96
- Bootman, M. D. (2012) 'Calcium Signaling'. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology 4 (7), a011171
- Borda, E., Leiros, C. P., Bacman, S., Berra, A., and Sterin-Borda, L. (1999) 'Sjögren Autoantibodies Modify Neonatal Cardiac Function Via M 1 Muscarinic Acetylcholine Receptor Activation'. *International Journal of Cardiology* 70 (1), 23-32
- Borriello, A., Cucciolla, V., Della Ragione, F., and Galletti, P. (2010) *Dietary Polyphenols: Focus on Resveratrol, a Promising Agent in the Prevention of Cardiovascular Diseases and Control of Glucose Homeostasis* [online]. available from <http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0939475310001778>
- Boudestein, L., Rutten, F. H., Cramer, M. J., Lammers, J. W. J., and Hoes, A. W. (2009) 'The Impact of Concurrent Heart Failure on Prognosis in Patients with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease'. *European Journal of Heart Failure* 11 (12), 1182-1188
- Bowes, J., Brown, A. J., Hamon, J., Jarolimek, W., Sridhar, A., Waldron, G., and Whitebread,
 S. (2012) 'Reducing Safety-Related Drug Attrition: The use of in Vitro Pharmacological
 Profiling'. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery* 11 (12), 909-922
- Bradamante, S., Barenghi, L., Piccinini, F., Bertelli, A. A., De Jonge, R., Beemster, P., and De Jong, J. W. (2003) 'Resveratrol Provides Late-Phase Cardioprotection by Means of a Nitric Oxide-and Adenosine-Mediated Mechanism'. *European Journal of Pharmacology* 465 (1), 115-123
- Braña, I., Zamora, E., and Tabernero, J. (2013) 'Cardiotoxicity'. in *Side Effects of Medical Cancer Therapy*. ed. by Anon: Springer, 483-530
- Brana, I. and Tabernero, J. (2010) 'Cardiotoxicity'. *Annals of Oncology: Official Journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology / ESMO* 21 Suppl 7, vii173-9
- Brentnall, M., Rodriguez-Menacol, L., De Guevara, R. L., Cepero, E., and Boise, L. H. (2013)
 'Caspase-9, Caspase-3 and Caspase-7 have Distinct Roles during Intrinsic Apoptosis'.
 BMC Cell Biology 14 (1), 32
- Brodde, O. E. and Michel, M. C. (1999) 'Adrenergic and Muscarinic Receptors in the Human Heart'. *Pharmacological Reviews* 51 (4), 651-690
- Brown, M. J., Palmer, C. R., Castaigne, A., de Leeuw, P. W., Mancia, G., Rosenthal, T., and Ruilope, L. M. (2000) 'Morbidity and Mortality in Patients Randomised to Double-Blind Treatment with a Long-Acting Calcium-Channel Blocker Or Diuretic in the International Nifedipine GITS Study: Intervention as a Goal in Hypertension Treatment (INSIGHT)'. *The Lancet* 356 (9227), 366-372
- Buccino, R. A., Sonnenblick, E. H., Cooper, T., and Braunwald, E. (1966) 'Direct Positive Inotropic Effect of Acetylcholine on Myocardium. Evidence for Multiple Cholinergic Receptors in the Heart'. *Circulation Research* 19 (6), 1097-1108
- Buels, K. S. and Fryer, A. D. (2012) 'Muscarinic Receptor Antagonists: Effects on Pulmonary Function'. in *Muscarinic Receptors*. ed. by Anon: Springer, 317-341
- Buhl, R. and Banerji, D. (2012) 'Profile of Glycopyrronium for Once-Daily Treatment of Moderate-to-Severe COPD'. International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease 7, 729-741
- Buja, L. M. (2005) 'Myocardial Ischemia and Reperfusion Injury'. *Cardiovascular Pathology* 14 (4), 170-175
- Bujak, M. and Frangogiannis, N. G. (2007) 'The Role of TGF-B Signaling in Myocardial Infarction and Cardiac Remodeling'. *Cardiovascular Research* 74 (2), 184-195
- Bulluck, H., Yellon, D. M., and Hausenloy, D. J. (2016) 'Reducing Myocardial Infarct Size: Challenges and Future Opportunities'. *Heart (British Cardiac Society)* 102 (5), 341-348
- Bünemann, M. and Hosey, M. M. (1999) 'G-protein Coupled Receptor Kinases as Modulators of G-protein Signalling'. *The Journal of Physiology* 517 (1), 5-23

- Burridge, P. W., Li, Y. F., Matsa, E., Wu, H., Ong, S., Sharma, A., Holmström, A., Chang, A.
 C., Coronado, M. J., and Ebert, A. D. (2016) 'Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell-Derived Cardiomyocytes Recapitulate the Predilection of Breast Cancer Patients to Doxorubicin-Induced Cardiotoxicity'. *Nature Medicine* 22 (5), 547-556
- Cadenas, S. (2018) 'ROS and Redox Signaling in Myocardial Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury and Cardioprotection'. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*
- Calverley, P. M. and Scott, S. (2006) 'Is Airway Inflammation in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) a Risk Factor for Cardiovascular Events?'. *COPD: Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease* 3 (4), 233-242
- Candilio, L. (2016) 'Reducing Myocardial Infarct Size by Remote Ischemic Conditioning'. *Heart and Metabolism*, 36
- Cardin, S., Li, D., Thorin-Trescases, N., Leung, T., Thorin, E., and Nattel, S. (2003) 'Evolution of the Atrial Fibrillation Substrate in Experimental Congestive Heart Failure: Angiotensin-Dependent and-Independent Pathways'. *Cardiovascular Research* 60 (2), 315-325
- Cardinale, D., Biasillo, G., Salvatici, M., Sandri, M. T., and Cipolla, C. M. (2017) 'Using Biomarkers to Predict and to Prevent Cardiotoxicity of Cancer Therapy'. *Expert Review* of Molecular Diagnostics 17 (3), 245-256
- Cardinale, D., Colombo, A., Torrisi, R., Sandri, M. T., Civelli, M., Salvatici, M., Lamantia, G., Colombo, N., Cortinovis, S., Dessanai, M. A., Nole, F., Veglia, F., and Cipolla, C. M. (2010) 'Trastuzumab-Induced Cardiotoxicity: Clinical and Prognostic Implications of Troponin I Evaluation'. *Journal of Clinical Oncology: Official Journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology* 28 (25), 3910-3916
- Carocho, M. and Ferreira, I. C. (2013) 'A Review on Antioxidants, Prooxidants and Related Controversy: Natural and Synthetic Compounds, Screening and Analysis Methodologies and Future Perspectives'. *Food and Chemical Toxicology* 51, 15-25
- Carrizzo, A., Forte, M., Damato, A., Trimarco, V., Salzano, F., Bartolo, M., Maciag, A., Puca,
 A. A., and Vecchione, C. (2013) 'Antioxidant Effects of Resveratrol in Cardiovascular,
 Cerebral and Metabolic Diseases'. *Food and Chemical Toxicology* 61, 215-226
- Carter, N. J. (2013) 'Inhaled Glycopyrronium Bromide: A Review of its use in Patients with Moderate to Severe Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease'. *Drugs* 73 (7), 741-753
- Casarosa, P., Kiechle, T., Sieger, P., Pieper, M., and Gantner, F. (2010) 'The Constitutive Activity of the Human Muscarinic M3 Receptor Unmasks Differences in the

Pharmacology of Anticholinergics'. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics* 333 (1), 201-209

- Castino, R., Thepparit, C., Bellio, N., Murphy, D., and Isidoro, C. (2008) 'Akt Induces Apoptosis in Neuroblastoma Cells Expressing a C98X Vasopressin Mutant Following Autophagy Suppression'. *Journal of Neuroendocrinology* 20 (10), 1165-1175
- Caulfield, M. P. and Birdsall, N. J. (1998) 'International Union of Pharmacology. XVII. Classification of Muscarinic Acetylcholine Receptors'. *Pharmacological Reviews* 50 (2), 279-290
- Cazzola, M., Calzetta, L., Rinaldi, B., Page, C., Rosano, G., Rogliani, P., and Matera, M. G. (2017a) 'Management of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease in Patients with Cardiovascular Diseases'. *Drugs* 77 (7), 721-732
- Cazzola, M., Calzetta, L., Rogliani, P., and Matera, M. G. (2017b) 'Tiotropium Formulations and Safety: A Network Meta-Analysis'. *Therapeutic Advances in Drug Safety* 8 (1), 17-30
- Cazzola, M., Calzetta, L., Matera, M. G., Muscoli, S., Rogliani, P., and Romeo, F. (2015) 'Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease and Coronary Disease: COPDCoRi, a Simple and Effective Algorithm for Predicting the Risk of Coronary Artery Disease in COPD Patients'. *Respiratory Medicine*
- Cazzola, M., Rogliani, P., and Matera, M. G. (2015) 'Cardiovascular Disease in Patients with COPD'. *The Lancet Respiratory Medicine*
- Cazzola, M. and Page, C. (2014) 'Long-Acting Bronchodilators in COPD: Where are we Now and Where are we Going?'. *Breathe* 10 (2), 110-120
- Cazzola, M., Page, C. P., and Matera, M. G. (2013) 'Aclidinium Bromide for the Treatment of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease'. *Expert Opinion on Pharmacotherapy* 14 (9), 1205-1214
- Cazzola, M., Rogliani, P., Segreti, A., and Matera, M. G. (2012a) 'An Update on Bronchodilators in Phase I and II Clinical Trials'. *Expert Opinion on Investigational Drugs* 21 (10), 1489-1501
- Cazzola, M., Segreti, A., and Matera, M. G. (2013) 'New Developments in the Combination Treatment of COPD: Focus on Umeclidinium/Vilanterol'. *Drug Design, Development and Therapy* 7, 1201-1208

- Cazzola, M., Page, C. P., Calzetta, L., and Matera, M. G. (2012b) 'Pharmacology and Therapeutics of Bronchodilators'. *Pharmacological Reviews* 64 (3), 450-504
- Celli, B., Decramer, M., Kesten, S., Liu, D., Mehra, S., and Tashkin, D. P. (2009) 'Mortality in the 4-Year Trial of Tiotropium (UPLIFT) in Patients with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease'. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 180 (10), 948-955
- Chaanine, A. H. and Hajjar, R. J. (2011) 'AKT Signalling in the Failing Heart'. *European Journal* of Heart Failure 13 (8), 825-829
- Chan, A. Y., Dolinsky, V. W., Soltys, C. L., Viollet, B., Baksh, S., Light, P. E., and Dyck, J. R.
 (2008) 'Resveratrol Inhibits Cardiac Hypertrophy Via AMP-Activated Protein Kinase and Akt'. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 283 (35), 24194-24201
- Chandra, M., Miriyala, S., and Panchatcharam, M. (2017) 'PPARγ and its Role in Cardiovascular Diseases'. *PPAR Research* 2017
- Chauhan, A., Mullins, P. A., Thuraisingham, S. I., Taylor, G., Petch, M. C., and Schofield, P. M. (1994) 'Effect of Transcutaneous Electrical Nerve Stimulation on Coronary Blood Flow'. *Circulation* 89 (2), 694-702
- Chen, J., Sun, X., Shao, R., Xu, Y., Gao, J., and Liang, W. (2017a) 'VEGF siRNA Delivered by Polycation Liposome-Encapsulated Calcium Phosphate Nanoparticles for Tumor Angiogenesis Inhibition in Breast Cancer'. *International Journal of Nanomedicine* 12, 6075
- Chen, L., Xiao, H., Wang, Z. H., Huang, Y., Liu, Z. P., Ren, H., and Song, H. (2014) 'miR-29a Suppresses Growth and Invasion of Gastric Cancer Cells in Vitro by Targeting VEGF-A'. *BMB Reports* 47 (1), 39-44
- Chen, Y., Ba, L., Huang, W., Liu, Y., Pan, H., Mingyao, E., Shi, P., Wang, Y., Li, S., Qi, H., Sun, H., and Cao, Y. (2017b) *Role of Carvacrol in Cardioprotection Against Myocardial Ischemia/Reperfusion Injury in Rats through Activation of MAPK/ERK and Akt/eNOS Signaling Pathways* [online]. available from <http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0014299916307695>
- Cheng, J., Xu, L., Lai, D., Guilbert, A., Lim, H. J., Keskanokwong, T., and Wang, Y. (2012) 'CaMKII Inhibition in Heart Failure, Beneficial, Harmful, Or Both'. *American Journal of Physiology.Heart and Circulatory Physiology* 302 (7), H1454-65
- Chi, M., Evans, H., Gilchrist, J., Mayhew, J., Hoffman, A., Pearsall, E. A., Jankowski, H., Brzozowski, J. S., and Skelding, K. A. (2016) 'Phosphorylation of Calcium/Calmodulin-

Stimulated Protein Kinase II at T286 Enhances Invasion and Migration of Human Breast Cancer Cells'. *Scientific Reports* 6, 33132

- Chouchani, E. T., Pell, V. R., Gaude, E., Aksentijevic, D., Sundier, S. Y., Robb, E. L., Logan, A., Nadtochiy, S. M., Ord, E. N. J., Smith, A. C., Eyassu, F., Shirley, R., Hu, C. H., Dare, A. J., James, A. M., Rogatti, S., Hartley, R. C., Eaton, S., Costa, A. S. H., Brookes, P. S., Davidson, S. M., Duchen, M. R., Saeb-Parsy, K., Shattock, M. J., Robinson, A. J., Work, L. M., Frezza, C., Krieg, T., and Murphy, M. P. (2014) 'Ischaemic Accumulation of Succinate Controls Reperfusion Injury through Mitochondrial ROS'. *Nature* 515 (7527), 431-435
- Chung, K. F. and Adcock, I. M. (2008) 'Multifaceted Mechanisms in COPD: Inflammation, Immunity, and Tissue Repair and Destruction'. *The European Respiratory Journal* 31 (6), 1334-1356
- Church, A., Beerahee, M., Brooks, J., Mehta, R., and Shah, P. (2014) 'Dose Response of Umeclidinium Administered Once Or Twice Daily in Patients with COPD: A Randomised Cross-Over Study'. *BMC Pulmonary Medicine* 14 (1), 1
- Ciamporcero, E., Miles, K. M., Adelaiye, R., Ramakrishnan, S., Shen, L., Ku, S., Pizzimenti, S., Sennino, B., Barrera, G., and Pili, R. (2015) 'Combination Strategy Targeting VEGF and HGF/C-Met in Human Renal Cell Carcinoma Models'. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics* 14 (1), 101-110
- Circu, M. L. and Aw, T. Y. (2010) 'Reactive Oxygen Species, Cellular Redox Systems, and Apoptosis'. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 48 (6), 749-762
- Clapham, D. E. (2007) 'Calcium Signaling'. Cell 131 (6), 1047-1058
- Clarke, B. (2008) 'Normal Bone Anatomy and Physiology'. *Clinical Journal of the American* Society of Nephrology: CJASN 3 Suppl 3, S131-9
- Clarke, S. J., McStay, G. P., and Halestrap, A. P. (2002) 'Sanglifehrin A Acts as a Potent Inhibitor of the Mitochondrial Permeability Transition and Reperfusion Injury of the Heart by Binding to Cyclophilin-D at a Different Site from Cyclosporin A'. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277 (38), 34793-34799
- Cohen, M. V., Yang, X. M., Liu, G. S., Heusch, G., and Downey, J. M. (2001) 'Acetylcholine, Bradykinin, Opioids, and Phenylephrine, but Not Adenosine, Trigger Preconditioning by Generating Free Radicals and Opening Mitochondrial K(ATP) Channels'. *Circulation Research* 89 (3), 273-278

- Coloma, P. M., Trifirò, G., Patadia, V., and Sturkenboom, M. (2013) 'Postmarketing Safety Surveillance'. *Drug Safety* 36 (3), 183-197
- Communal, C., Singh, K., Pimentel, D. R., and Colucci, W. S. (1998) 'Norepinephrine Stimulates Apoptosis in Adult Rat Ventricular Myocytes by Activation of the Beta-Adrenergic Pathway'. *Circulation* 98 (13), 1329-1334
- Condorelli, G., Drusco, A., Stassi, G., Bellacosa, A., Roncarati, R., Iaccarino, G., Russo, M. A., Gu, Y., Dalton, N., Chung, C., Latronico, M. V., Napoli, C., Sadoshima, J., Croce, C. M., and Ross, J., Jr (2002) 'Akt Induces Enhanced Myocardial Contractility and Cell Size in Vivo in Transgenic Mice'. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 99 (19), 12333-12338
- Cooke, R. M., Brown, A. J. H., Marshall, F. H., and Mason, J. S. (2015) *Structures of G Protein-Coupled Receptors Reveal New Opportunities for Drug Discovery* [online]. available from http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1359644615003190
- Cooper, S. L., Sandhu, H., Hussain, A., Mee, C., and Maddock, H. (2018) *Involvement of Mitogen Activated Kinase Kinase 7 Intracellular Signalling Pathway in Sunitinib-Induced Cardiotoxicity* [online]. available from <http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0300483X17303645>
- Cornwell, W. D., Kim, V., Song, C., and Rogers, T. J. (2010) 'Pathogenesis of Inflammation and Repair in Advanced COPD'. *Seminars in Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 31 (3), 257-266
- Coskun, S., Yuksel, H., Tikiz, H., and Danahaliloğlu, S. (2001) 'Standard Dose of Inhaled Albuterol significantly Increases QT Dispersion Compared to Low Dose of Albuterol Plus Ipratropium Bromide Therapy in Moderate to Severe Acute Asthma Attacks in Children'. *Pediatrics International* 43 (6), 631-636
- Coulson, F. R. and Fryer, A. D. (2003) 'Muscarinic Acetylcholine Receptors and Airway Diseases'. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics* 98 (1), 59-69
- Crompton, M. (1999) 'The Mitochondrial Permeability Transition Pore and its Role in Cell Death'. *The Biochemical Journal* 341 (Pt 2) (Pt 2), 233-249
- Cross, M., Berridge, B., Clements, P., Cove-Smith, L., Force, T., Hoffmann, P., Holbrook, M., Lyon, A., Mellor, H., and Norris, A. (2015) 'Physiological, Pharmacological and Toxicological Considerations of Drug-induced Structural Cardiac Injury'. *British Journal* of Pharmacology 172 (4), 957-974

- Crossman, D. C. (2004) 'The Pathophysiology of Myocardial Ischaemia'. *Heart* 90 (15), 576-580
- Csiszar, A. (2011) 'Anti-inflammatory Effects of Resveratrol: Possible Role in Prevention of Age-related Cardiovascular Disease'. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 1215 (1), 117-122
- Cung, T., Morel, O., Cayla, G., Rioufol, G., Garcia-Dorado, D., Angoulvant, D., Bonnefoy-Cudraz, E., Guérin, P., Elbaz, M., and Delarche, N. (2015) 'Cyclosporine before PCI in Patients with Acute Myocardial Infarction'. *New England Journal of Medicine* 373 (11), 1021-1031
- Cunningham, K. S. and Gotlieb, A. I. (2005) 'The Role of Shear Stress in the Pathogenesis of Atherosclerosis'. *Laboratory Investigation* 85 (1), 9-23
- Daheshia, M. (2005) 'Pathogenesis of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD)'. *Clinical and Applied Immunology Reviews* 5 (5), 339-351
- Dai, D. and Rabinovitch, P. S. (2009) 'Cardiac Aging in Mice and Humans: The Role of Mitochondrial Oxidative Stress'. *Trends in Cardiovascular Medicine* 19 (7), 213-220
- Danesh, J., Wheeler, J. G., Hirschfield, G. M., Eda, S., Eiriksdottir, G., Rumley, A., Lowe, G. D., Pepys, M. B., and Gudnason, V. (2004) 'C-Reactive Protein and Other Circulating Markers of Inflammation in the Prediction of Coronary Heart Disease'. *New England Journal of Medicine* 350 (14), 1387-1397
- Das, A., Salloum, F. N., Durrant, D., Ockaili, R., and Kukreja, R. C. (2012) 'Rapamycin Protects Against Myocardial Ischemia–reperfusion Injury through JAK2–STAT3 Signaling Pathway'. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology* 53 (6), 858-869
- Das, T. P., Suman, S., John, A. S. P., Pal, D., Edwards, A., Alatassi, H., Ankem, M. K., and Damodaran, C. (2016) 'Activation of AKT Negatively Regulates the Pro-Apoptotic Function of Death-Associated Protein Kinase 3 (DAPK3) in Prostate Cancer'. *Cancer Letters* 377 (2), 134-139
- Das, D. K. and Maulik, N. (2006) 'Resveratrol in Cardioprotection: A Therapeutic Promise of Alternative Medicine'. *Molecular Interventions* 6 (1), 36-47
- Davidson, S. M., Hausenloy, D., Duchen, M. R., and Yellon, D. M. (2006) 'Signalling Via the Reperfusion Injury Signalling Kinase (RISK) Pathway Links Closure of the Mitochondrial Permeability Transition Pore to Cardioprotection'. *The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology* 38 (3), 414-419

- Deavall, D. G., Martin, E. A., Horner, J. M., and Roberts, R. (2012) 'Drug-Induced Oxidative Stress and Toxicity'. *Journal of Toxicology* 2012
- Decramer, M., Maltais, F., Feldman, G., Brooks, J., Harris, S., Mehta, R., and Crater, G. (2013) 'Bronchodilation of Umeclidinium, a New Long-Acting Muscarinic Antagonist, in COPD Patients'. *Respiratory Physiology & Neurobiology* 185 (2), 393-399
- Dernek, S., Ikizler, M., Erkasap, N., Ergun, B., Koken, T., Yilmaz, K., Sevin, B., Kaygisiz, Z., and Kural, T. (2004) 'Cardioprotection with Resveratrol Pretreatment: Improved Beneficial Effects Over Standard Treatment in Rat Hearts After Global Ischemia'. *Scandinavian Cardiovascular Journal* 38 (4), 245-254
- Devasagayam, T., Tilak, J., Boloor, K., Sane, K. S., Ghaskadbi, S. S., and Lele, R. (2004) 'Free Radicals and Antioxidants in Human Health: Current Status and Future Prospects'. *Japi* 52 (10), 794-804
- Dhalla, N. S. and Duhamel, T. A. (2007) 'The Paradoxes of Reperfusion in the Ischemic Heart'. *Heart Metab* 37, 31-34
- Dhein, S., Van Koppen, C. J., and Brodde, O. (2001) 'Muscarinic Receptors in the Mammalian Heart'. *Pharmacological Research* 44 (3), 161-182
- Di Carlo, M. N., Said, M., Ling, H., Valverde, C. A., De Giusti, V. C., Sommese, L., Palomeque, J., Aiello, E. A., Skapura, D. G., and Rinaldi, G. (2014) 'CaMKII-Dependent Phosphorylation of Cardiac Ryanodine Receptors Regulates Cell Death in Cardiac Ischemia/Reperfusion Injury'. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology* 74, 274-283
- Di Lisa, F., Menabo, R., Canton, M., Barile, M., and Bernardi, P. (2001) 'Opening of the Mitochondrial Permeability Transition Pore Causes Depletion of Mitochondrial and Cytosolic NAD+ and is a Causative Event in the Death of Myocytes in Postischemic Reperfusion of the Heart'. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 276 (4), 2571-2575
- Díaz-Muñoz, M., Álvarez-Pérez, M. A., Yáñez, L., Vidrio, S., Martínez, L., Rosas, G., Yáñez, M., Ramírez, S., and de Sánchez, V. C. (2006) 'Correlation between Oxidative Stress and Alteration of Intracellular Calcium Handling in Isoproterenol-Induced Myocardial Infarction'. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry* 289 (1-2), 125-136
- DiFrancesco, D. (2010) 'The Role of the Funny Current in Pacemaker Activity'. *Circulation Research* 106 (3), 434-446

- Donohue, J. F., Maleki-Yazdi, M., Kilbride, S., Mehta, R., Kalberg, C., and Church, A. (2013) 'Efficacy and Safety of Once-Daily Umeclidinium/Vilanterol 62.5/25 Mcg in COPD'. *Respiratory Medicine* 107 (10), 1538-1546
- Dorn, G. W. and Maack, C. (2013) 'SR and Mitochondria: Calcium Cross-Talk between Kissing Cousins'. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology* 55, 42-49
- Du, R. H., Dai, T., Cao, W. J., Lu, M., Ding, J. H., and Hu, G. (2014) 'Kir6.2-Containing ATP-Sensitive K(+) Channel is Required for Cardioprotection of Resveratrol in Mice'. *Cardiovascular Diabetology* 13, 35-2840-13-35
- Duran, J. M., Makarewich, C. A., Trappanese, D., Gross, P., Husain, S., Dunn, J., Lal, H., Sharp, T. E., Starosta, T., Vagnozzi, R. J., Berretta, R. M., Barbe, M., Yu, D., Gao, E., Kubo, H., Force, T., and Houser, S. R. (2014) 'Sorafenib Cardiotoxicity Increases Mortality After Myocardial Infarction'. *Circulation Research* 114 (11), 1700-1712
- D'Urzo, A. (2013) 'Role of Once-Daily Glycopyrronium Bromide (NVA237) in the Management of COPD'. *Therapeutics and Clinical Risk Management* 9, 341-353
- Edinger, A. L. and Thompson, C. B. (2004) 'Death by Design: Apoptosis, Necrosis and Autophagy'. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology* 16 (6), 663-669
- Eefting, F., Rensing, B., Wigman, J., Pannekoek, W. J., Liu, W. M., Cramer, M. J., Lips, D. J., and Doevendans, P. A. (2004) 'Role of Apoptosis in Reperfusion Injury'. *Cardiovascular Research* 61 (3), 414-426
- Eglen, R. M. (2012) 'Overview of Muscarinic Receptor Subtypes'. in *Muscarinic Receptors*. ed. by Anon: Springer, 3-28
- Ekert, P., Silke, J., and Vaux, D. (1999) 'Caspase Inhibitors.' *Cell Death & Differentiation* 6 (11)
- Eltzschig, H. K. and Collard, C. D. (2004) 'Vascular Ischaemia and Reperfusion Injury'. *British Medical Bulletin* 70, 71-86
- Enomoto, D., Obana, M., Miyawaki, A., Maeda, M., Nakayama, H., and Fujio, Y. (2015) 'Cardiac-Specific Ablation of the STAT3 Gene in the Subacute Phase of Myocardial Infarction Exacerbated Cardiac Remodeling'. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology* 309 (3), H471-H480
- Epstein, F. H. and Ross, R. (1999) 'Atherosclerosis an Inflammatory Disease'. *New England Journal of Medicine* 340 (2), 115-126

- Ermak, G. and Davies, K. J. (2002) 'Calcium and Oxidative Stress: From Cell Signaling to Cell Death'. *Molecular Immunology* 38 (10), 713-721
- Fabregat-Andrés, Ó, Ridocci-Soriano, F., Estornell-Erill, J., Corbí-Pascual, M., Valle-Muñoz, A., Berenguer-Jofresa, A., Barrabés, J. A., Mata, M., and Monsalve, M. (2015) 'Blood PGC-1α Concentration Predicts Myocardial Salvage and Ventricular Remodeling After ST-Segment Elevation Acute Myocardial Infarction'. *Revista Española De Cardiología (English Edition)* 68 (5), 408-416
- Fabregat-Andrés, Ó, Tierrez, A., Mata, M., Estornell-Erill, J., Ridocci-Soriano, F., and Monsalve, M. (2011) 'Induction of PGC-1α Expression can be Detected in Blood Samples of Patients with ST-Segment Elevation Acute Myocardial Infarction'. *PloS One* 6 (11), e26913
- Fakharnia, F., Khodagholi, F., Dargahi, L., and Ahmadiani, A. (2017) 'Prevention of Cyclophilin D-Mediated mPTP Opening using Cyclosporine-A Alleviates the Elevation of Necroptosis, Autophagy and Apoptosis-Related Markers Following Global Cerebral Ischemia-Reperfusion'. *Journal of Molecular Neuroscience* 61 (1), 52-60
- Falk, E. (2006) 'Pathogenesis of Atherosclerosis'. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 47 (8s1), C7-C12
- Farber, J. L. (1990) 'The Role of Calcium in Lethal Cell Injury'. *Chemical Research in Toxicology* 3 (6), 503-508
- Fearnley, C. J., Roderick, H. L., and Bootman, M. D. (2011) 'Calcium Signaling in Cardiac Myocytes'. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 3 (11), a004242
- Ferdinandy, P. and Schulz, R. (2003) 'Nitric Oxide, Superoxide, and Peroxynitrite in Myocardial Ischaemia-reperfusion Injury and Preconditioning'. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 138 (4), 532-543
- Filippone, S. M., Samidurai, A., Roh, S. K., Cain, C. K., He, J., Salloum, F. N., Kukreja, R. C., and Das, A. (2017) 'Reperfusion Therapy with Rapamycin Attenuates Myocardial Infarction through Activation of AKT and ERK'. *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity* 2017
- Finegold, J. A., Asaria, P., and Francis, D. P. (2013) 'Mortality from Ischaemic Heart Disease by Country, Region, and Age: Statistics from World Health Organisation and United Nations'. *International Journal of Cardiology* 168 (2), 934-945

- Finkelstein, J., Cha, E., and Scharf, S. M. (2009) 'Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease as an Independent Risk Factor for Cardiovascular Morbidity'. *International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease* 4, 337-349
- Fischer, T. H., Herting, J., Tirilomis, T., Renner, A., Neef, S., Toischer, K., Ellenberger, D., Forster, A., Schmitto, J. D., Gummert, J., Schondube, F. A., Hasenfuss, G., Maier, L. S., and Sossalla, S. (2013) 'Ca2+/Calmodulin-Dependent Protein Kinase II and Protein Kinase A Differentially Regulate Sarcoplasmic Reticulum Ca2+ Leak in Human Cardiac Pathology'. *Circulation* 128 (9), 970-981
- Fisher, P. W., Salloum, F., Das, A., Hyder, H., and Kukreja, R. C. (2005) 'Phosphodiesterase-5 Inhibition with Sildenafil Attenuates Cardiomyocyte Apoptosis and Left Ventricular Dysfunction in a Chronic Model of Doxorubicin Cardiotoxicity'. *Circulation* 111 (13), 1601-1610
- Fisk, M., McEniery, C. M., Gale, N., Maki-Petaja, K., Forman, J. R., Munnery, M., Woodcock-Smith, J., Cheriyan, J., Mohan, D., Fuld, J., Tal-Singer, R., Polkey, M. I., Cockcroft, J. R., Wilkinson, I. B., and ERICA Consortium and ACCT Investigators (2018) 'Surrogate Markers of Cardiovascular Risk and Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease: A Large Case-Controlled Study'. *Hypertension (Dallas, Tex.: 1979)* 71 (3), 499-506
- Fiuza, M. and Magalhães, A. (2012) *Trastuzumab and Cardiotoxicity*.: INTECH Open Access Publisher
- Florea, V. G. and Cohn, J. N. (2014) 'The Autonomic Nervous System and Heart Failure'. *Circulation Research* 114 (11), 1815-1826
- Force, T., Krause, D. S., and Van Etten, R. A. (2007) 'Molecular Mechanisms of Cardiotoxicity of Tyrosine Kinase Inhibition'. *Nature Reviews Cancer* 7 (5), 332-344
- Fordjour, P. A., Wang, Y., Shi, Y., Agyemang, K., Akinyi, M., Zhang, Q., and Fan, G. (2015)
 'Possible Mechanisms of C reactive protein Mediated Acute Myocardial Infarction'. *European Journal of Pharmacology* 760, 72-80
- Frangogiannis, N. G., Smith, C. W., and Entman, M. L. (2002) 'The Inflammatory Response in Myocardial Infarction'. *Cardiovascular Research* 53 (1), 31-47
- Fujio, Y., Nguyen, T., Wencker, D., Kitsis, R. N., and Walsh, K. (2000) 'Akt Promotes Survival of Cardiomyocytes in Vitro and Protects Against Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury in Mouse Heart'. *Circulation* 101 (6), 660-667
- Galiuto, L., Rebuzzi, A. G., and Crea, F. (2009) 'The no-Reflow Phenomenon'. JACC: Cardiovascular Imaging 2 (1), 85-86

- Ganey, P. E., Carter, L. S., Mueller, R. A., and Thurman, R. G. (1991) 'Doxorubicin Toxicity in Perfused Rat Heart. Decreased Cell Death at Low Oxygen Tension'. *Circulation Research* 68 (6), 1610-1613
- Gao, L., Blair, L. A., and Marshall, J. (2006) 'CaMKII-Independent Effects of KN93 and its Inactive Analog KN92: Reversible Inhibition of L-Type Calcium Channels.'. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 345 (4), 1606-1610
- Gao, F., Gao, E., Yue, T. L., Ohlstein, E. H., Lopez, B. L., Christopher, T. A., and Ma, X. L. (2002) 'Nitric Oxide Mediates the Antiapoptotic Effect of Insulin in Myocardial Ischemia-Reperfusion: The Roles of PI3-Kinase, Akt, and Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase Phosphorylation'. *Circulation* 105 (12), 1497-1502
- Garcia-Dorado, D., Ruiz-Meana, M., Inserte, J., Rodriguez-Sinovas, A., and Piper, H. M. (2012) 'Calcium-Mediated Cell Death during Myocardial Reperfusion'. *Cardiovascular Research* 94 (2), 168-180
- Garlid, K. D., Costa, A. D., Quinlan, C. L., Pierre, S. V., and Dos Santos, P. (2009) 'Cardioprotective Signaling to Mitochondria'. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology* 46 (6), 858-866
- Garlid, K. D., Dos Santos, P., Xie, Z., Costa, A. D., and Paucek, P. (2003) 'Mitochondrial Potassium Transport: The Role of the Mitochondrial ATP-Sensitive K Channel in Cardiac Function and Cardioprotection'. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Bioenergetics* 1606 (1), 1-21
- Gavalda, A., Miralpeix, M., Ramos, I., Otal, R., Carreno, C., Vinals, M., Domenech, T., Carcasona, C., Reyes, B., Vilella, D., Gras, J., Cortijo, J., Morcillo, E., Llenas, J., Ryder, H., and Beleta, J. (2009) 'Characterization of Aclidinium Bromide, a Novel Inhaled Muscarinic Antagonist, with Long Duration of Action and a Favorable Pharmacological Profile'. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics* 331 (2), 740-751
- Gharanei, M., Hussain, A., Janneh, O., and Maddock, H. (2013a) 'Doxorubicin Induced Myocardial Injury is Exacerbated Following Ischaemic Stress Via Opening of the Mitochondrial Permeability Transition Pore'. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology* 268 (2), 149-156
- Gharanei, M., Hussain, A., Janneh, O., and Maddock, H. (2013b) 'Attenuation of Doxorubicin-Induced Cardiotoxicity by Mdivi-1: A Mitochondrial Division/Mitophagy Inhibitor'. *PloS One* 8 (10), e77713

- Gill, C., Mestril, R., and Samali, A. (2002) 'Losing Heart: The Role of Apoptosis in Heart Disease--a Novel Therapeutic Target?'. *FASEB Journal: Official Publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology* 16 (2), 135-146
- Giordano, F. J. (2005) 'Oxygen, Oxidative Stress, Hypoxia, and Heart Failure'. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 115 (3), 500-508
- Gomez, A., Bellido, I., and Sanchez de la Cuesta, F. (1995) 'Atropine and Glycopyrronium show Similar Binding Patterns to M2 (Cardiac) and M3 (Submandibular Gland) Muscarinic Receptor Subtypes in the Rat'. *British Journal of Anaesthesia* 74 (5), 549-552
- Gordan, R., Gwathmey, J. K., and Xie, L. H. (2015) 'Autonomic and Endocrine Control of Cardiovascular Function'. *World Journal of Cardiology* 7 (4), 204-214
- Gorski, P. A., Ceholski, D. K., and Hajjar, R. J. (2015) 'Altered Myocardial Calcium Cycling and Energetics in Heart Failure—a Rational Approach for Disease Treatment'. *Cell Metabolism* 21 (2), 183-194
- Gosens, R., Kistemaker, L., Elzinga, C., Tautermann, C., Pieper, M., Seeliger, D., Schmidt, M., and Meurs, H. (2017) 'Secondary Allosteric M3 Receptor Binding for Tiotropium: Implications for Bronchoprotection and Functional Interactions with LABAs'. *European Respiratory Journal* 50 (61)
- Gosens, R., Zaagsma, J., Meurs, H., and Halayko, A. J. (2006) 'Muscarinic Receptor Signaling in the Pathophysiology of Asthma and COPD'. *Respir Res* 7 (1), 73
- Green, D. R. (2005) 'Apoptotic Pathways: Ten Minutes to Dead'. Cell 121 (5), 671-674
- Greenberg, M. L., Uretsky, B. F., Reddy, P. S., Bernstein, R. L., Griffith, B. P., Hardesty, R. L., Thompson, M. E., and Bahnson, H. T. (1985) 'Long-Term Hemodynamic Follow-Up of Cardiac Transplant Patients Treated with Cyclosporine and Prednisone'. *Circulation* 71 (3), 487-494
- Griendling, K. K. and FitzGerald, G. A. (2003) 'Oxidative Stress and Cardiovascular Injury: Part I: Basic Mechanisms and in Vivo Monitoring of ROS'. *Circulation* 108 (16), 1912-1916
- Griendling, K. K., Sorescu, D., Lassegue, B., and Ushio-Fukai, M. (2000) 'Modulation of Protein Kinase Activity and Gene Expression by Reactive Oxygen Species and their Role in Vascular Physiology and Pathophysiology'. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology 20 (10), 2175-2183

- Griffiths, E. J. and Halestrap, A. P. (1995) 'Mitochondrial Non-Specific Pores Remain Closed during Cardiac Ischaemia, but Open upon Reperfusion'. *The Biochemical Journal* 307 (Pt 1) (Pt 1), 93-98
- Grimm, M., Ling, H., and Brown, J. H. (2011) 'Crossing Signals: Relationships between Beta-Adrenergic Stimulation and CaMKII Activation'. *Heart Rhythm* 8 (8), 1296-1298
- Grosso, A., Douglas, I., Hingorani, A. D., MacAllister, R., Hubbard, R., and Smeeth, L. (2009) 'Inhaled Tiotropium Bromide and Risk of Stroke'. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology* 68 (5), 731-736
- Guite, H. F., Dundas, R., and Burney, P. G. (1999) 'Risk Factors for Death from Asthma, Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease, and Cardiovascular Disease After a Hospital Admission for Asthma'. *Thorax* 54 (4), 301-307
- Gupta, S. K., Bang, C., and Thum, T. (2010) 'Circulating microRNAs as Biomarkers and Potential Paracrine Mediators of Cardiovascular Disease'. *Circulation: Genomic and Precision Medicine* 3 (5), 484-488
- Gurusamy, N., Lekli, I., Mukherjee, S., Ray, D., Ahsan, M. K., Gherghiceanu, M., Popescu, L.
 M., and Das, D. K. (2009) 'Cardioprotection by Resveratrol: A Novel Mechanism Via
 Autophagy Involving the mTORC2 Pathway'. *Cardiovascular Research* 86 (1), 103-112
- Gyulkhandanyan, A. V., Mutlu, A., Freedman, J., and Leytin, V. (2015) 'Mitochondrial Permeability Transition Pore (MPTP)-dependent And-independent Pathways of Mitochondrial Membrane Depolarization, Cell Shrinkage and Microparticle Formation during Platelet Apoptosis'. *British Journal of Haematology* 169 (1), 142-145
- Häggblad Sahlberg, S., Mortensen, A. C., Haglöf, J., Engskog, M. K., Arvidsson, T., Pettersson, C., Glimelius, B., Stenerlöw, B., and Nestor, M. (2017) 'Different Functions of AKT1 and AKT2 in Molecular Pathways, Cell Migration and Metabolism in Colon Cancer Cells'. *International Journal of Oncology* 50 (1), 5-14
- Hahn, V. S., Lenihan, D. J., and Ky, B. (2014) 'Cancer Therapy-Induced Cardiotoxicity: Basic Mechanisms and Potential Cardioprotective Therapies'. *Journal of the American Heart Association* 3 (2), e000665
- Halestrap, A. P. and Richardson, A. P. (2015) 'The Mitochondrial Permeability Transition: A Current Perspective on its Identity and Role in Ischaemia/Reperfusion Injury'. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology* 78, 129-141

- Halestrap, A. P. and Pasdois, P. (2009) 'The Role of the Mitochondrial Permeability Transition Pore in Heart Disease'. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Bioenergetics* 1787 (11), 1402-1415
- Halestrap, A. (2006) 'Calcium, Mitochondria and Reperfusion Injury: A Pore Way to Die'. Biochemical Society Transactions 34 (2), 232-237
- Halestrap, A. P., Clarke, S. J., and Javadov, S. A. (2004) 'Mitochondrial Permeability Transition Pore Opening during Myocardial Reperfusion--a Target for Cardioprotection'. *Cardiovascular Research* 61 (3), 372-385
- Halpin, D. M., Dahl, R., Hallmann, C., Mueller, A., and Tashkin, D. (2015) 'Tiotropium HandiHaler ((R)) and Respimat ((R)) in COPD: A Pooled Safety Analysis'. *International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease* 10, 239-259
- Hamilton, S. E., Hardouin, S. N., Anagnostaras, S. G., Murphy, G. G., Richmond, K. N., Silva,
 A. J., Feigl, E. O., and Nathanson, N. M. (2001) 'Alteration of Cardiovascular and
 Neuronal Function in M 1 Knockout Mice'. *Life Sciences* 68 (22), 2489-2493
- Hamilton, K. L. (2007) 'Antioxidants and Cardioprotection'. *Medicine and Science in Sports* and Exercise 39 (9), 1544-1553
- Hamlaoui, S., Mokni, M., Limam, N., Carrier, A., Limam, F., Amri, M., Marzouki, L., and Aouani, E. (2012) 'Resveratrol Protects Against Acute Chemotherapy Toxicity Induced by Doxorubicin in Rat Erythrocyte and Plasma'. *Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology* 63 (3), 293
- Han, J., Wang, H., Yan, D., Wang, Z., Han, H., Zhu, H., and Li, X. (2010) 'Myocardial Ischaemic and Diazoxide Preconditioning both Increase PGC-1α and Reduce Mitochondrial Damage'. Acta Cardiologica 65 (6), 639-644
- Han, S. I., Kim, Y. S., and Kim, T. H. (2008) 'Role of Apoptotic and Necrotic Cell Death Under Physiologic Conditions'. *BMB Reports* 41 (1), 1-10
- Hanania, N. A., Lareau, S. C., and Yawn, B. P. (2017) 'Safety of Inhaled Long-Acting Anti-Muscarinic Agents in COPD'. *Postgraduate Medicine*, 1-13
- Hang, P., Zhao, J., Qi, J., Wang, Y., Wu, J., and Du, Z. (2013) 'Novel Insights into the Pervasive Role of M3 Muscarinic Receptor in Cardiac Diseases'. *Current Drug Targets* 14 (3), 372-377
- Hansson, G. K. (2005) 'Inflammation, Atherosclerosis, and Coronary Artery Disease'. *New England Journal of Medicine* 352 (16), 1685-1695

- Hansson, G. K., Libby, P., Schonbeck, U., and Yan, Z. Q. (2002) 'Innate and Adaptive Immunity in the Pathogenesis of Atherosclerosis'. *Circulation Research* 91 (4), 281-291
- Hao, X., Silva, E. A., Månsson-Broberg, A., Grinnemo, K., Siddiqui, A. J., Dellgren, G., Wärdell, E., Brodin, L. Å, Mooney, D. J., and Sylvén, C. (2007) 'Angiogenic Effects of Sequential Release of VEGF-A165 and PDGF-BB with Alginate Hydrogels After Myocardial Infarction'. *Cardiovascular Research* 75 (1), 178-185
- Haq, S., Choukroun, G., Lim, H., Tymitz, K. M., del Monte, F., Gwathmey, J., Grazette, L., Michael, A., Hajjar, R., Force, T., and Molkentin, J. D. (2001) 'Differential Activation of Signal Transduction Pathways in Human Hearts with Hypertrophy Versus Advanced Heart Failure'. *Circulation* 103 (5), 670-677
- Harada, M., Qin, Y., Takano, H., Minamino, T., Zou, Y., Toko, H., Ohtsuka, M., Matsuura, K., Sano, M., and Nishi, J. (2005) 'G-CSF Prevents Cardiac Remodeling After Myocardial Infarction by Activating the Jak-Stat Pathway in Cardiomyocytes'. *Nature Medicine* 11 (3), 305
- Harada, M., Luo, X., Murohara, T., Yang, B., Dobrev, D., and Nattel, S. (2014) 'MicroRNA Regulation and Cardiac Calcium Signaling: Role in Cardiac Disease and Therapeutic Potential'. *Circulation Research* 114 (4), 689-705
- Hardouin, S. N., Richmond, K. N., Zimmerman, A., Hamilton, S. E., Feigl, E. O., and Nathanson, N. M. (2002) 'Altered Cardiovascular Responses in Mice Lacking the M(1) Muscarinic Acetylcholine Receptor'. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics* 301 (1), 129-137
- Harr, M. W. and Distelhorst, C. W. (2010) 'Apoptosis and Autophagy: Decoding Calcium Signals that Mediate Life Or Death'. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 2 (10), a005579
- Harvey, R. D. (2012) 'Muscarinic Receptor Agonists and Antagonists: Effects on Cardiovascular Function'. in *Muscarinic Receptors*. ed. by Anon: Springer, 299-316
- Harvey, R. D. and Belevych, A. E. (2003) 'Muscarinic Regulation of Cardiac Ion Channels'. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 139 (6), 1074-1084
- Harvey, K. L., Hussain, A., and Maddock, H. L. (2014) 'Ipratropium Bromide-Mediated Myocardial Injury in in Vitro Models of Myocardial Ischaemia/Reperfusion'. *Toxicological Sciences: An Official Journal of the Society of Toxicology* 138 (2), 457-467
- Hausenloy, D. J. (2016) 'Reducing Myocardial Infarct Size: Myth Or Reality'. *Heart and Metabolism*, 2

- Hausenloy, D. J. and Yellon, D. M. (2015) 'Targeting Myocardial Reperfusion Injury—the Search Continues'. *The New England Journal of Medicine* 373 (11), 1073-1075
- Hausenloy, D. J., Tsang, A., and Yellon, D. M. (2005) 'The Reperfusion Injury Salvage Kinase
 Pathway: A Common Target for both Ischemic Preconditioning and Postconditioning'.
 Trends in Cardiovascular Medicine 15 (2), 69-75
- Hausenloy, D. J., Maddock, H. L., Baxter, G. F., and Yellon, D. M. (2002) 'Inhibiting Mitochondrial Permeability Transition Pore Opening: A New Paradigm for Myocardial Preconditioning?'. Cardiovascular Research 55 (3), 534-543
- Hausenloy, D. J. and Yellon, D. M. (2013) 'Myocardial Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury: A Neglected Therapeutic Target'. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 123 (1), 92-100
- Hausenloy, D. J., Lim, S. Y., Ong, S. G., Davidson, S. M., and Yellon, D. M. (2010)
 'Mitochondrial Cyclophilin-D as a Critical Mediator of Ischaemic Preconditioning'. *Cardiovascular Research* 88 (1), 67-74
- Hausenloy, D. J. and Yellon, D. M. (2006) 'Survival Kinases in Ischemic Preconditioning and Postconditioning'. *Cardiovascular Research* 70 (2), 240-253
- Hausenloy, D. J. and Yellon, D. M. (2004) 'New Directions for Protecting the Heart Against Ischaemia-Reperfusion Injury: Targeting the Reperfusion Injury Salvage Kinase (RISK)-Pathway'. Cardiovascular Research 61 (3), 448-460
- Hawkins, N. M., Wang, D., Petrie, M. C., Pfeffer, M. A., Swedberg, K., Granger, C. B., Yusuf, S., Solomon, S. D., Östergren, J., and Michelson, E. L. (2010) 'Baseline Characteristics and Outcomes of Patients with Heart Failure Receiving Bronchodilators in the CHARM Programme'. *European Journal of Heart Failure* 12 (6), 557-565
- Hayashi, H., Al Mamun, A., Sakima, M., and Sato, M. (2016) 'Activator of G-Protein Signaling
 8 is Involved in VEGF-Mediated Signal Processing during Angiogenesis'. *Journal of Cell* Science 129 (6), 1210-1222
- Heeschen, C., Dimmeler, S., Hamm, C. W., Boersma, E., Zeiher, A. M., Simoons, M. L., and CAPTURE (c7E3 Anti-Platelet Therapy in Unstable REfractory angina) Investigators (2003) 'Prognostic Significance of Angiogenic Growth Factor Serum Levels in Patients with Acute Coronary Syndromes'. *Circulation* 107 (4), 524-530
- Heo, S. H., Cho, C., Kim, H. O., Jo, Y. H., Yoon, K., Lee, J. H., Park, J., Park, K. C., Ahn, T., and Chung, K. C. (2011) 'Plaque Rupture is a Determinant of Vascular Events in Carotid Artery Atherosclerotic Disease: Involvement of Matrix Metalloproteinases 2 and 9'. *Journal of Clinical Neurology* 7 (2), 69-76

- Herr, D. J., Aune, S. E., and Menick, D. R. (2015) 'Induction and Assessment of Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury in Langendorff-Perfused Rat Hearts'. *Journal of Visualized Experiments: JoVE* (101):e52908. doi (101), e52908
- Heusch, G. (2013) 'Cardioprotection: Chances and Challenges of its Translation to the Clinic'. *The Lancet* 381 (9861), 166-175
- Heusch, G., Musiolik, J., Gedik, N., and Skyschally, A. (2011) 'Mitochondrial STAT3 Activation and Cardioprotection by Ischemic Postconditioning in Pigs with Regional Myocardial Ischemia/Reperfusion'. *Circulation Research* 109 (11), 1302-1308
- Hilleman, D. E., Malesker, M. A., Morrow, L. E., and Schuller, D. (2009) 'A Systematic Review of the Cardiovascular Risk of Inhaled Anticholinergics in Patients with COPD'. *International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease* 4, 253-263
- Hole, L. D., Larsen, T. H., Fossan, K. O., Limé, F., and Schjøtt, J. (2013) 'A Short-Time Model to Study Relevant Indices of Cardiotoxicity of Doxorubicin in the Rat'. *Toxicology Mechanisms and Methods* 23 (6), 412-418
- Hornigold, D. C., Mistry, R., Raymond, P. D., Blank, J. L., and John Challiss, R. (2003) 'Evidence for Cross-talk between M2 and M3 Muscarinic Acetylcholine Receptors in the Regulation of Second Messenger and Extracellular Signal-regulated Kinase Signalling Pathways in Chinese Hamster Ovary Cells'. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 138 (7), 1340-1350
- Houghton, A. M. (2013) 'Mechanistic Links between COPD and Lung Cancer'. *Nature Reviews Cancer* 13 (4), 233-245
- Hu, P., Han, Z., Couvillon, A. D., and Exton, J. H. (2004) 'Critical Role of Endogenous Akt/IAPs and MEK1/ERK Pathways in Counteracting Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress-Induced Cell Death'. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 279 (47), 49420-49429
- Huang, K., Fang, W., Li, A. F., Liang, P., Wu, C., Shyr, Y., and Yang, M. (2018) 'Caspase-3, a Key Apoptotic Protein, as a Prognostic Marker in Gastric Cancer After Curative Surgery'. *International Journal of Surgery* 52, 258-263
- Huang, Z., Li, H., Guo, F., Jia, Q., Zhang, Y., Liu, X., and Shi, G. (2009) 'Egr-1, the Potential Target of Calcium Channel Blockers in Cardioprotection with Ischemia/Reperfusion Injury in Rats'. *Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry: International Journal of Experimental Cellular Physiology, Biochemistry, and Pharmacology* 24 (1-2), 17-24
- Huiart, L., Ernst, P., and Suissa, S. (2005) 'Cardiovascular Morbidity and Mortality in COPD'. *CHEST Journal* 128 (4), 2640-2646

- Hung, L., Su, M., Chu, W., Chiao, C., Chan, W., and Chen, J. (2002) 'The Protective Effect of Resveratrols on Ischaemia-reperfusion Injuries of Rat Hearts is Correlated with Antioxidant Efficacy'. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 135 (7), 1627-1633
- Hung, L., Su, M., and Chen, J. (2004) 'Resveratrol Protects Myocardial Ischemia–reperfusion Injury through both NO-Dependent and NO-Independent Mechanisms'. Free Radical Biology and Medicine 36 (6), 774-781
- Ibáñez, B., Heusch, G., Ovize, M., and Van de Werf, F. (2015) 'Evolving Therapies for Myocardial Ischemia/Reperfusion Injury'. Journal of the American College of Cardiology 65 (14), 1454-1471
- Igić, R. (1996) 'The Isolated Perfused "working" Rat Heart: A New Method'. Journal of Pharmacological and Toxicological Methods 35 (2), 63-67
- Inamura, Y., Miyamae, M., Sugioka, S., Domae, N., and Kotani, J. (2010) 'Sevoflurane Postconditioning Prevents Activation of Caspase 3 and 9 through Antiapoptotic Signaling After Myocardial Ischemia–reperfusion'. *Journal of Anesthesia* 24 (2), 215-224
- Iribarren, C., Phelps, B. H., Darbinian, J. A., McCluskey, E. R., Quesenberry, C. P., Hytopoulos, E., Vogelman, J. H., and Orentreich, N. (2011) 'Circulating Angiopoietins -1 and-2, Angiopoietin Receptor Tie-2 and Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor-A as Biomarkers of Acute Myocardial Infarction: A Prospective Nested Case-Control Study'. BMC Cardiovascular Disorders 11 (1), 31
- Ishikawa, S., Kuno, A., Tanno, M., Miki, T., Kouzu, H., Itoh, T., Sato, T., Sunaga, D., Murase,
 H., and Miura, T. (2012) 'Role of Connexin-43 in Protective PI3K-Akt-GSK-3beta
 Signaling in Cardiomyocytes'. *American Journal of Physiology.Heart and Circulatory Physiology* 302 (12), H2536-44
- Izem-Meziane, M., Djerdjouri, B., Rimbaud, S., Caffin, F., Fortin, D., Garnier, A., Veksler, V., Joubert, F., and Ventura-Clapier, R. (2011) 'Catecholamine-Induced Cardiac Mitochondrial Dysfunction and mPTP Opening: Protective Effect of Curcumin'. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology* 302 (3), H665-H674
- Jaeschke, H., McGill, M. R., and Ramachandran, A. (2012) 'Oxidant Stress, Mitochondria, and Cell Death Mechanisms in Drug-Induced Liver Injury: Lessons Learned from Acetaminophen Hepatotoxicity'. *Drug Metabolism Reviews* 44 (1), 88-106
- Jaffe, R., Charron, T., Puley, G., Dick, A., and Strauss, B. H. (2008) 'Microvascular Obstruction and the no-Reflow Phenomenon After Percutaneous Coronary Intervention'. *Circulation* 117 (24), 3152-3156

- Jara, M., Wentworth, C., 3rd, and Lanes, S. (2012) 'A New User Cohort Study Comparing the Safety of Long-Acting Inhaled Bronchodilators in COPD'. *BMJ Open* 2 (3), 10.1136/bmjopen-2012-000841. Print 2012
- Jeong, S. Y. and Seol, D. W. (2008) 'The Role of Mitochondria in Apoptosis'. *BMB Reports* 41 (1), 11-22
- Jin, Z. and El-Deiry, W. S. (2005) 'Review Overview of Cell Death Signaling Pathways'. *Cancer Biology & Therapy* 4 (2), 139-163
- Johnson, L. R., Scott, M. G., and Pitcher, J. A. (2004) 'G Protein-Coupled Receptor Kinase 5 Contains a DNA-Binding Nuclear Localization Sequence'. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 24 (23), 10169-10179
- Joiner, M. A., Olha, K., M, Li, J., He, B. J., Allamargot, C., Gao, Z., Luczak, E. D., Hall, D. D., Fink, B. D., and Chen, B. (2012) 'CaMKII Determines Mitochondrial Stress Responses in Heart'. *Nature* 491 (7423), 269-273
- Jones, P. W., Rennard, S. I., Agusti, A., Chanez, P., Magnussen, H., Fabbri, L., Donohue, J. F., Bateman, E. D., Gross, N. J., and Lamarca, R. (2011) 'Efficacy and Safety of Once-Daily Aclidinium in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease'. *Respiratory Research* 12 (1), 1
- Jones, P. W., Singh, D., Bateman, E. D., Agusti, A., Lamarca, R., de Miquel, G., Segarra, R., Caracta, C., and Garcia Gil, E. (2012) 'Efficacy and Safety of Twice-Daily Aclidinium Bromide in COPD Patients: The ATTAIN Study'. *The European Respiratory Journal* 40 (4), 830-836
- Joos, G., Schelfhout, V., Pauwels, R., Kanniess, F., Magnussen, H., Lamarca, R., Jansat, J., and Gil, E. G. (2010) 'Bronchodilatory Effects of Aclidinium Bromide, a Long-Acting Muscarinic Antagonist, in COPD Patients'. *Respiratory Medicine* 104 (6), 865-872
- Joyeux, M., Arnaud, C., Godin-Ribuot, D., Demenge, P., Lamontagne, D., and Ribuot, C. (2002) 'Endocannabinoids are Implicated in the Infarct Size-Reducing Effect Conferred by Heat Stress Preconditioning in Isolated Rat Hearts'. *Cardiovascular Research* 55 (3), 619-625
- Kajiya, M., Ichimonji, I., Min, C., Zhu, T., Jin, J. O., Yu, Q., Almazrooa, S. A., Cha, S., and Kawai, T. (2012) 'Muscarinic Type 3 Receptor Induces Cytoprotective Signaling in Salivary Gland Cells through Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Transactivation'. *Molecular Pharmacology* 82 (1), 115-124
- Kakinuma, Y., Ando, M., Kuwabara, M., Katare, R. G., Okudela, K., Kobayashi, M., and Sato,T. (2005) 'Acetylcholine from Vagal Stimulation Protects Cardiomyocytes Against

Ischemia and Hypoxia Involving Additive Non-Hypoxic Induction of HIF-1 α '. FEBS Letters 579 (10), 2111-2118

- Kang, S. and Lebeche, D. (2013) 'Myocardial Calcium Signaling in Physiology and Disease'. Journal of Receptor, Ligand and Channel Research 6, 1-13
- Kang, Y. J., Li, Y., Sun, X., and Sun, X. (2003) 'Antiapoptotic Effect and Inhibition of Ischemia/Reperfusion-Induced Myocardial Injury in Metallothionein-Overexpressing Transgenic Mice'. *The American Journal of Pathology* 163 (4), 1579-1586
- Karakiulakis, G. and Roth, M. (2012) 'Muscarinic Receptors and their Antagonists in COPD: Anti-Inflammatory and Antiremodeling Effects'. *Mediators of Inflammation* 2012
- Karch, J., Schips, T. G., Maliken, B. D., Brody, M. J., Sargent, M. A., Kanisicak, O., and Molkentin, J. D. (2017) 'Autophagic Cell Death is Dependent on Lysosomal Membrane Permeability through Bax and Bak'. *eLife* 6, 10.7554/eLife.30543
- Karch, J., Kwong, J. Q., Burr, A. R., Sargent, M. A., Elrod, J. W., Peixoto, P. M., Martinez-Caballero, S., Osinska, H., Cheng, E. H., Robbins, J., Kinnally, K. W., and Molkentin, J. D. (2013) 'Bax and Bak Function as the Outer Membrane Component of the Mitochondrial Permeability Pore in Regulating Necrotic Cell Death in Mice'. *eLife* 2, e00772
- Karner, C., Chong, J., and Poole, P. (2014) 'Tiotropium Versus Placebo for Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease'. *The Cochrane Library*
- Katritch, V., Cherezov, V., and Stevens, R. C. (2012) 'Diversity and Modularity of G Protein-Coupled Receptor Structures'. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences* 33 (1), 17-27
- Katritch, V., Cherezov, V., and Stevens, R. C. (2013) 'Structure-Function of the G Protein-Coupled Receptor Superfamily'. *Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology* 53, 531-556
- Kawabata, K. I., Netticadan, T., Osada, M., Tamura, K., and Dhalla, N. S. (2000) 'Mechanisms of Ischemic Preconditioning Effects on Ca(2+) Paradox-Induced Changes in Heart'. *American Journal of Physiology.Heart and Circulatory Physiology* 278 (3), H1008-15
- Kesten, S., Jara, M., Wentworth, C., and Lanes, S. (2006) 'Pooled Clinical Trial Analysis of Tiotropium Safety'. *Chest* 130 (6), 1695-1703
- Kew, K. M., Dias, S., and Cates, C. J. (2014) 'Long-acting Inhaled Therapy (Beta-agonists, Anticholinergics and Steroids) for COPD: A Network Meta-analysis'. *The Cochrane Library*

- Khilnani, G. and Khilnani, A. K. (2011) 'Inverse Agonism and its Therapeutic Significance'. Indian Journal of Pharmacology 43 (5), 492-501
- Khoo, M. S., Li, J., Singh, M. V., Yang, Y., Kannankeril, P., Wu, Y., Grueter, C. E., Guan, X., Oddis, C. V., Zhang, R., Mendes, L., Ni, G., Madu, E. C., Yang, J., Bass, M., Gomez, R. J., Wadzinski, B. E., Olson, E. N., Colbran, R. J., and Anderson, M. E. (2006) 'Death, Cardiac Dysfunction, and Arrhythmias are Increased by Calmodulin Kinase II in Calcineurin Cardiomyopathy'. *Circulation* 114 (13), 1352-1359
- Kim, A. S. and Johnston, S. C. (2011) 'Global Variation in the Relative Burden of Stroke and Ischemic Heart Disease'. *Circulation* 124 (3), 314-323
- King, R. E., Bomser, J. A., and Min, D. B. (2006) 'Bioactivity of Resveratrol'. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety* 5 (3), 65-70
- Kinnally, K. W., Peixoto, P. M., Ryu, S., and Dejean, L. M. (2011) 'Is mPTP the Gatekeeper for Necrosis, Apoptosis, Or both?'. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular Cell Research* 1813 (4), 616-622
- Kitakaze, M., Asanuma, H., Takashima, S., Minamino, T., Ueda, Y., Sakata, Y., Asakura, M., Sanada, S., Kuzuya, T., and Hori, M. (2000) 'Nifedipine-Induced Coronary Vasodilation in Ischemic Hearts is Attributable to Bradykinin- and NO-Dependent Mechanisms in Dogs'. *Circulation* 101 (3), 311-317
- Kloner, R. A. and Braunwald, E. (2016) 'Intravenous Beta-Blockade for Limiting Myocardial Infarct Size'. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 67 (18), 2105 - 2107
- Kloner, R. A. and Przyklenk, K. (1990) 'Progress in Cardioprotection: The Role of Calcium Antagonists'. *The American Journal of Cardiology* 66 (18), H2-H9
- Klose, R., Krzywinska, E., Castells, M., Gotthardt, D., Putz, E. M., Kantari-Mimoun, C., Chikdene, N., Meinecke, A., Schrödter, K., and Helfrich, I. (2016) 'Targeting VEGF-A in Myeloid Cells Enhances Natural Killer Cell Responses to Chemotherapy and Ameliorates Cachexia'. *Nature Communications* 7, 12528
- Knezl, V., Kysel'ova, Z., Zurova-Nedelcevova, J., Navarova, J., Tribulova, N., and Drimal, J. (2006) 'Effect of Acetylcholine and Ischaemia/Reperfusion Injury on the Heart of Rats with STZ-Induced Experimental Diabetes'. *Neuro Endocrinology Letters* 27 Suppl 2, 144-147
- Koehorst-ter Huurne, K., Groothuis-Oudshoorn, C. G., DLPM vanderValk, P., Movig, K. L., van der Palen, J., and Brusse-Keizer, M. (2018) 'Association between Poor Therapy Adherence to Inhaled Corticosteroids and Tiotropium and Morbidity and Mortality in

Patients with COPD'. International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease 13, 1683

- Koehorst-ter Huurne, K., Movig, K., van der Palen, J., and Brusse-Keizer, M. (2013) 'The Influence of Type of Inhalation Device on Adherence of COPD Patients to Inhaled Medication'. *European Respiratory Journal* 42
- Kohout, T. A. and Lefkowitz, R. J. (2003) 'Regulation of G Protein-Coupled Receptor Kinases and Arrestins during Receptor Desensitization'. *Molecular Pharmacology* 63 (1), 9-18
- Kong, S., Liu, J., Yu, X., Lu, Y., and Zang, W. (2012) 'Protection Against Ischemia-Induced Oxidative Stress Conferred by Vagal Stimulation in the Rat Heart: Involvement of the AMPK-PKC Pathway'. International Journal of Molecular Sciences 13 (11), 14311-14325
- Kranz, A., Rau, C., Kochs, M., and Waltenberger, J. (2000) 'Elevation of Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor-A Serum Levels Following Acute Myocardial Infarction. Evidence for its Origin and Functional Significance'. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology* 32 (1), 65-72
- Krebs, J., Agellon, L. B., and Michalak, M. (2015) 'Ca 2 Homeostasis and Endoplasmic Reticulum (ER) Stress: An Integrated View of Calcium Signaling'. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 460 (1), 114-121
- Krieg, T., Qin, Q., Philipp, S., Alexeyev, M. F., Cohen, M. V., and Downey, J. M. (2004) 'Acetylcholine and Bradykinin Trigger Preconditioning in the Heart through a Pathway that Includes Akt and NOS'. *American Journal of Physiology.Heart and Circulatory Physiology* 287 (6), H2606-11
- Kristian, T. and Siesjo, B. K. (1998) 'Calcium in Ischemic Cell Death'. *Stroke; a Journal of Cerebral Circulation* 29 (3), 705-718
- Kruse, A. C., Kobilka, B. K., Gautam, D., Sexton, P. M., Christopoulos, A., and Wess, J. (2014a)
 'Muscarinic Acetylcholine Receptors: Novel Opportunities for Drug Development'. Nature Reviews Drug Discovery 13 (7), 549
- Kruse, A. C., Li, J., Hu, J., Kobilka, B. K., and Wess, J. (2014b) 'Novel Insights into M3 Muscarinic Acetylcholine Receptor Physiology and Structure'. *Journal of Molecular Neuroscience* 53 (3), 316-323
- Kruse, A. C., Hu, J., Pan, A. C., Arlow, D. H., Rosenbaum, D. M., Rosemond, E., Green, H. F., Liu, T., Chae, P. S., and Dror, R.O. (2012) 'Structure and Dynamics of the M3 Muscarinic Acetylcholine Receptor'. *Nature* 482 (7386), 552-556

- Krysko, D. V., Berghe, T. V., D'Herde, K., and Vandenabeele, P. (2008) 'Apoptosis and Necrosis: Detection, Discrimination and Phagocytosis'. *Methods* 44 (3), 205-221
- Kudelova, J., Fleischmannova, J., Adamova, E., and Matalova, E. (2015) 'Pharmacological Caspase Inhibitors: Research Towards Therapeutic Perspectives'. *J Physiol Pharmacol* 66 (4), 473-482
- Kumar, R., Sehgal, V., Kaur, B., and Kaur, R. (2012) 'Cardiodepressant Activity of Newer Dihydropyrimidine Derivative in Comparison to Nifedipine on Perfused Rabbits Heart.'
- Kumarswamy, R., Lyon, A. R., Volkmann, I., Mills, A. M., Bretthauer, J., Pahuja, A., Geers-Knörr, C., Kraft, T., Hajjar, R. J., and Macleod, K. T. (2012) 'SERCA2a Gene Therapy Restores microRNA-1 Expression in Heart Failure Via an Akt/FoxO3A-Dependent Pathway'. *European Heart Journal* 33 (9), 1067-1075
- Kung, G., Konstantinidis, K., and Kitsis, R. N. (2011) 'Programmed Necrosis, Not Apoptosis, in the Heart'. *Circulation Research* 108 (8), 1017-1036
- LaCroix, C., Freeling, J., Giles, A., Wess, J., and Li, Y. F. (2008) 'Deficiency of M2 Muscarinic Acetylcholine Receptors Increases Susceptibility of Ventricular Function to Chronic Adrenergic Stress'. *American Journal of Physiology.Heart and Circulatory Physiology* 294 (2), H810-20
- Lakatta, E. G. and Levy, D. (2003) 'Arterial and Cardiac Aging: Major Shareholders in Cardiovascular Disease Enterprises: Part I: Aging Arteries: A "Set Up" for Vascular Disease'. *Circulation* 107 (1), 139-146
- Lakhani, S. A., Masud, A., Kuida, K., Porter, G. A., Jr, Booth, C. J., Mehal, W. Z., Inayat, I., and Flavell, R. A. (2006) 'Caspases 3 and 7: Key Mediators of Mitochondrial Events of Apoptosis'. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 311 (5762), 847-851
- Lange, M., Smul, T. M., Redel, A., Lotz, C., Jazbutyte, V., Schnupp, V., Roewer, N., and Kehl, F. (2008) 'Differential Role of Calcium/Calmodulin-Dependent Protein Kinase II in Desflurane-Induced Preconditioning and Cardioprotection by MetoprololMetoprolol Blocks Desflurane-Induced Preconditioning'. Anesthesiology: The Journal of the American Society of Anesthesiologists 109 (1), 72-80
- Lateef, R. U., Al-Masri, A. A., and Alyahya, A. M. (2017) 'Langendorff's Isolated Perfused Rat Heart Technique: A Review. '. *International Journal of Basic & Clinical Pharmacology* 4 (6), 1314-1322
- Latif, N., Khan, M. A., Birks, E., O'Farrell, A., Westbrook, J., Dunn, M. J., and Yacoub, M. H. (2000) *Upregulation of the Bcl-2 Family of Proteins in End Stage Heart Failure* [online].

- Ledoux, J., Chartier, D., and Leblanc, N. (1999) 'Inhibitors of Calmodulin-Dependent Protein Kinase are Nonspecific Blockers of Voltage-Dependent K+ Channels in Vascular Myocytes'. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics* 290 (3), 1165-1174
- Lee, E., Kim, J., Kang, Y., Ahn, J., Kim, J., Kim, B., Choi, H., Jeong, M., and Cho, S. (2006) 'Interplay between PI3K/Akt and MAPK Signaling Pathways in DNA-Damaging Drug-Induced Apoptosis'. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular Cell Research* 1763 (9), 958-968
- Lee, K., Santibanez-Koref, M., Polvikoski, T., Birchall, D., Mendelow, A., and Keavney, B. (2013) 'Increased Expression of Fatty Acid Binding Protein 4 and Leptin in Resident Macrophages Characterises Atherosclerotic Plaque Rupture'. *Atherosclerosis* 226 (1), 74-81
- Li, B., Xu, W., Han, L., Chan, K., Tsao, S., Lee, N., Law, S., Xu, L., Li, E., and Chan, K. (2017) 'MicroRNA-377 Suppresses Initiation and Progression of Esophageal Cancer by Inhibiting CD133 and VEGF'. *Oncogene* 36 (28), 3986
- Li, D., Liu, B., Sun, L., Zhao, M., He, X., Yu, X., and Zang, W. (2010) 'Alterations of Muscarinic Acetylcholine Receptors-2, 4 and A7-nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptor Expression After Ischaemia/Reperfusion in the Rat Isolated Heart'. *Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology and Physiology* 37 (12), 1114-1119
- Li, H., Xia, N., and Förstermann, U. (2012) 'Cardiovascular Effects and Molecular Targets of Resveratrol'. *Nitric Oxide* 26 (2), 102-110
- Li, X., Ma, Y., Yang, Y., Liu, F., Chen, B., Han, W., Zhang, J., and Gao, X. (2009a)
 'Downregulation of Survival Signalling Pathways and Increased Apoptosis in the Transition of Pressure Overload-induced Cardiac Hypertrophy to Heart Failure'. *Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology and Physiology* 36 (11), 1054-1061
- Li, D., Qu, X., Hou, K., Zhang, Y., Dong, Q., Teng, Y., Zhang, J., and Liu, Y. (2009b) 'PI3K/Akt is Involved in Bufalin-Induced Apoptosis in Gastric Cancer Cells'. *Anti-Cancer Drugs* 20 (1), 59-64
- Li, J. M., Gall, N. P., Grieve, D. J., Chen, M., and Shah, A. M. (2002) 'Activation of NADPH Oxidase during Progression of Cardiac Hypertrophy to Failure'. *Hypertension (Dallas, Tex.: 1979)* 40 (4), 477-484

from

- Liao, R., Podesser, B. K., and Lim, C. C. (2012) 'The Continuing Evolution of the Langendorff and Ejecting Murine Heart: New Advances in Cardiac Phenotyping'. *American Journal* of Physiology.Heart and Circulatory Physiology 303 (2), H156-67
- Libby, P., Ridker, P. M., and Hansson, G. K. (2011) 'Progress and Challenges in Translating the Biology of Atherosclerosis'. *Nature* 473 (7347), 317-325
- Libby, P. and Theroux, P. (2005) 'Pathophysiology of Coronary Artery Disease'. *Circulation* 111 (25), 3481-3488
- Lin, J., Lin, S., Chih, C., Nien, M., Su, H., Hu, B., Huang, S., and Tsai, S. (2008) 'Resveratrol Reduces Infarct Size and Improves Ventricular Function After Myocardial Ischemia in Rats'. *Life Sciences* 83 (9), 313-317
- Lind, L. (2003) 'Circulating Markers of Inflammation and Atherosclerosis'. *Atherosclerosis* 169 (2), 203-214
- Liou, J., Lin, C. W., Tsai, C., Wang, Y., Lai, J., Hsu, Y., and Wang, M. (eds.) (2018) *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*. 'Risk of Severe Cardiovascular Events from Add-on Tiotropium in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease': Elsevier
- Lipworth, B. and McDevitt, D. (1992) 'Inhaled Beta 2-adrenoceptor Agonists in Asthma: Help Or Hindrance?'. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology* 33 (2), 129-138
- Liu, J., Erlichman, B., and Weinstein, L. S. (2003) 'The Stimulatory G Protein A-Subunit Gsα is Imprinted in Human Thyroid Glands: Implications for Thyroid Function in Pseudohypoparathyroidism Types 1A and 1B'. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 88 (9), 4336-4341
- Liu, H., McPherson, B. C., Zhu, X., Da Costa, M. L., Jeevanandam, V., and Yao, Z. (2001) 'Role of Nitric Oxide and Protein Kinase C in ACh-Induced Cardioprotection'. *American Journal of Physiology.Heart and Circulatory Physiology* 281 (1), H191-7
- Lopez-Neblina, F., Toledo, A. H., and Toledo-Pereyra, L. H. (2005) 'Molecular Biology of Apoptosis in Ischemia and Reperfusion'. *Journal of Investigative Surgery* 18 (6), 335-350
- Los, M., Maddika, S., Erb, B., and Schulze-Osthoff, K. (2009) 'Switching Akt: From Survival Signaling to Deadly Response'. *Bioessays* 31 (5), 492-495
- Lou, Q., Janardhan, A., and Efimov, I. R. (2012) 'Remodeling of Calcium Handling in Human Heart Failure'. in *Calcium Signaling*. ed. by Anon: Springer, 1145-1174

- Loughrey, C., MacEachern, K., Cooper, J., and Smith, G. (2003) 'Measurement of the Dissociation Constant of Fluo-3 for Ca 2 in Isolated Rabbit Cardiomyocytes using Ca 2 Wave Characteristics'. *Cell Calcium* 34 (1), 1-9
- Luczak, E. D. and Anderson, M. E. (2014) 'CaMKII Oxidative Activation and the Pathogenesis of Cardiac Disease'. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology* 73, 112-116
- Luo, J., Busillo, J. M., and Benovic, J. L. (2008) 'M3 Muscarinic Acetylcholine Receptor-Mediated Signaling is Regulated by Distinct Mechanisms'. *Molecular Pharmacology* 74 (2), 338-347
- Lynn, E. G., Stevens, M. V., Wong, R. P., Carabenciov, D., Jacobson, J., Murphy, E., and Sack,
 M. N. (2010) 'Transient Upregulation of PGC-1alpha Diminishes Cardiac Ischemia Tolerance Via Upregulation of ANT1'. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology* 49 (4), 693-698
- Macie, C., Wooldrage, K., Manfreda, J., and Anthonisen, N. (2008) 'Cardiovascular Morbidity and the use of Inhaled Bronchodilators'. *International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease* 3 (1), 163-169
- MacNee, W. (2005) 'Pathogenesis of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease'. *Proceedings* of the American Thoracic Society 2 (4), 258-266
- Madonna, R. (2017) 'Early Diagnosis and Prediction of Anticancer Drug-Induced Cardiotoxicity: From Cardiac Imaging to "Omics" Technologies'. *Revista Española De Cardiología (English Edition)* 70 (7), 576-582
- Madrazo, J. A. and Kelly, D. P. (2008) 'The PPAR Trio: Regulators of Myocardial Energy Metabolism in Health and Disease'. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology* 44 (6), 968-975
- Magyar, K., Halmosi, R., Palfi, A., Feher, G., Czopf, L., Fulop, A., Battyany, I., Sumegi, B., Toth, K., and Szabados, E. (2012) 'Cardioprotection by Resveratrol: A Human Clinical Trial in Patients with Stable Coronary Artery Disease'. *Clinical Hemorheology and Microcirculation* 50 (3), 179-187
- Maldonado, N., Kelly-Arnold, A., Vengrenyuk, Y., Laudier, D., Fallon, J. T., Virmani, R., Cardoso, L., and Weinbaum, S. (2012) 'A Mechanistic Analysis of the Role of Microcalcifications in Atherosclerotic Plaque Stability: Potential Implications for Plaque Rupture'. American Journal of Physiology. Heart and Circulatory Physiology 303 (5), H619-28

- Malerba, M., Morjaria, J. B., and Radaeli, A. (2014) 'Differential Pharma cology and Clinical Utility of Emerging Combination Treatments in the Management of COPD--Role of Umeclidinium/Vilanterol'. *International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease* 9, 687-695
- Mannino, D. M., Homa, D. M., Akinbami, L. J., Ford, E. S., and Redd, S. C. (2002) 'Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Surveillance---United States, 1971--2000'. *Respiratory Care* 76 (10), 1184-1199
- Marinissen, M. J. and Gutkind, J. S. (2001) 'G-Protein-Coupled Receptors and Signaling Networks: Emerging Paradigms'. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences* 22 (7), 368-376
- Marroquin, L. D., Hynes, J., Dykens, J. A., Jamieson, J. D., and Will, Y. (2007) 'Circumventing the Crabtree Effect: Replacing Media Glucose with Galactose Increases Susceptibility of HepG2 Cells to Mitochondrial Toxicants'. *Toxicological Sciences* 97 (2), 539-547
- Marzilli, M., Merz, C. N. B., Boden, W. E., Bonow, R. O., Capozza, P. G., Chilian, W. M., DeMaria, A. N., Guarini, G., Huqi, A., and Morrone, D. (2012) 'Obstructive Coronary Atherosclerosis and Ischemic Heart Disease: An Elusive Link!'. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 60 (11), 951-956
- Matera, M. G., Calzetta, L., Puxeddu, E., Rogliani, P., and Cazzola, M. (2018) 'A Safety Comparison of LABA LAMA Vs LABA ICS Combination Therapy for COPD'. *Expert Opinion on Drug Safety*, 1-9
- Matera, M. G., Page, C. P., and Cazzola, M. (2011) 'Novel Bronchodilators for the Treatment of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease'. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences* 32 (8), 495-506
- Mathioudakis, A. G., Chatzimavridou-Grigoriadou, V., Evangelopoulou, E., Mathioudakis, G.
 A., and Siafakas, N. M. (2014) 'Comparative Mortality Risk of Tiotropium Administered
 Via Handihaler Or Respimat in COPD Patients: Are they Equivalent?'. *Pulmonary Pharmacology & Therapeutics* 28 (2), 91-97
- Matsui, M., Motomura, D., Fujikawa, T., Jiang, J., Takahashi, S., Manabe, T., and Taketo, M.
 M. (2002a) 'Mice Lacking M2 and M3 Muscarinic Acetylcholine Receptors are Devoid of Cholinergic Smooth Muscle Contractions but Still Viable'. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 22 (24), 10627-10632
- Matsui, T., Li, L., Wu, J. C., Cook, S. A., Nagoshi, T., Picard, M. H., Liao, R., and Rosenzweig, A. (2002b) 'Phenotypic Spectrum Caused by Transgenic Overexpression of Activated Akt in the Heart'. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277 (25), 22896-22901

- Matsumura, Y., Saeki, E., Otsu, K., Morita, T., Takeda, H., Kuzuya, T., Hori, M., and Kusuoka,
 H. (2001) 'Intracellular Calcium Level Required for Calpain Activation in a Single
 Myocardial Cell'. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology* 33 (6), 1133-1142
- Mattiazzi, A., Mundiña-Weilenmann, C., Guoxiang, C., Vittone, L., and Kranias, E. (2005) 'Role of Phospholamban Phosphorylation on Thr17 in Cardiac Physiological and Pathological Conditions'. *Cardiovascular Research* 68 (3), 366-375
- Maxwell, S. R. and Lip, G. Y. (1997) 'Reperfusion Injury: A Review of the Pathophysiology, Clinical Manifestations and Therapeutic Options'. *International Journal of Cardiology* 58 (2), 95-117
- McAllister, D. A., Maclay, J. D., Mills, N. L., Mair, G., Miller, J., Anderson, D., Newby, D. E., Murchison, J. T., and MacNee, W. (2007) 'Arterial Stiffness is Independently Associated with Emphysema Severity in Patients with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease'. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 176 (12), 1208-1214
- McCully, J. D., Wakiyama, H., Hsieh, Y., Jones, M., and Levitsky, S. (2004) 'Differential Contribution of Necrosis and Apoptosis in Myocardial Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury'. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology* 55 (5), H1923
- Meguro, T., Hong, C., Asai, K., Takagi, G., McKinsey, T. A., Olson, E. N., and Vatner, S. F. (1999) 'Cyclosporine Attenuates Pressure-Overload Hypertrophy in Mice while Enhancing Susceptibility to Decompensation and Heart Failure'. *Circulation Research* 84 (6), 735-740
- Mentz, R. J., Fiuzat, M., Kraft, M., Lindenfeld, J., and O'Connor, C. M. (2012) 'Bronchodilators in Heart Failure Patients with COPD: Is it Time for a Clinical Trial?'. *Journal of Cardiac Failure* 18 (5), 413-422
- Michele, T. M., Pinheiro, S., and Iyasu, S. (2010) 'The Safety of Tiotropium—the FDA's Conclusions'. *New England Journal of Medicine* 363 (12), 1097-1099
- Milligan, G., Bond, R. A., and Lee, M. (1995) Inverse Agonism: Pharmacological Curiosity OrPotentialTherapeuticStrategy?[online].availablefrom<http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0165614700889634>
- Mills, N. L., Miller, J. J., Anand, A., Robinson, S. D., Frazer, G. A., Anderson, D., Breen, L., Wilkinson, I. B., McEniery, C. M., Donaldson, K., Newby, D. E., and Macnee, W. (2008)
 'Increased Arterial Stiffness in Patients with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease: A Mechanism for Increased Cardiovascular Risk'. *Thorax* 63 (4), 306-311

- Min, T., Bodas, M., Mazur, S., and Vij, N. (2011) 'Critical Role of Proteostasis-Imbalance in Pathogenesis of COPD and Severe Emphysema'. *Journal of Molecular Medicine* 89 (6), 577-593
- Mioni, C., Bazzani, C., Giuliani, D., Altavilla, D., Leone, S., Ferrari, A., Minutoli, L., Bitto, A.,
 Marini, H., and Zaffe, D. (2005) 'Activation of an Efferent Cholinergic Pathway
 Produces Strong Protection Against Myocardial Ischemia/Reperfusion Injury in Rats'.
 Critical Care Medicine 33 (11), 2621-2628
- Mirica, S. N., Duicu, O. M., Răducan, A. M., Sturza, A., Ordodi, V. L., Fira-Mladinescu, O., and Muntean, D. M. (2010) 'Comparable Cardioprotection at Reperfusion by Magnesium Orotate and Cyclosporin A: A Study in Isolated Rat Hearts'. *Bull UASVM Veter Med* 67, 125-130
- Misao, J., Hayakawa, Y., Ohno, M., Kato, S., Fujiwara, T., and Fujiwara, H. (1996) 'Expression of Bcl-2 Protein, an Inhibitor of Apoptosis, and Bax, an Accelerator of Apoptosis, in Ventricular Myocytes of Human Hearts with Myocardial Infarction'. *Circulation* 94 (7), 1506-1512
- Miyamoto, S., Murphy, A. N., and Brown, J. H. (2008) 'Akt Mediates Mitochondrial Protection in Cardiomyocytes through Phosphorylation of Mitochondrial Hexokinase-II'. *Cell Death & Differentiation* 15 (3), 521-529
- Mocanu, M., Baxter, G., and Yellon, D. (2000) 'Caspase Inhibition and Limitation of Myocardial Infarct Size: Protection Against Lethal Reperfusion Injury'. *British Journal* of Pharmacology 130 (2), 197-200
- Mockridge, J. W., Marber, M. S., and Heads, R. J. (2000) 'Activation of Akt during Simulated Ischemia/Reperfusion in Cardiac Myocytes'. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 270 (3), 947-952
- Moens, A., Claeys, M., Timmermans, J., and Vrints, C. (2005) 'Myocardial Ischemia/Reperfusion-Injury, a Clinical View on a Complex Pathophysiological Process'. *International Journal of Cardiology* 100 (2), 179-190
- Mokni, M., Hamlaoui, S., Karkouch, I., Amri, M., Marzouki, L., Limam, F., and Aouani, E. (2013) 'Resveratrol Provides Cardioprotection After Ischemia/Reperfusion Injury Via Modulation of Antioxidant Enzyme Activities'. *Iranian Journal of Pharmaceutical Research: IJPR* 12 (4), 867
- Moore, K. J. and Tabas, I. (2011) 'Macrophages in the Pathogenesis of Atherosclerosis'. *Cell* 145 (3), 341-355

- Mordwinkin, N. M., Burridge, P. W., and Wu, J. C. (2013) 'A Review of Human Pluripotent Stem Cell-Derived Cardiomyocytes for High-Throughput Drug Discovery, Cardiotoxicity Screening, and Publication Standards'. *Journal of Cardiovascular Translational Research* 6 (1), 22-30
- Mott, J. L., Zhang, D., Freeman, J., Mikolajczak, P., Chang, S., and Zassenhaus, H. (2004) 'Cardiac Disease due to Random Mitochondrial DNA Mutations is Prevented by Cyclosporin A'. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 319 (4), 1210-1215
- Muehlschlegel, J. D. (2014) 'Closing the Pore on Reperfusion InjuryMyocardial Protection with Cyclosporine'. *Anesthesiology: The Journal of the American Society of Anesthesiologists* 121 (2), 212-213
- Mukhopadhyay, P., Mukherjee, S., Ahsan, K., Bagchi, A., Pacher, P., and Das, D. K. (2010) 'Restoration of Altered microRNA Expression in the Ischemic Heart with Resveratrol'. *PLoS One* 5 (12), e15705
- Murgia, M. and Rizzuto, R. (2014) 'Molecular Diversity and Pleiotropic Role of the Mitochondrial Calcium Uniporter'. *Cell Calcium*
- Murphy, E. and Steenbergen, C. (2008) 'Mechanisms Underlying Acute Protection from Cardiac Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury'. *Physiological Reviews* 88 (2), 581-609
- Murphy, M. P. (2009) 'How Mitochondria Produce Reactive Oxygen Species'. *The Biochemical Journal* 417 (1), 1-13
- Nagoshi, T., Matsui, T., Aoyama, T., Leri, A., Anversa, P., Li, L., Ogawa, W., del Monte, F., Gwathmey, J. K., Grazette, L., Hemmings, B. A., Kass, D. A., Champion, H. C., and Rosenzweig, A. (2005) 'PI3K Rescues the Detrimental Effects of Chronic Akt Activation in the Heart during Ischemia/Reperfusion Injury'. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 115 (8), 2128-2138
- Nakamura, Y., Asakura, Y., Piras, B. A., Hirai, H., Tastad, C. T., Verma, M., Christ, A. J., Zhang, J., Yamazaki, T., and Yoshiyama, M. (2012) 'Increased Angiogenesis and Improved Left Ventricular Function After Transplantation of Myoblasts Lacking the MyoD Gene into Infarcted Myocardium'. *PLoS One* 7 (7), e41736
- Narasimhan, P., Liu, J., Song, Y.S., Massengale, J.L., and Chan, P.H. (2009) 'VEGF Stimulates the ERK 1/2 Signaling Pathway and Apoptosis in Cerebral Endothelial Cells After Ischemic Conditions'. *Stroke* 40 (4), 1467-1473

- Nasser, S. A., Elmallah, A. I., Sabra, R., Khedr, M. M., El-Din, M. M. M., and El-Mas, M. M. (2014) 'Blockade of Endothelin ET A, but Not Thromboxane, Receptors Offsets the Cyclosporine-Evoked Hypertension and Interrelated Baroreflex and Vascular Dysfunctions'. *European Journal of Pharmacology* 727, 52-59
- Nathan, P. J., Watson, J., Lund, J., Davies, C. H., Peters, G., Dodds, C. M., Swirski, B., Lawrence, P., Bentley, G. D., and O'Neill, B. V. (2013) 'The Potent M1 Receptor Allosteric Agonist GSK1034702 Improves Episodic Memory in Humans in the Nicotine Abstinence Model of Cognitive Dysfunction'. International Journal of Neuropsychopharmacology 16 (4), 721-731
- Negoro, S., Kunisada, K., Tone, E., Funamoto, M., Oh, H., Kishimoto, T., and Yamauchi-Takihara, K. (2000) 'Activation of JAK/STAT Pathway Transduces Cytoprotective Signal in Rat Acute Myocardial Infarction'. *Cardiovascular Research* 47 (4), 797-805
- Nesterov, A., Lu, X., Johnson, M., Miller, G. J., Ivashchenko, Y., and Kraft, A. S. (2001) 'Elevated AKT Activity Protects the Prostate Cancer Cell Line LNCaP from TRAIL-Induced Apoptosis'. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 276 (14), 10767-10774
- Ni, Y. G., Wang, N., Cao, D. J., Sachan, N., Morris, D. J., Gerard, R. D., Kuro-O, M., Rothermel, B. A., and Hill, J. A. (2007) 'FoxO Transcription Factors Activate Akt and Attenuate Insulin Signaling in Heart by Inhibiting Protein Phosphatases'. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 104 (51), 20517-20522
- Nogueira, V., Park, Y., Chen, C., Xu, P., Chen, M., Tonic, I., Unterman, T., and Hay, N. (2008) 'Akt Determines Replicative Senescence and Oxidative Or Oncogenic Premature Senescence and Sensitizes Cells to Oxidative Apoptosis'. *Cancer Cell* 14 (6), 458-470
- O'Sullivan, K., Breen, E., Gallagher, H., Buggy, D., and Hurley, J. (2016) 'Understanding STAT3 Signaling in Cardiac Ischemia'. *Basic Research in Cardiology* 111 (3), 27
- Oba, Y., Zaza, T., and Thameem, D. M. (2008) 'Safety, Tolerability and Risk Benefit Analysis of Tiotropium in COPD'. *International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease* 3 (4), 575-584
- Ockenga, W., Kühne, S., Bocksberger, S., Banning, A., and Tikkanen, R. (2013) 'Non-Neuronal Functions of the M2 Muscarinic Acetylcholine Receptor'. *Genes* 4 (2), 171-197
- Octavia, Y., Tocchetti, C. G., Gabrielson, K. L., Janssens, S., Crijns, H. J., and Moens, A. L. (2012) 'Doxorubicin-Induced Cardiomyopathy: From Molecular Mechanisms to Therapeutic Strategies'. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology* 52 (6), 1213-1225

- Ogale, S. S., Lee, T. A., Au, D. H., Boudreau, D. M., and Sullivan, S. D. (2010) 'Cardiovascular Events Associated with Ipratropium Bromide in COPD'. *CHEST Journal* 137 (1), 13-19
- Ohno, T., Muraki, M., and Tohda, Y. (2015) 'Questionnaire on Switching from the Tiotropium Handihaler to the Respimat Inhaler in Patients with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease: Changes in Handling and Preferences Immediately and several Years After the Switch'. *International Journal of COPD* 10, 69-77
- Okuda, N., Hayashi, T., Mori, T., Inamoto, S., Okabe, M., Mieno, S., Horimoto, H., and Kitaura, Y. (2005) 'Nifedipine Enhances the Cardioprotective Effect of an Angiotensin-II Receptor Blocker in an Experimental Animal Model of Heart Failure'. *Hypertension Research* 28 (5), 431
- Ola, M. S., Nawaz, M., and Ahsan, H. (2011) 'Role of Bcl-2 Family Proteins and Caspases in the Regulation of Apoptosis'. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry* 351 (1-2), 41-58
- Oldenburg, O., Cohen, M. V., Yellon, D. M., and Downey, J. M. (2002) 'Mitochondrial K(ATP) Channels: Role in Cardioprotection'. *Cardiovascular Research* 55 (3), 429-437
- Olsen, C. E., Berg, K., Selbo, P. K., and Weyergang, A. (2013) 'Circumvention of Resistance to Photodynamic Therapy in Doxorubicin-Resistant Sarcoma by Photochemical Internalization of Gelonin'. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 65, 1300-1309
- Olshansky, B., Sabbah, H. N., Hauptman, P. J., and Colucci, W. S. (2008) 'Parasympathetic Nervous System and Heart Failure: Pathophysiology and Potential Implications for Therapy'. *Circulation* 118 (8), 863-871
- Omland, T., Bonarjee, V. V., Nilsen, D. W., Sundsfjord, J. A., Lie, R. T., Thibault, G., and Dickstein, K. (1993) 'Prognostic Significance of N-Terminal Pro-Atrial Natriuretic Factor (1-98) in Acute Myocardial Infarction: Comparison with Atrial Natriuretic Factor (99-126) and Clinical Evaluation'. *British Heart Journal* 70 (5), 409-414
- Onakpoya, I. J., Heneghan, C. J., and Aronson, J. K. (2015) 'Delays in the Post-Marketing Withdrawal of Drugs to which Deaths have been Attributed: A Systematic Investigation and Analysis'. *BMC Medicine* 13, 26-014-0262-7
- O'Neill, B. T. and Abel, E. D. (2005) 'Akt1 in the Cardiovascular System: Friend Or Foe?'. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 115 (8), 2059-2064
- Ong, S., Dongworth, R., Cabrera-Fuentes, H., and Hausenloy, D. (2015a) 'Role of the MPTP in Conditioning the Heart–translatability and Mechanism'. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 172 (8), 2074-2084

- Ong, S., Hall, A. R., Dongworth, R. K., Kalkhoran, S., Pyakurel, A., Scorrano, L., and Hausenloy, D. J. (2015b) 'Akt Protects the Heart Against Ischaemia-Reperfusion Injury by Modulating Mitochondrial Morphology'. *Thromb Haemost* 113 (3), 513-521
- Ong, S. B., Samangouei, P., Kalkhoran, S. B., and Hausenloy, D. J. (2015c) 'The Mitochondrial Permeability Transition Pore and its Role in Myocardial Ischemia Reperfusion Injury'. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology* 78, 23-34
- Onishi, K., Yoshimoto, D., Hagan, G. W., and Jones, P. W. (2014) 'Prevalence of Airflow Limitation in Outpatients with Cardiovascular Diseases in Japan'. *International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease* 9, 563
- Orallo, F., Alvarez, E., Camina, M., Leiro, J. M., Gomez, E., and Fernandez, P. (2002) 'The Possible Implication of Trans-Resveratrol in the Cardioprotective Effects of Long-Term Moderate Wine Consumption'. *Molecular Pharmacology* 61 (2), 294-302
- Orient, A., Donkó, Á, Szabó, A., Leto, T. L., and Geiszt, M. (2007) 'Novel Sources of Reactive Oxygen Species in the Human Body'. *Nephrology Dialysis Transplant* 22, 1281-1288
- Orrenius, S., Gogvadze, V., and Zhivotovsky, B. (2015) 'Calcium and Mitochondria in the Regulation of Cell Death'. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 460 (1), 72-81
- Orrenius, S., Zhivotovsky, B., and Nicotera, P. (2003) 'Regulation of Cell Death: The Calcium–apoptosis Link'. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* 4 (7), 552-565
- Osada, M., Netticadan, T., Kawabata, K., Tamura, K., and Dhalla, N. S. (2000) 'Ischemic Preconditioning Prevents I/R-Induced Alterations in SR Calcium-Calmodulin Protein Kinase II'. *American Journal of Physiology.Heart and Circulatory Physiology* 278 (6), H1791-8
- Oshima, Y., Fujio, Y., Nakanishi, T., Itoh, N., Yamamoto, Y., Negoro, S., Tanaka, K., Kishimoto, T., Kawase, I., and Azuma, J. (2005) 'STAT3 Mediates Cardioprotection Against Ischemia/Reperfusion Injury through Metallothionein Induction in the Heart'. *Cardiovascular Research* 65 (2), 428-435
- Pamukcu, B., Lip, G. Y., and Shantsila, E. (2011) 'The Nuclear Factor–kappa B Pathway in Atherosclerosis: A Potential Therapeutic Target for Atherothrombotic Vascular Disease'. *Thrombosis Research* 128 (2), 117-123
- Pan, Z., Guo, Y., Qi, H., Fan, K., Wang, S., Zhao, H., Fan, Y., Xie, J., Guo, F., and Hou, Y. (2012)
 'M3 Subtype of Muscarinic Acetylcholine Receptor Promotes Cardioprotection Via the Suppression of miR-376b-5p'. *PloS One* 7 (3), e32571

- Pasdois, P., Parker, J. E., Griffiths, E. J., and Halestrap, A. P. (2011) 'The Role of Oxidized Cytochrome C in Regulating Mitochondrial Reactive Oxygen Species Production and its Perturbation in Ischaemia'. *Biochemical Journal* 436 (2), 493-505
- Patane, S. (2014) 'M3 Muscarinic Acetylcholine Receptor in Cardiology and Oncology'. International Journal of Cardiology 177 (2), 646-649
- Patel, A. R., Kowlessar, B. S., Donaldson, G. C., Mackay, A. J., Singh, R., George, S. N., Garcha, D. S., Wedzicha, J. A., and Hurst, J. R. (2013) 'Cardiovascular Risk, Myocardial Injury, and Exacerbations of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease'. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 188 (9), 1091-1099
- Patel, A. R., Donaldson, G. C., Mackay, A. J., Wedzicha, J. A., and Hurst, J. R. (2012) 'The Impact of Ischemic Heart Disease on Symptoms, Health Status, and Exacerbations in Patients with COPD'. *CHEST Journal* 141 (4), 851-857
- Pathak, A., Smih, F., Galinier, M., Verwaerde, P., Rouet, P., Philip-Couderc, P., Montastruc, J., and Senard, J. (2005) 'Insulin Downregulates M2-Muscarinic Receptors in Adult Rat Atrial Cardiomyocytes: A Link between Obesity and Cardiovascular Complications'. *International Journal of Obesity* 29 (2), 176-182
- Pellicena, P. and Schulman, H. (2014) 'CaMKII Inhibitors: From Research Tools to Therapeutic Agents'. *CaMKII in Cardiac Health and Disease*, 14
- Perde, F., Yanni, J., Dermengiu, D., and Dobrzynski, H. (2015) 'Funny Current and Sudden Cardiac Death'. *Rom J Leg Med* 23, 95-100
- Petroff, M. G. V., Kim, S. H., Pepe, S., Dessy, C., Marbán, E., Balligand, J., and Sollott, S. J. (2001) 'Endogenous Nitric Oxide Mechanisms Mediate the Stretch Dependence of Ca2 Release in Cardiomyocytes'. *Nature Cell Biology* 3 (10), 867-873
- Pfeffer, M. A., Pfeffer, J. M., Fishbein, M. C., Fletcher, P. J., Spadaro, J., Kloner, R. A., and Braunwald, E. (1979) 'Myocardial Infarct Size and Ventricular Function in Rats'. *Circulation Research* 44 (4), 503-512
- Picciotto, M. R., Higley, M. J., and Mineur, Y. S. (2012) 'Acetylcholine as a Neuromodulator: Cholinergic Signaling Shapes Nervous System Function and Behavior'. *Neuron* 76 (1), 116-129
- Pieper, M. P. (2012) 'The Non-Neuronal Cholinergic System as Novel Drug Target in the Airways'. *Life Sciences* 91 (21), 1113-1118

- Pijl, A. J., Pfaffendorf, M., Mathy, M. J., and van Zwieten, P. A. (1993) 'Cardioprotection by Nifedipine in Isolated Working Hearts: A Comparative Study on Three Different Types of Experimental Ischemia'. *Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology* 21 (1), 70-76
- Pinton, P., Giorgi, C., Siviero, R., Zecchini, E., and Rizzuto, R. (2008) 'Calcium and Apoptosis: ER-Mitochondria Ca2+ Transfer in the Control of Apoptosis'. *Oncogene* 27 (50), 6407-6418
- Piot, C., Croisille, P., Staat, P., Thibault, H., Rioufol, G., Mewton, N., Elbelghiti, R., Cung, T. T., Bonnefoy, E., and Angoulvant, D. (2008) 'Effect of Cyclosporine on Reperfusion Injury in Acute Myocardial Infarction'. *New England Journal of Medicine* 359 (5), 473-481
- Piper, H. M. (2000) 'The Calcium Paradox Revisited: An Artefact of Great Heuristic Value'. *Cardiovascular Research* 45 (1), 123-127
- Pirola, L. and Fröjdö, S. (2008) 'Resveratrol: One Molecule, Many Targets'. *IUBMB Life* 60 (5), 323-332
- Polonsky, T. S., McClelland, R. L., Jorgensen, N. W., Bild, D. E., Burke, G. L., Guerci, A. D., and Greenland, P. (2010) 'Coronary Artery Calcium Score and Risk Classification for Coronary Heart Disease Prediction'. *Jama* 303 (16), 1610-1616
- Popescu, F. D. (2015) 'The Pharmacological Rationale for the use of Inhaled Tiotropium in Asthma'. *Pneumologia (Bucharest, Romania)* 64 (1), 52-53
- Porter, A. G. and Jänicke, R. U. (1999) 'Emerging Roles of Caspase-3 in Apoptosis'. *Cell Death* and Differentiation 6 (2), 99-104
- Prakash, A., Babu, K., and Morjaria, J. (2013) 'Novel Anti-Cholinergics in COPD'. Drug Discovery Today 18 (21), 1117-1126
- Prevost, A., Leperre, A., Moreau, F., Kantelip, J. P., and Millart, H. (1997) 'Cardiotoxic Effects of Salmeterol in Comparison with Salbutamol on the Isolated Perfused Langendorff-Heart of the Rat'. *Arzneimittel-Forschung* 47 (1), 39-43
- Profita, M., Giorgi, R. D., Sala, A., Bonanno, A., Riccobono, L., Mirabella, F., Gjomarkaj, M.,
 Bonsignore, G., Bousquet, J., and Vignola, A. (2005) 'Muscarinic Receptors,
 Leukotriene B4 Production and Neutrophilic Inflammation in COPD Patients'. *Allergy* 60 (11), 1361-1369
- Proskocil, B. J. and Fryer, A. D. (2005) 'B2-Agonist and Anticholinergic Drugs in the Treatment of Lung Disease'. *Proceedings of the American Thoracic Society* 2 (4), 305-310
- Putinski, C., Abdul-Ghani, M., Stiles, R., Brunette, S., Dick, S. A., Fernando, P., and Megeney,
 L. A. (2013) 'Intrinsic-Mediated Caspase Activation is Essential for Cardiomyocyte
 Hypertrophy'. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 110 (43), E4079-87
- Qin, Q., Downey, J. M., and Cohen, M. V. (2003) 'Acetylcholine but Not Adenosine Triggers Preconditioning through PI3-Kinase and a Tyrosine Kinase'. *American Journal of Physiology.Heart and Circulatory Physiology* 284 (2), H727-34
- Qureshi, H., Sharafkhaneh, A., and Hanania, N. A. (2014) 'Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Exacerbations: Latest Evidence and Clinical Implications'. *Therapeutic Advances in Chronic Disease*, 2040622314532862
- Rabe, K. F. (2010) 'Anticholinergic Drugs for the Treatment of COPD are Safe... are they?'. *CHEST Journal* 137 (1), 1-3
- Ravagli, E., Bucchi, A., Bartolucci, C., Paina, M., Baruscotti, M., DiFrancesco, D., and Severi,
 S. (2016) 'Cell-Specific Dynamic Clamp Analysis of the Role of Funny if Current in Cardiac Pacemaking'. *Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology* 120 (1-3), 50-66
- Ravingerová, T., Matejíková, J., Neckář, J., Andelová, E., and Kolář, F. (2007) 'Differential Role of PI3K/Akt Pathway in the Infarct Size Limitation and Antiarrhythmic Protection in the Rat Heart'. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry* 297 (1), 111-120
- Ray, P. S., Maulik, G., Cordis, G. A., Bertelli, A. A., Bertelli, A., and Das, D. K. (1999) 'The Red Wine Antioxidant Resveratrol Protects Isolated Rat Hearts from Ischemia Reperfusion Injury'. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 27 (1), 160-169
- Ray, P. D., Huang, B., and Tsuji, Y. (2012) 'Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS) Homeostasis and Redox Regulation in Cellular Signaling'. *Cellular Signalling* 24 (5), 981-990
- Reffelmann, T. and Kloner, R. A. (2002) 'The "no-Reflow" Phenomenon: Basic Science and Clinical Correlates'. *Heart (British Cardiac Society)* 87 (2), 162-168
- Reid, D. J. and Carlson, A. A. (2014) 'Clinical use of Aclidinium in Patients with COPD'. International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease 9, 369

- Resende, R. R. and Adhikari, A. (2009) 'Cholinergic Receptor Pathways Involved in Apoptosis, Cell Proliferation and Neuronal Differentiation'. *Cell Communication and Signaling* 7 (1), 20
- Rockman, H. A., Koch, W. J., and Lefkowitz, R. J. (2002) 'Seven-Transmembrane-Spanning Receptors and Heart Function'. *Nature* 415 (6868), 206-212
- Rodrigo, G. J., Castro-Rodriguez, J. A., Nannini, L. J., Moral, V. P., and Schiavi, E. A. (2009)
 'Tiotropium and Risk for Fatal and Nonfatal Cardiovascular Events in Patients with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease: Systematic Review with Meta-Analysis'. *Respiratory Medicine* 103 (10), 1421-1429
- Rodrigo, G. J. and Nannini, L. J. (2007) 'Tiotropium for the Treatment of Stable Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease: A Systematic Review with Meta-Analysis'. *Pulmonary Pharmacology & Therapeutics* 20 (5), 495-502
- Rokhlin, O., Taghiyev, A. F., Bayer, K. U., Bumcrot, D., Kotelianski, V. E., Glover, R. A., and Cohen, M. B. (2007) 'Calcium/Calmodulin-Dependent Kinase II Plays an Important Role in Prostate Cancer Cell Survival'. *Cancer Biology & Therapy* 6 (5), 732-742
- Rosas-Ballina, M. and Tracey, K. (2009) 'Cholinergic Control of Inflammation'. *Journal of Internal Medicine* 265 (6), 663-679
- Rosenbaum, D. M., Rasmussen, S. G., and Kobilka, B. K. (2009) 'The Structure and Function of G-Protein-Coupled Receptors'. *Nature* 459 (7245), 356
- Rossello, X. and Yellon, D. M. (2018) 'The RISK Pathway and Beyond'. *Basic Research in Cardiology* 113 (1), 2
- Rossello, X., Hall, A. R., Bell, R. M., and Yellon, D. M. (2016) 'Characterization of the Langendorff Perfused Isolated Mouse Heart Model of Global Ischemia–reperfusion Injury: Impact of Ischemia and Reperfusion Length on Infarct Size and LDH Release'. *Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology and Therapeutics* 21 (3), 286-295
- Rowe, G. C., Jiang, A., and Arany, Z. (2010) 'PGC-1 Coactivators in Cardiac Development and Disease'. *Circulation Research* 107 (7), 825-838
- Roy, A., Dakroub, M., Tezini, G. C., Liu, Y., Guatimosim, S., Feng, Q., Salgado, H. C., Prado,
 V. F., Prado, M. A., and Gros, R. (2016) 'Cardiac Acetylcholine Inhibits Ventricular
 Remodeling and Dysfunction Under Pathologic Conditions'. *FASEB Journal: Official Publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology* 30 (2),
 688-701

- Roy, A., Guatimosim, S., Prado, V. F., Gros, R., and Prado, M. A. (2015) 'Cholinergic Activity as a New Target in Diseases of the Heart'. *Molecular Medicine (Cambridge, Mass.)* 20, 527-537
- Rudijanto, A. (2007) 'The Role of Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells on the Pathogenesis of Atherosclerosis'. *Acta Med Indones* 39 (2), 86-93
- Rudnicki, M., Perco, P., Enrich, J., Eder, S., Heininger, D., Bernthaler, A., Wiesinger, M., Sarközi, R., Noppert, S., and Schramek, H. (2009) 'Hypoxia Response and VEGF-A Expression in Human Proximal Tubular Epithelial Cells in Stable and Progressive Renal Disease'. *Laboratory Investigation* 89 (3), 337-346
- Ruggeri, C., Gioffré, S., Achilli, F., Colombo, G. I., and D'Alessandra, Y. (2018) 'Role of microRNAs in Doxorubicin-Induced Cardiotoxicity: An Overview of Preclinical Models and Cancer Patients'. *Heart Failure Reviews* 23 (1), 109-122
- Sabit, R., Bolton, C. E., Edwards, P. H., Pettit, R. J., Evans, W. D., McEniery, C. M., Wilkinson,
 I. B., Cockcroft, J. R., and Shale, D. J. (2007) 'Arterial Stiffness and Osteoporosis in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease'. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 175 (12), 1259-1265
- Said, M., Becerra, R., Valverde, C., Kaetzel, M., Dedman, J., Mundina-Weilenmann, C., Wehrens, X., Vittone, L., and Mattiazzi, A. (2011) 'Calcium-Calmodulin Dependent Protein Kinase II (CaMKII): A Main Signal Responsible for Early Reperfusion Arrhythmias'. Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology 51 (6), 936-944
- Salas, M. A., Valverde, C. A., Sánchez, G., Said, M., Rodriguez, J. S., Portiansky, E. L., Kaetzel, M. A., Dedman, J. R., Donoso, P., and Kranias, E. G. (2010) 'The Signalling Pathway of CaMKII-Mediated Apoptosis and Necrosis in the Ischemia/Reperfusion Injury'. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology* 48 (6), 1298-1306
- Salazar, N. C., Chen, J., and Rockman, H. A. (2007) 'Cardiac GPCRs: GPCR Signaling in Healthy and Failing Hearts'. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Biomembranes* 1768 (4), 1006-1018
- Salpeter, S. R., Ormiston, T. M., and Salpeter, E. E. (2004) 'Cardiovascular Effects of B-Agonists in Patients with Asthma and COPD: A Meta-Analysis'. *CHEST Journal* 125 (6), 2309-2321
- Salvesen, G. S. and Dixit, V. M. (1997) 'Caspases: Intracellular Signaling by Proteolysis'. *Cell* 91 (4), 443-446

- Sarazan, R. D., Kroehle, J. P., and Main, B. W. (2012) 'Left Ventricular Pressure, Contractility and dP/Dt Max in Nonclinical Drug Safety Assessment Studies'. *Journal of Pharmacological and Toxicological Methods* 66 (2), 71-78
- Sardella, G., Mancone, M., Bucciarelli-Ducci, C., Agati, L., Scardala, R., Carbone, I., Francone, M., Di Roma, A., Benedetti, G., and Conti, G. (2009) 'Thrombus Aspiration during Primary Percutaneous Coronary Intervention Improves Myocardial Reperfusion and Reduces Infarct Size: The EXPIRA (Thrombectomy with Export Catheter in Infarct-Related Artery during Primary Percutaneous Coronary Intervention) Prospective, Randomized Trial'. Journal of the American College of Cardiology 53 (4), 309-315
- Sato, M., Jiao, Q., Honda, T., Kurotani, R., Toyota, E., Okumura, S., Takeya, T., Minamisawa, S., Lanier, S. M., and Ishikawa, Y. (2009) 'Activator of G Protein Signaling 8 (AGS8) is Required for Hypoxia-Induced Apoptosis of Cardiomyocytes: Role of G Betagamma and Connexin 43 (CX43)'. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 284 (45), 31431-31440
- Sato, M., Cismowski, M. J., Toyota, E., Smrcka, A. V., Lucchesi, P. A., Chilian, W. M., and Lanier, S. M. (2006) 'Identification of a Receptor-Independent Activator of G Protein Signaling (AGS8) in Ischemic Heart and its Interaction with Gbetagamma'. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 103 (3), 797-802
- Scherrer-Crosbie, M. (2016) 'Cardiotoxicity of Oncologic Treatments: Is there a Uniform Definition?'. in Anti-Cancer Treatments and Cardiotoxicity. ed. by Anon: Elsevier, 35-38
- Scheubel, R. J., Bartling, B., Simm, A., Silber, R., Drogaris, K., Darmer, D., and Holtz, J. (2002) *Apoptotic Pathway Activation from Mitochondria and Death Receptors without Caspase-3 Cleavage in Failing Human Myocardium: Fragile Balance of Myocyte Survival?* [online]. available from <http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0735109701017697>
- Schmid, K., Pascual, S., Gil, E. G., Ortiz, S., and Jansat, J. M. (2010) 'Pharmacokinetics and Safety of Aclidinium Bromide, a Muscarinic Antagonist, in Adults with Normal Or Impaired Renal Function: A Phase I, Open-Label, Single-Dose Clinical Trial'. *Clinical Therapeutics* 32 (10), 1798-1812
- Schulte, A., Lichtenstern, C., Henrich, M., Weigand, M. A., and Uhle, F. (2014) 'Loss of Vagal Tone Aggravates Systemic Inflammation and Cardiac Impairment in Endotoxemic Rats'. *Journal of Surgical Research* 188 (2), 480-488
- Schulz, R., Kelm, M., and Heusch, G. (2004) 'Nitric Oxide in Myocardial Ischemia/Reperfusion Injury'. *Cardiovascular Research* 61 (3), 402-413

- Sears, M. R. and Lötvall, J. (2005) 'Past, Present and Future—β2-Adrenoceptor Agonists in Asthma Management'. *Respiratory Medicine* 99 (2), 152-170
- Sears, M. R. (2002) 'Adverse Effects of B-Agonists'. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 110 (6), S322-S328
- Segreti, A., Calzetta, L., Rogliani, P., and Cazzola, M. (2014) 'Umeclidinium for the Treatment of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease'. *Expert Review of Respiratory Medicine* 8 (6), 665-671
- Sentellas, S., Ramos, I., Albertí, J., Salvà, M., Antón, F., Miralpeix, M., Beleta, J., and Gavaldà,
 A. (2010) 'Aclidinium Bromide, a New, Long-Acting, Inhaled Muscarinic Antagonist: In
 Vitro Plasma Inactivation and Pharmacological Activity of its Main Metabolites'.
 European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences 39 (5), 283-290
- Sethi, S. and Murphy, T. F. (2008) 'Infection in the Pathogenesis and Course of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease'. *New England Journal of Medicine* 359 (22), 2355-2365
- Shaik, N., Alhourani, E., Bosc, A., Liu, G., Towhid, S., Lupescu, A., and Lang, F. (2012) 'Stimulation of Suicidal Erythrocyte Death by Ipratropium Bromide'. *Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry* 30 (6), 1517-1525
- Shamas-Din, A., Brahmbhatt, H., Leber, B., and Andrews, D. W. (2011) *BH3-Only Proteins: Orchestrators of Apoptosis* [online]. available from http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0167488910003101
- Sharma, V. K., Colecraft, H. M., Rubin, L. E., and Sheu, S. (1997) 'Does Mammalian Heart Contain Only the M2 Muscarinic Receptor Subtype?'. *Life Sciences* 60 (13), 1023-1029
- Shashkin, P., Dragulev, B., and Ley, K. (2005) 'Macrophage Differentiation to Foam Cells'. *Current Pharmaceutical Design* 11 (23), 3061-3072
- Shen, J. B., Jiang, B., and Pappano, A. J. (2000) 'Comparison of L-Type Calcium Channel Blockade by Nifedipine and/Or Cadmium in Guinea Pig Ventricular Myocytes'. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics* 294 (2), 562-570
- Shimizu, S., Kanaseki, T., Mizushima, N., Mizuta, T., Arakawa-Kobayashi, S., Thompson, C.
 B., and Tsujimoto, Y. (2004) 'Role of Bcl-2 Family Proteins in a Non-Apoptotic Programmed Cell Death Dependent on Autophagy Genes'. *Nature Cell Biology* 6 (12), 1221

- Shin, S., Kim, T., Lee, H., Kang, J. H., Lee, J. Y., and Cho, K. (2014) 'The Switching Role of B-Adrenergic Receptor Signalling in Cell Survival Or Death Decision of Cardiomyocytes'. *Nature Communications* 5, 5777
- Sidney, S., Sorel, M., Quesenberry, C. P., DeLuise, C., Lanes, S., and Eisner, M. D. (2005) 'COPD and Incident Cardiovascular Disease Hospitalizations and Mortality: Kaiser Permanente Medical Care Program'. *Chest Journal* 128 (4), 2068-2075
- Siler, T. M., Kerwin, E., Sousa, A. R., Donald, A., Ali, R., and Church, A. (2015) 'Efficacy and Safety of Umeclidinium Added to Fluticasone Furoate/Vilanterol in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease: Results of Two Randomized Studies'. *Respiratory Medicine* 109 (9), 1155-1163
- Sims, M. W. and Panettieri Jr, R. A. (2011) 'Profile of Aclidinium Bromide in the Treatment of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease'. *Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis* 6, 457-466
- Šimůnek, T., Štěrba, M., Popelová, O., Adamcová, M., Hrdina, R., and Geršl, V. (2009) 'Anthracycline-Induced Cardiotoxicity: Overview of Studies Examining the Roles of Oxidative Stress and Free Cellular Iron'. *Pharmacological Reports* 61 (1), 154-171
- Sin, D. D. and Tu, J. V. (2000) 'Lack of Association between Ipratropium Bromide and Mortality in Elderly Patients with Chronic Obstructive Airway Disease'. *Thorax* 55 (3), 194-197
- Sin, D. D., Anthonisen, N. R., Soriano, J. B., and Agusti, A. G. (2006) 'Mortality in COPD: Role of Comorbidities'. *The European Respiratory Journal* 28 (6), 1245-1257
- Sin, D. D. and Man, S. F. P. (eds.) (2005) *Proceedings of the American Thoracic Society*. 'Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease as a Risk Factor for Cardiovascular Morbidity and Mortality'
- Sin, D. D. and Man, S. F. (2003) 'Why are Patients with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease at Increased Risk of Cardiovascular Diseases? The Potential Role of Systemic Inflammation in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease'. *Circulation* 107 (11), 1514-1519
- Singh, S., Loke, Y. K., Enright, P. L., and Furberg, C. D. (2011) 'Mortality Associated with Tiotropium Mist Inhaler in Patients with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomised Controlled Trials'. BMJ (Clinical Research Ed.) 342, d3215
- Singh, S., Loke, Y. K., and Furberg, C. D. (2008) 'Inhaled Anticholinergics and Risk of Major Adverse Cardiovascular Events in Patients with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary

Disease: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis'. JAMA - Journal of the American Medical Association 300 (12), 1439-1450

- Skrzypiec-Spring, M., Grotthus, B., Szeląg, A., and Schulz, R. (2007) 'Isolated Heart Perfusion According to Langendorff—still Viable in the New Millennium'. *Journal of Pharmacological and Toxicological Methods* 55 (2), 113-126
- Song, K., Wang, S., and Qi, D. (2015) 'Effects of Cyclosporine on Reperfusion Injury in Patients: A Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials'. *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity* 2015
- Sossalla, S., Fluschnik, N., Schotola, H., Ort, K. R., Neef, S., Schulte, T., Wittkopper, K., Renner, A., Schmitto, J. D., Gummert, J., El-Armouche, A., Hasenfuss, G., and Maier, L.
 S. (2010) 'Inhibition of Elevated Ca2+/Calmodulin-Dependent Protein Kinase II Improves Contractility in Human Failing Myocardium'. *Circulation Research* 107 (9), 1150-1161
- Spitzer, W. O., Suissa, S., Ernst, P., Horwitz, R. I., Habbick, B., Cockcroft, D., Boivin, J., McNutt, M., Buist, A. S., and Rebuck, A. S. (1992) 'The use of B-Agonists and the Risk of Death and Near Death from Asthma'. *New England Journal of Medicine* 326 (8), 501-506
- Stensløkken, K., Rutkovskiy, A., Kaljusto, M., Hafstad, A. D., Larsen, T. S., and Vaage, J. (2009) 'Inadvertent Phosphorylation of Survival Kinases in Isolated Perfused Hearts: A Word of Caution'. *Basic Research in Cardiology* 104 (4), 412-423
- Stewart, G. D., Sexton, P. M., and Christopoulos, A. (2010) 'Prediction of Functionally Selective Allosteric Interactions at an M3 Muscarinic Acetylcholine Receptor Mutant using Saccharomyces Cerevisiae'. *Molecular Pharmacology* 78 (2), 205-214
- Strasser, A., O'Connor, L., and Dixit, V. M. (2000) 'Apoptosis Signaling'. *Annual Review of Biochemistry* 69 (1), 217-245
- Sudhir, K., MacGregor, J. S., DeMarco, T., De Groot, C. J., Taylor, R. N., Chou, T. M., Yock, P.
 G., and Chatterjee, K. (1994) 'Cyclosporine Impairs Release of Endothelium-Derived Relaxing Factors in Epicardial and Resistance Coronary Arteries'. *Circulation* 90 (6), 3018-3023
- Suissa, S., Dell'Aniello, S., and Ernst, P. (2017a) 'Concurrent use of Long-Acting Bronchodilators in COPD and the Risk of Adverse Cardiovascular Events'. *The European Respiratory Journal* 49 (5), 10.1183/13993003.02245-2016. Print 2017 May

- Suissa, S., Dell'Aniello, S., and Ernst, P. (2017b) 'Long-Acting Bronchodilator Initiation in COPD and the Risk of Adverse Cardiopulmonary Events: A Population-Based Comparative Safety Study'. *Chest* 151 (1), 60-67
- Sumi, M., Kiuchi, K., Ishikawa, T., Ishii, A., Hagiwara, M., Nagatsu, T., and Hidaka, H. (1991) The Newly Synthesized Selective Ca2+calmodulin Dependent Protein Kinase II Inhibitor KN-93 Reduces Dopamine Contents in PC12h Cells [online]. available from <http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0006291X9192031E>
- Sun, C., Chang, L., Sheu, J., Wang, C., Youssef, A. A., Wu, C., Chua, S., and Yip, H. (2007)
 'Losartan Preserves Integrity of Cardiac Gap Junctions and PGC-1 A Gene Expression and Prevents Cellular Apoptosis in Remote Area of Left Ventricular Myocardium Following Acute Myocardial Infarction'. *International Heart Journal* 48 (4), 533-546
- Sun, G., Wang, J., Li, Q., Qian, L., Ye, Z., and Xia, Q. (eds.) (2010) Biomedical Engineering and Computer Science (ICBECS), 2010 International Conference On. 'Acetylcholine Exerts Cardioprotection by Reducing Reactive Oxygen Species': IEEE
- Sun, H. Y., Wang, N. P., Kerendi, F., Halkos, M., Kin, H., Guyton, R. A., Vinten-Johansen, J., and Zhao, Z. Q. (2005) 'Hypoxic Postconditioning Reduces Cardiomyocyte Loss by Inhibiting ROS Generation and Intracellular Ca2+ Overload'. *American Journal of Physiology.Heart and Circulatory Physiology* 288 (4), H1900-8
- Suppli Ulrik, C. (2012) 'Aclidinium Bromide: Clinical Benefit in Patients with Moderate to Severe COPD'. *The Open Respiratory Medicine Journal* 6 (1)
- Sussman, M. A., Volkers, M., Fischer, K., Bailey, B., Cottage, C. T., Din, S., Gude, N., Avitabile,
 D., Alvarez, R., Sundararaman, B., Quijada, P., Mason, M., Konstandin, M. H.,
 Malhowski, A., Cheng, Z., Khan, M., and McGregor, M. (2011) 'Myocardial AKT: The
 Omnipresent Nexus'. *Physiological Reviews* 91 (3), 1023-1070
- Szkudlinski, M. W. (2015) 'New Frontier in Glycoprotein Hormones and their Receptors Structure–function'. *Frontiers in Endocrinology* 6, 155
- Takashio, S., Takahama, H., Hayashi, T., Nagai-Okatani, C., Nishikimi, T., Nakagawa, Y., Amaki, M., Ohara, T., Hasegawa, T., and Sugano, Y. (2016) 'Determining Factors and Prognostic Value of Plasma Γ-Atrial Natriuretic Peptide Ratio in Patients with Heart Failure'. *Circulation* 134 (1)
- Tarasov, A. I., Griffiths, E. J., and Rutter, G. A. (2012) 'Regulation of ATP Production by Mitochondrial Ca2'. *Cell Calcium* 52 (1), 28-35

- Tashkin, D. P., Celli, B., Senn, S., Burkhart, D., Kesten, S., Menjoge, S., and Decramer, M. (2008) 'A 4-Year Trial of Tiotropium in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease'. *New England Journal of Medicine* 359 (15), 1543-1554
- Thirunavukkarasu, M., Penumathsa, S. V., Koneru, S., Juhasz, B., Zhan, L., Otani, H., Bagchi, D., Das, D. K., and Maulik, N. (2007) 'Resveratrol Alleviates Cardiac Dysfunction in Streptozotocin-Induced Diabetes: Role of Nitric Oxide, Thioredoxin, and Heme Oxygenase'. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 43 (5), 720-729
- Thomas, C. J., Lim, N. R., Kedikaetswe, A., Yeap, Y. Y., Woodman, O. L., Ng, D. C., and May, C. N. (2015) 'Evidence that the MEK/ERK but Not the PI3K/Akt Pathway is Required for Protection from Myocardial Ischemia–reperfusion Injury by 3', 4'-Dihydroxyflavonol'. *European Journal of Pharmacology* 758, 53-59
- Thorp, J. M., Spielman, F., Valea, F. A., Payne, F., Mueller, R., and Cefalo, R. C. (1990) 'Nifedipine Enhances the Cardiac Toxicity of Magnesium Sulfate in the Isolated Perfused Sprague-Dawley Rat Heart'. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 163 (2), 655-656
- Thuc, L. C., Teshima, Y., Takahashi, N., Nishio, S., Fukui, A., Kume, O., Saito, S., Nakagawa,
 M., and Saikawa, T. (2012) 'Inhibition of Na -H Exchange as a Mechanism of Rapid
 Cardioprotection by Resveratrol'. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 166 (6), 1745-1755
- Tokumitsu, H., Chijiwa, T., Hagiwara, M., Mizutani, A., Terasawa, M., and Hidaka, H. (1990)
 'KN-62, 1-[N, O-Bis (5-Isoquinolinesulfonyl)-N-Methyl-L-Tyrosyl]-4-Phenylpiperazi Ne, a Specific Inhibitor of Ca2+/Calmodulin-Dependent Protein Kinase II.
 '. Journal of Biological Chemistry 265 (8), 4315-4320
- Tomankova, H., Valuskova, P., Varejkova, E., Rotkova, J., Benes, J., and Myslivecek, J. (2015)
 'The M2 Muscarinic Receptors are Essential for Signaling in the Heart Left Ventricle during Restraint Stress in Mice'. *Stress* 18 (2), 208-220
- Trifilieff, A., Ethell, B. T., Sykes, D. A., Watson, K. J., Collingwood, S., Charlton, S. J., and Kent,
 T. C. (2015) 'Comparing the Cardiovascular Therapeutic Indices of Glycopyrronium and
 Tiotropium in an Integrated Rat Pharmacokinetic, Pharmacodynamic and Safety
 Model'. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology* 287 (1), 9-16
- Trivedi, R., Richard, N., Mehta, R., and Church, A. (2014) 'Umeclidinium in Patients with COPD: A Randomised, Placebo-Controlled Study'. *The European Respiratory Journal* 43 (1), 72-81

- Tsai, S., Hung, L., Fu, Y., Cheng, H., Nien, M., Liu, H., Zhang, F. B., and Huang, S. (2007) 'Resveratrol Neuroprotective Effects during Focal Cerebral Ischemia Injury Via Nitric Oxide Mechanism in Rats'. *Journal of Vascular Surgery* 46 (2), 346-353
- Tuder, R. M. and Petrache, I. (2012) 'Pathogenesis of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease'. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 122 (8), 2749-2755
- Turer, A. T. and Hill, J. A. (2010) 'Pathogenesis of Myocardial Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury and Rationale for Therapy'. *The American Journal of Cardiology* 106 (3), 360-368
- Turovsky, E. A., Turovskaya, M. V., Dolgacheva, L. P., Zinchenko, V. P., and Dynnik, V. V. (2013) 'Acetylcholine Promotes Ca2 and NO-Oscillations in Adipocytes Implicating Ca2 → NO→ cGMP→ cADP-Ribose→ Ca2 Positive Feedback Loop-Modulatory Effects of Norepinephrine and Atrial Natriuretic Peptide'. *PloS One* 8 (5), e63483
- Ueno, M., Kakinuma, Y., Yuhki, K., Murakoshi, N., Iemitsu, M., Miyauchi, T., and Yamaguchi,
 I. (2006) 'Doxorubicin Induces Apoptosis by Activation of Caspase-3 in Cultured Cardiomyocytes in Vitro and Rat Cardiac Ventricles in Vivo'. *Journal of Pharmacological Sciences* 101 (2), 151-158
- Ulrik, C. S. (2012) 'Once-Daily Glycopyrronium Bromide, a Long-Acting Muscarinic Antagonist, for Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease: A Systematic Review of Clinical Benefit'. *International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease* 7, 673-678
- Valverde, C. A., Mundiña-Weilenmann, C., Reyes, M., Kranias, E. G., Escobar, A. L., and Mattiazzi, A. (2006) 'Phospholamban Phosphorylation Sites Enhance the Recovery of Intracellular Ca2 After Perfusion Arrest in Isolated, Perfused Mouse Heart'. *Cardiovascular Research* 70 (2), 335-345
- van Noord, J. A., Bantje, T. A., Eland, M. E., Korducki, L., and Cornelissen, P. J. (2000) 'A Randomised Controlled Comparison of Tiotropium Nd Ipratropium in the Treatment of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. The Dutch Tiotropium Study Group'. *Thorax* 55 (4), 289-294
- Vecchiati, A., Tellatin, S., Angelini, A., Iliceto, S., and Tona, F. (2014) 'Coronary Microvasculopathy in Heart Transplantation: Consequences and Therapeutic Implications'. *World Journal of Transplantation* 4 (2), 93-101
- Ventura-Clapier, R., Garnier, A., and Veksler, V. (2008) 'Transcriptional Control of Mitochondrial Biogenesis: The Central Role of PGC-1α'. *Cardiovascular Research* 79 (2), 208-217

- Verma, S., Fedak, P. W., Weisel, R. D., Butany, J., Rao, V., Maitland, A., Li, R. K., Dhillon, B., and Yau, T. M. (2002) 'Fundamentals of Reperfusion Injury for the Clinical Cardiologist'. *Circulation* 105 (20), 2332-2336
- Vest, R. S., Davies, K. D., O'Leary, H., Port, J. D., and Bayer, K. U. (2007) 'Dual Mechanism of a Natural CaMKII Inhibitor'. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* 18 (12), 5024-5033
- Viereck, J. and Thum, T. (2017) 'Circulating Noncoding RNAs as Biomarkers of Cardiovascular Disease and Injury'. *Circulation Research* 120 (2), 381-399
- Vila-Petroff, M., Salas, M. A., Said, M., Valverde, C. A., Sapia, L., Portiansky, E., Hajjar, R. J., Kranias, E. G., Mundiña-Weilenmann, C., and Mattiazzi, A. (2007) 'CaMKII Inhibition Protects Against Necrosis and Apoptosis in Irreversible Ischemia–reperfusion Injury'. *Cardiovascular Research* 73 (4), 689-698
- Viviana, D., Covinhes, A., Mesirca, P., Bidaud, I., Nargeot, J., Piot, C., Striessnig, J., Mangoni,
 M., and Barrère-Lemaire, S. (2015) 0374: Cardioprotection Against Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury by Heart Rate Control [online]. available from http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1878648015300574>
- Walker, J. K., Peppel, K., Lefkowitz, R. J., Caron, M. G., and Fisher, J. T. (1999) 'Altered Airway and Cardiac Responses in Mice Lacking G Protein-Coupled Receptor Kinase 3'. *The American Journal of Physiology* 276 (4 Pt 2), R1214-21
- Wang, H., Lu, Y., and Wang, Z. (2007) 'Function of Cardiac M3 Receptors'. *Autonomic and Autacoid Pharmacology* 27 (1), 1-11
- Wang, H., Yang, Y., Qian, H., Zhang, Q., Xu, H., and Li, J. (2012a) 'Resveratrol in Cardiovascular Disease: What is Known from Current Research?'. *Heart Failure Reviews* 17 (3), 437-448
- Wang, J., Zhen, L., Klug, M. G., Wood, D., Wu, X., and Mizrahi, J. (2000) 'Involvement of Caspase 3-and 8-Like Proteases in Ceramide-Induced Apoptosis of Cardiomyocytes'. *Journal of Cardiac Failure* 6 (3), 243-249
- Wang, M., Liou, J., Lin, C. W., Tsai, C., Wang, Y., Hsu, Y., and Lai, J. (2018) 'Association of Cardiovascular Risk with Inhaled Long-Acting Bronchodilators in Patients with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease: A Nested Case-Control Study'. JAMA Internal Medicine
- Wang, M., Tsai, C., Lo, Y., Liou, J., Lee, W., and Lai, I. (2012b) 'Risk of Stroke Associated with Inhaled Ipratropium Bromide in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease: A Population-

Based Nested Case-control Study'. International Journal of Cardiology 158 (2), 279-284

- Wang, S., Han, H., Jiang, Y., Wang, C., Song, H., Pan, Z., Fan, K., Du, J., Fan, Y., and Du, Z. (2012c) 'Activation of Cardiac M3 Muscarinic Acetylcholine Receptors has Cardioprotective Effects Against Ischaemia-induced Arrhythmias'. *Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology and Physiology* 39 (4), 343-349
- Wang, Z., Shi, H., and Wang, H. (2004) 'Functional M3 Muscarinic Acetylcholine Receptors in Mammalian Hearts'. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 142 (3), 395-408
- Wang, H., Han, H., Zhang, L., Shi, H., Schram, G., Nattel, S., and Wang, Z. (2001) 'Expression of Multiple Subtypes of Muscarinic Receptors and Cellular Distribution in the Human Heart'. *Molecular Pharmacology* 59 (5), 1029-1036
- Wang, P., Luthin, G. R., and Ruggieri, M. R. (1995) 'Muscarinic Acetylcholine Receptor Subtypes Mediating Urinary Bladder Contractility and Coupling to GTP Binding Proteins'. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics* 273 (2), 959-966
- Weiss, J. N., Korge, P., Honda, H. M., and Ping, P. (2003) 'Role of the Mitochondrial Permeability Transition in Myocardial Disease'. *Circulation Research* 93 (4), 292-301
- Wess, J., Eglen, R. M., and Gautam, D. (2007) 'Muscarinic Acetylcholine Receptors: Mutant Mice Provide New Insights for Drug Development'. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery* 6 (9), 721-733
- Wessells, R. J. and Bodmer, R. (eds.) (2007) *Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology*. 'Cardiac Aging': Elsevier
- Wessler, I. and Kirkpatrick, C. (2008) 'Acetylcholine Beyond Neurons: The Non-neuronal Cholinergic System in Humans'. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 154 (8), 1558-1571
- Wilchesky, M., Ernst, P., Brophy, J. M., Platt, R. W., and Suissa, S. (2012) 'Bronchodilator use and the Risk of Arrhythmia in COPD: Part 2: Reassessment in the Larger Quebec Cohort'. *CHEST Journal* 142 (2), 305-311
- Wilder, C. D., Masoud, R., O'Brien, B. A., Eykyn, T. R., and Curtis, M. J. (2016) 'Contractile Function Assessment by Intraventricular Balloon Alters the Ability of Regional Ischaemia to Evoke Ventricular Fibrillation'. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 173 (1), 39-52

- Wise, R. A., Chapman, K. R., Scirica, B. M., Schoenfeld, D. A., Bhatt, D. L., Daoud, S. Z., Seoane, B., Reisner, C., and Gil, E. G. (2018) 'Long-Term Evaluation of the Effects of Aclidinium Bromide on Major Adverse Cardiovascular Events and COPD Exacerbations in Patients with Moderate to very Severe COPD: Rationale and Design of the ASCENT COPD Study'. Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Diseases: Journal of the COPD Foundation 5 (1), 5
- Wise, R. A., Anzueto, A., Calverley, P., Dahl, R., Dusser, D., Pledger, G., Koenen-Bergmann,
 M., Joseph, E., Cotton, D., and Disse, B. (2013a) 'The Tiotropium Safety and
 Performance in Respimat[®] Trial (TIOSPIR[®]), a Large Scale, Randomized, Controlled,
 Parallel-Group Trial-Design and Rationale'. *Respiratory Research* 14 (1), 1
- Wise, R. A., Anzueto, A., Cotton, D., Dahl, R., Devins, T., Disse, B., Dusser, D., Joseph, E., Kattenbeck, S., and Koenen-Bergmann, M. (2013b) 'Tiotropium Respimat Inhaler and the Risk of Death in COPD'. *New England Journal of Medicine* 369 (16), 1491-1501
- Wong, N. D. (2014) 'Epidemiological Studies of CHD and the Evolution of Preventive Cardiology'. *Nature Reviews Cardiology* 11 (5), 276-289
- Wong, R., Steenbergen, C., and Murphy, E. (2012) 'Mitochondrial Permeability Transition Pore and Calcium Handling'. *Mitochondrial Bioenergetics: Methods and Protocols*, 235-242
- Wood-Baker, R., Cochrane, B., and Naughton, M. (2010) 'Cardiovascular Mortality and Morbidity in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease: The Impact of Bronchodilator Treatment'. *Internal Medicine Journal* 40 (2), 94-101
- Wu, J. M. and Hsieh, T. (2011) 'Resveratrol: A Cardioprotective Substance'. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1215 (1), 16-21
- Xia, L., Wang, X., Hu, X., Guo, X., Shang, Y., Chen, H., Zeng, C., Zhang, F., and Chen, J. (2008)
 'Resveratrol Reduces Endothelial Progenitor Cells Senescence through Augmentation of Telomerase Activity by Akt-dependent Mechanisms'. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 155 (3), 387-394
- Xu, C., Hu, Y., Hou, L., Ju, J., Li, X., Du, N., Guan, X., Liu, Z., Zhang, T., and Qin, W. (2014) 'B-Blocker Carvedilol Protects Cardiomyocytes Against Oxidative Stress-Induced Apoptosis by Up-Regulating miR-133 Expression'. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology* 75, 111-121
- Yang, H., Liu, C., Yang, D., Zhang, H., and Xi, Z. (2009) 'Comparative Study of Cytotoxicity, Oxidative Stress and Genotoxicity Induced by Four Typical Nanomaterials: The Role of Particle Size, Shape and Composition'. *Journal of Applied Toxicology* 29 (1), 69-78

- Yang, B., Lin, H., Xu, C., Liu, Y., Wang, H., Han, H., and Wang, Z. (2005) 'Choline Produces Cytoprotective Effects Against Ischemic Myocardial Injuries: Evidence for the Role of Cardiac M3 Subtype Muscarinic Acetylcholine Receptors'. *Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry: International Journal of Experimental Cellular Physiology, Biochemistry, and Pharmacology* 16 (4-6), 163-174
- Yao, Z., Tong, J., Tan, X., Li, C., Shao, Z., Kim, W. C., vanden Hoek, T. L., Becker, L. B., Head, C. A., and Schumacker, P. T. (1999) 'Role of Reactive Oxygen Species in Acetylcholine-Induced Preconditioning in Cardiomyocytes'. *The American Journal of Physiology* 277 (6 Pt 2), H2504-9
- Yeh, E. T., Salvatorelli, E., Menna, P., and Minotti, G. (2014) 'What is Cardiotoxicity?'. *Progress in Pediatric Cardiology* 36 (1), 3-6
- Yellon, D. M. and Hausenloy, D. J. (2007) 'Myocardial Reperfusion Injury'. New England Journal of Medicine 357 (11), 1121-1135
- Yellon, D. M. and Baxter, G. F. (2000) 'Protecting the Ischaemic and Reperfused Myocardium in Acute Myocardial Infarction: Distant Dream Or Near Reality?'. *Heart* (British Cardiac Society) 83 (4), 381-387
- Yohannes, A. M., Connolly, M. J., and Hanania, N. A. (2013) 'Ten Years of Tiotropium: Clinical Impact and Patient Perspectives'. *International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease* 8, 117
- Yokoyama, C., Sueyoshi, Y., Ema, M., Mori, Y., Takaishi, K., and Hisatomi, H. (2017) 'Induction of Oxidative Stress by Anticancer Drugs in the Presence and Absence of Cells'. *Oncology Letters* 14 (5), 6066-6070
- Yu, X., Fu, Y., Zhang, D., Yin, K., and Tang, C. (2013) 'Foam Cells in Atherosclerosis'. *Clinica Chimica Acta* 424, 245-252
- Yu, H. P., Hsieh, Y. C., Suzuki, T., Choudhry, M. A., Schwacha, M. G., Bland, K. I., and Chaudry,
 I. H. (2007) 'The PI3K/Akt Pathway Mediates the Nongenomic Cardioprotective Effects of Estrogen Following Trauma-Hemorrhage'. *Annals of Surgery* 245 (6), 971-977
- Yuan, C., Sato, M., Lanier, S. M., and Smrcka, A. V. (2007) 'Signaling by a Non-Dissociated Complex of G Protein Betagamma and Alpha Subunits Stimulated by a Receptor-Independent Activator of G Protein Signaling, AGS8'. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 282 (27), 19938-19947
- Yung-Chi, C. and Prusoff, W. H. (1973) Relationship between the Inhibition Constant (KI) and the Concentration of Inhibitor which Causes 50 Per Cent Inhibition (150) of an

Enzymatic Reaction [online]. available from http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0006295273901962

- Zernecke, A. (2015) 'Dendritic Cells in Atherosclerosis: Evidence in Mice and Humans'. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology* 35 (4), 763-770
- Zhang, Y., Schwiening, C., Killeen, M. J., Zhang, Y., Ma, A., Lei, M., Grace, A. A., and Huang,
 C. L. (2009) 'Pharmacological Changes in Cellular Ca2 Homeostasis Parallel Initiation of
 Atrial Arrhythmogenesis in Murine Langendorff-perfused Hearts'. *Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology and Physiology* 36 (10), 969-980
- Zhang, T., Miyamoto, S., and Brown, J. H. (2004) 'Cardiomyocyte Calcium and Calcium/Calmodulin-Dependent Protein Kinase II: Friends Or Foes?'. *Recent Progress in Hormone Research* 59, 141-168
- Zhao, J., Su, Y., Zhang, Y., Pan, Z., Yang, L., Chen, X., Liu, Y., Lu, Y., Du, Z., and Yang, B. (2010a)
 'Activation of Cardiac Muscarinic M3 Receptors Induces Delayed Cardioprotection by
 Preserving Phosphorylated connexin43 and Up-regulating Cyclooxygenase-2
 Expression'. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 159 (6), 1217-1225
- Zhao, J., Liu, H., Lv, J., and Yang, X. (2014) 'Wortmannin Enhances Cisplatin-Induced Apoptosis in Human Ovarian Cancer Cells in Vitro'. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci* 18 (17), 2428-2434
- Zhao, T., Zhao, W., Chen, Y., Ahokas, R. A., and Sun, Y. (2010b) 'Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor (VEGF)-A: Role on Cardiac Angiogenesis Following Myocardial Infarction'. *Microvascular Research* 80 (2), 188-194
- Zhao, Z., Nakamura, M., Wang, N., Wilcox, J. N., Shearer, S., Ronson, R. S., Guyton, R. A., and Vinten-Johansen, J. (2000) 'Reperfusion Induces Myocardial Apoptotic Cell Death'. *Cardiovascular Research* 45 (3), 651-660
- Zhu, M., Feng, J., Lucchinetti, E., Fischer, G., Xu, L., Pedrazzini, T., Schaub, M. C., and Zaugg,
 M. (2006) 'Ischemic Postconditioning Protects Remodeled Myocardium Via the PI3K-PKB/Akt Reperfusion Injury Salvage Kinase Pathway'. *Cardiovascular Research* 72 (1), 152-162
- Zou, Y., Xiao, J., Lu, X. X., Xia, Z. A., Xie, B., Li, J., and Chen, Q. (2018) 'Tiotropium Plus Formoterol Versus Tiotropium Alone for Stable Moderate-to-severe Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease: A Meta-analysis'. *The Clinical Respiratory Journal* 12 (1), 269-278

Appendix

Appendix 1: The data shown below represents the parameters recording from a Langendorff model, accounting for the coronary flow (CF), left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) and heart rate (HR) from a single experiment (n = 1). The raw values (column headings highlighted in green) are then normalised. The coronary flow is firstly normalised by the weight of the heart and then by the average stabilisation period (the mean of the first 20 minutes of the experimental protocol), the LVDP and HR are also normalised according to the average stabilisation period for each individual parameter.

Ischaemia/Reperfusion - Tiotropium bromide (1nM) with Acetylcholine (100nM)								
	Time	CF	ml/g	%	LVDP	%	HR	%
Drug	5	20	9.09	97.56	67.41	77.19439	300	96.77419
	10	18	8.18	87.80	76.08	87.12282	290	93.54839
	15	22	10.00	107.32	107	122.5308	320	103.2258
	20	22	10.00	107.32	98.81	113.152	330	106.4516
Ischaemia	25	12	5.45	58.54	47.21	54.06241	300	96.77419
	30	12	5.45	58.54	47.66	54.57773	300	96.77419
	35	12	5.45	58.54	53.87	61.68909	290	93.54839
	40	12	5.45	58.54	47.78	54.71514	290	93.54839
	45	12	5.45	58.54	65.45	74.9499	270	87.09677
	50	12	5.45	58.54	62.61	71.69768	280	90.32258
	55	12	5.45	58.54	63.75	73.00315	290	93.54839
Reperfusion	70	20	9.09	97.56	93.47	107.0369	280	90.32258
	85	22	10.00	107.32	96.47	110.4724	290	93.54839
	100	21	9.55	102.44	92.46	105.8803	300	96.77419
	115	18	8.18	87.80	82.54	94.52047	290	93.54839
	130	19	8.64	92.68	86.04	98.52849	290	93.54839
	145	18	8.18	87.80	75.93	86.95104	290	93.54839
	160	18	8.18	87.80	76.19	87.24878	300	96.77419
	175	18	8.18	87.80	80.95	92.69969	290	93.54839
Heart Weight (g)		2.2						
Average Stabilisation		9.318182			87.325		310	